
 

 

 
County Council 

 
Date:  Tuesday 19 December 2023 
Time:  10.00 am 
Venue:  Council Chamber, Shire Hall 
 
Membership 
Councillor Christopher Kettle (Chair), Councillor Jeff Morgan (Vice-Chair), Councillor Jo 
Barker, Councillor Richard Baxter-Payne, Councillor Brett Beetham, Councillor Margaret 
Bell, Councillor Parminder Singh Birdi, Councillor Sarah Boad, Councillor Barbara Brown, 
Councillor Peter Butlin, Councillor Jonathan Chilvers, Councillor Jeff Clarke, Councillor 
John Cooke, Councillor Andy Crump, Councillor Yousef Dahmash, Councillor Piers Daniell, 
Councillor Jackie D'Arcy, Councillor Tracey Drew, Councillor Judy Falp, Councillor Sarah 
Feeney, Councillor Jenny Fradgley, Councillor Bill Gifford, Councillor Peter Gilbert, 
Councillor Clare Golby, Councillor Brian Hammersley, Councillor John Holland, Councillor 
Dave Humphreys Councillor Marian Humphreys, Councillor Andy Jenns, Councillor Kam 
Kaur, Councillor Jack Kennaugh, Councillor Justin Kerridge, Councillor Sue Markham, 
Councillor Jan Matecki, Councillor Sarah Millar, Councillor Chris Mills, Councillor Penny-
Anne O'Donnell, Councillor Bhagwant Singh Pandher, Councillor Daren Pemberton, 
Councillor Caroline Phillips, Councillor Wallace Redford, Councillor Will Roberts, Councillor 
Kate Rolfe, Councillor Jerry Roodhouse, Councillor Isobel Seccombe OBE, Councillor Ian 
Shenton, Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince, Councillor Tim Sinclair, Councillor Mejar Singh, 
Councillor Richard Spencer, Councillor Heather Timms, Councillor Mandy Tromans, 
Councillor Robert Tromans, Councillor Adrian Warwick, Councillor Martin Watson and 
Councillor Andrew Wright 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
  
1.   General 

 
 

 
(1) Apologies for Absence 
 

 
 

(2) Members’ Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-pecuniary 
Interests 

 

 

 
(3) Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

7 - 28 
 

(4) Chair's announcements 
 

 
 

(5) Public Speaking  
To note any requests to speak on any item on the agenda in 
accordance with the Council’s Public Speaking Scheme (see note at 
end of the agenda). 

 



 

County Council 
Tuesday 19 December 2023 

Page 2 
  

 

  
2.   External Auditors' Annual Audit Report 2022/23 

 
29 - 62 

 
3.   Warwickshire County Council Statement of Accounts 2022/23 

 
63 - 180 

 
4.   Warwickshire Pension Fund Accounts 2022/23 

 
181 - 244 

 
5.   Annual Governance Statement 2022/23 

 
245 - 276 

 
6.   Education Capital Programme 2023/24 

 
277 - 282 

 
7.   Petitions Scheme 

 
283 - 308 

 
8.   Appointment to Local Pension Board 

 
309 - 312 

 
9.   Notices of Motion  
 To consider the following motions submitted by members in 

accordance with Standing Order 5: 
  
(1)      Liberal Democrat Motion:  
  

Care Experience as a Protected Characteristic 
  
           This Council recognises that the Equality Act 2010 currently 

protects people against discrimination for protected 
characteristics including age, race, gender and sexuality, but 
not care-experience. 

  
The council notes that there is research suggesting that those 
who are care-experienced are more likely than the general 
population to face significant challenges in their life, such as 
mental health issues, barriers to further education, prison 
sentences and early mortality.  

  
This council will therefore write to the Government asking them 
to amend the Equality Act 2010 to include care-experience as 
a protected characteristic and commits that Warwickshire 
County Council will ensure that in designing its policies and 
undertaking any form of Equality Impact Assessment care 
experience is considered as a protected characteristic pending 
any change to legislation. 

  
           Proposer: Councillor Jerry Roodhouse 
  
           Seconder: Councillor Kate Rolfe 
  
(2)      Labour Motion 1: 
  
           Average Speed Cameras 
  
           There are areas of the County where residents have raised 

 



 

County Council 
Tuesday 19 December 2023 

Page 3 
  

 

significant concerns about excessive speeding by drivers.    
  

There has also been a report published by the RAC 
Foundation on the effectiveness of average speed cameras.  
On average, the permanent average speed camera sites 
analysed saw a reduction in injury collisions, particularly those 
of a higher severity:   

  
•                 Fatal and serious injury collisions fell by 25-46%   
•                 Personal injury collisions fell by 9-22%  

  
The report also suggested that average speed cameras are 
becoming more cost effective.   
  
The Council’s pilot of average speed cameras was approved in 
November 2022.   

  
This Council resolves that:  

  
1.              A report is brought to Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee in Summer 2024 to update on 
findings of the pilot and explain the policy for installation 
and operation of average speed cameras, and  
  

2.        Consideration is given to increasing average speed 
camera use across the county as part of the MTFS 
budget proposals 

  
           Proposer: Councillor Sarah Feeney 
  
           Seconder: Councillor Sarah Millar 
  
(3)      Labour Motion 2: 
  
           Electric Vehicle Charging 
  

Electric Vehicle numbers are on the increase in Warwickshire 
(and across the country there are more than 1 million plug in 
vehicles according to figures from the Society of Motoring 
Manufacturers and Traders).  
  
There are concerns that the rate of uptake is not being 
matched by the availability of chargers. In some of 
Warwickshire’s towns there are specific off street vehicle 
charging challenges.   
  
Whilst innovative technologies exist and others are emerging, 
like lamppost chargers and pavement cable bays, attempts at 
deployment have been challenging.  
  
This Council resolves that:  



 

County Council 
Tuesday 19 December 2023 

Page 4 
  

 

  
1.              Consideration is given to accelerating the 

implementation of EV charging facilities across the 
county as part of the MTFS budget proposals;  

  
2.              A report is brought to Cabinet before the end of March 

2024 recommending an electric vehicle charging policy; 
and 

  
3.              A strategic approach to the procurement of charging 

technology is taken to support a flexible roll out that 
identifies community need and engages local members 
in identification of additional sites. 

  
           Proposer: Councillor Sarah Millar 
  
           Seconder: Councillor Sarah Feeney 
    

10.   Member Question Time (Standing Order 7)  
 A period of up to 40 minutes is allocated for questions to the Leader, 

Cabinet    Portfolio Holders and Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 
 

 

 
11.   Any Other items of Urgent Business  
 To consider any other items that the Chair considers are urgent. 

 
 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 
 



 

County Council 
Tuesday 19 December 2023 

Page 5 
  

 

 
To download papers for this meeting scan here with your camera  

 
Disclaimers 
 
Webcasting and permission to be filmed 
Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the internet and can be viewed on 
line at warwickshire.public-i.tv. Generally, the public gallery is not filmed, but by entering the 
meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed. All recording 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders. 
 
Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of their 
election of appointment to the Council.  Any changes to matters registered or new matters that 
require to be registered must be notified to the Monitoring Officer as soon as practicable after they 
arise. 
 
A member attending a meeting where a matter arises in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest must (unless they have a dispensation):  
 

• Declare the interest if they have not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with  
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 

the meeting  
 
Non-pecuniary interests relevant to the agenda should be declared at the commencement of the 
meeting. 
 
The public reports referred to are available on the Warwickshire Web 
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1  
 
Public Speaking 
Any member of the public who is resident or working in Warwickshire, or who is in receipt of 
services from the Council, may speak at the meeting for up to three minutes on any matter that 
features on the agenda for that meetuing. This can be in the form of a statement or a question. If 
you wish to speak please notify Democratic Services in writing at least two working days before the 
meeting. You should give your name and address and the subject upon which you wish to speak. 
Full details of the public speaking scheme are set out in the Council’s Standing Orders.  
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

County Council 
 
Tuesday 26 September 2023  
 

Minutes 
 
Attendance 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Christopher Kettle (Chair), Councillor Jeff Morgan (Vice-Chair), Councillor Brett 
Beetham, Councillor Margaret Bell, Councillor Parminder Singh Birdi, Councillor Peter Butlin, 
Councillor Jonathan Chilvers, Councillor John Cooke, Councillor Andy Crump, Councillor Yousef 
Dahmash, Councillor Piers Daniell, Councillor Tracey Drew, Councillor Judy Falp, Councillor Sarah 
Feeney, Councillor Bill Gifford, Councillor Clare Golby, Councillor Brian Hammersley, Councillor 
John Holland, Councillor Dave Humphreys, Councillor Marian Humphreys, Councillor Andy Jenns, 
Councillor Kam Kaur, Councillor Justin Kerridge, Councillor Sue Markham, Councillor Jan Matecki, 
Councillor Sarah Millar, Councillor Chris Mills, Councillor Bhagwant Singh Pandher, Councillor 
Daren Pemberton, Councillor Wallace Redford, Councillor Will Roberts, Councillor Kate Rolfe, 
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse, Councillor Isobel Seccombe OBE, Councillor Ian Shenton, Councillor 
Jill Simpson-Vince, Councillor Tim Sinclair, Councillor Mejar Singh, Councillor Richard Spencer, 
Councillor Heather Timms, Councillor Mandy Tromans, Councillor Robert Tromans, Councillor 
Adrian Warwick and Councillor Martin Watson 
 
 
1. General 
 

(1) Apologies for Absence 
 
 Councillors Jo Barker, Richard Baxter-Payne, Sarah Boad, Barbara Brown, Jeff Clarke, 

Jackie D'Arcy, Jenny Fradgley, Peter Gilbert, Penny-Anne O’Donnell, Caroline Phillips, and 
Andy Wright 
 
(2) Members’ Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-pecuniary Interests 

 
 Councillors Bill Gifford, John Holland, and Sarah Millar all declared a non-pecuniary interest in 

items 5 and 6, which they considered may lead to discussion on resident parking zones and 
visitor permits since each of them lived in an such an area. 
 
(3) Minutes of the previous meeting 

 
 The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 25 July 2023 were agreed as a true record 

subject to the amendment of the word “trap” to “track” in the eighth paragraph of item 3 
(Addition of Lias Line Improvement Scheme to Capital Programme) so that it reads 
“Councillor Christopher Kettle spoke as the local division member to ask officers to ensure the 
track used by the equestrian community as an offroad facility was enabled to be continued.” 
 
 

Page 7

Page 1 of 22 Agenda Item 1(3)



 

Page 2 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

(4) Chair's announcements 
 
 (a)      Death of Former Councillor Philip Morris-Jones 

  
The Chair regretted to announce the death in June 2023 of former Councillor Philip Morris-
Jones, who had served as a Conservative Member for the Fosse Division from 1989 to 2013.  
  
Councillor Isobel Seccombe noted that she had served alongside Philip for a long time and 
recollected that he was a very dedicated local councillor, committed to his community and the 
parishes he represented in the Chamber.  He had also been Chairman of the County Council. 
An engineer by trade, he ran a business in Coventry and, during his tenure, his views and 
thoughts on behalf of the business community had been valued.  Councillor Seccombe 
reflected on his funeral service and extended her thoughts to his family.  
  
Councillor Adrian Warwick noted his honour and privilege to represent the Fosse division after 
Philip who had set a very high bar, taking his public office and duty seriously.  He had worked 
tirelessly for the community and there was rarely a meeting he had not attended.  He was 
deeply missed and sympathies were extended to his family.  
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse noted that Philip had been very passionate about his community 
whom he had served extremely well.  Councillor Roodhouse stated that he had been fortunate 
to know him from his industrial work and he would be missed.  Sympathies were extended to 
the family.  
  
Councillor Sarah Feeney had got to know Philip towards the end of his life and she 
recognised him as a deeply committed Christian who did what he saw as the right thing to do 
for his community.  After serving at the County Council, he had joined the local Parish Council 
and he took his duties there very seriously.  She knew his wife, Joanna, deeply missed him 
and would be heartened by the kind words shared in this meeting.   
  
(b)      Death of Former Councillor Raj Randev 
  
The Chairman stated that it was his sad duty to inform Council of the recent passing of former 
County Councillor Raj Randev.  Raj, from the Labour group, served as a Warwickshire County 
Councillor for Warwick West between 2001 and 2009.  Raj served as Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Services.  Condolences were extended to his family and friends.  
  
Councillor John Holland had known Raj well and remarked on his ability to work with others 
and tackle problems.  He noted a number of projects that he had worked on and his 
endeavours as Portfolio Holder for Adult Services.  He achieved a great deal in his eight 
years’ service.   
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse considered he had been fortunate to work with Raj.  
  
Councillor Isobel Seccombe noted that Raj was a gentle person and she recalled his efforts to 
serve his community and his endeavours as portfolio holder.   
  
Council stood for a minute’s silence in memory of former Councillors Philip Morris-Jones and 
Raj Randev. 

Page 8

Page 2 of 22



 

Page 3 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

  
(b)      Retirement of Kushal Birla 
  
The Chairman announced that Kushal Birla, Director of Business and Customer Services 
would leave the Council at the end of September after a distinguished career of public service 
that had spanned 38 years.  
  
Kushal joined the organisation as a young trainee Trading Standards Officer and throughout 
the years had demonstrated her exceptional commitment to improving the lives of 
Warwickshire residents and communities, and had been an outstanding public servant.  
  
Kushal exemplified all that was good about public service and community engagement. She 
was energetic, passionate, and had a ‘can do’ positivity that for many years had galvanised 
and inspired Warwickshire’s communities.   
  
Kushal’s work had been driven by a passion for improving the lives of people, and her 
leadership had been critical in delivering kindness, support and care to Warwickshire’s 
communities in the most challenging times.    
  
On behalf of the Council, the Chairman recorded how much Kushal would be missed by the 
colleagues and teams she have worked with, and thanked her for such an outstanding record 
of public service. 
  
Councillor Isobel Seccombe stated that Kushal was a dynamic individual who had led her 
team with enthusiasm.  The Library Service, of which the Chamber was very proud, was her 
greatest passion and the Council owed a great deal to her in this regard.  Councillor 
Seccombe expressed her thanks.  
  
Councillor Yousef Dahmash noted that it was rare to find someone who no-one had a bad 
word to say about.  She was an institution within an institution who would be sorely missed.  
  
Councillor John Holland had worked with Kushal for 38 years and he found her very helpful, 
and his wife, who had managed the Citizen’s Advice Bureau had also had a positive 
relationship with Kushal.  Councillor Holland reflected on the way that Kushal listened to local 
councillors to understand the needs of the local community.  
  
Councillor Judy Falp shared that she had been lucky to have Kushal as her manager for a 
number of years.  She recollected sharing with her a vision for a civic centre and library in 
Whitnash to which Kushal had lent support and how well it was working was testament to her 
good decision making.  
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse also noted that he had never heard a bad word said about Kushal 
who was a joy to work with.  Warwickshire was a better place due to her service for the 
county.  
  
Councillor Heather Timms expressed her thanks to Kushal who had supported her since her 
election to the Council in 2005.  She noted that her abilities had left a real physical legacy and 
her passion had been for public service, reaching out to communities and making services 
available to them. Councillor Timms wished Kushal well in her future endeavours.  

Page 9

Page 3 of 22



 

Page 4 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

  
Councillor Kam Kaur placed on record her thanks and gratitude to Kushal.  Since joining the 
Cabinet in 2014 as Portfolio Holder for Customer and Transformation, she had observed 
Kushal lead on community managed libraries, which was now an exemplar for other 
authorities.  She expressed heartfelt thanks to Kushal for all the work she had done and 
wished her well.  
  
Councillor Bill Gifford thanked Kushal as a marvellous officer who had produced a strong, 
excellent team.  He commented on her strengths as a senior leader, particularly her ability to 
manage in the background while allowing her team to come forward and shine which meant 
that there could be confidence in the Library Team and her wider department going forward 
after her departure.  
  
Monica Fogarty, Chief Executive, noted that officers had already said their goodbyes to 
Kushal who was a very private and modest person.  She had served the Council for a long 
time and she would be hugely missed.  Kushal and her family were watching the web stream 
of the meeting, which Kushal was finding very emotional.  Sending a message through Mrs 
Fogarty, Kushal thanked the Chamber for their kind comments.  
  
(c)      Children and Families Awards 
  
The Chairman stated that on 13 September around 200 members of staff from the Children 
and Families Service gathered at an event to celebrate their collective and individual 
achievements over the past year.  It was an excellent opportunity to take time to recognise the 
great work of the service and positive outcomes for Warwickshire families. Everyone's efforts 
were celebrated and just over 100 staff members received recognition certificates for going 
the extra mile.  The Chairman expressed congratulations on behalf of the Council. 
  
(d)      Virtual School Awards 
  
The Chairman note that the Virtual School Awards had also recently took place, which 
recognised the educational achievements of children in care.  The event was held at Warwick 
University and was a great celebration of the achievements of Warwickshire children in care. 
  
(e)      Fostering Awards 
  
In the summer, the Council had held a Warwickshire Fostering Fun Day.  Supported by Cllr 
Markham and other members, the rain did not stop foster carers and children in care 
celebrating with lots of fun games, a play bus, BBQ and lots more. Foster carers reported it 
was a fantastic event.  The event had included the annual Fostering Awards, recognising the 
life changing impact foster carers have on children when they welcomed them into their 
homes and family.  Warwickshire Foster Carers of the year 2023 had been announced as 
Warwickshire couple Steve and Suzanne, for whom fostering was a real family affair, and 
their children also embraced fostering and provided support to the young people in care, 
helping them to feel heard and safe and part of the family. 
  
(f)       Corporate Games 
  
The Chairman congratulated all the colleagues from across the Council who came together to 

Page 10

Page 4 of 22



 

Page 5 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

compete in the UK Corporate Games in August. The event took place on the University of 
Warwick campus, and was the UK’s largest multi-sport festival for businesses and 
organisations.  
  
Organisations large and small entered for three days of competition, and the Council’s team 
met head-to-head with the likes of the University of Warwick, Balfour Beatty and Coventry City 
Council. The team put in a fantastic performance and didn’t let the damp conditions or limited 
time to practice stop them from achieving a very well-respected 15th place in the medals table 
and a total of 162 competition points.  The final medal tally for Warwickshire County Council 
was 2 gold; 2 silver and 5 bronze  
  
The Chairman extended a huge well done to everyone who took part and to all their family 
members and friends who came to watch and support - even in the pouring rain!   
  
(g)      Chairman’s Activities 
  
The Chairman advised that he had had the opportunity to attend the awarding for British 
Empire Medals (BEM) to: 
  

• Mr Aby Joseph was awarded an Honorary BEM for Services to Care Home Residents 
& Staff during COVID-19.  Aby went above and beyond throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic, most notably - despite being a father of two very young children - at the start 
of lockdown, voluntarily moving into the Care Home to provide constant support for 
residents and colleagues. 

  
• Mr Douglas Shorter was awarded the BEM for Services to Young People in 

Warwickshire.  Mr Shorter was Scout Leader and Member of the 11th Nuneaton 
(Weddington) Scout Group Trustee Committee for over 50 years. 

  
The Chair had also attended numerous other events in the County but he had highlighted 
these awards in particular to demonstrate the commitment that residents had to the 
community and to making lives better.  
  
(h)      Highways Maintenance Reporting 
  
The Chairman reminded the Chamber that officers from County Highways Team were in the 
ante chamber and were hoping to have a conversation with as many Members as possible to 
talk through the reporting of potholes, general maintenance of highways and footpaths and 
how best to work with our communities to make sure that they are reported and that residents 
have a realistic idea of what can be done and the timescales involved.  . 
 
(5) Public Speaking 

 
 None. 

 
2. Youth Justice Plan 2023-2024 
 
Councillor Sue Markham introduced the report and moved the recommendation. In doing so she 
stated that the submission of the Plan was an annual statutory requirement which also set out the 

Page 11

Page 5 of 22



 

Page 6 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

vision for the delivery of services by the Warwickshire Youth Justice Partnership over the coming 
year.   In relation to performance, Councillor Markham highlighted that the report set out a 
reduction in first time entrants and re-offending rates for children in Warwickshire – rates which 
were below the national average and those of local comparative authorities – and a significant 
improvement in NEETS.  The Plan set out the focus on delivering early intervention to support 
continued reduction in the numbers of youths coming through the criminal justice system and set 
out four key priorities to achieve this: 

•        Prevention of Serious Youth Violence 
•        Prevention of and improved intervention for children who present with harmful sexualised 

behaviours. 
•        Embedding the ARC Trauma Informed Model and improving the interventions offer for 

children 
•        Focusing on Core Good Practice – including reviewing all policies, procedures and 

agreements 
  
The recommendation was seconded by Councillor Andy Crump.  
  
Debate 

Councillor Sarah Feeney welcomed the report and the work of officers delivering the service.  
However, she considered that more information regarding neurodiversity could be included and 
provided statistics from the 2017 ‘Neurodevelopmental disorders in prison inmates‘ study which 
indicated that 9% of prison inmates met the criteria for autism, 25% met the ADHD diagnostic, and 
9% met the screening criteria for learning difficulties.   She went on to quote from a subsequent 
report written by the Chief Inspector of Prisons which suggested that it was possible that half of 
people entering prison could “be expected to have some form of neurodivergent condition which 
impacts their ability to engage.”  In light of this, Councillor Feeney questioned what work could be 
done through early intervention to provide a focus on neurodiversity.  

Councillor Bill Gifford also welcomed the report, and particularly noted the section regarding the 
Voice of the Child and the work that had been done to increase volunteer panel members with 
regard to restorative justice.  He looked forward to improvements in the process to report on 
monitoring contact with victims of crime.  

Councillor Jonathan Chilvers noted that reoffending figures were showing a downward trend but 
that this was based on data from March 2021.  Like Councillor Gifford, he noted that restorative 
justice underpinned the service and expressed concern that the volunteer aspect had been in 
decline.  He too welcomed the increase in volunteers and sought Councillor Markham’s view on 
how well the recovery was taking place.  
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse welcomed the report and thanked officers and partners for their work.  
In relation to paragraph 13 of the report, which noted the challenge of increasing serious crime, 
Councillor Roodhouse acknowledged that serious violence and knife crime did appear to be on the 
increase and he noted the challenges that tackling this would present to the service and, in his 
view, it was therefore important that the information and data that was being relied upon was up to 
date.   Councillor Roodhouse considered that the report would have benefited from including some 
of the related diversionary activities that were being provided by district and boroughs alongside 
youth services which would provide greater insight into geographical hotspots.    
  

Page 12

Page 6 of 22



 

Page 7 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Councillor Robert Tromans welcomed the report.  In response to previous comments he 
considered that victims of crime also needed support and were not likely to be interested in the 
neurodiversity of perpetrators.  He went on to say that he would have appreciated more detail in 
the report on prevention and diversion activity and work with victims.  He recalled that in a previous 
role of Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner he had attended the Youth Justice Board and he 
was of the view that it would be helpful for elected members to be appointed to the Board to 
provide a voice for the public and an invaluable insight for officers.  
  
Councillor Sarah Millar noted that the data in the report was a few years’ old and questioned how 
the impact of Covid in compounding the challenges already faced by those with mental health and 
emotional wellbeing challenges would be categorised and reflected in the data.  
  
Councillor Clare Golby expressed her experience and view that some criminals were under the 
age of 18 and explained that the Nuneaton and Bedworth Community Safety Partnership was 
aware of repeat youth offenders who had committed serious crimes and the voice of the victims in 
these cases must not be lost.  She noted activities which saw young people groomed into criminal 
activity and applauded the operational work that the Police had undertaken over the summer 
months in terms of diversionary work in this regard.  
  
Councillor Margaret Bell also noted instances of antisocial behaviour tipping into serious violence 
resulting in the loss of life. Whilst she was supportive of the report, it was important to set 
boundaries and make the consequences of crime clear.   
  
Councillor Andy Crump acknowledged the need to work with partners around the issue of 
neurodiversity and noted that the Chief Nurse was on the Youth Justice Board and worked with 
partners to provide advice but he recognised that the report was not explicit about the good work 
that was being done in this regard.  He also acknowledged that more accurate data was required 
and, in response to Councillor Millar, he believed that it would take time for the impact of Covid to 
be seen in the data, but it was key to be able to react to changing trends and utilise community 
intelligence to identify them early.   He noted that the serious violence duty was taken seriously 
and there were some great examples of diversionary work but the points that were made in the 
debate regarding grooming youths into a life of crime were noted and the need to address the root 
cause was acknowledged.   Councillor Crump welcomed the feedback in the report on the 
management of high risk children.  
  
Councillor Markham thanked councillors for their comments and would seek to provide more up to 
date figures as sought during the debate.  
  
Vote 
  
A vote was held. The recommendation was agreed unanimously. 
  
Resolved 
  
That Council approves the Warwickshire Youth Justice Service Strategic Plan 2023/24. 
 

Page 13

Page 7 of 22



 

Page 8 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

 
3. Appointment of Scheme Member Representative to the Warwickshire Fire and Rescue 

Local Pension Board of the Firefighters' Pension Scheme 
 
Councillor Yousef Dahmash introduced this report and moved the recommendation for the 
appointment of David Vazquez to the Board. 
  
Councillor Ian Shenton seconded the recommendation. 
  
Councillor Sarah Millar welcomed the robust recruitment process and expressed delight at the 
diverse membership of the Board.  
  
Councillor Ian Shenton explained that the Board was a key part of the pensions governance 
process, which provided an interesting and challenging role for Members.  He welcomed Mr 
Vazquez applying to join the Board at this critical time and gave his support to the appointment.  
  
Councillor Yousef Dahmash noted that Board Members were appointed on merit.  
  
Vote 
  
A vote was held. The recommendation was agreed unanimously. 
  
Resolved 
  
That Council approves the appointment of Mr David Vazquez, as a Scheme member 
representative on the Warwickshire Fire and Rescue Local Pension Board of the Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme. 
 
4. Organisational Structure and Constitutional Changes 
 
Councillor Isobel Seccombe introduced this report and explained that changes to the structure 
were proposed in order to increase capacity to cope with demands from central government.  
Attention was drawn to proposals around the statutory directorships and the constitutional changes 
that would be required as a result of the proposals around the delegations to those roles.  
  
Councillor Peter Butlin seconded the recommendation.  
  
Debate 
  
Councillor Sarah Millar considered that the proposals were sensible and, noting the cost neutrality 
of the temporary provision, asked what the financial implications would be after 2025.   Councillor 
Sarah Feeney also asked how the costs would be absorbed if internal recruitment was not 
possible and queried whether trade unions had been consulted.  
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse supported the proposals in order to support the magnitude of work 
coming through the system.  
  
Councillor Butlin welcomed support of the recommendations.  
  

Page 14

Page 8 of 22



 

Page 9 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Councillor Seccombe advised that the changes were in the form of a two year proposal to be taken 
forward on an internal recruitment basis.  She was confident that this would bear fruit as there 
were some very high calibre officers in the organisation.  Councillors would be kept informed if the 
approach needed to change.  She considered that the proposals were reflective of steps being 
taken by other councils which would help the Council to deal with the challenges being presented 
in this field.  
  
Vote 
  
A vote was held. The recommendation was agreed unanimously. 
  
Resolved 
  
That Council: 
  
1.     Approves the separation of the functions of the Executive Director for People and the 

reconfiguration into two Executive Director roles as set out at section 5 and Appendix 1b to the 
report and supports the Directorate level changes made to the Council’s Directorate structures 
at Appendix 1a to the report. 

2.     Approves the appointment of the statutory officers of Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and 
Director of Adult Social Services (DASS) as set out at paragraph 5.8.1 of the report. 

3.     Approves the minor modifications to the Constitution, including officer delegations, to reflect the 
changes made to the Council’s organisational structure. 

4.     Approves an amendment to Part 2(9) of the Constitution as set out at paragraph 5.8.2 of the 
report to change the membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board to include the appointed 
statutory officers of the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and the Director of Adult Social 
Services (DASS) from time to time. 

5.     Approves an amendment to Part A of Part 2(10) of the Constitution to increase the level of ex 
gratia payments to complainants that Executive Directors and Directors have authority to 
approve from £1,000 up to and including £2,000. 

6.     Approves an amendment to Part 4(5) of the Constitution to replace the Officers’ Code of 
Conduct with an updated version as at Appendix 2 to the report and authorises the Executive 
Director for Resources to make such minor consequential modifications to reflect HR best 
practice and guidance. 

7.     Approves an amendment to Part 1(9) (Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters) and Part 2(10) 
(Delegations to Officers) to clarify the delegations relating to the approval of special severance 
payments as set out at Appendix 3 to the report. 

8.     Authorises the Executive Director for Resources to make all the necessary changes to the 
Constitution arising from this report. 

  
 
5. Notice of Motion 
 
Digital Divide 
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse moved the following motion, which was seconded by Councillor Sarah 
Feeney: 
  

Page 15

Page 9 of 22



 

Page 10 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

This Council notes that there is an ever-increasing use and reliance for services including payment 
by the use of smart phones, Apps and other digital devices as well as the increase in the use of 
artificial intelligence and communication tools such as chat functions within websites. 
  
Whilst it is recognised that the use of technology has brought benefits to sectors of the community, 
it has also driven a growing digital divide. 
  
In recognition of this divide Council requests that the Chief Executive and Leader: 
  
1.               Ensure that implementation of this Council’s digital by design policy does not exacerbate 

the digital divide and that services are accessible to residents of all ages.    
2.               Ensure that the Council's strategic policies are reviewed against best practice to ensure 

they meet the requirements of the Equality Act 2010;   
3.               Ask the Resources and Fire and Rescue Service Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

consider this issue and bring forward any recommendations to Cabinet as to what 
improvements can be made in relation to accessibility of services;   

4.               Support Warwickshire County Council’s ongoing work with The Good Things Foundation in 
tackling the digital divide. 

  
Amendment 
  
Councillor Yousef Dahmash proposed a friendly amendment which was seconded by Councillor 
Tim Sinclair (deletions shown as strike through, additions shown bold and underlined) 
  

This Council notes that there is an ever-increasing use and reliance for services including 
payment by the use of smart phones, Apps and other digital devices as well as the increase in 
the use of artificial intelligence and communication tools such as chat functions within websites.  
  
Whilst it is recognised that the use of technology has brought benefits to sectors of the 
community, it has also driven a growing digital divide.  
  
We therefore welcome that this Council does not subscribe to a digital by default policy, 
and instead employs a more flexible, customer focused approach to enable access to 
Council services. As such, we further welcome this Council’s continued commitment to 
ensure that no resident is forced to go digital if they either do not wish to or are unable 
to do so. 
  
In recognition of this dividethe Council’s commitment to ensuring that no resident is 
digitally excluded within the County, this Council commits to:  
  
  
1.     Continuing to eensure, through the thatimplementation of this Council’s digital by design 

policychoice culture, the availability of non-digital alternatives to access Council 
services. Does not exacerbate the digital divide and that services are accessible to 
residents of all ages.  

  
2.  Continuing to keep Ensure thatthe Council's strategicstrategies and policies areunder 

reviewedagainst best practice to ensure they meet the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010 in line with legislation and our own ambitions, with periodic updates to the 

Page 16

Page 10 of 22



 

Page 11 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Resources and Fire & Rescue Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ensure Member 
engagement and oversight.  

  
3.     Ask the Resources and Fire and Rescue Service Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

consider this issue and bring forward any recommendations to Cabinet as to what 
improvements can be made in relation to accessibility of services;    
  

3.     Continuing to build upon the work that is already being undertaken and 
SupportWarwickshire County Council’s strong relationship ongoing work with The Good 
Things Foundation in respect of tackling the digital divide inclusion best practice and to 
ensure digital inclusion in Warwickshire’s libraries. 

4.       
5.     Continuing its extensive programme of work to build digital skills, including free 

access to public computer networks, provision of free WiFi in public spaces and the 
digital device lending scheme. 

  
In moving the amendment, Councillor Dahmash hoped the wording captured the spirit of the 
original motion but provided more of the essence of the work that was already being undertaken.  
He noted that the Council had a digital by culture policy, not one of digital by default, and 
recognised that changing technologies required new skills for engagement which could create a 
digital divide, especially for older people, those renting or those with no means to access the 
internet.  He commented on work taking place with The Good Things Foundation and the 
extensive programme of work to deliver skills training through the libraries together with the 
provision of practical access to wifi and alternative methods to make contact.   
  
In view of the late hour that the amendment was provided, Councillor Roodhouse did not accept it 
as friendly.  
  
Debate 
  
Councillors Kate Rolfe, Bill Gifford and Sarah Millar expressed concern regarding the move from 
paper-based visitor parking permits to a digital system and shared examples of the difficulties that 
elderly residents were having navigating it. 
  
Councillor Tracey Drew commented on the lack of equality of access for those booking household 
recycling centres online and those trying to do so by telephone.  Councillor Timms made a point of 
clarification that it was possible to book appointments by telephone.  
  
Councillor Brett Beetham commented that the debate was wider than the focus on visitor parking 
permits and reminded the Chamber of the strides the Council had taken during Covid to address 
the digital divide which had a wider impact above improving access to education.  He also 
reminded the Chamber that digital options improved access for those who were unable to work 
with paper-based systems.  
  
Councillor John Holland did not consider that the amendment reflected reality and expressed the 
view that some people did not have signal or were otherwise unable to use technology.  He 
acknowledged that digital options provided a support for some disabled customers but for others, 
the customer call centre provide a lifeline and it was essential that a counter service continued.  In 

Page 17

Page 11 of 22



 

Page 12 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

view of the comments made regarding the visitor parking permits, he urged a refreshed view and a 
system that was fit for purpose.  
  
Councillor Clare Golby echoed comments made by Councillor Beetham that the debate was wider 
than comments made regarding the visitor parking permit system.  She noted that not all areas 
operated this system and the debate needed to be inclusive and suggested that concerns about 
the system be dealt with by petition and/or referral to the Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  Councillor Golby went on to say that the council did not have a digital by default 
policy. 
  
Councillor Bill Gifford made a point of clarification that the examples given regarding the visitor 
parking system provided a lived example of the digital divide.  
  
Councillor Jonathan Chilvers sought to clarify comments made by Councillor Tracey Drew 
regarding equality of access to the household recycling centres for people who could not use the 
internet to book a slot compared to those who could.  Whilst it was understood a resident could 
telephone to get an appointment, it was suggested it was not possible to book a short notice 
weekend appointment because the customer service centre was not open on Saturdays and 
Sundays but, even if it was, a same day appointment required the person to take an email 
confirmation with them to the appointment and, if they hadn’t got internet access to book the 
appointment in the first place, then they could not do that.   
  
Councillor Isobel Seccombe considered that the debate had missed the achievements that had 
been reached, particularly pointing out significant investment in recent years to roll out broadband 
and technology for residents and the work that had provided facilities to help people get 
connected.  She noted high satisfaction rates (88%) with the customer call centre and shared her 
personal experience of the ease of using the booking system for household waste recycling.  She 
expressed the view that it was important to find ways for residents to easily use digital channels 
and her understanding that the digital divide was less than 6%.  
  
Councillor Sinclair noted that the Council enabled digital access and encouraged its use, rather 
than forced it. He noted that this approach was supportive of those people who did not have the 
necessary foundation skills to work digitally or had concerns about privacy or data misuse.  These 
groups were typically people who were economically inactive or retired.  He also noted Age UK’s 
recent report that highlighted the impacts of loneliness and isolation in older people which could be 
exacerbated by the digital divide and he recognised that the Council had a duty to look after them 
and ensure there was no digital divide.  The amendment therefore sought to reflect the reality of 
the work that the Council was doing to achieve this and he was therefore pleased to second the 
amendment and encouraged Council to vote in favour of it.  
  
Councillor Sarah Feeney explained that the original motion had been crafted and put forward due 
to the lived experiences of residents who felt excluded.  She did not consider that the Council 
should dismiss residents voices, not just on the visitor parking issue, but also relating to blue 
badges, the equality of access between those visiting services on online and those requiring to use 
the telephone.  She noted that disenfranchisement was at 15% in the division she represented, 
and that the issues that caused the divide had been highlighted during the debate.  She went on to 
state that services needed to be easy to navigate and the original motion sought to ensure that 
residents were aware of alternative means of access which should be workable and properly 
advertised.  

Page 18

Page 12 of 22



 

Page 13 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

  
Councillor Yousef Dahmash suggested that the relevant Portfolio Holders could reach out on the 
issues of visitor parking issues and household recycling centres outside the meeting and noted 
Councillor Golby’s advice on how residents’ concerns could be dealt with.  He welcomed the 
summary from Councillor Sinclair.  
  
Councillor Jerry Roodhouse stated that if Councillor Dahmash had been able to make contact 
about the amendment earlier, it would have been possible to bring a more acceptable motion 
forward since it was recognised that a digital divide existed.  He highlighted that the original motion 
focussed on digital by design (not default), noting that service redesign led to a greater push 
towards digitalisation and it also talked about people of all ages, not just the elderly.  The 
amendment removed reference to the Equality Act which was the crux of the motion and 
Councillor Roodhouse considered that Scrutiny had a role to play.  
  
Vote 
  
A vote was held on the Conservative amendment which was carried by a majority and became the 
substantive motion.  A vote was held on the substantive motion which was unanimously supported. 
  
Resolved 
  
This Council notes that there is an ever-increasing use and reliance for services including 
payment by the use of smart phones, Apps and other digital devices as well as the increase in the 
use of artificial intelligence and communication tools such as chat functions within websites. 
  
Whilst it is recognised that the use of technology has brought benefits to sectors of the community, 
it has also driven a growing digital divide. 
  
We therefore welcome that this Council does not subscribe to a digital by default policy, and 
instead employs a more flexible, customer focused approach to enable access to Council services. 
As such, we further welcome this Council’s continued commitment to ensure that no resident is 
forced to go digital if they either do not wish to or are unable to do so. 
  
In recognition of the Council’s commitment to ensuring that no resident is digitally excluded within 
the County, this Council commits to: 
  
1.     Continuing to ensure through the implementation of this Council’s digital by choice culture the 

availability of non-digital alternatives to access Council services.    
  

2.     Continuing to keep the Council's strategies and policies under review in line with legislation and 
our own ambitions, with periodic updates to the Resources and Fire & Rescue Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to ensure Member engagement and oversight;   

  
3.     Continuing to build upon the work that is already being undertaken and Warwickshire County 

Council’s strong relationship with The Good Things Foundation in respect of digital inclusion 
best practice and to ensure digital inclusion in Warwickshire’s libraries. 

  

Page 19

Page 13 of 22



 

Page 14 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

4.     Continuing its extensive programme of work to build digital skills, including free access to 
public computer networks, provision of free WiFi in public spaces and the digital device lending 
scheme. 

  
 
6. Member Question Time (Standing Order 7) 
 
a)       Question from Councillor Tracey Drew to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
“Land acquisition was stated, by Cllr Butlin during last February’s AGM, as a, or even the, major 
hurdle to advancing K2L. Please could you provide a general update on progress on this, one of 
the Council's flagship cycle schemes? And have leaps or stumbles been achieved in acquiring the 
necessary land in the last 6 months?” 
  
Councillor Matecki responded that the Council was actively negotiating with the impacted 
landowners for section 1b of the K2L route between north Leamington and Blackdown roundabout 
with specialist Bruton Knowles to facilitate construction of the new footway/cycleway.  This would 
require the dedication of existing school playing fields which were Council owned and, at the time 
of the meeting, leased to North Leamington School and subject to a Department for Education 
Secretary of State legal process, as well as the acquisition of the adjacent school playing field land 
owned privately by Kingsley School and the Warwick School Foundation.  In addition, easements 
needed to be established with private landowners both north and south of Blackdown roundabout, 
to facilitate the installation of the two hybrid retaining structures that would safely support the 
existing highway embankment once the new footway/cycleway was cut into it.  To date, the 
Council had shared relevant land plans, project drawings, information and held very positive onsite 
meetings with all parties and negotiations were continuing.  The Council had commissioned a 
specialist engineer for the retaining structures and once the detailed designs were available, the 
scope of the easements could be confirmed to allow those negotiations to continue. Should 
negotiations fail, the use of the Compulsory Purchase Order process would need to be considered 
in order to progress. The land acquisition for the rest of the K2L route remained on hold while the 
detailed designs for section 3b were finalised and the preferred design for the main bridge crossing 
for the River Avon was assessed against pre planning conditions, eg flood modelling and 
ecological impact, etc.  
  
b)       Question from Councillor Jonathan Chilvers to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
“The aim of the Bermuda project was to speed up journey times for motor vehicles and an 
estimated number of seconds gain is part of the modelling. However, construction is causing long 
delays to journeys in some cases for years which currently makes journeys slower. 
  
How many years will it take for the project to 'break even' in terms of journey times for vehicles?” 
  
Councillor Matecki replied that the Bermuda project had a number of aims when originally planned, 
with improved journey times being just one of them.  Other key benefits that the scheme was 
envisaged to generate were reduced congestion in parts of the town centre, thus improving links 
on to the A444 in Nuneaton and other parts of the town, enhanced accessibility to local 
businesses, amenities and residential areas, particularly in Bermuda and adjoining areas, 
improved connectivity to Bermuda Park Rail Station for trains to Coventry, to provide an improved 
environment for cyclists and pedestrians and support further economic growth in Nuneaton 

Page 20

Page 14 of 22



 

Page 15 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

through delivery of the Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan Scheme which served to enhance access to employment sites and residential areas for all 
modes.    
  
Councillor Matecki went on to say that the Bermuda Project had been regularly reappraised 
through traffic modelling on anticipated benefits and presented a strong and positive benefit:cost 
ratio based on the improved outcomes it would generate.  The Bermuda Connectivity Scheme 
would offer a wide range of benefits to people from the scheme opening over a prolonged period 
which it was believed would far outweigh the unfortunate temporary traffic disruption created 
during the construction programme.  
  
Councillor Chilvers stated that it was good to hear that the reappraisal was happening, especially 
given increased project costs and he asked if Councillor Matecki could commit to making that 
reappraisal of the cost:benefits available to councillors in order to provide reassurance that it was 
still a good value project.  
  
Councillor Matecki responded that the scope of the scheme was very different and it was not a like 
for like comparison.  Costs had risen, not least due to inflation and uncharted utilities, but the 
benefit:cost ratio still represented good value for money.  
  
c)        Question from Councillor Sarah Feeney to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
““Please could you give council an update on how long residents are waiting on the call line for the 
residents parking scheme.  We have reports of numerous residents waiting for up to 40 minutes on 
the phone and also that they are being advised to go online when they do get through.  What is the 
council doing to address the issues?”” 
  
Councillor Matecki explained that improvements continued to be made to the phone line support 
service for the residents parking scheme and call numbers and average wait times were 
monitored.  The latest showed that the average wait time for the NSL permit line in the week 
commencing 18 September 2023 was 47 seconds.  This was down from 73 seconds in week 
commencing 11 September 2023.  Calls were averaged at 50 per day commencing 18 September 
2023 which was down from an average of 68 per day throughout August 2023 and, when these 
figures were considered against the increasing number of passes issued weekly, this was a move 
forward. In August 2023, a call back feature was introduced which enabled individuals to request a 
call back from the service when an operator was free, removing the need for residents to remain 
on hold. The Council continued to review and improve the wider service.  These improvements 
included: 
  

• Additional resources to be allocated to the phone line service in anticipation of increased 
call volumes to deal positively and proactively with problems being faced by residents 

• Revised postcards with a QR code and instructions of how to log-on to be sent to all 
residents with a permit due for renewal in the three months following the meeting 

• Postcards were also being placed on windscreens displaying permits due for renewal 
• Enforcement officers were issuing warning notices to vehicles with newly expired permits 

rather than issuing a penalty charge notice 
• A step by step guide would be available in the form of a crib sheet and a new YouTube 

video how to guide was being developed.  These would be available on the Council’s 
parking webpage and would be circulated 

Page 21

Page 15 of 22



 

Page 16 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

• NSL were setting up online accounts on behalf of customers unable to access a computer 
and documents were being provided to the customer in their chosen method, which could 
be by post, email or by hand to local Post Offices.  

• Development upgrades, streamlining the visitor permit customer journey, was being 
launched in the week of the meeting which would introduce a favourites option to toggle 
between saved vehicles such as “Mum”, “Gardener”, etc.   

  
Weekly meetings with NSL would continue, monitoring feedback and taking action as required.  
  
d)       Question from Councillor Sarah Feeney to Councillor Heather Timms 
  
“Recently fly tipping is on the increase in Warwickshire.  A number of residents have raised 
concerns that they are still having to book for taking items to the recycling facilities operated by the 
County Council and several have commented that they believe that the increase in fly tipping is 
because of the booking system.   Many other local authorities have now removed the booking 
system so is there any consideration being given to removing the booking system for Warwickshire 
now?” 
  
In response, Councillor Heather Timms stated that in common with approximately 43% of other 
Councils, Warwickshire operated a booking system at recycling centres.  The booking system had 
reduced queuing and therefore given environment benefits and an improved customer experience 
as previously at peak times – weekends and bank holidays – cars would be queuing and people 
would be spending an inordinate amount of time to be able to recycle their materials.  The booking 
system spread visits out during the day meaning that people could get in and out to recycle items 
more quickly and easily.  In January 2023, the government published a paper entitled Research 
into the possible links between household waste recycling centre booking systems and the 
incidence of fly tipping.   The conclusion of the research was that there was no demonstrable link 
between the introduction of recycling centre booking systems and either an increase or a decrease 
in fly tipping.  Monitoring fly tipping trends in Warwickshire over the past ten years, showed that the 
number of incidents was on a gradual upward trend that was in common with the rest of the UK but 
that there was no obvious link between changes to Council waste services and incidents.  A link 
between the type of waste being tipped and local changes was also not demonstrated.  It was 
noted that much fly tipping appeared to be related to business and traders.  Councillor Timms 
noted Police success in closing down a number of cannabis farms in Warwickshire which had 
reduced fly tipping incidents since these were people who were unlikely to visit a household waste 
recycling centre.  She also noted that in the local area, four of the Council’s neighbours - 
Birmingham, Coventry, Solihull and Gloucestershire Councils – retained booking systems.  
Nationally, both Essex and Bristol had introduced a booking system in 2023.  The booking system 
used at household waste recycling centres was well liked, had a number of customer services 
benefits and environmental benefits, and had not led to any demonstrable increase in fly tipping.  
However, the Council believed in continual improvement and to this end a further customer 
satisfaction survey would be carried out to ensure that services continued to meet the needs and 
expectations of customers across the county.  
  
e)       Question from Councillor Brett Beetham to Councillor Kam Kaur 
  
“As the portfolio holder for Education knows WCC and partners have been shortlisted for a NASEN 
SEND Award. This shows that we are on the right path with SEND, so can the Education Portfolio 
Holder, please put on record my thanks and congratulations to the SEND team and partners. 

Page 22

Page 16 of 22



 

Page 17 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Furthermore, can the Portfolio holder please confirm this Conservative council is going to continue 
focusing on transforming and improving SEND services across the County for residents?” 
  
By way of reply, Councillor Kam Kaur stated that she was extremely proud that Warwickshire 
County Council, in collaboration with Warwickshire Parent Carer Voice and IMPACT, the young 
people's forum, had been named a finalist in 'Co-Production Initiative of the Year' category at the 
2023 prestigious 'nasen' SEND Awards.  The nomination recognised the work on the Warwickshire 
Schools Inclusion Charter which had laid the groundwork for inclusivity and equality within 
educational settings, fostering a more accessible and supportive environment for learners with 
special educational needs and/or disabilities. The nomination was a testament to the dedication 
and hard work of everyone involved in the partnership and she wished all those shortlisted for the 
awards the very best of luck. 
  
f)        Question from Councillor Brett Beetham to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
There has been a lot of talk from a former Green County Councillor at the Borough Council about 
wanting to implement a ULEZ where needed in Warwickshire and this included some roads into 
Nuneaton Town Centres. Can the portfolio holder please confirm that as long as Warwickshire 
County Council is Conservative Led that we will not implement a further tax on residents by 
implementing the anti-motorist Ultra-Low Emission Zones (ULEZ) in Warwickshire. 
  
Councillor Jan Matecki stated that there were no plans to implement any form of ULEZ in 
Warwickshire where the focus was on working to tackle climate change and improve air quality 
through other transport interventions.  
  
Monica Fogarty, Chief Executive, read a statement that she had received from the former Green 
Party County Councillor at Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council which announced that he had 
never campaigned for a ULEZ in Warwickshire. 
  
g)       Question from Councillor Brett Beetham to Councillor Sue Markham 
  
Families in Camp Hill have been using this Council’s Holidays Activity and Food commonly called 
HAF, that allows children to have 16 Activities during the Summer Holiday paid for. I am aware the 
HAF team is currently refreshing the programmes for the new academic year. Can the Portfolio 
holder ask officers to make sure that we continue providing activities in Super Low Output Areas 
such as Camp Hill, Kingswood and Stockingford within reasonable distances and can officers 
continue to expand sessions that are available and suitable for various SEND needs. 
  
In response, Councillor Sue Markham noted that the HAF Programme was funded by the 
Department for Education who provided £1.7m funding to provide activities and a meal for school 
age children in full time education who received benefit related free school meals from Reception 
to Year 11 inclusive.  The programme offered valuable support to families on lower incomes, giving 
young people the opportunity to access activities with a healthy meal provision over the main 
school holidays: Christmas, Easter and Summer.  A maximum of four sessions per eligible young 
person with a valid Warwickshire HAF code could be attended during Christmas and Easter 
holidays, increasing to 16 in the longer summer holiday.  All the data and outcomes for children 
demonstrated that the HAF programme team was working hard to increase the number of 
locations that were offering funded activities as part of the HAF programme.  This included areas 
where there were high rates of young people accessing benefit related free school meals, 

Page 23

Page 17 of 22



 

Page 18 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

alongside rural areas where transport barriers were significant.  The Council was keen to engage 
further with schools, either to use premises as a venue for activities or for the schools to run their 
own HAF activities for young people.   
  
Councillor Markham explained that specific sessions for children with special educational needs 
who met the core criteria were also provided to 196 families.  The HAF Programme Team had 
been trialling new activities over the summer to look to  increase the support for families looking to 
access the programme with SEND needs. These included family experiences at six sites across 
Warwickshire where eligibility was met alongside supporting inclusive community activities with a 
food provision.  The Council was working to expand the listed SEND activities as part of the 
offering and support activity providers in additional funds with bookings that required one to one 
support.  Funding was limited for this, however, it had been possible to support 41 provider 
requests for staffing support in the summer.   
  
Councillor Markham stated that a full analysis of the programme would shortly be published on the 
website. Across the summer, HAF provided support to a record number of children, with HAF 
codes issued to 5,819 families. There were 135 registered providers who served 35,148 meals to 
children over the summer. There were 36,248 places available and bookings were made for 
34,500 activity sessions.   The next provision would take place from 2-5 January 2024 and if any 
councillors wished to visit any of the sessions, they should contact John Coleman for details.  
  
h)       Question from Councillor Sarah Millar to Councillor Kam Kaur 
  
Are free school meals for all Primary School children now being provided as recommended by 
Director of Public Health and supported by Council in March? 
  
Councillor Kaur replied that the Director of Public Health annual report did not recommend that 
free school meals were provided for all primary school children in Warwickshire. The 
recommendation was “to support children to have the best start in life, Health and Wellbeing Board 
explores the feasibility of free school meals for all primary school children in Warwickshire, as 
research shows that children are able to learn better in school if they have a full stomach.”  In 
March 2023, the Council agreed to support the Director of Health Annual Report and as 
recommended, work was underway to explore the feasibility of providing free school meals for all 
primary school children. This included the logistics of doing so (in terms of whether school 
kitchens, dining rooms etc would have the capacity); the cost and whether a non-targeted 
approach would be appropriate as it would channel funding towards the wealthiest as well as those 
in greatest need. There was also work going on to explore auto-enrolment for free school meals for 
those who were eligible in order to increase take up. 
  
i)         Question from Councillor John Holland to Councillor Peter Butlin 
  
In the past, Portfolio Holders have fully involved Warwick town centre stakeholders in decisions 
about County Council property in Warwick town centre.  Will Councillor Butlin continue to do this 
for the future of the Barrack Street office block? 
  
Councillor Peter Butlin explained that Barrack Street was an aging building of its time and the 
Council was exploring ways to repurpose the building, demolish it, etc. There was no Reinforced 
Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) in the building and once a sensible proposal was achieved, 
the Council would undertake consultation with the Town Council and Warwick District Council.   

Page 24

Page 18 of 22



 

Page 19 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

  
j)         Question from Councillor John Holland to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
Does the following reflect your understanding of our decision at July Council?  If so, what action 
has been taken? 
  
"The ‘hierarchy of road users’ is a concept that places those road users most at risk in the event of 
a collision at the top of the hierarchy. The hierarchy does not remove the need for everyone to 
behave responsibly. The road users most likely to be injured in the event of a collision are 
pedestrians, cyclists, horse riders and motorcyclists, with children, older adults and disabled 
people being more at risk" 
  
Councillor Matecki explained that the hierarchy of road users was a road safety concept 
embedded in the Highway Code by new regulations in 2022.  It was based on ensuring that all 
road users were aware of the Highway Code and that they were considerate to other users and 
understand their responsibility for the safety of others.  At its core, it placed greater emphasis and 
responsibility on those HGV drivers, for example, who could do  the most harm to other vulnerable 
road users.   
  
He stated that in Warwickshire, it had been the case for many years that vulnerable road users 
were given due consideration when developing new schemes and improvements to existing ones, 
in particular, through the Road Safety Audit process.  Nothing had changed in that regard in 
relation to the adoption of the Local Transport Plan (LTP4).  The central aim of the Safer Travel 
Strategy within LTP4 was for Warwickshire’s residents, visitors and commuters to live, work and 
move around the county in safety.  Everyone should be presented with travel choices that allowed 
them to reach their destination free from harm. Transport interventions would therefore continue to 
seek out solutions which provided the best safety outcomes for all network users as they moved 
through Warwickshire.   
  
Councillor Matecki explained that the hierarchy of road users was somewhat different to the travel 
choices hierarchy that was set out in LTP4. The decision taken by Council in July 2023 to ratify 
and adopt LTP4 established the guiding principles of the travel choices hierarchy contained with 
the new Local Transport Plan.  The hierarchy was intended to deliver on the Council’s aim for 
sustainable travel throughout Warwickshire without impacting on economic vitality.  It was, in 
essence, a recognition of the public’s desire for a transport system that protected the environment 
and their own wellbeing as priorities. Taken together, the Safer Travel Strategy, the travel choices 
hierarchy and the Council’s ongoing Road Safety Audit processes helped support modal shift 
where appropriate and protected the most vulnerable on the network. 
  
k)        Question from Councillor Jonathan Chilvers to Councillor Isobel Seccombe 
  
Would the leader agree with me that whatever our exact political relationship with the West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), strong cooperation on issues like transport and retrofitting 
assets are essential to solve some of the challenges we face? 
  
Councillor Isobel Seccombe stated that the Council’s relationship with WMCA continued as it had 
done for the last eight years or so and the Council had always sought to seek the best advantage 
for Warwickshire residents and businesses and, for those of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority and the Council would continue to play an active participating role.  The Combined 

Page 25

Page 19 of 22



 

Page 20 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Authority offered advantages in the area of travel and the Council continued dialogues in this 
regard.  There were some areas where full constituent membership provided an edge but the 
Council tried to ensure advantages if it could, not just on travel but on retrofitting of housing and 
the important work that the Combined Aurthority were doing in this respect and the Council would 
continue to work closely with them and to try achieve the best it could for Warwickshire businesses 
and residents.  
  
l)         Question from Councillor Jonathan Chilvers to Councillor Heather Timms 
  
Would the portfolio holder agree that a key part of a government's role should be to set a clear 
direction and framework which allows businesses, Councils and others to invest and innovate with 
confidence?  
  
If so, does she share my concern at the Prime Minister's recent announcements which moves the 
goalposts on a number of key Climate Change issues?   
  
Councillor Heather Timms stated that the Prime Minister’s announcements did not change the 
targets in the Sustainable Futures Strategy, which was being considered by all Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and was open for comment by all Councillors in the Chamber.  The strategy 
remained consistent with national targets.  The action plans that supported the strategy described 
a range of activity to reduce the Council's own emissions, and a range of future action with more to 
come as funding became available, particularly focussing on external funding sources. 
The Council was working with public sector partners, businesses and other Warwickshire 
stakeholders to innovate and invest, and importantly find intelligent and pragmatic solutions that 
would make sense to the communities across Warwickshire.  
  
Councillor Chilvers asked whether Councillor Timms was concerned that some of the assumptions 
made in the Sustainable Futures Strategy which helped to estimate how big the gap was and how 
much retrofitting was needed were based on things like the ban on new petrol vehicles and that 
would need ot be changed with the result that the gap in emissions was going to be greater than 
predicted, and there were a number of other examples about the assumptions that had been made 
based on previous announcements.   
  
Councillor Timms restated that targets had not changed and, therefore, the Council would be 
looking at how actions plans may have to change but the Council was committed to the 
Sustainable Futures Strategy which would be presented to Cabinet later in the year. She noted 
that Jaguar Landrover, based in Warwickshire and which had a big impact on residents, had 
welcomed the Prime Minister’s comments so, on a local level, it was possible to move forward with 
the Sustainable Futures Strategy. 
  
m)      Question from Councillor Bill Gifford to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
I am getting more and more people expressing concern about the sink hole in Park Road, 
Leamington Spa CV32 6LG.   This is a long-standing problem that goes back several months. I 
understand that there may have been disagreements between Severn-Trent and the County 
Council as to where the responsibility lies.  What are the current plans by the County Council to 
ensure this hole is filled and made safe.  When is the work expected to be completed? 
  

Page 26

Page 20 of 22



 

Page 21 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

Councillor Matecki responded that County Highways were working on a solution to repair the Park 
Road sinkhole that would likely involve an injection of foam concrete.  A high voltage cable had 
been located which needed to be secured before the work could commence.  Councillor Matecki 
stated that he was happy to instruct County Highways to provide Councillor Gifford with an update 
as soon as a date for the works could be confirmed and noted that works orders had been placed 
to expedite the repair. 
  
Councillor Matecki took the opportunity to remind Members that Highways Officers were in the 
antechamber to answer questions and there was also a surgery on 27 September 2023 for 
highways questions.  
  
n)       Question from Councillor Sarah Millar to Councillor Jan Matecki 
  
Could you provide an update on the parking permit transition process? Residents in Leamington 
Clarendon have been in touch with me to express their ongoing difficulties with permit renewal and 
most notably with the visitors  permits, including access to the website and over the phone. One 
resident reported that they received a fine whilst on the phone trying to navigate the system. Will 
there be the option to allow paper permitting where residents are struggling? 
  
Councillor Matecki referred Councillor Millar to his response to an earlier question but added that 
to date the Council had successfully issued over 3,000 new parking permits through the new digital 
based system which was just under a quarter of all resident permits in the county.  The process 
and communications systems had been reviewed and improved following feedback.  The Council 
remained committed to the utilisation of a digital permit system.  The measures already outlined in 
response to Councillor Feeney’s question above, were in place to support customers that could not 
use the digital system and if there was anything specific that residents had a problem with, he 
urged them to raise the issue so that it could be addressed.  
  
o)       Question from Councillor Sarah Millar to Councillor Heather Timms 
  
Please could the portfolio holder provide and update on the solar panel scheme. Residents are still 
reporting difficulties in finding resolutions to deposits and contracts that have not been delivered. 
What help is available to residents still encountering these problems? 
  
In reply, Councillor Heather Timms explained that The Solar Together Warwickshire scheme was 
run by iChoosr who were contractually responsible for the selection of the supplier. The collapse of 
that supplier, GET UK, had unfortunately impacted some Warwickshire residents, which was 
regrettable. County Council officers had continued to work closely with iChoosr to find the best 
solutions for those residents, a process that had achieved satisfactory resolutions for a number of 
residents. She had been advised that iChoosr would shortly be contacting those still to achieve 
resolution to help establish next steps.  Council Timms stated she was happy to receive details of 
any residents experiencing difficulties and, if officers were not already involved, iChoosr would be 
asked to provide support. 
 
7. Any Other items of Urgent Business 
 
None. 
 
The meeting rose at 1.16 pm 

Page 27

Page 21 of 22



 

Page 22 
County Council 
 
26.09.23 

…………………………. 
Chair 

Page 28

Page 22 of 22



County Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

External Auditors’ Annual Audit Report 2022/23 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Council: 
 

1) considers the Annual Audit Report of the External Auditors, attached at 
Appendix A; and 

2) requests that Audit and Standards Committee review the delivery of the 
management action in response to the recommendations in the Annual Audit 
Report. 

 
 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1. A new Code of Audit Practice came into force from 1 April 2020 for audit years 

2020/21 onwards. The most significant change under the new Code was the 
introduction of an Auditor’s Annual Report, containing a commentary on the 
Council’s arrangements for securing value for money alongside the audit 
opinion on the Council’s accounts. 

 
1.2. The purpose of preparing and issuing the Annual Audit Report is to 

communicate to the audited body and key external stakeholders, including 
members of the public, the key issues arising from auditors’ work, which auditors 
consider should be brought to the attention of the audited body. 

 
1.3. The Report, for 2022/23, is attached at Appendix A and covers both the County 

Council and Warwickshire Pension Fund. It summarises all of the work 
completed as part of the 2022/23 annual audit and review of value for money 
arrangements. 

 
1.4. The auditors will attend the meeting to present the report. 
 
1.5. The Auditors Annual Report contains several improvement recommendations to 

which the Council’s management response is included as part of the report. It is 
proposed that Council request that the Audit and Standards Committee review 
the delivery of the management response over the next year. 

Page 29

Page 1 of 2 Agenda Item 2



 
 
2. Financial Implications 
 
2.1. There are no material financial implications for the Authority as a result of the 

issues raised in this report. 
 
 
3. Environmental Implications 
 
3.1. There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
 
4. Background Papers 
 
4.1. None. 
 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Virginia Rennie 

Head of Strategic Finance 
vrennie@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Director Andy Felton 
Director of Finance 

andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Executive Director Rob Powell  
Executive Director for Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder Peter Butlin 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Property 

peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk  

 
 
Local Members consulted 
Not applicable 
 
Other Members consulted 
None 

Page 30

Page 2 of 2

mailto:vrennie@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk


Auditor’s Annual Report 
on Warwickshire
County Council

2022/23

November 2023

P
age 31

P
age 1 of 32

P
age 1 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Contents

Section Page

Executive summary 3

Use of auditor’s powers 5

Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 6

The current LG landscape 7

Financial sustainability 8

Governance 14

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness 17

Improvement recommendations 21

Warwickshire Pension Fund 24

Follow-up of previous recommendations 25

Opinion on the financial statements 26

Other reporting requirements 28

Appendices

Appendix A – Responsibilities of the Council 30

Appendix B – An explanatory note on recommendations 31

2

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
to satisfy ourselves that the Council has 
made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice 
issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) 
requires us to report to you our 
commentary relating to proper 
arrangements.  ​

We report if significant matters have come 
to our attention. We are not required to 
consider, nor have we considered, whether 
all aspects of the Council’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively.​

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of completing our work under the NAO Code and related 
guidance. Our audit is not designed to test all arrangements in respect of value for money. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify significant weaknesses, we will report these to you. 
In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in arrangements that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept 
any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting, on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant 
Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are 
not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 32

P
age 2 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are required to consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Auditors are required to report their commentary on the Council’s arrangements under specified criteria and 2022/23 is the third year that we have reported our findings in this way. As part of our work, we 
considered whether there were any risks of significant weakness in the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Where we identify significant 
weaknesses in arrangements, we are required to make recommendations so that the Council may set out actions to make improvements. Our conclusions are summarised in the table below.

Executive summary

3

Value for money arrangements and key recommendation(s)​

Criteria 2022/23 Risk assessment 2022/23 Auditor judgement on arrangements 2021/22 Auditor judgement on arrangements Direction of travel

Financial 
sustainability

No risks of significant weakness 
identified.

G
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, 
and no improvement recommendations made.

G
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, 
but one improvement recommendation made.

Governance
No risks of significant weakness 
identified.

G
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified 
and no improvement recommendations made.

G
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, 
but one improvement recommendation made.

Improving 
economy, 
efficiency and 
effectiveness

No risks of significant weakness 
identified.

A
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, 
but three improvement recommendation made.

A
No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, 
but two improvement recommendation made.

G No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified or improvement recommendation made.

A No significant weaknesses in arrangements identified, but improvement recommendations made.

R Significant weaknesses in arrangements identified and key recommendations made.

P
age 33

P
age 3 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Executive summary (continued)

4

Financial sustainability

Although it has continued to be an extraordinary year for Local Authority finances, with the impact of inflationary pressures felt 
throughout, the Council has continued to perform strongly in terms of its financial planning and management. The national picture for 
Councils across the Country is one of struggling to meet the emerging cost of living pressures for citizens, as well as ongoing demand led 
pressures in key service areas such as Children and Adult Social Care, SEND and Home to School Transport. Whilst the 
uncertainty of funding and overspends place additional pressure on the longer-term financial position of the Council the Council is working 
hard to mitigate this risk. The Council has a healthy reserves position putting it in a strong position to manage the arising pressures over
the short to medium term. The Council should continue to acknowledge the importance of seeking ways other than use of reserves to 
manage the financial budget gap in the medium term, given the finite nature of reserves. There is slippage on capital programmes which 
whilst is commonplace across other Councils, the Council needs to continue to actively monitor and report slippage on projects needs to be 
actively monitored and reported. Our work has not identified any evidence which leads us to conclude that there are weaknesses present 
which require recommendations to be raised. 

Governance

The Council continue to have good processes in place for the monitoring of risks, ensuring standards, behaviour and effective decision 
making. 

Our work has not identified any evidence which leads us to conclude that there are weaknesses present which require recommendations 
to be raised. 

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

Overall, we are satisfied that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to ensure it can deliver economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with good processes in place for performance monitoring, procurement and contract management and partnership working. 
However there remain several improvements outstanding from the March 2021 Ofsted and Care and Quality Commission (CQC ) inspection 
report, Local Area Arrangements for SEND. The recent inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS), published in September 2023, has also highlighted a number of key areas of required improvement.

Our work has not identified evidence of significant weaknesses within the arrangements in place. However, we have identified areas where 
the Council could improve arrangements and as such, have raised three improvement recommendations which have been accepted by 
Management. See pages 21, 22 and 23 for more detail.

Financial Statements opinion

We have substantially completed our audit of 
your financial statements and propose to 
issue an unqualified audit opinion, following 
the full Council meeting on 19 December 
2023. Our findings are set out in further detail 
on pages 26 to 28.P

age 34

P
age 4 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Use of auditor's powers

5

We bring the following matters to your attention:

2022/23

Statutory recommendations

Under Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, auditors can make written recommendations to the audited body which need to be 
considered by the body and responded to publicly.

We did not make any written 
recommendations under Schedule 7 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Public Interest Report

Under Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, auditors have the power to make a report if they consider a matter is sufficiently 
important to be brought to the attention of the audited body or the public as a matter of urgency, including matters which may already be known to 
the public, but where it is in the public interest for the auditor to publish their independent view.

We did not issue a public interest report.

Application to the Court

Under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, if auditors think that an item of account is contrary to law, they may apply to the court 
for a declaration to that effect.

We did not make an application to the 
Court.

Advisory notice

Under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, auditors may issue an advisory notice if the auditor thinks that the authority or an 
officer of the authority:

• is about to make or has made a decision which involves or would involve the authority incurring unlawful expenditure,

• is about to take or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency, or

• is about to enter an item of account, the entry of which is unlawful.

We did not issue any advisory notices.

Judicial review

Under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, auditors may make an application for judicial review of a decision of an authority, or of 
a failure by an authority to act, which it is reasonable to believe would have an effect on the accounts of that body.

We did not make an application for judicial 
review.

P
age 35

P
age 5 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the Council’s use of resources

All Councils are responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness from their resources. This includes taking properly informed decisions and managing key operational 
and financial risks so that they can deliver their objectives and safeguard public money. The Council’s 
responsibilities are set out in Appendix A.

Councils report on their arrangements, and the effectiveness of these arrangements as part of their annual governance statement.

Under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, we are required to be satisfied whether the Council has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

The National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 03, requires us to assess arrangements under three areas:

6

Financial sustainability

Arrangements for ensuring the Council can 
continue to deliver services. This includes 
planning resources to ensure adequate 
finances and maintain sustainable levels of 
spending over the medium term 
(3-5 years).

Governance 

Arrangements for ensuring that the Council 
makes appropriate decisions in the right way. 
This includes arrangements for budget setting 
and management, risk management, and 
ensuring the Council makes decisions based 
on appropriate information.

Improving economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness 

Arrangements for improving the way the 
Council delivers its services. This includes 
arrangements for understanding costs and 
delivering efficiencies and improving outcomes 
for service users.

Our commentary on the Council’s arrangements in each of these three areas, is set out on pages 8 to 24. 

In addition to our financial 
statements audit work, we perform a 
range of procedures 
to inform our value for money 
commentary:

• Review of Council, Cabinet and 
committee reports

• Regular meetings with senior officers

• Interviews with other members and 
management

• Attendance at Audit and Standards 
Committee

• Considering the work of internal audit

• Reviewing reports from third parties 
including Ofsted

• Reviewing the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement and other 
publications

P
age 36

P
age 6 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

National context

Local government in England continues to face significant challenges as a sector. These include a high level of uncertainty over future levels of government funding,  alongside delays to the  Government’s 
plans for reform of the local government finance system,  impacting on medium-term financial planning.  This is also a time of generationally significant levels of inflation – the UK inflation rate was 7.8% in 
April 2022, rising to a 41-year high of 11.1% in October 2022, then reducing to 10.1% in March 2023. Inflation levels put pressure on Councils’ revenue and capital expenditure, as well as the associated cost of 
living crisis impacting on local communities and businesses, leading to an increase in demand for Council services such as children with special education needs with associated transport costs, and mental 
health suport, as well as impacting on some areas of Council income such as car parking and the collection rates of Council tax and business rates. This follows a significant period of funding reductions by 
Government (2012 to 2017) and the impacts of EU Exit and the COVID-19 pandemic which, for example, have contributed to workforce shortages in a number of Council service areas, as well creating supply 
chain fragility risks.

The local government finance settlement for 2023/24 was better than many in the sector anticipated demonstrating an understanding by Government of the financial challenges being faced by the sector. 
However, the Local Government Association, in July 2023, estimated that the costs to Councils of delivering their services will exceed their core funding by £2bn in 2023/24 and by £900m in 2024/25. This 
includes underlying cost pressures that pre-date and have been increased by the pandemic, such as demographic pressures increasing the demand for services such as social care and homelessness. 

Over the past decade many Councils have sought to increase commercial activity as a way to generate new sources of income which has increased the nature of financial risk, as well as the need to ensure 
there is appropriate skills and capacity in place to manage such activities. 

Local government is coming under an increased spotlight in terms of how the sector responds to these external challenges, including the Government establishing the Office for Local Government (Oflog) and 
there has been an increase in the number of Councils who have laid a Section 114 Notice, or are commenting on the likelihood of such an action, as well as continued Government intervention at a number of 
Councils. 

There has also been an increase in the use of auditors using their statutory powers, such as public interest reporting and statutory recommendations. The use of such auditor powers typically derive from 
Value for Money audit work, where weaknesses  in arrangements have been identified.  These include:

• a failure to understand and manage the risks associated with commercial investments and Council owned companies

• a failure to address and resolve relationship difficulties between senior officers and members

• significant challenges associated with financial capability and capacity

• a lack of compliance with procurement and contract management processes and procedures

• ineffective leadership and decision-making.

Value for Money audit has an important role in providing assurance and supporting improvement in the sector.

The current Local Government landscape

7

P
age 37

P
age 7 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

We considered 
how the Council:

• identifies all the significant financial 
pressures that are relevant to its short 
and medium-term plans and builds 
them into 
its plans

• plans to bridge its funding gaps and 
identify achievable savings

• plans its finances to support the 
sustainable delivery of services in 
accordance with strategic and statutory 
priorities

• ensures its financial plan is consistent 
with other plans such as workforce, 
capital, investment and other 
operational planning which may include 
working with other local public bodies 
as part of a wider system

• identifies and manages risk to financial 
resilience, such as unplanned changes in 
demand and assumptions underlying its 
plans.

Financial performance in 2022/23

The Council faced significant financial challenges during the 2022/23 
financial year. The period was characterised by economic uncertainty, with 
inflation and interest rates rising beyond expectations, resulting in 
additional in-year costs. Furthermore, the Council continued to face 
escalating demand for children's and adult social care services, as well as 
for home-to-school transport as a result of demand led pressures.

As a result of the pressures stated above the Council's financial outturn 
position for the 2022/23 period was an overspend of £9m. The overspend 
was covered by provisions included in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) to cover £5m of the overspend. After considering this funding, the 
remaining net overspend amounts to £4m, equivalent to 1.1% of the net 
revenue budget. This residual overspend was financed through reserves set 
aside by the Directorate and the General Risk Reserves, which were created 
to cover such residual overspends. Despite the overspend in the outturn 
position in Q4, it is a decrease of £4.5m from the forecast outturn reported 
in January.

2023/24 MTFS

On 7 February 2023, the Council approved a balanced budget for the 
financial year 2023/24. During the budget setting process, a comprehensive 
approach was taken with internal and external engagement. Budget 
options and flexibilities were presented to Cabinet on 15 December 2022, 
with an update on the MTFS reported on 27 January 2023 covering the 
impact of the Local Government Finance Settlement and taxbase 
information.  

Financial sustainability

8

In developing the MTFS, key risks were identified and considered such as 
pay inflation, demand led spending pressures, the DSG deficit, and delivery 
of savings. 

The key spending highlights from the budget include: 

• Investing almost £25m to address the rising numbers and expenses of 
supporting elderly and vulnerable adults; 

• Investing £5m for children's social care services to accommodate the 
increasing number of children and families needing support, including 
£3m earmarked for additional staffing;

• Investing £5m to provide support for children and young people with 
disabilities and special educational needs;

• Investing £187m to support the delivery of the 2023 business plans of 
the Warwickshire Property and Development Group and the 
Warwickshire Recovery and Investment Fund; and

• Investing £140m for capital programme.

The key income highlights from the budget include: 

• Use of £94m of government grants to support the budget;

• Use of business rates funding of £81m to support the budget;

• Use £23m of reserves in 2023/24 to fund time-limited costs and budget 
allocations; and 

• Increase in Council tax by 3.94% in 2023/24.

P
age 38

P
age 8 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

DSG

The Council is dealing with several issues related to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG saw a net 
overspend over four segments - schools, early years, high needs, and central services as illustrated in 
the table to the right. Included within the High Needs Block overspend of £4m, the Independent 
Special Schools recorded a significant overspend of £4m, as demand for provision increased by 10%, 
while £2m was allocated for top-ups of teacher's pay and pension payments to special schools. This 
has contributed to a cumulative deficit of £20m. This deficit has been a significant challenge for the 
Council, as it has resulted in a shortfall in funding for critical services such as special education needs 
and disabilities provision. However, the DSG Deficit Offset Reserve is currently £22m, which means  
the Council currently has excess funding of £2m.

The Council has also highlighted concerns regarding the level of funding for children with Special 
Education Needs and Disability (SEND) and the impact of funding reforms and what impact it will have 
on the Councils finances.

These challenges have been compounded by broader economic uncertainties such as inflation and 
interest rate increases, as well as rising demand for social care services and home-to-school transport. 
The Council has had to work hard to balance its budgets while ensuring that vital services continue to 
be delivered to residents.

The Council is seeking to mitigate the challenges it is facing in the DSG domain with interventions by 
the SEND & Inclusion Change programme (SICP). With the over-arching aim of the programme over 
the long term to ensure appropriate school place for each child whilst ensuring costs are appropriate. 
For example, reducing the reliance of Independent Specialist Provision and increasing "SEND Top-ups" 
to mainstream and special schools. A decision taken at the inception of the SICP is to set budgets for 
services as they might be after several years of the change programme does lead to several reported 
large over/ under-spends as budget is set for the future while the forecasted costs are for the present, 
so the Council is approaching it holistically.

Nevertheless, the High Needs Block remains an area of concern, with the recurring yearly overspend 
drawing attention to the funding structural deficit in this service. It is essential to note that this issue 
is not specific to the Council and is, in fact, a nationwide problem.

Financial sustainability (continued)

9

DSG block

Effect of 
Outturn 
2022/23

£m

Reserve 
Position as at
1 April 2023

£m

Schools Block (0.103) (0.494)

Early Years Block (0.408) (3.341)

High Needs Block 4.436 20.416

Central Services Block 0.005 0.484

Total 3.930 16.097

P
age 39

P
age 9 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Identifying savings

The Council's budget reduction plan is expected to generate savings of £15.158m in 2023/24 to balance 
the budget and an additional £52.513m over the Medium-Term Financial Strategy period increasing to 
£68m by 2028. The Council plans to achieve this by enhancing procurement procedures, generating 
more revenue, and reducing demand. The Council set up a Member Working Group in March 2023, to 
enhance focus on the demand and cost management of home to school transport. This approach 
complements the Council's previous efforts, which led to savings of £9m in 2022/23 and £114m over the 
last nine years.

The savings plan for 2022/23 required the delivery of £10.244m of savings, accumulated from 54 
individual saving initiatives. At outturn, £9.574m (93.5%) has been delivered in line with the plan, with 
£0.670m (6.5%) unachieved in year. 

In recent years, the Council has shown that it can deliver a high proportion of its savings targets which 
demonstrates the strong processes it has in place to monitor and manage the delivery of savings. Given 
the low percentage of savings not achieved in the year, it is not considered detrimental or critical to the 
financial landscape of the Council, coupled with the uncertainty around financial pressures that the 
Council has experienced in 2022/23. 

Financial sustainability (continued)

10

Monitoring Capital Programmes

The Council's assets are valued at £1.4 billion, and there is an annual requirement to allocate 
funds to maintain their suitability for service provision and invest in new assets to meet 
changing needs and requirements.

Approval was granted for a capital programme worth £849m in February 2023. Of this amount, 
£317m is profiled to be spent for 2023/24, and £532m is allocated to future years. The Capital 
Investment Fund holds £91m, which will be allocated to specific schemes aligned with the 
Council's priorities as bids are developed and evaluated over the five years of the 2023-28 
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

The actual capital spend in 2022/23 was £117m and the actual controllable capital payments 
made by the Council were £98m representing a 18.9% slippage on actual controllable 
expenditure. 

The main reasons for capital underspend on projects are the reprofiling of expenditure and 
delayed projects. This is mainly due to the availability of contractors and materials, project 
reviews and redesigns due to inflationary pressures and longer than anticipated procurement 
and planning processes. 

However, it should be noted that the Council has reprofiled these projects, meaning they will 
still be delivered within the Council's capital programme and related strategies but at a revised 
timescale.

One project that has been significantly affected is the Bermuda Connectivity Project. This project 
was initiated in 2014/15 and is ongoing at the date of this report. The project had an initial 
approved budget of £3.7m in 2014/15 which was subsequently increased to £8.9m in 2018/19. 
The budget was further increased in 2020/21 to £10.4m and increased further to £15 million in 
2022/23. Cumulative expenditure on the project as at the end of 2022/23 was £10 million. The 
reason of the increased expenditure was due to the changes in the scheme which meant that 
that the project grew, and this went through the appropriate Council governance for approval.

We are satisfied that where there is scope increases on projects like this, the Council has 
arrangements to ensure that these enhancements are necessary and provide wider benefits to 
residents. For example, reassessing the Benefit Costs Ratio scores for projects, and looking at a 
schemes impact on wider economic benefits, before incurring the increased expenditure on the 
project.

P
age 40

P
age 10 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Monitoring Capital Programme continued

Increase in 2022/23

Between 2021 and 2022/23, the costs of the scheme increased due to unforeseen issues that became 
apparent during the construction phase of the project. These issues in combination with higher-than-
expected inflation resulted in a higher budget requirement that was approved as per the Council’s 
governance arrangements.  

Governance arrangements in relation to the Bermuda Connectivity Project

Whilst the budget for the Bermuda Connectivity Project has needed to be increased several times since 
the initial budget approval, we consider that the Council has taken appropriate action to inform 
Members of the required increases and request approval in line with its agreed governance.  For each of 
the required budget increases, as discussed earlier in this section of our report, the Council has complied 
with its Capital rules and has obtained formal approval for the increase from either full  Council or 
Cabinet.  Further, the Council has acted to improve the governance and management arrangements in 
respect of its Capital Programme, as outlined below. 

Financial sustainability (continued)

11

Capital Programme Governance Arrangements 

As a result of costs increasing on various projects between the preliminary and detailed design and 
slippage against project delivery timelines, the Council has initiated a Capital Financial Management 
(CFM) project. This project aims to:

• improve monitoring of capital programmes across the Council, 

• improve the risk management skills of project managers 

• Improve the level of understanding and cooperation between finance and project delivery teams. 

The CFM project commenced in 2020/21 and has issued 12 recommendations to date and progress 
against these is reported twice a year to the Resources and Fire & Rescue Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. The benefits of the CFM project have been realised from April 2023.

One of the recommendations of the CFM project is the establishment of the Investigation Design Fund 
which enables service lines to access funding at an earlier stage. This allows them to complete detailed 
design and carry out other preliminary activities, including surveys, before requesting budget approval 
from Members. This should improve the accuracy and completeness when estimating costs and help 
to reduce slippage in project timeline by reducing the occurrence of unforeseen and uncosted 
activities.

It is apparent that the Council is undertaking a series of actions to address known weaknesses in its 
Capital Programme management and governance arrangements with some activity already underway. 
Whilst we have given credit to the Council for this, we have recommended that it continue to 
implement the recommendations made by the CFM project and monitor their effectiveness. This will 
help to reduce the risk of existing and future projects being subject to delays and higher than 
anticipated costs. A project closure report is due to be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 13 December 2023.

The progress on the 12 recommendations  to date is that 10 of the proposed changes have now been 
implemented. The remaining 2 being:

• Production of a video tutorial to support project managers with capital forecasting on the FP&A 
system. This recommendation will be actioned in quarter 3 of 2023/24.

• The completion and publication of the first Capital Annual Report for 2022/23. Currently a draft 
report has been considered by the Capital Strategy Group and reviewed by the Executive Director 
of Resources, and final changes are being made.

FY
Expenditure 

(Annual) 
£000’s

Expenditure 
(Cumulative) 

£000’s

Approved 
Budget 
£000’s

2014/15 53.5 53.5 3,702

2015/16 377 430 3,702

2016/17 697 1,127 3,702

2017/18 190 1,317 3,702

2018/19 306 1,622 8,900

2019/20 636 2,259 8,900

2020/21 621 2,880 10,359

2021/22 3,526 6,405 10,359

2022/23 3,712 10,117 14,941

2023/24 979 11,096 14,941

P
age 41

P
age 11 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Financial sustainability (continued)

12

Reserves

The Council has an annual Reserves Strategy which is updated every year. The Reserves 
Strategy is appended to the MTFS and supports decision-making. An analysis of reserves and 
any changes are reported in quarterly monitoring reports. 

The Reserves Strategy outlines the primary aim of holding reserves and their intended use as 
follows: 

• Reserve to manage financial risk, including volatility;

• Reserve for investment in projects to drive forward the delivery of the Council’s 
objectives;

• Reserve to meet externally set funding conditions; and

• Reserve for investing to pump-prime the delivery of the Council’s core outcomes and to 
support the resourcing of the MTFS by managing timing differences between spending 
need and the delivery of budget reductions.

As of March 2023, the Council’s reserves as per the quarter 4 outturn report are £223m. The 
impact of the outturn on 31 March 2023 has meant a decrease in the overall reserves held by 
the Council over the 2022/23 financial year of £22m, taking the total reserve balance to 
£223m from £245m as of April 2022 . The reserves are expected to reduce by a further £42m 
by the end of the MTFS period. 

However, despite a reduction of 26% in reserves from April 2022 to the end of the MTFS, the 
Council has a healthy reserves balance as noted in the table on the right where Warwickshire 
Council ranks 7th when compared to other County Councils in the  County in terms of its 
general fund and non-schools earmarked reserves as a percentage of net service expenditure 
(40%). 

General fund and non-schools earmarked general fund 
reserves as a percentage of net service revenue 
expenditure (%)

P
age 42

P
age 12 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Conclusion

Although it has continued to be an extraordinary year for Local Authority finances, with the impact of 
inflationary pressures felt throughout, the Council has continued to perform strongly in terms of its 
financial planning and management. The national picture for Councils across the Country is one of 
struggling to meet the emerging cost of living pressures for citizens, as well as ongoing demand led 
pressures in key service areas such as Children and Adult Social Care. 

Whilst the uncertainty of funding and overspends place additional pressure on the longer-term 
financial position of the Council the Council is working hard to mitigate this risk. The Council has a 
healthy reserves position putting it in a strong position to manage the arising pressures over the short 
to medium term. The Council should continue to acknowledge the importance of seeking ways other 
than use of reserves to manage the financial budget gap in the medium term, given the finite nature 
of reserves.

There is slippage on capital programmes which whilst is commonplace across other Councils, the 
Council needs to continue monitoring and reporting these slippages.

Our work has not identified any evidence which leads us to conclude that there are weaknesses 
present which require recommendations to be raised. 

Financial sustainability (continued)

13

P
age 43

P
age 13 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Risk management and internal controls

The Council continues to have good processes around risk 
monitoring. The Strategic and Service Risk Register are presented to 
the Cabinet on a quarterly basis. This document assesses risk and 
evaluates against a matrix. The impact of risks range from 
insignificant to catastrophic and likelihood from highly unlikely to 
very likely. The definitions and criteria are set out in the risk 
management framework. The Strategic Risk Register is updated on 
an ongoing basis and has risks for current challenges such as “Being 
unable to deliver Local Area SEND Inspection Written Statement of 
Action within required timescales “

The Council also receives assurance on internal control and risk 
management processes from its Internal Audit function. In 2022/23, 
Internal Audit provided opinions on 25 pieces of work:

Internal Audit provided an overall opinion of “Substantial 
Assurance” on the Council’s control environment. The number of 
limited assurance opinions provided was consistent with last year 
and represents a low percentage of all opinions given.

Governance

14

We considered how the Council:

• monitors and assesses risk and gains 
assurance over the effective operation of 
internal controls, including arrangements to 
prevent and detect fraud 

• approaches and carries out its annual budget 
setting process 

• ensures effective processes and systems are 
in place to ensure budgetary control; 
communicate relevant, accurate and timely 
management information (including non-
financial information); supports its statutory 
financial reporting; and ensures corrective 
action is taken where needed, including in 
relation to significant partnerships

• ensures it makes properly informed decisions, 
supported by appropriate evidence and 
allowing for challenge and transparency

• monitors and ensures appropriate standards, 
such as meeting legislative/regulatory 
requirements and standards in terms of staff 
and member behaviour (such as gifts and 
hospitality or declaration of interests) and 
where it procures and commissions services.

Full Assurance Substantial Assurance

1 11

Moderate Assurance Limited Assurance

9 4

During 2022/23 an independent review of the Internal Audit Service was 
performed by CIPFA. This was in line with required standards that state 
an external reviewer must undertake a full assessment or validate the 
Internal Audit Service’s own self-assessment at least once in a five-year 
period. The review concluded that the Internal Audit Service generally 
conforms to the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Informed decision making including the Audit Committee

The basis of the Council’s decision making is governed by the 
Constitution. The Constitution was reviewed during 2022/23 with minor 
updates made to ensure the document remains compliant and meet the 
organisations operating arrangements.

The Audit and Standards Committee provides oversight of the Council’s 
arrangements for corporate governance, risk management and internal 
and external audit matters. The Committee is chaired by an independent 
member and a Council appointed second independent member. The 
Committee has six members, in line with CIPFAs practical guidance for 
Audit Committees.

Attendance at the Audit and Standards Committee demonstrates that 
members provide sufficient challenge and scrutiny of officers, and the 
Committee benefits from a balance of different experiences among its 
members. Additionally, the Committee prepares an annual report 
summarizing its work and contribution to the governance framework, in 
conjunction with officers, internal audit, and external audit.

P
age 44

P
age 14 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Relevant information is provided to decision makers before major decisions are made to ensure 
there is appropriate challenge and the Council has a forward plan  that provides information 
about key decisions that are scheduled to be made.

As reported in our 2021/22 prior year AAR, the recommendations from the independent review 
of Overview and Scrutiny that was commissioned by the Council in February 2020 were built into 
an action plan. A March 2023 update report that went to the Audit and Standards Committee 
highlighted the way in which this action plan has strengthened the Council’s scrutiny function 
through training, increased number of programmes scrutinised and joint scrutiny arrangements.

Standards and behaviour

The Council has a legal services team led by a Monitoring Officer who is responsible for ensuring 

the organization complies with legislative and regulatory requirements. The Monitoring Officer 

attends relevant meetings of the Cabinet, Council, or other committees where applicable, 

providing advice on legal and regulatory matters.

The Council have a counter fraud, bribery and corruption framework which is underpinned by 

the need to "support a culture of openness, honesty and integrity". The Framework defines the 

approach to managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption across the organisation and 

ensures that best practice is embedded across all services, projects and partnerships. 

The Council has set guidance for gifts and hospitality for members and staff. In our 2022/21 

Annual Audit Report we recommended that consideration should be given to the review and 

renewal of the gifts and hospitality policy as they were due for renewal in 2021. During 2022/23 

the Council has reviewed and refreshed this policy. As such we have marked our 

recommendation as complete.

There is also evidence of the Council creating their own review process when standards don’t 

achieve expected results. An example of this is the review and subsequent improvement plan 

that was put in place following problems with in year schools admissions in 2022.

Governance (continued)

15

Annual budget setting

The Council's budget setting process is a detailed and comprehensive approach to allocating resources 
to meet the needs of residents while ensuring financial sustainability. The Council's budget setting 
process typically begins in the summer of each year, with the identification of priorities and key areas of 
expenditure for the upcoming financial year. The Council starts by reviewing its strategic priorities and 
identifying any new or emerging areas of need. The Council also considers the impact of national policy 
changes on local services and any changes in the Council's workforce or service delivery models.

The basis for the budget are the three strategic priorities of the Council which are stated in the Council 
plan.

• A County with a thriving economy and places with the right jobs, skills, and infrastructure;

• A place where people can live their best lives; where communities and individuals are supported to 
live safely, healthily, happily and independently; and

• A County with sustainable futures which means adapting to and mitigating climate change and 
meeting net zero commitments.

The Director of Finance at the Council oversees the internal communication of the annual process and 
timelines for setting budgets and refreshing the Medium Term Financial Strategy. To facilitate this 
process, a range of documents are provided that contribute to the overall process. These include: 

• A Revenue cost and demand pressure proforma, which details permanent additional costs, time-
limited costs, one-off costs, and future savings identified by officers. These items must be supported 
by narrative explanation and applicable assumptions. 

• A Capital cost and demand pressure proforma, which outlines required capital costs (excluding any 
third-party contributions), associated revenue costs, and anticipated savings. Like the Revenue cost 
and demand pressure proforma, this document must be supported by narrative explanation in all 
cases. 

Subsequently, the budget is discussed at Corporate Board, working groups, Councillors/members, and at 
Cabinet and full Council meetings. 

P
age 45

P
age 15 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Governance (continued)

16

The Council's budget report is subject to review and consultation with key stakeholders. The 
Council also engages with service users and carers to gather feedback on the quality of services 
and identify areas for improvement. Once the Council has received feedback from stakeholders, 
the Council's budget is then presented to the Cabinet for approval. Cabinet members scrutinize 
the budget, ask questions, and make recommendations for changes. Once approved by Cabinet, 
the budget is then presented to the full Council for final approval

Budgetary control

Throughout the year, the Council monitors its budget closely, making adjustments where 
necessary to ensure that expenditure remains within the approved budget. The Council also 
produces regular financial reports, which are reviewed quarterly by Cabinet.

The Council monitors its performance against budget through a range of measures and processes. 
The Council uses a combination of financial and non-financial indicators to assess its performance 
and ensure that expenditure remains within budget.

One key measure used by the Council is regular financial reporting. The Council produces regular 
financial reports, which are reviewed by Cabinet and the full Council. These reports provide 
updates on expenditure and income, highlighting any areas where spending is above or below 
budget. The Council also produces an annual statement of accounts, which sets out the Council's 
financial position for the previous financial year.

In addition to financial reporting, the Council also uses a range of non-financial indicators to 
monitor performance against budget. These indicators are aligned with the Council's strategic 
priorities and objectives and are used to measure progress towards these goals.

The Council also uses performance management frameworks, which are designed to monitor and 
improve the quality and efficiency of services. These frameworks include regular performance 
reviews, audits, and inspections, which are used to identify areas for improvement and ensure 
that services are delivered to a high standard.

Another important aspect of the Council's monitoring of its performance against budget is the 
use of benchmarking data. The Council uses benchmarking data to compare its performance 
against other local authorities, identifying areas where it may be falling behind or excelling. This 
helps the Council to identify best practices, areas for improvement, and ways to improve 
efficiency and effectiveness.

Conclusion

The Council continue to have good processes in place for the monitoring of risks, ensuring 

standards, behaviour and effective decision making, budget monitoring and budget setting. 

We have not identified any areas of improvement.

P
age 46

P
age 16 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Use of financial and performance information

The Council reported performance against the Council Plan 2022-27 in 2022/23. The 

Council ensured comprehensive reporting was enabled through its use of Power BI 

dashboards and the Council Plan was monitored against key business measures 

(KBMs). In 2023/24 performance will be based on a refreshed set of KBMs that were 

approved in June 2023 by the Cabinet. 

The year-end performance report shows that of the 76 KBMs available for reporting, 

50 (66%) KBMS are “On Track”. In situations where KBMs are not being met, there is 

clear narrative that sets out why the KBM is not being achieved and what 

improvement activity is underway to improve under performance.

In situations where reporting against KBMs is not readily available (due to national 

suspension or data not being readily available at the time of reporting), the Council 

highlights alternative proxy measures or reports the data later to ensure performance 

is consistently monitored.

The performance reports show on track percentages across each quarter and highlight 

key themes emerging from the data, to further support decision makers with their 

roles.

The Council also considers performance through its use of benchmarking data. It 

utilises nationally and regionally available benchmarking data to ensure the value for 

money of services across a range of services.

Assessing performance and identifying improvement

The Council receives assurance of the performance of services through external 

reviews from regulators.

Improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness

17

We considered how the 
Council:

• uses financial and performance 
information to assess performance to 
identify areas for improvement

• evaluates the services it provides to 
assess performance and identify 
areas for improvement

• ensures it delivers its role within 
significant partnerships and engages 
with stakeholders it has identified, in 
order to assess whether it is meeting 
its objectives

• where it commissions or procures 
services assesses whether it is 
realising the expected benefits.

P
age 47

P
age 17 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Ofsted

One of these regulators is the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills. During 

the year, the Council has had two Ofsted inspections, both of which rated the Council as a Good 

provider:

• In October 2022, the Warwickshire Adult and Community Learning Service underwent a Short 

Inspection, and the result was that 'Warwickshire County Council continues to be a Good 

provider,' according to Ofsted. The inspection report identified two areas for improvement. 

Firstly, to ensure that all learners receive high-quality, impartial careers advice and guidance. 

Secondly, to improve the timeliness of information received on learners' progression and 

destinations, which will help to determine the effectiveness of the curriculum.

• In March 2023, Warwickshire County Council Children's Services underwent a Focused Visit, 

and the report was published in May 2023. Since the last inspection in November 2021, where 

Children's Services were rated good overall, there has been a continued and effective focus on 

improving services for care-experienced young people by partner agencies, elected members, 

and senior leaders. The inspection report identified two areas for improvement: firstly, to 

improve the timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated, and secondly, to enhance 

the effectiveness of management oversight of work with young people in custody and those 

living in unsuitable accommodation.

SEND

In September 2021 the Care and Quality Commission (CQC) and Ofsted reported on the joint 

inspection of the effectiveness of SEND that was performed in July 2021. The report highlighted 

issues with long waiting times for assessment of children with autism, lack of stakeholder 

communication in some areas, a legacy of leadership teams and forums not working together closely, 

diminished confidence in schools to support SEND children appropriately based on insufficient 

training and the online resources available to parents and carers. The Council formally published the 

written statement of action (WSoA) in January 2022, following approval from CQC and Ofsted.

Improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

18

As part of our 2021/22 Annual Audit Report (AAR), we assessed the governance arrangements around 

the WSoA and progress to date. Whilst we highlighted the strong governance arrangements in place 

and the good progress to date, we raised an improvement recommendation  for the Council to ensure 

progress continues and improvements are realising their expected benefits.

During 2022/23, four monitoring meetings were held between January 2022 and February 2023, 

attended by senior leaders from across Education, Social Care and Health, Warwickshire Parent Carer 

Voice and advisers from Department for Education (DfE) and NHS England (NHSE). DfE and NHS noted 

the positive improvements to date. In terms of progress, the March 2023 WSoA update report provided 

this summary of actions to date:

The next steps for the Council is for a reinspection to be organised under the new SEND inspection 

framework by Ofsted and CQC. Whilst we acknowledge the improvements delivered through the 

WSoA, there remains significant pressures around the funding and demand pressures faced by the 

SEND service. It should be noted that this is a national issue affecting local authorities and is not unique 

to Warwickshire.

To support in the improvement of the value money for SEND services, the Council is currently part of 

the Delivering Better Value (DBV) programme. The DBV programme is set up by the DfE for 55 local 

authorities to collaborate and collate good practices in delivering services for children and young 

people with SEND.

P
age 48

P
age 18 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

As a participant in the programme the Council will receive dedicated support from Newton Europe, a 

transformation and improvement partner, and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) to provide valuable expertise and skills on identifying opportunities for change. 

Improvement recommendation

We recommend that the Council continues to closely monitor the value for money arrangements in 

relation to the SEND service. It should pay particular attention to the remaining outstanding 

actions within the WSoA and delivery of the wider transformation plans within the service that will 

need to be delivered within funding constraints. Further, the Council should closely monitor the 

risk that the transformation plans do not deliver the required benefits.

HMICFRS Inspection

In March 2021, her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 

completed an inspection of Warwickshire Fire and Rescue Service (WFRS). The inspection report was 

publicly released in January 2022 and graded WFRS against three pillars of Efficiency, Effectiveness 

and People. The possible gradings are Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement and Inadequate. 

WFRS received a grading of requires improvement in all three pillars.

Within the inspection report, HMICFRS highlighted three “Causes of Concern”:

• The service hasn’t done enough since the last inspection to develop a prevention activity that 

prioritises those most at risk of fire; 

• The service hasn’t done enough since the last inspection to identify its highest risk premises to 

inform its risk-based inspection programme; and

• The service isn’t taking a proportionate approach to promoting equality, diversity and inclusion 

(EDI) in the workplace. 

Improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

19

In response the Council developed a WSoA which was submitted to HMICFRS. As part of our 2021/22 

AAR we raised an improvement recommendation for the Council  to ensure that progress continues to 

be made and that any improvements are realising the expected benefits.

In November 2022, the HMICFRS published a letter setting out their conclusions following revisits in 

February 2022 and November 2022. They concluded that progress had been made in several key areas, 

but also that there were outstanding issues. Overall, they closed the cause of concern around 

prevention and stated they would monitor progress against the remaining two open areas of concern 

during an inspection in 2023.

The HMICFRS published their latest inspection of WFRS, for the year 2022/23, in September 2023. This 

inspection was undertaken under a new framework and as such it isn’t possible to make direct 

comparisons with the 2020/21 inspection report.

The inspection made the following graded judgements of WFRS:

P
age 49

P
age 19 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

As well as these recommendations , several improvements were also recognised since the 2020/21 
inspection. This included the closure of one additional area of concern in relation to promoting 
equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) in the workplace, meaning only one cause of concern remains. 
The positive trajectory of the WSoA and actions taken should be noted.

WFRS is in the process of developing an action plan in relation to the new report, with an action plan 
on how they will deal with the remaining cause of concern already submitted to the HMICFRS. The 
service already has governance arrangements in place for improvement plans following the prior 
WSoA, which as part of their revisits in February and November 2022, the HMICFRS commented were 
sufficient and had been maintained. However, WFRS need to consider whether these arrangements 
need to be strengthened given the current pace of change highlighted by the latest report. The 
inspectors had highlighted that several recommendations made, had already been made in the prior 
inspection and little  improvement had occurred since they were initially raised. 

The service has worked with external advisors in assessing the value for money of their arrangements 
in the year. With several recommendations highlighted to drive improvement  across the service.  

Whilst good progress has been made on the prior action plan, the new inspectorate report has 
highlighted several ongoing issues that still need action to rectify.  We have therefore raised the 
following improvement recommendation.

Improvement recommendation

The Council develops, publishes and monitors its action plan in response to the latest HMICFRS 

inspection report. 

Commissioning and procurement

The Cabinet approved the new Procurement and Contract Management Strategy in 2022/23. As 

reported in our 2021/22 AAR we consider this to be a good strategy with a clear direction of travel, 

which aligns to the Council’s strategic objectives. 

Improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

20

Although the strategy has been communicated across the organisation the formal training to underpin 

its implementation has yet to be delivered. 

During 2022/23 the Council has also created a working group between legal and procurement services 

to strengthen procurement practice across the Council, in anticipation of the changes that will occur 

from the new national procurement regulations.

Improvement recommendation

We note that the Council has not provided formal training on the new Procurement and Contract 

Management Strategy during the year. We recommend that the Council continue to develop and 

provide training on the new strategy to all staff involved in procurement and contract management. 

Further, we recommend that the training should be expanded to include additional changes that will 

occur from changes to national procurement legislation. Training on the strategy and new 

procurement regulations will help to support the knowledge, behaviours and cultural shift that will 

be required to maximise the potential benefits of the changes.

Conclusion

Overall, we are satisfied that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to ensure it can 

deliver economy, efficiency and effectiveness. It has good processes in place for performance 

monitoring, procurement and contract management and partnership working. There has been good 

progress in relation to recommendations made by external regulators, however on-going financial 

and demand challenges may lead to a slowdown in improvements.

P
age 50

P
age 20 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Improvement recommendations

21

Progressing the actions management has identified to address the recommendations made will support the Council in addressing the improvements identified from our work. We consider that the timescales 
provided by management are appropriate and encourage the Audit Committee to monitor progress of implementation to gain assurance over the arrangements in place. The range of recommendations that 
external auditors can make is explained in Appendix B.

Improvement 
Recommendation 1

The Council continues to closely monitor the value for money arrangements in relation to the SEND service. It should pay particular attention to the 

remaining outstanding actions within the WSoA and delivery of the wider transformation plans within the service that will need to be delivered within 

funding constraints. Further, the Council should closely monitor the risk that the transformation plans do not deliver the required benefits.

Improvement opportunity identified
The Council has made improvements at pace following the development of the WSoA, however due to final pressures on the service and end of the 
monitoring meetings with DfE/NHSE there is a risk that the Council will lose momentum. This may have a significant impact on the service user and the 
Council’s reputation.

Summary findings

In September 2021, CQC and Ofsted performed a joint inspection of the effectiveness of the SEND arrangements in the local area of Warwickshire. The 
inspection identified some weaknesses in areas such as wait times for assessments, relationships and communication, placements, training and online 
offering. 

There has been good progress to rectify these weaknesses, as discussed on page 18. However as this is an ongoing change programme that is awaiting a 
reinspection by CQC and Ofsted, we have raised this improvement recommendation to ensure that progress continues to be made.

Criteria impacted Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

Auditor judgement
Our work has enabled us to identify a weakness in arrangements which we do not consider to be significant, but have raised a recommendation to support 
management in making appropriate improvements.

Management comments

We will continue to monitor progress on the written statement of action until all the improvements have been delivered and the expected benefits are 
being realised. During 2023/24 this activity will be consolidated into a single improvement plan/WSoA with the recommendations that emerge from the 
joint Delivering Best Value project being undertaken in conjunction with the DfE

.

P
age 51

P
age 21 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Improvement recommendations

22

Progressing the actions management has identified to address the recommendations made will support the Council in addressing the improvements identified from our work. We consider that the timescales 
provided by management are appropriate and encourage the Audit Committee to monitor progress of implementation to gain assurance over the arrangements in place. The range of recommendations that 
external auditors can make is explained in Appendix B.

Improvement 
Recommendation 2

The Council develops, publishes and monitors its action plan in response to the latest HMICFRS inspection report. 

Improvement opportunity identified
The recent inspection by HMICFRS has highlighted a number of areas of improvement for the service, some of which had been highlighted in the prior inspection 
completed in 2020/21. There is a risk that the service is not making the improvements at the pace required, which could lead to significant impact on the service 
user and Council’s reputation.

Summary findings

In September 2023, the HMICFRS published their latest inspection of WFRS. This inspection rated the service as adequate across four areas and requires 
improvement across seven. There were several areas that had been highlighted as improvement recommendations in the 2020/21 inspection report.

As no areas have been highlighted as inadequate we have not highlighted a significant weakness in arrangements, however we have raised this improvement 
recommendation to ensure we monitor progress in our 2023/24 value for money assessment.

Criteria impacted Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

Auditor judgement
Our work has enabled us to identify a weakness in arrangements which we do not consider to be significant, but have raised a recommendation to support 
management in making appropriate improvements.

Management comments
We have put in place an improvement plan following the latest HMICFRS inspection report. This was considered and approved by Cabinet in November 2023 
alongside the HMI report itself. The action plan will be monitored on a regular basis with update reports twice a year to the Resources and Fire and Rescue 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Where needed this will also incorporate the outstanding activity in the current WSoA

P
age 52

P
age 22 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Improvement recommendations

23

Progressing the actions management has identified to address the recommendations made will support the Council in addressing the improvements identified from our work. We consider that the timescales 
provided by management are appropriate and encourage the Audit Committee to monitor progress of implementation to gain assurance over the arrangements in place. The range of recommendations that 
external auditors can make is explained in Appendix B.

Improvement 
Recommendation 3

The Council develop and provide training on the new strategy to all staff involved in procurement and contract management. Further, we recommend that the 
training should be expanded to include additional changes that will occur with the new procurement regulations. Training on the strategy and new procurement 
regulations will help to support the knowledge, behaviours and cultural shift that will be required to maximise the potential benefits of the changes.

Improvement opportunity identified
The Council has not yet provided training on the new Procurement and Contract Management Strategy. There is an opportunity for the Council to expand this 
training to cover the changes that will occur within the upcoming procurement regulations, to support the behavioural and cultural shift that will be required in 
public sector organisations to maximise it’s benefits.

Summary findings
The Cabinet approved the new Procurement and Contract Management Strategy in 2022/23. As reported in our 2021/22 AAR we consider this to be a good 
strategy with a clear direction of travel, which aligns to the Council’s strategic objectives. However, training on this strategy and its meaning for staff has not yet 
been undertaken.

Criteria impacted Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

Auditor judgement
Our work has enabled us to identify a weakness in arrangements which we do not consider to be significant, but have raised a recommendation to support 
management in making appropriate improvements.

Management comments

A training strategy for all staff involved in procurement and contract management is in development. The new legislative regime will require changes to process 
and approach (including Contract Standing Orders) that are not yet fully apparent – a working group of legal and procurement officers meet regularly (and have 
doing so throughout the year) to plan and develop the Council’s preparedness for the new legislation. It is intended to incorporate both  the impact of the new 
procurement regulations and the Procurement and Contract Management Strategy (amended if required as a result of the new legislative regime) within this 
training strategy. The strategy and progress on its implementation will be reported to Audit and Standards Committee twice a year once launched.

P
age 53

P
age 23 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

The fund also has a Risk Management Framework, which identifies and assesses risks to the fund and 

outlines strategies to mitigate those risks. The full risk register is presented to the Pensions committee once 

a year in June with the highest risks assigned a RAG rating if red are as follows:

• Cyber security

• Long term asset values do not meet expectation

• Climate change

The Pension Fund has a clear investment strategy that is reviewed and updated regularly. The fund's 

investment portfolio is diversified across different asset classes to minimise risk and optimise returns.

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

The Local Pensions Board and the Investments Sub-Committee monitor investment performance quarterly in 
line with reporting provided by fund managers. The Board receives a high-level commentary on the portfolio 
of assets held by the fund, including their value and cash flow information. A more detailed analysis of 
funding and performance is considered by the Investment Sub-Committee and reviewed in private due to its 
commercially sensitive nature. The Board receives a detailed report providing information on valuation, 
sensitivity, and benchmarking to identify potential improvements in investment activity.

Quarterly reports are produced to update the Local Pension Board on key developments affecting pensions 
administration and the performance of the Pensions Administration Service. These reports cover a suite of 
KPIs and measure performance against them, identifying areas for improvement. Workloads, policy 
breaches, and ongoing projects to improve the service are also monitored in these reports.

The Pension Fund Annual Report captures the fund's performance for the year.

Conclusion

Overall, we are satisfied that there are process and procedures in place to ensure the Warwickshire 

Pension Fund manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services, has processes in place 

to make informed decisions and manage its risks, and has procedures in place to monitor its performance 

effectively.

24

Financial sustainability

The Pension Fund is responsible for managing the pension funds for approximately 57,000 members 

across Warwickshire. As of March 31, 2023, the fund had £2,755m in assets under management. The 

fund's primary objective is to deliver long-term investment returns to support the pension benefits of its 

members. Broadly speaking, the primary sources of the pension fund can be classified into two 

categories: contributions made by active members and investment returns such as interest, dividends, 

and profits on the disposal of assets.

As per regulations, the pension fund must undergo a formal valuation every three years (triennial 

valuation) by a qualified actuary. During this process, the actuary will conduct a detailed examination of 

the fund based on its current funding objectives, which includes determining the required level of assets 

to meet future benefit payments, the timeframe for achieving this goal, and setting the contribution rate 

that employer bodies must pay for the next three years. It is important to note that for significant 

employers, rates may be paid in advance to cover the three-year duration, which should align with the 

funding strategy statement.

The Fund was assessed as 92% funded as of 31 March 2019, an improvement on the funding level of 82% 

on 31 March 2016, and the 2022 valuation assessed the Funding level to be 104%. 

As of March 31, 2022, the Pension Fund achieved a surplus in its assets of £101m with assets valued at 

£2,782m and liabilities £2,680m. on 31 March 2019, there was a deficit of £180m with asset valued at 

£2,166m and liabilities at £2,346m. The Pension Fund's investments have been diversified across different 

asset classes, including equities, fixed income, and alternative investments. . The stability of the Pension 

Fund's funding level is due to a combination of strong investment returns and contributions from 

employers and members.

Governance

The WPF has a governance structure that is overseen by the Pension Committee, which consists of a mix 

of elected members, employer representatives, and independent members. The committee is 

responsible for setting the fund's investment strategy, monitoring investment performance, and ensuring 

compliance with relevant regulations and policies. The Pension Fund has a range of policies and practices 

in place to ensure effective governance. The fund has a Code of Conduct, which sets out standards of 

behaviour for committee members and staff. 

Warwickshire Pension Fund

P
age 54

P
age 24 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Follow-up of previous recommendations

25

Recommendation
Type of 
recommendation Date raised Progress to date Addressed? Further action?

1 Consideration should be given to the review and 
renewal of the gifts and hospitality policy as these 
were due to review in February 2021.

Improvement February 2022 The Gifts and Hospitality policy has been reviewed and 
updated.

Yes No

2 Continue to implement the special educational 
needs and/or disabilities (SEND) in the local area 
improvement plan set out in the written 
statement of action following the CQC and Ofsted 
report from their joint review.

Improvement February 2022 The Council has continued to deliver and monitor the 
written statement of action throughout 2022/23, 
however several actions remain outstanding.

Partially We have re-raised a 
recommendation to ensure 
that the Council is focused on 
delivering improvements. See 
improvement 
recommendation No. 2

3 Continue to implement the Warwickshire Fire and 
Rescue Service improvement plan set out in the 
written statement of action following the 
HMICFRS inspection in January 2022

Improvement February 2022 The Council has continued to deliver and monitor the 
written statement of action throughout 2022/23, 
however a new HMICFRS report published September 
2023 has highlighted a number improvement 
recommendations. 

Partially We have re-raised a 
recommendation to ensure 
that the Council is focused on 
delivering improvements. See 
improvement 
recommendation No. 3

P
age 55

P
age 25 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Grant Thornton provides an independent opinion on whether the Council’s financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2023 and of its expenditure and income for the 
year then ended, and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2022/23

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We conducted our audit in accordance with:

International Standards on Auditing (UK)

• the Code of Audit Practice (2020) published by the National Audit Office, and

• applicable law

We are independent of the Council in accordance with applicable ethical requirements, including the Financial Reporting Council’s 
Ethical Standard.

Audit opinion on the financial statements

We propose to issue an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements.

The full opinion will be included in the Council’s Annual Report for 2022/23, which can be obtained from the Council’s website.

Further information on our audit of the financial statements is set out overleaf.

Opinion on the financial statements

26

P
age 56

P
age 26 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Timescale for the audit of the financial 
statements

• Our Audit Plan was issued and presented to Audit and 
Standards committee on 20 July 2023.

• The Council provided draft financial statements in line 
with the national timetable.

• Our audit work has been completed remotely and on-
site from July to December 2023.

• The accounts presented for audit were of good 
standards and were supported by appropriate working 
papers. Management have cooperated with us 
throughout the audit.

Findings from the audit of the financial 
statements

Our audit work is substantially complete, and we 
anticipate issuing an unmodified opinion.

More detailed findings are set out in our Audit Findings 
Report, which was presented to the Council’s Audit and 
Standards Committee on 30 November 2023. 

Requests for this Audit Findings Report should be directed 
to the Council.

Opinion on the financial statements

27

P
age 57

P
age 27 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Other opinion/key findings

We anticipate issuing an unmodified opinion in respect of other information.

Audit Findings Report

More detailed findings can be found in our AFR, which will be published and reported to the Council’s Audit and Standards Committee 
on 30 November 2023

Whole of Government Accounts

To support the audit of the Whole of Government Accounts, we are required to examine and report on the consistency of the Council’s 
consolidation schedules with their audited financial statements. This work includes performing specified procedures under group audit 
instructions issued by the National Audit Office.

The Council was below the threshold requiring extended audit procedures. We will issue the required assurance statement to the NAO 
following the completion of the audit.

Other reporting requirements

28

P
age 58

P
age 28 of 32



Appendices

P
age 59

P
age 29 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Public bodies spending taxpayers’ money are accountable for 
their stewardship of the resources entrusted to them. They 
should account properly for their use of resources and manage 
themselves well so that the public can be confident. 

Financial statements are the main way in which local public 
bodies account for how they use their resources. Local public 
bodies are required to prepare and publish financial statements 
setting out their financial performance for the year. To do this, 
bodies need to maintain proper accounting records and ensure 
they have effective systems of internal control. 

All local public bodies are responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
from their resources. This includes taking properly informed 
decisions and managing key operational and financial risks so that 
they can deliver their objectives and safeguard public money. 
Local public bodies report on their arrangements, and the 
effectiveness with which the arrangements are operating, as part 
of their annual governance statement.

The Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation  of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

The Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent)  is required to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with proper practices as 
set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) is 
responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and use the going concern basis of accounting 
unless there is an intention by government that the services 
provided by the Council will no longer be provided.

The Council is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Appendix A:

Responsibilities of the Council

30

P
age 60

P
age 30 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. AN Other Council – Auditors Annual Report | August 2023

OFFICIAL 

Appendix B:

An explanatory note on recommendations

A range of different recommendations can be raised by the Council’s auditors as follows:

31

Type of recommendation Background Raised within this report Page reference(s)

Statutory
Written recommendations to the Council under Section 24 (Schedule 7) of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014. 

No N/A

Key
The NAO Code of Audit Practice requires that where auditors identify significant weaknesses as part 
of the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money they should make recommendations setting out the 
actions that should be taken by the Council. We have defined these recommendations as ‘key 
recommendations’.

No N/A

Improvement
These recommendations, if implemented, should improve the arrangements in place at the Council, but are not 
a result of identifying significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements.

Yes 21, 22 and 23

P
age 61

P
age 31 of 32



© 2023 Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal 
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one 
another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 62

P
age 32 of 32



 

 
County Council 

 
19 December 2023 

 
Warwickshire County Council Statement of Accounts 

2022/23 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council approves the Warwickshire County Council Statement of Accounts for 
2022/23. 
 
 
1. Key Issues 
 
1.1. This report presents the Council’s Statement of Accounts for 2022/23. 
 
1.2. The Statement of Accounts for Warwickshire County Council comprises of: 

• the statement of responsibilities for the accounts; 
• a narrative statement by the Executive Director for Resources; 
• the core financial statements, comprising: 

o the movement in reserves statement, 
o the comprehensive income and expenditure statement, 
o the balance sheet as at 31 March 2022, 
o the cash flow statement; 

• the statement of accounting policies; 
• the notes to the core financial statements; and 
• the Firefighters’ Pension Fund statement. 

 
1.3. Recommendations to Council for approval of the Annual Governance Statement 

and the accounts of Warwickshire Pension Fund, which will form part of the 
County Council’s 2022/23 Statement of Accounts when they are published, are 
sought within separate reports on today’s agenda. 

 
1.4. Elected members are not expected to be financial experts, but they are 

responsible for approving and issuing the Council’s financial statements. In 
doing this they are playing a key role in ensuring accountability and value for 
money are demonstrated to the public. However, local authority financial 
statements are complex and can be difficult to understand. They must comply 
with CIPFA’s Local Authority Code of Practice, which is based on International 

Page 63

Page 1 of 5 Agenda Item 3



 

Financial Reporting Standards, and also the accounting and financing 
regulations of central government. 

 
1.5. This covering report explains the key features of the primary statements and 

notes that make up the 2022/23 Statement of Accounts. The narrative statement 
provides further information on the key issues for the benefit of readers of the 
statements. 

 
1.6. Council is asked to approve the 2022/23 Statement of Accounts attached at 

Appendix A. The draft accounts were previously considered by the Audit and 
Standards Committee at their meeting on 30 November 2023. There were no 
issues, in relation to the accounts, that the Committee asked to be brought to 
the attention of full Council and the Committee recommended the Statement of 
Accounts to Council for approval. 

 
1.7. Following their approval, by Council, the Statement of Accounts will be 

published as soon as the final Audit Opinion is received and inserted into the 
document. 

 
 
2. Narrative Statement 
 
2.1. The purpose of the narrative statement is to provide commentary on the 

financial statements. It includes an explanation of key events and their effect on 
the financial statements. The information in the narrative statement is consistent 
with budget information provided during the year and reconciles to the year-end 
financial position reported to Cabinet on 15 June 2023. 

 
 
3. Core Financial Statements 
 
3.1. Movement in reserves statement 

Reserves represent the Council’s net worth and show its spending power. 
Reserves are analysed into two categories: usable and unusable. The level of 
usable reserves, the Council’s spending plans, and other sources of funding 
determine how much council tax needs to be raised. Unusable reserves derive 
from technical accounting adjustments and cannot be used to support spending. 
The movement in reserves statement analyses the changes in each of the 
authority’s reserves between 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

 
  

Page 64

Page 2 of 5



 

3.2. Comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
The comprehensive income and expenditure statement reports on how the 
Authority performed during the year and whether its operations resulted in a 
surplus or deficit. It is produced in a standard format and is made up of five 
broad sections: 

• Cost of services: Presented in the management structure of the Council. 
It includes service specific income and expenditure. 

• Other operating income and expenditure: Includes the surplus or deficit 
from the sale of property, plant and equipment. 

• Financing and investment income and expenditure: Includes interest 
payable and receivable and trading account income and expenditure. 

• Taxation and general grant income and expenditure: Includes revenue 
from council tax, business rates and government revenue and capital 
grants. 

• Other comprehensive income and expenditure: Includes items which are 
not allowed to be accounted for elsewhere, such as increases in the 
value of land and buildings and changes in the actuarial assessment of 
pension assets/liabilities. 

 
3.3. Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet is a ‘snapshot’ of the authority’s financial position at a point 
in time, showing what it owns and owes at 31 March 2023. It is divided into two 
halves that, as the name suggests, balance. These are assets less liabilities 
(the top half) and reserves (the bottom half). 

 
3.4. Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement sets out our cash receipts and payments during the 
year, analysing them into operating, investing and financing activities. Cash-
flows are related to income and expenditure but are not equivalent to them. The 
difference arises from the accruals concept, whereby income and expenditure 
are recognised in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement when 
the transactions occurred, not when the cash was paid or received. 

 
 
4. Accounting Policies and Notes to the Core Financial 

Statements 
 
4.1. The accounting policies set out the accounting rules the authority has followed 

in compiling the financial statements. They are largely specified by International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Local Authority Accounting Code of 
Practice. We have limited discretion to amend them. 

 

Page 65

Page 3 of 5



 

4.2. The Notes to the accounts provide further detail for the figures within the core 
statements as well as other information we are required to include in the 
Statement of Accounts. 

 
 
5. Firefighters’ Pension Fund Statement 
 
5.1. It is unusual for an unfunded pension scheme (such as the firefighters’ scheme) 

to have a fund as it holds no assets that need to be ringfenced. We collect in 
the Fund contributions receivable from Warwickshire County Council (as the 
employer) and firefighters’ (employee) contributions and pay out any benefits 
due. The Fund is then balanced to nil at the end of each financial year by either 
paying over or receiving pension fund top-up grant from the government. 

 
 
6. Audit Status 
 
6.1. The attached 2022/23 Statement of Accounts has been audited and the Audit 

Findings Report from the external auditors, Grant Thornton, has been presented 
to the Audit and Standards Committee. The Annual Audit Report which 
communicates to the audited body and key external stakeholders, including 
members of the public, the key issues arising from auditors’ work, is elsewhere 
on today’s agenda. 

 
6.2. The audit opinion will be signed by Grant Thornton’s Engagement Partner on 

receipt of our letter of representation signed by the Executive Director for 
Resources and Chair of Council following approval of the accounts. A letter of 
representation is provided in connection with the audit of the 2022/23 financial 
statements for the purpose of expressing our opinion to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, having made appropriate enquiries, that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view. 

 
6.3. The approved accounts will be published alongside the authority’s Annual 

Governance Statement and the Accounts of Warwickshire Pension Fund 
(elsewhere on the Agenda) together with the signed audit opinions. 

 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1. None 
 
 
  

Page 66

Page 4 of 5



 

8. Environmental Implications 
 
8.1. None 
 
 
9. Background Papers 
 
9.1. None. 
 
 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Virginia Rennie 

Head of Strategic Finance 
vrennie@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Director Andy Felton 
Director of Finance 

andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Executive Director Rob Powell  
Executive Director for Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder Peter Butlin 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Property 

peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk  

 

Page 67

Page 5 of 5

mailto:vrennie@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL  

  

Page 69

Page 1 of 111Page 1 of 111



 
 

2 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Warwickshire County Council 
Statement of Accounts 
 
Section A: Narrative Statement 
 
Section B: Statement of Accounts 
 
Section C: Warwickshire County Council Annual Governance Statement 
 
Section D: Warwickshire Pension Fund Statement of Accounts 

 
  

Page 70

Page 2 of 111



 
 

3 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

 
Introduction 

 

I am pleased to introduce our Statement of 
Accounts for 2022/23. The purpose of these 
accounts is to present a true and fair view of the 
financial results of our activities for the year and 
the value of our assets and liabilities at the end 
of the year. 
 
This narrative report is set out in five parts. The 
first provides some key information on what the 
Council does, how it does it and its plans for the 
future. The second part provides further detail 
on how we plan to resource the Council’s 
activities. This section also considers the factors 
in the external environment that influence our 
decisions and highlights some of the key risks 
that we have identified to the delivery of our 
priorities. The third part summarises our 
financial and other performance in 2022/23 and 
our effectiveness in the use of our resources, 
while the fourth part describes our outlook 
moving forward into the new financial year. It 
includes some of the key pressures facing the 
Council over the next few years and the changes 
taking place in the Council to respond to those 
challenges. Finally, this report explains how the 
Financial Accounts for 2022/23 are prepared 
and set out. 
 
Globally and locally, we continue to experience 
significant financial uncertainty and significant 

inflationary pressures. Living costs have 
increased considerably due to a range of factors 
including the war in Ukraine, a shortage in the 
supply of labour, the medium term global effects 
of Covid-19 on the flows of goods and services 
and the increased cost of energy, food, and fuel. 
This unprecedented combination has had a 
profound impact on residents, communities, 
businesses.  
 
The Council has taken a key role in supporting 
communities, by offering a package of Cost of 
Living support, such as our ‘Warm Welcome 
Locations’ as well as targeted support to 
residents through the Household Support Fund 
and providing investment and financing 
opportunities to businesses through the 
Warwickshire Recovery and Investment Fund. 

The Council continues to strive to deliver the 
Council Plan launched in 2022 setting out a clear 
vision of what we want to achieve through our 
three strategic priorities: to create a thriving 
economy with vibrant places; to enable people 
to live healthy and happy lives; and to create 
sustainable futures for our people, reflecting the 
importance of taking concerted action on 
climate change

 
 

Rob Powell 
Strategic Director for Resources  

Page 71

Page 3 of 111



 
 

4 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Organisational overview 

 

We are in the second year of delivering our 
Council Plan which was approved in February 
2022. The purpose of the Council Plan is to set 
out the top-level strategic direction of the 
Council and to articulate the Council’s vision and 
ambition for Warwickshire. The Council Plan 
provides the necessary framework to deliver on 

our ambitions, through change management 
and innovation, and ensures there is a clear line 
of sight on delivery of the Council’s core purpose 
and outcomes. Our ambition remains to make 
Warwickshire the best it can be, sustainable now 
and for future generations.

 

Page 72

Page 4 of 111



 
 

5 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

 
The approach to delivering against the Council Plan 
priorities is fully integrated - One Council, One Plan, 
One Budget. The Council Plan communicates our 
priorities over the next 5 years. It seeks simplicity 
within the complexity, breadth and inter-
dependence of the Council’s strategic role and 
service delivery, while ensuring sufficient flexibility 
to respond to rapidly changing, volatile and often 
ambiguous external conditions. Our Budget and 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy translate the 
direction set out in the Council Plan into a 
sustainable financial strategy. This helps us to plan 
ahead, so we are able to meet our spending 
requirements, taking into account Government 
grants, Business Rates and Council Tax income. The 
financial strategy helps us to ensure our financial 
resilience and medium-term financial 
sustainability, so we can continue to provide high 
quality services to our residents. 
 
The Council Plan and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy are supported by an Integrated Delivery 
Plan that sets out a defined programme of delivery 
against our strategic ambitions on a rolling two-
year basis. 
 
At the heart of these is our commitment to working 
with partners and communities to identify 
solutions to the challenges we face; to build on 
existing strengths and successes and to learn and 
improve from our experiences. 
 
There are a number of key themes to the strategy: 
 
• Delivering against our Countywide Approach to 

Levelling Up, with a strong commitment to 
work with partners to develop a clear approach 
to delivering against the levelling up agenda; 

• Joining up, connecting, and working as One 
Council to focus our collective efforts and 
maximise their impact for communities and 
residents; 

• Building on our work on Community Powered 
Warwickshire and work done including our 
Social Impact and Green Shoots funds and the 
Food Forum; and 

• A sharper focus on prioritisation to balance 
rapidly increasing demand with available 
resource and funding, and to optimise the 
Council’s impact on our communities and 
residents; and 

 
We use reserves to manage financial risk and 
promote financial sustainability. Any reserves not 
needed to manage financial risk are used for time-
limited investment to support the delivery of the 
Council’s ambitions, to deliver savings and to 
reduce demand in future years. 
 
The medium-term financial strategy will require 
regular reviews in order to remain dynamic, robust, 
ambitious and deliverable, and will be updated at 
least annually. 
 
Politically, Warwickshire County Council has 57 
councillors, who are elected every four years. The 
last elections were held on 6 May 2021. The current 
political composition of the Council is 42 
Conservative members, 6 Labour members, 5 
Liberal Democrat members, 3 Green Party 
members and one Independent. The Council makes 
its decisions via a Cabinet of ten members, 
including the Leader of the Council, Cllr Izzi 
Seccombe OBE. Warwickshire’s Councillors are 
responsible for setting and overseeing the strategic 
direction of the Council and for scrutinising 
performance. Further details of the governance 
arrangements in the Council are included in the 
Annual Governance Statement, included within 
this document. 
 
Organisationally, in 2022/23 Warwickshire 
operated through three Directorates: Communities 
(including Fire and Rescue), People (including 
Public Health & Education) and Resources. Each 
Directorate is headed by a Strategic Director who 
sits on the Council’s Corporate Board along with 
the Chief Executive. Services within each 
Directorate have plans in place which correspond 
to the budget set for them by Council and the key 
outcomes within the Council Plan. Each service has 
Key Performance Indicators which are monitored 

Page 73

Page 5 of 111



 
 

6 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

and included in quarterly performance reports to 
Directorate Leadership Teams and Members. 
 
At the end of the year we had the equivalent of 
4,247 full-time employees and just over a third of 
our spending each year is on staffing. This is an 
increase of 90 full-time employees from last year, 
which is a mix of positive recruitment and 
retention, some a planned organisational changes 
and additional temporary staffing linked to one-off 
funding. Warwickshire’s employees are 
responsible for translating Councillors’ strategic 
decisions into actions. Our Workforce Strategy sets 
out the key principles to ensure we have a 
workforce that is fit for purpose to deliver the 
Council Plan. 
 
The Council collaborates with a number of external 
partner organisations to plan and deliver its 
intended outcomes. These include neighbouring 
councils including Coventry City Council, Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council, and the five 

Warwickshire District and Borough Councils, and 
we are a non-constituent member of the West 
Midlands Combined Authority. We work closely 
with local NHS organisations, particularly through 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Coventry 
and Warwickshire Integrated Care Board. We also 
work with a number of other bodies, including: 
 
• Central Government departments and 

ministries; 
• National and local voluntary and community 

sector organisations, and charities; 
• Academy schools and academy trusts in and 

outside of Warwickshire; 
• Local universities and other academic 

organisations; 
• Local industry and businesses; and 
• Town and parish councils in Warwickshire. 
 
Further details of the Council’s key priorities, plans 
and outcomes are available in the Council Plan. 

 

  

Page 74

Page 6 of 111



 
 

7 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Resourcing our activities 
 
The medium-term financial strategy underpins 
the delivery of the Council Plan and is agreed as 
part of the budget-setting process which 
concludes in February each year. Taking a 
medium-term approach allows for a more 
coordinated and planned approach to 

prioritisation and allows services to focus on 
delivery knowing the financial limits and 
constraints within which they are required to 
operate. Within the budget resolutions, the 
Council confirms and applies a number of 
fundamental financial strategies and policies. 

 
Revenue and capital spending 
 

We spend our resources in two ways, through 
revenue and capital spending. Broadly, our 
revenue spending relates to income received in 
year and spending on items used in the year. 
Most of our salary costs are included in revenue 
expenditure. Our capital spending relates to 
items we have bought, created, or improved and 
which will be used for more than one year. An 
annualised amount is charged to our revenue 
accounts to reflect the economic use of assets 
each year to provide services. This accounting 
charge does not reduce our revenue resources 

but borrowing to fund our capital expenditure 
does. 
Revenue allocations are made to services through 
a process which balances demand forecasts, 
inflation and other price increases, commitment 
to our statutory duties and the investment 
choices which the Council wishes to make to 
improve services or reduce costs. By law, we must 
set a balanced budget which ensures that the 
Council meets not only its existing commitments 
but also remains on a firm footing for the future.

 
Revenue Resources 

Original gross income budget at start of year 

2022/23 
£m 

 2023/24 
£m 

Business Rates ------------------------ 73.6 ------------------ 80.8 

     

Council Tax ------------------------ 305.2 ------------------- 321.8 

     

Total Unconditional Revenue 
Resources (Gross) 

------------------------ 378.8 ------------------- 402.6 

     

Specific Government Grants ------------------------ 99.8 ------------------- 112.4 

     

Adult Social Care Levy ------------------------ 38.0 ------------------- 40.8 

     

Customer and Client Receipts ------------------------ 107.8 ------------------- 126.7 

     

Dedicated Schools Grant ------------------------ 249.1 ------------------- 261.3 

     

Total Revenue Resources ------------------------ 873.5 ------------------- 943.8 

Page 75

Page 7 of 111



 
 

8 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

 
Adult Social Care is the second largest area of 
revenue spending after Schools and Education. 
Each year since 2016-17 the Government has 
permitted local authorities to levy an additional 
amount on top of their normal council tax 
increase each year, with this additional funding 
to be ring-fenced for use in adult social care. We 
have taken the additional levy (2% for each year 
between 2016/17 and 2020/21 and 1% between 
2021/22 and 2023/24) and have increased the 
resources available to deliver adult social care by 
at least the amount raised this way. 
 
The figures shown above for specific 
Government grants include a number of grants 
which come with conditions that limit our 

discretion in how they can be used. The largest 
of these is the Dedicated Schools Grant which 
we receive from Government to meet the cost 
of funding schools and relevant pupil-related 
services; this is presented separately in the table 
above. We continuously review how we deploy 
these resources for maximum impact. 
 
Our capital spending power is the combination 
of external income which must be spent on 
capital (such as specific grants or contributions 
and the receipts from the sale of our assets) and 
the extent to which the Council is willing to meet 
the costs associated with borrowing money 
from its revenue resources. 

 

Capital Resources 
Budget for the year after adjusting for 

previous year’s outturn 

 
2022/23 

 
£m 

  
2023/24 

 
£m 

  
2024/25 
and later 

£m 
       

Capital Grants and 
Contributions 

---------- 106.4 ---------- 147.0 --------- 97.7 

       

Receipts from the Sale of 
Assets 

---------- 8.7 ---------- 20.5 --------- 87.2 

       

Direct Application of 
Revenue Resources 

---------- 0 ---------- 0.1 --------- 0.0 

       

Borrowing (to be repaid from 
revenue resources) 

---------- 2.3 ---------- 90.1 --------- 166.4 

       

Total Capital Resources ---------- 117.4 ---------- 257.7 --------- 351.3 

 
Our capital allocations are made in line with our 
Capital Strategy, which includes three key 
elements: capital maintenance works to ensure 
our assets continue to be fit for purpose and 
able to support the provision of services; 
replacement of assets that have reached the 
end of their useful life and capital investment to 
create and develop new assets. Each element 
has several strands that ensure a clear focus on 
the purpose of capital spending and the 

prioritisation of proposals, underpinned by 
specific service asset management strategies. 
 
Allocations included in the maintenance 
programme meet one of the following three 
criteria: 
• Maintaining our assets to ensure services 

can continue to be delivered; 
• Statutory health and safety and other 

regulatory requirements; and 

Page 76

Page 8 of 111



 
 

9 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

• Annual equipment and/or vehicle 
replacement programmes. 

 
Our annual maintenance programme includes 
allocations from the Government grants 
received for schools and highways maintenance 
plus revenue funding used for the replacement 
of vehicles, where this is more cost effective 
than leasing the vehicle. We also finance some 
maintenance from borrowing. 
 
In 2022/23 a new Asset Replacement Fund was 
created to alleviate pressure on service revenue 
budgets accumulating underspends to fund 
costs of replacing vehicles, plant and equipment 
and to avoid the depletion of capital resources 
set aside for investment. A review of the fund 
balance is undertaken annually as part of the 
refresh of the capital budget to ensure the level 
of funding is consistent with the emerging 
needs from Service asset management plans. 
 
A Capital Inflation Contingency Fund has also 
been set up to manage the impact of inflation 
on the approved capital programme.  
 
A further fund linked to capital is the 
Investigation Design Fund, this is a fund which 
seeks to reduce the risk of approving capital 
projects without fully understanding the true 
costs of delivery, and therefore should reduce 
the risk of capital projects requesting additional 
funding once in the delivery stage. 

 
This will be achieved via the use of the 
Investigation Design Fund to provide up-front 
funding for investigative work that is necessary 
to give greater cost certainty when a full 
business case is submitted for approval. 
 
Investment schemes are, by their nature, not 
routine and so are only considered if they move 
the organisation towards the delivery of our 
outcomes or are invest-to-save schemes. 
Where we have discretion in how to apply 
capital financing, we use a structured 
evaluation process that assesses: 
• what we are trying to achieve for the 

Warwickshire residents, businesses and 
visitors by investing in particular assets; 

• the contribution of the new assets to the 
delivery of corporate outcomes; 

• the financial costs and benefits over the 
short, medium and long-term;  

• the risks inherent in the delivery of the 
scheme itself and the expected benefits, 
with a focus on better up-front planning 
and timetabling; and 

• the contribution the new asset can make to 
addressing the Climate Change Emergency. 
 

Investment schemes may be funded by any of 
the sources in the above table, and often a 
combination of these. 
 

 
 
Savings and efficiencies 
 

The resource estimates shown above reflect the 
broader economic outlook.  The Council has a 
strong track record of delivering savings which 
has served us well this year through some 
challenging financial times. The Council Plan and 
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy aim to 
further this success, maintaining strategies of 
investment for longer term savings and, as far as 

possible in an environment of high inflation, 
prioritising finding new ways of working rather 
than service reductions. The key themes are 
better procurement, improvements in 
efficiency, increased income and delivering 
reductions in demand. The Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy tasks the authority with 
finding £67.7m of savings over the next 5 years. 

 
 

Page 77

Page 9 of 111



 
 

10 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Reserves 
 

Reserves are resources we have accumulated 
over time and set aside for a particular purpose 
as part of an integrated approach to the 
effective financial management of the authority 
over the short, medium and long-term. 
 
We hold reserves to: 
 
• ensure future events outside of our control 

do not undermine the authority’s overall 
financial position or impact on service 
delivery;  

• plan for the effective use of resources over 
time for a specific purpose;  

• ensure we meet funding conditions (set 
either by an external funding body or a 
specific decision of Members) in our use of 
any available resources; and  

• retain any other accumulated underspends 
prior to decisions on their use. 

 
Our budget is set to include anticipated levels of 
reserves added or drawn down in the year; these 
plans may change as the year progresses to react 
to emerging pressures or other events and are 
approved through our quarterly financial 
monitoring process. Some reserves are held at a 
corporate level to support overarching risks and 
strategies. 
 
The level of general reserves is consistent with 
the overall financial environment and the key 
financial risks faced by the Council. These risks 
are assessed at least annually and take account 
of circumstances at the time of assessment as 
well as trends into the future. 
 
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy includes 
the planned use of £33.7m of the Available-for-
Use reserve by 2027/28. 

 

Reserves Balances 
at start of year 

2021/22 
£m 

 2022/23 
£m 

     

Management of Risk ------------------------ 15.6 --------------------- 8.8 
     

Available to Use Reserve ------------------------ 48.8  --------------------- 50.5 

     

Earmarked Reserves ------------------------ 83.3 --------------------- 91.1 
     

General Reserves ------------------------ 26.0 --------------------- 26.0 
     

Specific Investment ------------------------ 47.7 --------------------- 26.2 
     

Schools ------------------------ 23.1 --------------------- 20.4 
     

Total Reserves ------------------------ 244.5 --------------------- 223.0 

 
  

Page 78

Page 10 of 111



 
 

11 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Borrowing and investments 
 

We undertake treasury management activities 
in a prudent and flexible manner so as to ensure 
we retain sufficient liquid funds to provide for 
day-to-day cashflow requirements whilst 
funding our capital spend at the lowest cost. 
These activities are managed within an overall 

framework determined by the Treasury 
Management Strategy which is updated and 
approved by Members annually. Interest income 
and expenditure as a result of investments or 
borrowing is reflected in our revenue budgets.  

 
 
Pensions 
 
The majority of the Council’s employees 
(excluding schools) are members of the 
Warwickshire Local Government Pension 
Scheme, and the Council administers the fund 
that supports the Scheme. At the end of 2022/23 
our share of the scheme shows a small surplus 
of £12.0m. This is due to the impact of inflation 
increasing the discount rate at which future 
liabilities are assessed. The statutory 
arrangements that underpin the scheme mean 
we are not permitted to use this accounting 
surplus to support investment in services. 

 
Both the accounts for the County Council and 
the Pension Fund are included in this document, 
though they are operated as independent 
entities. The County Council’s accounts reflect 
the pension disclosures relating only to its own 
employees. This includes disclosures for those 
staff with alternative pension schemes, such as 
Teachers and Firefighters. The net liability for 
our share of these nationally administered 
schemes is £267.9m. 

 
 
Management of Risk 
 

The successful delivery of the Council Plan and 
Integrated Delivery Plan and our sustainability 
into the future are dependent on our ability to 
manage and respond to the risks we face. Many 
potential issues will remain on the strategic risk 

register and be regularly monitored, while 
others are actively managed to reduce the risk 
or its impact. Further information can be found 
in the Annual Governance Statement section 
within this document. 

   

Page 79

Page 11 of 111



 
 

12 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Our performance in 2022/23 

  

Page 80

Page 12 of 111



 
 

13 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Performance Overview for 2022/23 
 
Our ambition is to make Warwickshire the best 
it can be and our Council Plan, which was 
adopted in April 2022, sets out how we will make 
this happen and outlines three strategic 
priorities we will work towards: 
 
• We want Warwickshire to be a County with 

a thriving economy and places with the right 
jobs, skills, and infrastructure. 

 
• A place where people can live their best 

lives; where communities and individuals 
are supported to live safely, healthily, 
happily and independently. 

 
• A County with sustainable futures which 

means adapting to and mitigating climate 
change and meeting net zero commitments. 

 
To make this happen, we will be a great Council 
and partner: one which harnesses community 
power, uses data and digital solutions to 
improve service efficiency and is a great 
organisation to work in with outstanding 
leadership and a talented, agile workforce. 
 
These strategic priorities are further supported 
by seven Areas of Focus and our progress this 
year is detailed against each of these. Our 
Integrated Delivery Plan was approved in May 
2022, bringing together the work taking place 
across the Council to deliver outcomes against 
the seven Areas of Focus. It includes key 
elements of our service business plans for the 
financial year 2022-23, along with our change 
projects and key capital priorities. 
 
 
Seven Areas of Focus 
 
Create vibrant places with safe and inclusive 
communities 
 
Levelling Up is a key driver within this Area of 
Focus  and, in July 2022, our Levelling Up 
Approach was approved by Cabinet. We are 
working closely with partners across the county 
to develop five ‘place plans’ at District and 
Borough level, to identify and deliver local 
priorities, based on an analysis of data across a 

broad range of levelling-up themes and 
informed by the views of our residents. 
 
Our Trading Standards and Community Safety 
Teams have been proactive in making our 
communities safer and more inclusive. They 
have successfully led the Serious Organised 
Crime Programme to tackle County Lines 
resulting in their approach being recognised as 
best practice by the West Midlands Regionally 
Organised Crime Unit. 
 
The team has led an extensive programme to 
tackle organised criminal networks connected to 
the supply and sale of illicit tobacco and other 
counterfeit goods recovering £1.0m worth of 
illegal cigarettes and hand rolling tobacco. 
 
There was a successful application to the Home 
Office for £0.3m Safer Street Funding for 
delivery of the programme by March 2023 and 
another successful application resulting in £0.4 
million for programme delivery by September 
2023. The team delivered Prevent training to 
over 2,000 people, a 25% increase on the 
previous year and continues the improving trend 
across the last few years.  
 
An advisory service was established for the 
implementation of Natasha's Law, ensuring that 
labelling listing all the ingredients on individual 
packaging of products that are considered pre-
packed for direct sale. The service included both 
training and a countywide programme of 
inspections for high-risk independent retailers. 
 
The service has also started work on responding 
to the new duty on Serious Violence, working 
with the Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner to develop a serious violence 
needs assessment with partners. 
 
More than 450 responses were received to the 
public consultation on the new Warwickshire 
Fire & Rescue Service (WFRS) Prevention, 
Protection & Response Strategy 2022-27 and, 
incorporating the feedback received, the 
strategy has now been launched. 
 
Another significant milestone for the Service 
was the opening of the new Training & 
Development Centre in March, combining 
training facilities for incident command, working 

Page 81

Page 13 of 111



 
 

14 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

at height or confined spaces, road traffic 
collisions and breathing apparatus. 
 
WFRS crews continue to respond to emergency 
calls efficiently and effectively particularly in the 
arduous conditions over the hot summer with 
significantly increased operational activity, 
attending 449 outdoor and wildfires from June 
to August, compared to 122 in the equivalent 
months in 2021. 
 
The Service continues to make progress in 
response to the findings of His Majesty’s 
Inspectorate for Constabularies and Fire & 
Rescue Service (HMICFRS) inspection in 2021, 
where three ‘causes of concern’ were issued 
relating to Prevention, Protection and Equality 
Diversity and Inclusion. Following a revisit, 
HMICFRS were satisfied that the Service had 
addressed all recommendations in relation to 
the Prevention cause of concern and it was 
discharged in January 2023. The outcome is 
awaited from the round three inspection 
programme which took place in March 2023. 
 
Within the Service the on-call recruitment 
campaigns have resulted in twelve successful 
candidates, contributing to a steady upward 
trend in fire appliance availability. 
 
Our Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire 
Resilience team launched the Warwickshire 
County Council Emergency Management Plan, 
providing a single framework for the 
management of public safety emergencies, 
business continuity and recovery, helping to 
keep our communities safer. 
 
Deliver major infrastructure, digital 
connectivity, and improved transport options 
 
During the last year significant progress has 
been made on our major infrastructure schemes 
that aim to improve our networks across the 
county. Both the A46 Stoneleigh Junction and 
the Bermuda Connectivity Improvement 
schemes have progressed across the year and 
are due for completion in 2023/24. Other 
schemes such as Europa Way and Transforming 
Nuneaton continue to make good progress. We 
also supported the A46 Binley Junction 
Improvement scheme, led by Highways England, 
which was successfully completed in February 
2023. 

 
Digital connectivity continues to move forward 
through our support and facilitation of the 
development of the 4G and 5G networks. We 
have also launched the ‘You Can’ online scheme 
where a loan facility provides residents with the 
opportunity to develop digital skills. 
 
Sustainable travel is promoted through the use 
of low emission vehicles, and we have recently 
been successful in securing funding from the 
Low Emissions Vehicles Infrastructure Fund to 
build a solar powered rural charging hub in 
Harbury village. Further funding from the 
Capability stream of the same fund has allowed 
us to recruit a dedicated role to support the 
rollout of the Electric Vehicle infrastructure 
across the county. To date we have supplied 158 
charging points across 24 hubs in the county for 
electric vehicle charging. 
 
We secured more than £5m government 
funding during the year extending and 
accelerating the Council's work to encourage 
active travel. The Government allocated us 
£0.4m from the Active Travel Capability Fund in 
December 2022, double the allocation received 
in the previous year. The award followed an 
assessment of English local authority’s active 
travel capability and ambition which considered 
local leadership, plans and delivery record for 
bringing forward high-quality infrastructure 
schemes that enable more people to walk, 
wheel or cycle for everyday trips. Warwickshire 
was assessed as having 'strong local leadership, 
with clear plans that form the basis of an 
emerging network with a few elements already 
in place', only five local authorities achieved a 
higher rating. 
 
The capability funding is paying for engineering 
concept design work for active travel 
infrastructure schemes across the county and 
other activities to encourage more walking and 
cycling. The assessment helped us to secure a 
further £4.8m from the Government's Active 
Travel Fund in March 2023 to help deliver new 
active travel infrastructure with the funding split 
between the A47 Hinckley Road cycle route in 
Nuneaton, Kenilworth to Leamington Spa cycle 
route, and the Leamington Spa to Rugby cycle 
route which follows a former railway line via the 
Offchurch Greenway and Lias Line. These 

Page 82

Page 14 of 111



 
 

15 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

schemes add to the four already delivered in 
2022/23. 
 
In 2021 the Council launched a £140m fund to 
stimulate the county’s economy, create jobs, 
support local businesses, and bring investment 
into the county. The aim is to distribute £140m 
over the five years, offering loans and other 
financial investments to existing and new 
businesses to help their long-term recovery and 
growth. The investment is a fundamental part of 
the Council’s COVID-19 Recovery Plan and, 
together with other support from the Council, is 
expected to create over 3,000 new jobs and 
safeguard many thousands more. We, along 
with our subsidiary property company, have 
entered a Joint Venture Partnership to deliver 
homes across the county, making best use of the 
Council’s land assets to support the delivery of 
our strategic outcomes. 
 
Promote inclusive, sustainable economic 
growth, successful business, good quality jobs 
and future skills 
 
There has been considerable progress and 
success within this Area of Focus this year. As a 
county, Warwickshire attracted 45 foreign 
investment projects in the year 2021/22, 
maintaining the trend of recent years and 
performing better when compared to the UK 
average. The ongoing performance is also strong 
when compared to the rest of the Midlands, 
where per capita (of the population), Coventry & 
Warwickshire is the leading investment 
destination.  According to research by Ernst & 
Young on behalf of the County Councils’ 
Network, the county of Warwickshire emerged 
as the strongest performer in 2021 of the 36 
English counties, and over the period 2018-21, 
Warwickshire was the leading county for foreign 
direct investment of the 9 Midlands counties, 
and the third nationally out of the 36 English 
counties. The Invest Coventry & Warwickshire 
area was also named second best region for 
'Foreign Direct Investment Strategy' by FDI 
Magazine (2022). Data for 2022-3 to be released 
later in the year follows these positive trends. 
 
There were 92,725 employees in our key priority 
sectors in 2021, with 302,410 employees in 
total, which was an increase of 6,095 employees 
since 2020, 2022 data will be available in 
summer 2023.  There was an increase in the 

overall number of employees in Warwickshire 
which reflects the recovery in the economy 
following the pandemic. The main increase in 
the number of employees in key priority sectors 
came from the tourism sector which saw an 
estimated increase of 2,865 employees and is 
now more comparable to pre-pandemic 
numbers. Other large increases were in the 
automotive sector with an increase of 1,800 
employees and the digital and creative sector 
with an increase of 1,700 employees. 
 
An Economic Impact report has revealed that 
Warwickshire welcomed 104,000 spectators to 
its Commonwealth Games venues in Warwick 
and Leamington over 11 days of operation. Just 
over 50,000 of those attended the Women's and 
Men's Cycling Road Races in Warwick. This by far 
exceeded original estimates of 30,000. The 
cycling is estimated to have generated £1.9m to 
the local economy, and directly supported the 
creation of 26 new jobs in the accommodation, 
catering and retail sectors. In addition to the 
road race, the Live Festival Site in Warwick 
Market Place was hugely popular and 
entertained nearly 20,000 locals and visitors 
during the Games. 
 
Across the year the Economy and Skills Team 
supported 923 businesses to start and grow, 
secured £2.5m from the Government's new 
Multiply Fund and supported the District & 
Borough Councils with their £16m investment 
plans for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and 
supported the delivery of £1.9m of loans via the 
Warwickshire Recovery and Investment Fund. 
The Team have been proactive and creative in 
supporting businesses with their employment 
needs: over £0.3m of Apprenticeships were 
supported by the Council’s Levy Funds; over 40 
businesses committed to be Inclusive employers 
and offer Inclusive job opportunities; 37 Schools 
were awarded Career Grants. 
 
Adult and Community Learning enrolments in 
the academic year 2021/22 were 2,824 in total. 
This compared to 2,630 in 2020/21 and was 
against a set target of 2,800. These enrolments 
are across skills funded courses such as English, 
Maths, IT and English as a Second Language, and 
community learning, including family learning. 
 
Our redesigned Warwickshire Supported 
Employment Service to support people with 

Page 83

Page 15 of 111



 
 

16 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Learning Disabilities and Autism into 
employment was recently launched. This is an 
ambitious programme providing end to end 
support for individuals with SEND or autism as 
well as the recruiting businesses. It is anticipated 
that when fully established the service will 
support 400 individuals. 
 
Tackle climate change, promote biodiversity 
and deliver on our commitment to Net Zero 
 
Our Sustainable Futures climate change 
programme is ambitious, and we are committed 
to delivering impact through the programme. 
Warwickshire County Council has been rated 
amongst the top local authorities for 
sustainability by the West Midland’s Local 
Authority Sustainability Benchmark. Published 
on behalf of the Environment Agency, the 
benchmark looks at actions taken in detail 
across the sustainability agenda. Overall, the 
Council was awarded a score of 67.1%, which is 
an increase of five percentage points on the 
previous year and placed 7th of the 21 regional 
authorities that took part. 
 
We have developed a draft Sustainable Futures 
Strategy, which establishes our direction and 
priorities to reduce carbon emissions, support 
biodiversity and promote economic growth 
across our County. A draft action plan sits 
beneath the Strategy and will set out our 
trajectory to meet our net zero targets for 2030 
(WCC) and 2050 (Warwickshire as a county). We 
invited Warwickshire residents to share their 
feedback on our Strategy via an online survey 
and a series of focus groups. 
 
Our approach is multi-faceted including through 
our Country Parks and Greenways, where the 
sites across the county welcomed over 900,000 
visits last year. Not only are these enjoyable 
spaces to visit but there are tremendous 
biodiversity and carbon offsetting benefits 
attached to them as we are actively managing 
the spaces to encourage nature, marginal 
species and biodiversity. This year 36 of the 38 
Warwickshire species of butterflies were 
spotted at our Ryton Pools site and the site is 
one bumblebee species away from being 
declared as a site of national importance for the 
first time. 
 

The Waste and Environment service supported 
nearly 9,000 hours of volunteer input, helping to 
manage the flora and fauna and infrastructure at 
the sites, and providing a social health and 
wellbeing benefit to over 30 regular volunteers, 
as well as participants from corporate 
volunteering groups. The team has also 
successfully secured grant income of £30,000 
from National Highways to create an acre of new 
wildflower meadow and 240m2 of pond margins. 
 
Another role our Country Parks play is delivering 
outdoor education sessions. In total, 1,787 
school children participated this year, 1,300 
children have attended organised birthday 
parties, 1,045 children taken part in holiday 
events and 363 in holiday trails. 
 
We have planted the first 20,000 acorns in our 
new tree nursery, which will support our own 
tree-planting ambitions to plant a tree for each 
resident by 2030 and supply other organisations 
and businesses with surplus whips and saplings. 
 
During the last year we have seen a successful 
second round of Green Shoots Climate Change 
Fund, which awarded 38 community-led 
projects a total of £0.3m, adding to the previous 
69 projects that received £0.6m in 2021. These 
projects include low-carbon energy solutions, 
community orchards and behaviour change 
programmes.  Including operating costs, £1.0m 
has been allocated and spent via the Green 
Shoots Climate Change Fund. 
 
Deliver our Child Friendly Warwickshire 
strategy - Happy, healthy, safe children 
 
There are several achievements this year within 
this Area of Focus which we are very proud of, 
most notably our children’s services which were 
judged as Good in all areas following the Ofsted 
inspection published on 1st February 2022. This 
is an improvement on the previous inspection in 
May 2017 where we were judged as Requires 
Improvement. At the inspection Ofsted found 
that our social workers listen carefully to 
children and make sure that children’s views 
inform decision-making. Social workers were 
found to be building stronger, more trusting 
relationships with families and giving parents 
confidence to develop their parenting skills. This 
inspection was followed by a ‘focussed visit’ 
from Ofsted in March 2023, looking at WCC’s 

Page 84

Page 16 of 111



 
 

17 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

arrangements for care experienced young 
people. Ofsted found that there has continued 
to be an effective focus on improving services 
for care experienced young people since the full 
inspection. Inspectors noted that the services 
had strengthened despite a challenging 
backdrop of financial pressures and rising need. 
 
Last April more than 70 young people from 
across Warwickshire came together for the first 
Child Friendly Warwickshire Youth Conference: 
Future Ready, to discuss important topics facing 
them today. The event was organised with the 
help of young people who chose the five themes 
for the day, which were climate change, mental 
health, careers, respectful relationships and 
youth homelessness. Following the event, by 
October there were 100 “friends”, including 
businesses, charities and community groups all 
committing to being child friendly. 
 
Cherry Tree House in Stratford, Warwickshire’s 
first home for children in care, officially opened 
on Monday 9th May 2022 with children moving 
in towards the end of the summer. Cherry Tree 
House is the first of several residences planned 
across the county that aim to ensure that the 
children who will live there can be safe, skilled, 
heard, healthy and most importantly, happy. 
 
A new placement hub was implemented to 
identify the most appropriate homes for 
children in care. The team is now established 
with additional workers being recruited to 
increase capacity. A wraparound service for 
foster carers and children in care was 
relaunched in Spring 2023. 
 
Alongside these achievements we have 
experienced significant positive performance in 
several of our performance measures including 
the number of children subject to a Child 
Protection Plan, which has seen figures reducing 
and stabilising recently, following consistently 
high and above target numbers since November 
2021. Similar patterns have been seen in the 
number of children with an open ‘in Need’ 
category, including Child Protection Plans and 
Children in Care as well as the number of 
Children in Care, excluding unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children. 
 
We continue to work with partners to deliver a 
“50 things to do before you’re 5” pilot project. 

The app highlights developmental learning and 
Warwickshire place-based activities for children 
to engage with. 
 
The Warwickshire & Coventry Children & Young 
People’s Mental Health Improvement Strategy 
and action plan was developed in collaboration 
with partners. As part of this, an 18-25 
transitional offer was established for those 
moving from children and young people’s 
services into adult mental health services. This 
service was provided across Coventry and 
Warwickshire by Coventry and Warwickshire 
MIND and due to its success, an extension to the 
contract has been agreed. 
 
A number of initiatives were undertaken with 
the aim of increasing access to Early Help and 
Targeted Youth Work in the county. We 
continue to provide free parenting courses and 
advice, and outcomes are very strong within this 
area. Extra staff have been recruited to support 
the demand for brokerage and family support 
services, particularly within Nuneaton and 
Bedworth and Warwick where there are waiting 
lists for support. 
 
To ensure refugees from Ukraine and other 
countries moving to Warwickshire receive a 
warm welcome the resettlement service was 
redesigned and there are now dedicated staff 
working in this area. To date Warwickshire has 
supported over 1,000 Ukrainian nationals with 
600 of our residents acting as sponsors and 
welcoming them into their homes as part of our 
Homes for Ukraine initiative.  
 
Through education, improve life opportunities 
for children, young people and those with 
special educational needs and disabilities 
 
Following the period of disruption to our 
children’s education during the pandemic, this 
Area of Focus is a priority for us as we endeavour 
to support schools and help children to catch up. 
 
A review of school performance data was 
undertaken at each of the Key Stages following 
a period of data being unavailable since 2019 
due to Covid-19. Support for vulnerable 
maintained schools has been commissioned 
from system leaders with the School 
Improvement team keeping records to review 
progress. Schools requiring support were also 

Page 85

Page 17 of 111



 
 

18 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

encouraged to engage with locality-based 
consortia groups where small groups of schools 
and governors can have supportive and 
challenging conversations about self-evaluation 
of performance, with all identified primary 
schools and 57% of identified secondary schools 
taking part. 
 
Warwickshire has 88% of its learners attending a 
setting that is rated either ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding’. 18,204 pupils (22%) are attending 
‘Outstanding’ settings, while 56,369 pupils 
(66%) are attending a ‘Good’ rated setting. 
These results compare favourably to national 
averages where 19% of pupils are attending a 
setting rated ‘Outstanding’, and also to 
Warwickshire’s statistical neighbours where 
16% of learners attend a setting rated 
‘Outstanding’. 
 
A new auto-allocation method of admissions 
was introduced this year for in-year school 
applications. Initially there were significant 
problems arising from the implementation of 
these changes, which were rapidly addressed 
and by the end of 2022 the timescales for in-year 
place outcomes were, and remain, much 
improved following focussed improvement 
activity. This year, we will work to further 
improve and maintain performance levels and 
further enhance the wider school admissions 
service. Overall, in the county for the 2023/24 
academic year, there were 6,333 applicants for 
a reception place and 1,207 applicants for a Year 
3 place at a Junior school. A high level of children 
applying were offered a place in one of their top 
three preferences, for reception, a total of 98%, 
for junior school places, 99% and for secondary 
school places 94%. 
 
We continue to support our children with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND), opening the Warwickshire Academy on 
10th May 2022. The school has been re-purposed 
to include all the features of a modern school 
and provides places for 80 children, from the 
ages of 9 to 19, whose complex needs mean that 
they cannot be accommodated in mainstream 
settings.  
 
A Capital and Sufficiency Strategy for SEND is 
now also in place following a review of special 
schools and units in mainstream schools, 
meaning we have a good understanding and 

assessment of current capacity and the need for 
future provision. On March 16th, 2023, Cabinet 
unanimously agreed to projects that would add 
an additional 60 places to the county’s SEND 
provision. The expansion of schools that meet 
the needs of learners with SEND, in line with 
population growth, is a priority to ensure that 
there are enough places. Nuneaton & Bedworth 
and Warwick have been identified as areas with 
a high demand for SEND places across all year 
groups. 
 
This year, Warwickshire had 1.7% of 16 and 17-
year-olds in a NEET (not in education, 
employment or training) situation, and 1.7% 
whose activities were not known. This gives a 
combined score of 3.4%, which is a decrease 
from the combined figure of 3.8% in 2021, which 
compares to the West Midlands average of 5% 
and the England average of 4.7%. This marks a 
trend in which Warwickshire has been excelling 
in recent years and the county is now placed 
amongst the highest performing areas of 
England, based on comparable local authority 
areas. 
 
Our Family Learning Team was shortlisted in the 
Early Years category in the Campaign for 
Learning's Family Learning Awards for its work 
across the county with families of children aged 
0-5. The Family Learning Awards celebrate the 
inspirational work of organisations that create 
wonderful learning opportunities for families. 
 
The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
and Inclusion Change Plan, through 
interventions and savings, aims to reduce the 
year-on-year high needs deficit whilst achieving 
better outcomes for children and families. The 
overspend for the High Needs Dedicated Schools 
Grant block is £4.3m, which is lower than the 
resources we had set aside in the medium term 
financial strategy to offset the deficit. 
 
Support people to live healthy, happy, and 
independent lives and work with partners to 
reduce health inequalities 
 
Helping people to live well is important for us 
and our themed advertisement campaigns 
throughout 2022 have focussed on signposting 
the public to available support, such as our 
‘living well’ website containing resources and 
tools to support better mental health, signposts 

Page 86

Page 18 of 111



 
 

19 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

to financial advice and promoting healthier 
lifestyles. 
 
The newly established Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) brings together a broad 
alliance of partners concerned with improving 
the care, health and wellbeing of the population, 
including Warwickshire County Council. From 
August to December 2022, the ICP worked 
together to produce the first draft of an 
Integrated Care Strategy for Coventry and 
Warwickshire, which outlines how they will work 
together to meet the health and wellbeing 
needs of the population in the area. 
 
A new wellbeing service for informal carers 
launched on 1st October 2022. The service was 
set up by the Council and the service provider, 
Carers Trust, Heart of England, and was designed 
with input from carers. As well as digital support, 
phone and face to face support with advisors 
and other carers, the service now offers carers 
assessments for adults and young carers 
throughout Warwickshire. 
 
The virtual Care Quality Commission inspection 
of the Warwickshire Reablement Service 
maintained a rating of Good. The service also 
achieved a WOW staff recognition award to 
recognise outstanding staff. The Reablement 
service is achieving 72.6% of existing reablement 
customers not needing an ongoing package of 
care, which is a strong outcome for customers 
regaining their independence. 
 
Warwickshire Safeguarding is a multi-agency 
Partnership established to ensure safeguarding 
measures are met and that vulnerable adults 
and children across Warwickshire are protected 
from harm and abuse. Warwickshire 
Safeguarding’s process for identifying and 
considering possible Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews and Serious Case Reviews has been 
recognised by the College of Policing as an 
exemplar, receiving praise for the consistent and 
cooperative approach with partners, timely 
responses and clear promotion of learning.    
A review was undertaken on the impact of the 
Warwickshire-wide falls service for medium to 
high-risk fallers. As a result of this, working 
collaboratively with partners a new prevention 
offer was developed and implemented. 
 

As part of efforts to improve the mental health 
and well-being of adults living in Warwickshire a 
new Collaborative Partnership to deliver a 
community based mental health support service 
across Warwickshire was mobilised. Over six 
months of operation referrals and calls to the 
helpline have increased. Digital chat has now 
also been introduced as part of the offer and a 
communication plan is being rolled out to 
increase awareness of the service. 
 
We participated in Social Work Week 2023, 
sharing both national online events hosted by 
Social Work England and hosting internal events. 
The week presents an opportunity to share the 
latest updates on social work, opportunities for 
reflection as well as celebrating social work 
colleagues at the Council. 
 
We facilitated a Health Equity Group pilot 
programme with community residents and 
representatives to identify ways to close the gap 
on health outcomes and address health 
inequalities agenda. Options to develop this 
work further are currently being considered. 
 
The theme of this year’s published Director of 
Public Health’s report was health and the high 
cost of living in Warwickshire. The 
recommendations are framed around the 
themes of housing, food, and transport in order 
to address the causes of poor health and 
wellbeing. 
 
In 2022 the Coventry and Warwickshire Suicide 
Prevention Strategy for 2023 to 2030 was 
published, which seeks to ensure suicide 
prevention activity is embedded and prioritised 
across the system. This strategy has been 
endorsed by the Health and Wellbeing Boards of 
Coventry and Warwickshire. 
 
 
Supporting these areas of focus we will be a 
Great Council and partner 
 
Harnessing Community Power 
 
A £2.5m Social Fabric Fund was developed, 
which will invest in social infrastructure 
primarily in the 22 Lower Super Output Areas of 
the county in the top 20% of the Indices of 
Multiple Deprivation in line with the priorities 
set out in the Countywide Approach to Levelling 

Page 87

Page 19 of 111



 
 

20 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Up. The fund, a combination of revenue and 
capital, will embed the community powered 
principle of “working with” communities, rather 
than “doing to” or “doing for” them. Work 
around four Levelling Up pilot projects 
commenced. The pilots, each unique to the 
areas and communities concerned, will apply a 
community powered approach from a starting 
point of the priorities and challenges identified 
by the communities themselves. 
  
Our £1.3m Social Impact Fund has been used to 
empower and enable local communities to have 
the skills to lead change and build capacity in 
their priority areas. 21 grants have been 
awarded, a mixture of capital and revenue 
awards, with projects to be completed within 18 
months. 
 
The Warwickshire Food Forum continued to 
gather momentum, with the Food Strategy and 
its underlying Delivery Plan helping to galvanise 
actions by the Council and its partners to tackle 
food poverty and help to ensure a sustainable 
supply of affordable, healthy food. 
 
Five Community Powered Warwickshire 
“ground breakers” applied community-driven 
approaches across the areas of town-centre 
regeneration, internal organisational 
development and culture change, transport and 
road safety, place shaping, and food provision. 
 
New Advice, Voluntary Community and Social 
Enterprise Sector Infrastructure Support, and 
Equality Support services, started during the 
year, representing a £5m investment in 
voluntary sector services over 5 years. 
 
The new services, provided by Citizens Advice, 
Warwickshire Community and Voluntary Action, 
and the Equality and Inclusion Partnership 
respectively will provide advice to residents in 
respect of debt, money management, benefits, 
housing, immigration, and employment matters, 
support to volunteers and voluntary groups, and 
support, casework, and training around the 
characteristic groups within the Equality Act 
2010. 
 
The Councillors’ Grant Fund ran for another 
year, with each of the 57 Councillors receiving an 
allocation of £8,000 to award to small-scale 
projects in their areas. With the average award 

being around £1,000, nearly 450 local projects 
were supported.  
 
The Voice of Warwickshire residents panel gives 
people who live in Warwickshire an opportunity 
to share their views on a variety of subjects. 
Results from surveys completed by panel 
members are given directly back to decision 
makers within the council, to assist them when 
making plans and decisions. During 2022, the 
panel contributed to policy development on 
climate change, levelling-up, our Fire & Rescue 
Service and the design of our website. 
 
We launched a brand-new podcast channel with 
the first in a series of podcasts called Let’s Talk 
Warwickshire. The podcast series are available 
through Spotify and focus on important 
issues facing the communities of Warwickshire. 
 
Using our data and digital solutions to improve 
service delivery 
 
Our Digital and Data Strategy 2022-2027 was 
developed this year and outlines our ambitions 
over the coming years. Our Council Plan requires 
ICT to innovate and evolve again resulting in the 
following deliverables: 
• supporting the digital enablement and 

transformation of service delivery; 
 
• designing services right first time to reduce 

costs and support the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy; 

 
• implementing new technology in a 

controlled and considered way that 
accelerates service transformation; and 

 
• building on the considerable progress in 

understanding our data and obtaining 
insight from this, we now seek to embed a 
culture of accountability across all services 
for the data we hold, the quality of data 
collected, and utilising our data as the 
strategic asset it is. 

 
A data roadmap and a digital roadmap have 
been developed to take us forward over the next 
few years and help us track progress. To support 
this work, the Council undertook a data maturity 
audit, using the Local Government Association 
Toolkit, to gauge our current position and 
identify priority improvement themes. In 

Page 88

Page 20 of 111

https://letstalkwarwickshire.podbean.com/
https://letstalkwarwickshire.podbean.com/


 
 

21 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

addition, a new Data and Intelligence section has 
been created on the Council’s intranet, bringing 
a lot of our products, insights and analysis into a 
single place. This has also been made available 
and promoted to Elected Members. 
 
We have seen a significant increase in the use of 
management information dashboards, 
delivered through Power BI, across the 
organisation. At the end of 2022/23, these 
dashboards are being viewed an average of 
8,000-10,000 times per month. 
 
Our people and the way we work 
 
Despite the challenging labour market, we 
continue to see encouraging results from our 
employee engagement activity, including an 
increase in overall engagement from 74% to 
76%. 
 
Throughout this year we have experienced 
recruitment and retention challenges across 
many of our services, particularly including 
children’s social work, engineering, ICT, finance 
and business intelligence. However, we have 
seen an improvement in our retention levels 
throughout the last year, with a yearend 
position of 87%, which remains positively above 
our target of 85%.  Turnover is at 12.9% for the 
rolling 12 months, although this has fluctuated 
across the year, overall, there has been a slight 
reduction from 13.0% recorded for 2021/22. A 
number of Strategic Workforce Planning 
sessions took place in the Autumn where key 
themes have been identified for prioritisation 
within the Our People Strategy Year 3 plan. We 
continue to review our approach to reward and 
recognition to ensure that the overall 
employment offer is competitive, and we are 
seen as an employer of choice, continuing to 
capitalise on the very positive results of the 
recent staff surveys and ‘Big Conversation’ 
workshops. 
 
Although sickness levels have increased slightly, 
this was not unexpected as we moved into a new 
way of hybrid working, our levels have stabilised 
throughout the year, remaining just under 
target 8 days per Full Time Equivalent (FTE with 
a +1-day tolerance) and remain considerably 
lower than previous years. 
 

A review of our culture activity, to enable 
delivery of the Council Plan and support our 
values and behaviours, was undertaken as part 
of the delivery of the Year 2 of “Our People” 
strategy action plan. 
 
Cost of Living 
 
One of the biggest challenges for us this year 
were the Cost of Living challenges which 
affected our residents, communities, 
businesses, and visitors which arose from global 
factors and very high levels of energy price 
inflation. 
 
Our response was swift and comprehensive, and 
saw the Household Support Fund, via the 
Council’s Local Welfare Scheme distribute 
£6.9m to vulnerable households in need of help 
with food, energy, and water bills. As part of this, 
grants were made to community groups and Act 
on Energy to extend the reach of the charity’s 
Warm and Well Programme. 
 
We set up “Warm Welcome” locations across 
the County to support vulnerable and isolated 
residents giving them the opportunity to spend 
time somewhere warm during the cold months. 
Under the scheme people benefitted from 
extended opening hours and additional services 
from libraries and museums, as well as warm 
hubs set up by Borough and District Council 
partners, and a network of 80 community-led 
hubs supported by Warwickshire Rural 
Community Council. These locations provided 
wraparound support to help residents access 
advice and guidance from organisations such as 
Citizens Advice. 
 
Direct support was provided to residents via the 
Library Service’s Further Warm Bags and Toiletry 
Bags project, which saw 4,100 bags distributed 
across the County: 
• 1,600 warm and toiletry bags (inc. blanket, 

hats scarf, hot water bottle, gloves and 
toiletry items); 

• 500 tricky period bags; 
• 1,250 adult toiletry bags; and 
• 750 children toiletry bags. 
 
Also linked to cost-of-living pressures, £1m was 
set aside from the Council’s Revenue Investment 
Fund for local support activities. We have 
worked together with the District and Borough 

Page 89

Page 21 of 111



 
 

22 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Councils to distribute the Cost-of-Living Grant 
Fund, including: 
 
• £40,000 of small grants to Voluntary, 

Community and Social enterprise 
organisations; 

 
• £300,000 to Citizens Advice over the next 2 

years for enhancement of the telephone 
service; 

 
• £50,000 to voluntary transport providers so 

people with no other forms of transport can 
get to essential medical and social 
appointments; 

 
• £30,000 for a rural community council 

winter warm hub project; 
 
• £100,000 into food banks across 

Warwickshire; and 
 
• Over £300,000 to extend the community 

pantries in Lillington, Camp Hill and New 
Arley. The Community Pantry is a 
collaborative proof-of-concept project 
between Feed the Hungry UK and 
Warwickshire County Council, having 
launched in March 2022 to meet the needs 
of rural and urban communities. The 
purpose behind The Community Pantry 
project is to help people move beyond an 
immediate point of crises, particularly with 
regards to food access, in an empowering 
and community-led way. 

 
Since the opening of the pantries there have 
been nearly 5,000 visits to purchase food by 
members. Also, over this time 13 members from 
have become volunteers within the pantries. 
Citizens Advice provide a wraparound service at 
the locations and between October and 
December alone they supported 163 members. 
 
Working with our partners we developed the 
Cost-of-Living microsite to offer support for our 
communities, providing key information and 
signposting to the full range of support available 
nationally and locally. 
 
 
 
 

Awards 
 
In Warwickshire we are proud of our strong 
record of national recognition, receiving awards 
as an organisation and for staff members. This 
year has been an exceptional year for us. 
 
Warwickshire ranked leading shire county in the 
Midlands and third in the UK for Foreign Direct 
Investment. Invest Coventry & Warwickshire 
area was named second region for 'Foreign 
Direct Investment Strategy' by FDI Magazine 
(2022). Invest in Coventry and Warwickshire 
ranked in the top 10 across Europe in 3 
categories: business friendliness, FDI strategy 
and economic potential. 
 
Hartshill Hayes Country Park was awarded 
Learning Outside the Classroom Accreditation 
for the first time, joining Kingsbury and Ryton in 
holding the quality badge for outdoor 
educational services.  
 
In September four of Warwickshire’s Country 
Parks secured the title of “Local Favourite”, after 
all four appeared in the top 20% of parks voted 
for by the public in the UK’s Favourite Park 
competition.  Burton Dassett Hills, 
Hartshill Hayes, Ryton Pools and Kingsbury 
Water Park all scooped the prestigious accolade 
in the national competition which aims to shine 
a light on the green spaces which hold a special 
place in the nation’s hearts. 
 
We were successful at the Federation of Small 
Businesses Awards where we won the prize for 
our Programme of Business Support as well as 
All Round Small Business Friendly, recognising 
the county's commitment to supporting small, 
local businesses. 
 
Our payroll services team won the Excellence in 
Service Delivery: The Unsung Heroes Award at 
the PPMA Excellence in People Management 
Awards 2022. This award recognises that 
recruitment, payroll, pensions and general 
employee support are vital, but often 
overlooked services, which are crucial to the 
smooth running of any HR/Organisational 
Development service. 
 
We won the Best Local Authority Sector Agency 
award at Birmingham City University’s Practice 
Learning Celebration Day in June, celebrating 50 

Page 90

Page 22 of 111



 
 

23 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

years of Social Work Education. The award 
recognised our contribution to supporting 
trainee social workers. 
 
Warwickshire Fire and Rescue Service’s Hospital 
to Home team has received a 'Gold Medal 
Award' for its service that helps elderly and 
vulnerable patients return home after hospital 
stays. The award is from the Emergency Care 
Improvement Support Team, NHS England. 
 
We were delighted to be awarded a Silver Award 
from Inclusive Employers, which supports our 
commitment and vision - Warwickshire County 
Council, a place where everyone feels valued, 
included, safe, supported and welcome - places 
our approach to inclusivity at the heart of 
everything we do. 
 
Our Chief Executive, Monica Fogarty won the 
national Municipal Journal award for Chief 
Executive of the Year. Winners are recognised 
for displaying outstanding leadership, 
innovation, determination and commitment to 
their authorities and their communities. Nigel 

Minns, our Strategic Director for People 
Directorate won the Corporate Director of the 
Year Award at the same Awards ceremony, 
recognising his strategic leadership going above 
and beyond, ingenuity, results, values, 
motivational abilities and leadership in 
disruption as seen by citizens, partners, staff, 
politicians and peers. 
  
For the 15th year in a row, Warwickshire County 
Council has been recognised for its 
environmental management system and was 
awarded ISO 14001 accreditation. This 
certification provides assurance that we are 
managing its environmental risks in a structured, 
transparent way and their environmental impact 
is being measured and improved. It gives 
Warwickshire residents and businesses the 
confidence that environmental risks are being 
well managed, which is growing ever more 
important in light of our rapidly-changing 
climate. 
 
 

 

  

Page 91

Page 23 of 111



 
 

24 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

  

Page 92

Page 24 of 111



 
 

25 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Financial performance 
Revenue income and expenditure 
 
Our net revenue income from all sources in 
2022/23 was £965m, £91.5m higher than the 
gross income budget at the beginning of the year. 
The increase is attributable to higher than 
anticipated government grants and an increase in 
receipts from customers for services provided. 
 
 

 

Revenue Income  
Grants £391.6m 
Council tax (inc. Adult Social 
Care Levy and deficit from 
previous years) 

 
£346.0m 

 
Customer and client receipts £152.5m 
Business rates £74.9m 

 
We have spent £986.5m this financial year on the 
various services we provide (including schools) 
and have used £21.5m of one-off funding from 
our reserves to fund the difference between our 
income and spend. 
 
The figures above exclude technical adjustments 
of £182.4m. Together these figures make up the 
gross expenditure of £1,168.9m shown in our 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.

 
Revenue Spend by Service 

 
  

Grants

Council 
tax

Customer 
and Client 
Receipts

Business 
Rates

•£235.4mAdult Social Care and Support

•£252.5mChildren and Education

•£24.6mFire and Rescue

•£35.7mCorporate costs including borrowing

•£86.2mSupport Services, Libraries, Museums and 
Cutomer services

•74.9mHighways, Roads, Transport and 
Community Safety Delivery Services

•£51.9mPublic health and Strategic Commissioning

•£43.4mWaste, Infrastructure, Economy and 
Transport Planning

•£181.9mSchools

Page 93

Page 25 of 111



 
 

26 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Revenue Spend by Type 
 

 
 
Revenue Underspends/Overspends 
 
The net difference between our funding and 
expenditure for the year is £21.5m, through our 
Medium Term Financial Strategy we planned to 
use £13.9m of reserves at the start of the year. 
 
Of the additional £7.6m used from reserves 
during the year: 
• (£3.8m) was used to fund the residual net 

overspend on services at the end of the 
financial year; 

• (£7.9m) was a reduction due to allocations 
to specific projects delivering the Council’s 
ambitions; 

• £5.0m was to increase our volatility reserves 
to take account of increasing commercial 
and inflationary risk; 

• £1.3m was an increase in funds earmarked 
for schools; 

• (£1.3m) was a decrease in funds held with 
our external partners; and 

• (£0.9m) is the decrease in funds held for 
internal policy, risk reserves and available to 
use reserves. 

 
The chart below shows the residual service 
variance after accounting for Investment fund 
allocations, approved reserve movements, 
Covid expenditure during the year and includes 
maintained schools net overspend of £2.7m:

 

 
 
  

•£380.6mPayments relating to staff (including 
Schools)

•£223.8mRunning costs

•£358.2mBuying in services

•£23.9mBuying and using assets

•£2.6mAdult Social Care

•£3.0mChildren and Education

•(£0.1m)Fire and Rescue

•(2.6m)Corporate costs including borrowing

•(£2.2m)Support Services, libraries, museums and 
cutomer services

•£6.7mHighways, roads, transport and community 
safety delivery services

•(1.4m)Public health and strategic commissioning

•(£2.2m)Waste, infrastructure, economy and transport 
planning

•£2.7mSchools

Page 94

Page 26 of 111



 
 

27 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Capital spending and the value of our assets 
 
We spent £117.4m on the purchase and creation 
of assets in 2022/23 including £26.8m on assets 
owned by other parties and £1.4m on 
investment loans to our property and 
development company. Our initial estimate was 
£250.1m but in-year adjustments for additions 
(for example, to spend newly awarded grants), 
reductions or rescheduling brought our 
approved budget for 2022/23 down to £122.8m 
as at January 2023. Our capital spending was 
therefore £132.7m less than our original budget, 
and £5.4m less than the latest approved budget. 
This underspend was due to delays on individual 
projects. Most of this spending now is expected 
to be incurred in future years, with the budget 
for 2023/24 being £257.7m. 
 
The value of our fixed assets has increased from 
£1,345.0m to £1,411.4m in 2022/23.
. 
 
Capital Spend by Service 
 

 
  

•£28.4mSchools 
•£65.7mTransport Infrastructure

•£16.1mProperty
•£7.2mOther

 
The main reasons for the £66.4m increase in the 
value of our assets are: 
 
• £46.2m of assets disposed of mostly through 

schools transferring to Academy status; 
 

• A spend of £89.2m increasing the value of our 
assets; 
 

• A write-down of £54.2m to reflect our assets’ 
usage by services; and  
 

• A net increase in the value of our assets of 
£77.6m is a result of updated valuations to 
reflect market movements and usage 
changes. 

Page 95

Page 27 of 111



 
 

28 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Capital over/underspends compared to the budget at the start of the year 

  
 
Savings and efficiencies 
As part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
the savings target set for the 2022/23 financial 
year was £10.2m. These savings were spread 
across a number of areas and delivered through 
better procurement, improvements in efficiency, 
increased income and delivering reductions in 
demand. 
 
Some of the larger items were: 
 
• £1.9m saving in Enabling Services (our 

property, HR and ICT support services) 
following a service review of expenditure on 
staffing, expenses and projects in the service; 
 

• £1.6m saving on third party spend through 
more effective procurement; 

• £1.0m savings through managing the cost of 
externally commissioned care for adults; 
 

• £1.3m saving by reducing demand for adult 
social care support through early 
intervention, prevention and reablement; 
and 
 

• £0.6m saving from a review of highways 
maintenance spend, road conditions survey 
work and capitalisation of contract 
overheads. 

 
93.5% of the saving target has been delivered 
during the year despite the ongoing challenge 
wider economic challenges.

 
  

•(17.0m)Education Services

•(£20.4)mEnvironment Services

•(£3.1m)Fire and Rescue

•(11.9m)Strategic Commissioning for 
Communities

•£0.5mChildren and Families

•£5.1mStrategic Commissioning for People

•(£0.5m)Business and Customer Support

•(£2.9m)Enabling Services

•£0.2mGovernance and Policy

•(£66.2m)Corporate, including investment loans

•(£16.5m)s278 contributions

Page 96

Page 28 of 111



 
 

29 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Reserves 
We planned to use £13.9m of our reserves to 
support the delivery of services in 2022/23. 
However, services spent £3.8m more than their 
cash-limited budget; when combined with 
further use of reserves to fund investment to 
deliver the Council’s priorities the outcome was 
that our usable revenue reserves decreased 
overall by £21.5m. 
 
At 31 March 2023 our usable revenue reserves 
were therefore £223.0 million, of which £20.4 
million was held by schools. We consider this to 

be a robust figure and allows us some flexibility 
to balance the challenges of meeting current and 
unknown future economic uncertainty alongside 
investment to improve our efficiency and the 
wider community economic recovery.  We will 
continue to apply our Reserves Strategy which 
describes how and when these reserves should 
be used or added to. Based on our current 
Medium Term Financial Strategy it is anticipated 
that the level of revenue reserves will reduce to 
£180.6m by the end of 2027/28.

 
 
Borrowing and Investments 
Whilst the Council’s benchmark rate of return on 
investment in 2022/23 was 1.52%, our treasury 
management activity generated a higher average 
interest on investments of 1.58%. In line with the 
Treasury Management Strategy the Council has 
prioritised first security, then liquidity and yield in 
its investments. Our treasury management 
activity involved investing in banks, building 

societies and other local authorities, as well as 
through external fund managers operating cash, 
property and bond funds. Our long-term debt 
outstanding was £321.4 million at 31 March 2023; 
and at 31 March 2023 we were holding £486.7 
million of cash, cash equivalents and treasury 
investments.

 
 
Pensions 
At 31 March 2023 our total pensions liability was 
£255.9m, a decrease of £645.2m over the year. 
The decrease is largely attributable to the re-
measurement of liabilities relating to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme to recognise the 

changes in actuarial assumptions at the balance 
sheet date. This remains within the expected 
range and we are confident that this liability is 
well managed within the statutory arrangements. 

   

Page 97

Page 29 of 111



 
 

30 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Outlook 
Pre-Existing Financial Challenges 
 
The current Council Plan approved in February 
2022 includes a 5-year medium-term financial 
strategy and reserves strategy that are updated 
annually.  This gives greater alignment of the 
financial position and plans of the Council to the 
strategic priorities of thriving economy and 
places, a sustainable future and safe and healthy 
communities, as well as managing the risk 
inherent in providing a diverse range of services 
to a diverse community funded by numerous 
income streams. 
 
The finance strategy recognised a number of risks 
to be monitored, managed and where 
uncontrollable to be financially underwritten: 
• The broader economic environment, such as 

the impacts of movement in inflation, 
housing growth, council tax base and interest 

rates on our day-to-day costs, income and 
debt repayments; 

• Sustained inflationary pressures and cost of 
living increases putting pressure on staff 
costs, recruitment and retention and 
impacting on service resilience; 

• prolonged uncertainty around Central 
Government’s future decisions about local 
government financing, including a new 
funding model for adult social care; 

• dependency on locally collected Business 
Rates, placing greater importance on the 
need to maintain reserves to manage any 
volatility; 

• the results (financial and social) from our 
commercial investment activities; 

• post-pandemic social and health inequalities 
and the ability to catch up; and 

• designing and delivering sustainable delivery 
of Special Educational Needs services within 
the level of DSG funding.

 
 

 

Inflation 
 
The annual inflation rate in the UK has remained 
at round 10% since September 2022, in October 
it peaked to 11.1% which was the highest rate in 
over 40 years and has been prompted by the 
national and international political and economic 
environment. Current forecasts indicate that the 
prices are expected to fall sharply to around 3% 
by the end of 2023 but the current inflationary 
pressure represents significant and potentially 
fundamental challenges for the County Council, 
residents and communities of Warwickshire. 

 
Inflation will not only make providing our 
services more expensive but is also expected to 
increase the demand for council services from 
the most vulnerable in our communities. In 
addition to the direct cost of inflation, the rising 
cost of living and the National Living Wage will 
have an indirect impact on our cost base via the 
nationally negotiated annual pay award.

 
 
  

Page 98

Page 30 of 111



 
 

31 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Major Developments 
 
Two major developments that we brought 
forward in 2020/21 to support economic growth 
and Warwickshire’s recovery post the Covid-19 
Pandemic are in their second year of operation. 
 
Warwickshire Property and Development Group 
(WPDG) is a local authority trading company set 
up to deliver our policy objective of creating jobs 
and more homes across Warwickshire. At the 
end of the financial year WPDG reported 
operating losses before tax of £0.430m. The loss 
is due to overhead costs such as salaries, IT costs 
and legal and professional fees. This net loss 
position was anticipated, the first development 
project is now underway with the business plan 
forecasting the company to start generating a 
profit from 2024. Incurring a loss during the 
inception phase is normal for a new business 
and is not a cause for immediate concern. 
 
In September a joint venture partnership 
between WPDG, the Council and Countryside 

Partnerships PLC was approved. A significant 
increase in activity is in train with material 
investment planned as a number of sites come 
forward for development. 
 
The Warwickshire Recovery and Investment 
Fund has been set up to provide access to 
finance, on a repayable basis, that helps 
businesses in Warwickshire start, grow and 
scale-up; helps businesses locate in the county; 
and leverages additional resources for the 
county through investment and support for key 
growth businesses. 
 
The forecast level of demand for investment was 
reassessed at the end of 2022/23 resulting in the 
investment fund being reduced from £140m to 
£104m over the next four years and at the end 
of the 2022/23 financial year £11m of it has been 
approved by Cabinet

   

Page 99

Page 31 of 111



 
 

32 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Basis of preparation and 
presentation 
In considering this report, you should note that 
the comparison of spend against service budgets 
which we use internally to assess our financial 
performance is not directly comparable to the 
cost of services disclosed in the Statement of 
Accounts. This is mainly due to the accounting 
adjustments required to comply with reporting 
requirements, which do not impact on the 

amount of our spending to be met by local 
taxpayers, which is central to our in-year 
monitoring of our financial performance. The key 
differences relate to the way in which we account 
for items such as depreciation, impairment, 
reserves, provisions and carry-forwards. Each of 
these items is explained further in our accounting 
policies or the glossary. 

 
Core Financial Statements 
 

These comprise the four key pieces of information in the Statement of Accounts 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

Balance Sheet 

An accounting deficit of £80.0m for 2022/23 has 
been reported; the outturn position is an £8.9m 
deficit.  

An increase of £684.3m in County Council’s net 
assets as at 31 March 2023. 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year 
of providing services rather than the amount to be 
funded from taxation. The main factors in the move 
are capital depreciation, revaluation and pensions 
charges. 

The balance sheet shows the value of the assets 
and liabilities recognised by the County Council. At 
31 March 2023 the County Council’s net worth was 
£1,137.9m. 

Cash Flow Statement Movement in Reserves Statement 

A net cash inflow of £23.8m in 2022/23 in cash or 
cash equivalents. 

A decrease of £26.8 m in the County Council’s 
usable reserves, made up of a decrease of £16.5m 
in revenue reserves and £10.3m in capital 
reserves. 

This statement summarises the cash that has been 
paid to us and which we have paid to other 
organisations and individuals. 

This statement shows the movement in year on the 
different reserves held by the Council, analysed 
into usable reserves (i.e. those that can be used to 
fund spending or reduce taxation) and other 
reserves. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 100

Page 32 of 111



 
 

33 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

Statement of accounting policies 
This summarises the accounting rules and 
conventions we have used in preparing these 
financial statements. There have been no 
changes to our accounting policies during the 
year.  
 

Notes to the core financial statements 
The notes include more detail to support the 
information contained in the core financial 
statements as well as information on critical 
judgements and assumptions applied in the 
production of the accounts. 

 
Other sections of this Document 
 
As well as the Statement of Accounts for the 
County Council, this document includes separate 
sections for the Annual Governance Statement 
and the Statement of Accounts for the 
Warwickshire Pension Fund. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement describes the 
Council’s Governance Framework and system of 
internal control. It includes a review of the 
effectiveness of this system in the past year and 
identifies key risks for the Council to manage in 

the future. The Annual Governance Statement 
also covers the Warwickshire Pension Fund. 
 
The Warwickshire Pension Fund’s Statement of 
Accounts describes the Fund’s financial position 
and performance in 2022/23. While the County 
Council administers the Fund, the Fund’s 
accounts represent its activities on behalf of all its 
member organisations. Further information 
about the Fund can be found in Note 1 of that 
section.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rob Powell 

Strategic Director for Resources

Page 101

Page 33 of 111



 
 

34 Section A 
OFFICIAL  

 

Page 102

Page 34 of 111



 

 

 

 

OFFICIAL  

Warwickshire County Council 
 
 
 

Statement of Accounts 
 
 

 2022/23  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

                          
  

Page 103

Page 35 of 111



 
Section B - Page 1 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

We would welcome any comments or suggestions you have about this publication. Please contact Virginia Rennie, 
Strategic Finance, Resources Directorate, Warwickshire County Council. 
 

• Phone: 01926 412239 

• E-mail: vrennie@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 
You can also leave your comments on our website at www.warwickshire.gov.uk  
 
If this information is difficult to understand, we can provide it in another format, for example, in Braille, in large print, on 
audiotape, in another language or by talking with you. Please contact Gary Morris on 01926 412243. 

 
This document forms part of the Warwickshire County Council’s 2022/23 Statement of Accounts which also includes the 
Annual Governance Statement and the accounts for Warwickshire Pension Fund. The accounts for the Pension Fund 
are available at www.warwickshire.gov.uk

Page 104

Page 36 of 111



 
Section B - Page 2 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Contents 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report Page 5 

Statement of responsibilities  Page 11 

Core financial statements  

• Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  Page 12 

• Movement in Reserves Statement  Page 13 

• Balance Sheet  Page 14 

• Cash Flow Statement Page 15 

Statement of accounting policies  

• Accruals of income and expenditure Page 16 

• Assets held for sale 

• Apprenticeship levy 

Page 16 

Page 16 

• Cash and cash equivalents Page 16 

• Contingent assets Page 16 

• Contingent liabilities Page 17 

• Employee benefits Page 17 

• Events after the Balance Sheet date Page 17 

• Exceptional items, prior period adjustments and changes to accounting policies 

• Fair value 

Page 17 

Page 18 

• Financial assets Page 18 

• Financial liabilities 

• Going concern 

Page 19 

Page 19 

• Grants 

• Group accounts 

Page 19 

Page 19 

• Heritage assets Page 19 

• Income from selling non-current assets Page 20 

• Intangible assets Page 20 

• Inventories Page 20 

• Investment property Page 20 

• Leases Page 20 

• Minimum Revenue Provision Page 21 

• Overheads and support service costs 

• Pooled budgets 

Page 21 

Page 21 

• Property, plant and equipment 

• Property, plant and equipment – Infrastructure Assets 

Page 21 

Page 23 

• Provisions Page 23 

• Reserves Page 24 

• Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute Page 24 

Page 105

Page 37 of 111



 
Section B - Page 3 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

• Schools and school assets Page 24 

• VAT 

 

Notes to the core financial statements 

 

Notes relating to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 

• Note 1: Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the notes to the statement including income 

and expenditure by nature  

• Note 2: Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 

Page 24 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26 

 

Page 30 

• Note 3: Significant items of income and expenditure and restatements of prior year figures  

• Note 4: Other operating expenditure 

• Note 5: Financing and investment income and expenditure 

• Note 6: Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure 

 

Notes relating to the Movement in Reserves Statement 

Page 32 

Page 32 

Page 32 

Page 33 

 

 

 

• Note 7: Transfer to/from earmarked reserves Page 33 

Notes Relating to the Balance Sheet 
 

• Note 8: Property, plant and equipment Page 34 

• Note 9: School property, plant and equipment Page 36 

• Note 10: Heritage assets Page 37 

• Note 11: Investment properties Page 37 

• Note 12: Intangible assets Page 37 

• Note 13: Financial instruments 

• Note 14: Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments 

Page 38 

Page 41 

• Note 15: Debtors Page 44 

• Note 16: Cash and cash equivalents Page 44 

• Note 17: Creditors Page 44 

• Note 18: Provisions Page 44 

• Note 19: Usable reserves Page 45 

• Note 20: Unusable reserves Page 45 

Notes relating to the Cash Flow Statement 
 

• Note 21: Cash Flow Statement – operating activities Page 48 

• Note 22: Cash Flow Statement – investing activities Page 49 

• Note 23: Cash Flow Statement – financing activities Page 49 

Other Notes to the Accounts 
 

• Note 24: Grant income  

• Note 25: Accounting standards issued that have not yet been adopted 

Page 50 

Page 52 

• Note 26: Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 

uncertainty 

Page 52 

• Note 27: Capital expenditure and capital financing 

• Note 28: Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

• Note 29: Dedicated Schools’ Grant 

Page 54 

Page 55 

Page 55 

Page 106

Page 38 of 111



 
Section B - Page 4 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

• Note 30: Events after the Balance Sheet date 

• Note 31: External audit costs 

• Note 32: Leases 

• Note 33: Contingent assets 

• Note 34: Contingent liabilities 

• Note 35: Members’ allowances 

Page 58 

Page 58 

Page 58 

Page 59 

Page 59 

Page 59 

• Note 36: Officers’ remuneration and termination benefits Page 59 

• Note 37: Pension schemes Page 61 

• Note 38: Pooled budgets with health Page 67 

• Note 39: Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool Page 68 

• Note 40: Related parties and associated parties Page 69 

The Firefighters’ Pension Fund Page 72 

Glossary Page 74 

Page 107

Page 39 of 111



 
Section B - Page 5 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
  

Page 108

Page 40 of 111



 
Section B - Page 6 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
  

Page 109

Page 41 of 111



 
Section B - Page 7 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
  

Page 110

Page 42 of 111



 
Section B - Page 8 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
  

Page 111

Page 43 of 111



 
Section B - Page 9 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
 
  

Page 112

Page 44 of 111



 
Section B - Page 10 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
Independent auditor's report to the members of Warwickshire County 
Council 
  

Page 113

Page 45 of 111



 
Section B - Page 11 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Statement of responsibilities for the statement of accounts 
 

This section explains our responsibilities for our financial affairs and how we make sure we carry out these 

responsibilities properly, in line with the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2022 and the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

Responsibilities of the Council 
 

We do the following: 

• make sure that one of our officers is responsible for managing our financial affairs. In this Council, the 

Strategic Director for Resources is responsible for this; 

• manage our affairs to make sure we use our resources efficiently and effectively and protect our assets; and 

• approve the statement of accounts. 

 

Responsibilities of the Strategic Director for Resources 
 

As the Strategic Director for Resources, I am responsible for preparing our statement of accounts. These accounts 

must present a true and fair view of our financial position, including our income and spending for the year. 
 

In preparing our statement of accounts, I have: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; 

• made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; and 

• followed the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 

I have also: 

• kept proper accounting records which are up to date; and 

• taken steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Warwickshire County 

Council at 31 March 2023 and the income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2023. The unaudited draft 

accounts were authorised for issue on 31 May 2023. These will then be audited and presented at a meeting of the 

Council, expected to be December 2023. The approved accounts will then be authorised for issue on that date.  

 

 

 

 

 
Rob Powell 

Strategic Director for Resources Date: 31 May 2023 

 

 

 

  

Page 114

Page 46 of 111



 
Section B - Page 12 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 

Gross 

expenditure 

£m

 Gross income                                       

£m 

Net 

expenditure 

£m

Summary of revenue spending

Gross 

expenditure

  £m

 Gross income        

 £m 

Net 

expenditure

£m

Money spent on services

138.4 -40.3 98.1 ~ Communities Group Inc Fire 175.8 -36.1 139.7

553.4 -120.7 432.7 ~ People Group 592.2 -114.8 477.4

101.8 -24.6 77.2 ~ Resources Group 99.5 -18.9 80.6

181.8 -268.3 -86.5 ~ Schools 188.7 -281.0 -92.3

7.4 -111.9 -104.5 ~ Other Services 6.9 -54.7 -47.8

0.0 -2.2 -2.2 ~ non distributed costs 0.0 -2.3 -2.3

982.7 -567.9 414.8 Net cost of services (total continuing services) 1,063.1 -507.8 555.3

21.2 0.0 21.2 ~  Other operating expenditure (note 4) 45.4 0.0 45.4

57.0 -20.6 36.4 ~  Financing and investment income and expenditure (note 5) 58.9 -26.7 32.2

0.0 -553.9 -553.9
~  Taxation and non-specific grant income and 

     expenditure (note 6) 
0.0 -552.9 -552.9

1,060.9            -1,142.4 -81.5 Surplus (-) or deficit on the provision of services 1,167.4 -1,087.4 80.0

Items that will not be reclassified to the surplus (- ) /deficit on 

the provision of services

 -103.5
~ Surplus (-) or deficit on revaluation of property, plant 

    and equipment
 -60.0

0.0
~ Surplus (-) or deficit from investments in equity instruments 

    designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
-0.5

 -221.9 ~ Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset)  -703.8

  -325.4 Other comprehensive income and expenditure   -764.3

       

  -406.9 Total comprehensive income and expenditure   -684.3

2021/22 (Restated) 2022/23

 
 

To arrive at the figures for each Directorate in the table above we adjust the income and expenditure figures used 

internally to report our financial performance, as required by the Code and regulations. A reconciliation of these 

adjustments and more details as to what each adjustment relates to are shown in the Expenditure and Funding 

Analysis (Note 1) and the Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations (Note 2) in 

conjunction with the Movement in Reserves Statement.  For administrative reasons the Dedicated Schools Grant 

(DSG) is managed centrally as a single grant and shown within Schools in the CIES above.  However, £105 million 

was used to fund education related services provided by the Council in 2022/23 (£82.4 million in 2021/22). 

 

The restatement of the 2021/22 figures is described in Note 3. 

 

Figures for income, gains and surpluses are shown as negative (-) above. 

 
  

Page 115

Page 47 of 111



 
Section B - Page 13 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

Movement in Reserves Statement - 2022/23

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
(U

ne
ar

m
ar

ke
d 

Fu
nd

s)

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
E

ar
m

ar
ke

d 

R
es

er
ve

s

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
C

ap
ita

l F
un

d

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 

R
es

er
ve

s

C
ap

ita
l R

ec
ei

pt
s 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s

To
ta

l A
ut

ho
ri

ty
 R

es
er

ve
s

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Balance at 31 March 2022 26.0 228.6 1.0 255.6 3.5 29.9 289.0 164.6 453.6

Movement in Reserves during 2022/23

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure -80.0 0.0 0.0 -80.0 0.0 0.0 -80.0 764.3 684.3

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 

basis under regulations (note 2)
63.3 0.0 0.2 63.5 -3.5 -6.8 53.2 -53.2 0.0

Net Increase / Decrease (-) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves
-16.7 0.0 0.2 -16.5 -3.5 -6.8 -26.8 711.1 684.3

Transfers to / from (-) Earmarked Reserves (note 7) 16.7 -16.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Increase / Decrease (-) in Year 0.0 -16.7 0.2 -16.5 -3.5 -6.8 -26.8 711.1 684.3

Balance at 31 March 2023 26.0 211.9 1.2 239.1 0.0 23.1 262.2 875.7 1,137.9  

 

Movement in Reserves Statement - 2021/22

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
(U

ne
ar

m
ar

ke
d 

Fu
nd

s)

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
E

ar
m

ar
ke

d 

R
es

er
ve

s

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
C

ap
ita

l F
un

d

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 

R
es

er
ve

s

C
ap

ita
l R

ec
ei

pt
s 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s

To
ta

l A
ut

ho
ri

ty
 R

es
er

ve
s

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Balance at 31 March 2021 21.4 230.5 0.7 252.6 17.7 3.8 274.1 -227.4 46.7

Movement in Reserves during 2021/22

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 81.5 0.0 0.0 81.5 0.0 0.0 81.5 325.4 406.9

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 

basis under regulations (note 2)
-78.8 0.0 0.3 -78.5 -14.2 26.1 -66.6 66.6 0.0

Net Increase / Decrease (-) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves
2.7 0.0 0.3 3.0 -14.2 26.1 14.9 392.0 406.9

Transfers to / from (-) Earmarked Reserves (note 7) 1.9 -1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Increase / Decrease (-) in Year 4.6 -1.9 0.3 3.0 -14.2 26.1 14.9 392.0 406.9

Balance at 31 March 2022 26.0 228.6 1.0 255.6 3.5 29.9 289.0 164.6 453.6  
 

 
 
 
  

Page 116

Page 48 of 111



 
Section B - Page 14 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2023 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023 Notes

£ m £ m

1,333.2    Property, plant and equipment 1,392.5 8

5.0    Heritage assets 5.2 10

5.7    Investment property 13.4 11

1.1    Intangible assets 0.3 12

1,345.0  Total fixed assets 1,411.4

14.2    Long-term investments 24.7 13

3.3    Long-term debtors 4.6 13

1,362.5  Total long-term assets 1,440.7

  Current assets  

312.2    Short-term investments 281.3 13

0.6    Inventories                    0.7

113.9    Short-term debtors 111.8 15

161.5    Cash and cash equivalents 185.3 16

588.2 Total current assets 579.1

 Current liabilities

-5.3 -5.4 18

-159.4    Short-term creditors -169.1 17

-5.1    Short-term grants received in advance -17.2 24

-169.8 Total current liabilities -191.7

418.4  Current assets less current liabilities 387.4

-2.2    Long-term provisions -2.2 18

-321.4    Long-term borrowing -321.4 13

-102.6    Long-term grants received in advance -110.7 24

-901.1    Liability related to defined benefit pension scheme -255.9 37

-1,327.3  Long-term liabilities -690.2

453.6  Net assets 1,137.9

289.0 Usable reserves 262.2 19

164.6 Unusable reserves 875.7 20

453.6 Total reserves 1,137.9

   Short-term provisions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Rob Powell 
Strategic Director for Resources 

 

  

Page 117

Page 49 of 111



 
Section B - Page 15 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Cash Flow Statement 
 

31 March 2022 Notes 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

81.5 Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services -80.0

33.6
Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services for noncash 

movements
21 161.4

-111.9
Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 

that are investing and financing activities
21 -100.8

3.2 Net Cash flows from Operating activities -19.4

-40.2 Net Cash flows from Investing Activities 22 43.3

0.0 Net Cash flows from Financing Activities 23 0.0

-37.0 Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23.8  
 

31 March 2022 Note 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

198.5 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 16 161.5

161.5 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 16 185.3

-37.0 Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23.8  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118

Page 50 of 111



 
Section B - Page 16 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Statement of accounting policies 

 

This section summarises the accounting rules and conventions we have used in preparing these financial statements. 

 
General 

The content, layout and general rules we used to prepare these accounts comply with the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting 2022/23 (‘the Code’) issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA). The CIPFA code is prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which have been 

adopted as the basis for public sector accounting in the UK. 

 

Accruals of income and expenditure 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place. This means that income from the sale of goods or the provision 

of services is recorded in our accounts when the goods or services are transferred to the recipient in accordance with 

the performance obligations in the contract. Expenditure is recorded in our accounts when services are received, 

rather than when we actually make a payment, and supplies are recorded as expenditure when we use them or as 

inventories on the Balance Sheet until that point. Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is 

accounted for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 

instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. Where services or goods have been 

received/delivered, but invoices have not been received/raised, a debtor or creditor accrual for the relevant amount is 

recorded to ensure that income/expenditure is captured in the correct financial year. Accruals recorded are subject to 

a de minimis level of £1,000 for revenue income/expenditure and £6,000 for capital expenditure. We do not expect the 

effect of this de minimis level to be material to the overall position. 

 

Assets held for sale 

Where we have decided to sell an asset and the asset is being actively marketed with a sale expected within 12 

months of making that decision, it is categorised as a current asset held for sale. We value these at the lower of 

carrying amount and fair value less disposal costs. Those assets that we do not expect to sell within 12 months are 

not classed as assets held for sale and instead are valued at their previous use. 

 

Apprenticeship Levy 

The cost of the Levy is recognised as a direct cost of employment in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement (CIES) when it is paid to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC). When funds are transferred from 

the Government's Digital Apprenticeship Account to an approved training provider a training expense up to the value 

of the training provided, with a corresponding entry for a government grant, will be recognised in the CIES against the 

service benefiting from the training. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash is money held in current bank accounts and overdrafts that are repayable on demand and are integral to daily 

cash flow management. Money held in call accounts and short-term funds invested for a term of three months or less 

are classified as cash equivalents because they are readily available to be converted into cash. 

 

Contingent assets 

We identify contingent assets where an event has taken place that gives the authority a probable asset whose 

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of some uncertain future event not wholly within 

our control. Our contingent assets disclosure is shown in note 33. These are not included in our Balance Sheet. 

 

  

Page 119

Page 51 of 111



 
Section B - Page 17 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Contingent liabilities 

We identify contingent liabilities where either: 
 

• a possible obligation has arisen from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of some uncertain future event not wholly within our control; or 

• a present obligation may arise from past event but is not recognised because either it is not probable that an 

outflow of resources will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 

Our contingent liabilities disclosure is shown in note 34. These are not included in our Balance Sheet. 

 

Employee benefits 

Benefits payable during employment 

The accounts reflect entitlements that have been earned by employees, such as salaries and wages, as a 

consequence of the service completed by them as at 31 March each year even if we would never normally make 

payments for them, such as annual leave and time-off in lieu not yet taken. These are accrued for in the cost of services 

in the CIES. 
 

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision to terminate an officer’s employment before normal 

retirement age or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits are recognised 

immediately as an expense to the service in the CIES at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the 

offer or when we recognise costs of a restructuring. 
 

Post-employment benefits 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment we offer retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually 

be payable until the employee retires, we account for post-employment benefits in the CIES at the time that employees 

earn their future entitlement. 
 

Our employees are members of four different pension schemes, and we participate in one compensation scheme: 
 

• the Local Government Pension Scheme; 

• the Teachers’ Pension Scheme; 

• the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme and the Firefighters’ Injury Awards Scheme; and 

• the National Health Service Pension Scheme. 
 

All four pension schemes provide members with pensions and other benefits related to their pay and length of service. 

Details of these schemes, our accounting policies in relation to them and their impact on the financial statements are 

shown in note 37. 

 

Events after the Balance Sheet date 

We consider any material events that occur between the date of the Balance Sheet and the date the accounts are 

authorised for issue by the Strategic Director for Resources.  

 

Exceptional items, prior period adjustments and changes to accounting policies 

Exceptional items are material items of income or expenditure that are disclosed separately in the CIES to aid 

understanding of our financial performance. 
 

Prior period adjustments are made where there are material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes 

in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Where a change to accounting policies is made it is applied 

retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for earlier years as 

if the policy had always applied.  

 

 

Page 120

Page 52 of 111



 
Section B - Page 18 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Fair value 
We value several classes of our assets at fair value. We define this as the price that would be received to sell an asset 

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In 2022/23 

fair value applies to non-operational property, plant and equipment classified as surplus assets, investment properties, 

assets held for sale and financial instruments. 
 

We use appropriate valuation techniques, maximising the use of relevant known data and thereby minimising the use 

of estimates or subjective valuations. We assess the level of uncertainty in our valuations by assigning our assets into 

three categories: 
 

• Level 1 – quoted prices of identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 – unobservable inputs. 
 

Further detail is shown in notes 11 and 13.  
 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are classified based on our business model for holding them and their cash flow characteristics. There 

are three main classes: 
 

• amortised cost; 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); and 

• fair value through other comprehensive income and expenditure (FVOCI) – designated equity instruments. 
 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when we become a party to the 

contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently 

measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to CIES for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of 

the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The amount presented in the Balance Sheet is 

the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest). 
 

The fair value measurements of FVPL assets are based on the following techniques: 

• instruments with quoted market prices – the market price; and 

• other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis. 
 

FVPL assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised 

as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. A financial instrument revaluation reserve exists 

to hold qualifying gains and losses on FVPL assets (note 20). Those that do not qualify impact the General Fund and 

are held in an earmarked volatility reserve (note 7).  
 

Equity instruments designated as FVOCI are those which are not held in order to give rise to contractual cashflows 

and are not held for trading. They are valued at fair value using the earnings multiple valuation method or at cost if 

suitable information is not available or appropriate. Movements in fair value are recognised in the CIES in Other 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure and reflected in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve. These gains 

or losses are only realised in the General Fund when the assets are sold. Interest is recognised in the CIES is the 

amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 

We recognise expected credit losses on assets held at amortised cost or FVOCI either on a 12-month or lifetime basis 

as appropriate. Impairment losses are calculated to reflect our expectation that future cash flows might not take place 

because the debtor defaults on their obligations. Where risk has significantly increased since an instrument was  

recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not significantly increased or remains low, losses 

are assessed on the basis of 12-month expectations. For further details on the impairment of current debtors 

(allowances for bad debts) see note 15.  These are shown in service expenditure in the CIES. 

 

Page 121

Page 53 of 111



 
Section B - Page 19 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when we become party to the contractual provisions of a 

financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently carried at their amortised cost. 

Annual charges to the CIES for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the 

effective rate of interest for the instrument in the year it was due. For our borrowings, this means that the amount 

presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to 

the CIES is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 

Trade creditors are due within one year and carrying value is deemed to equate to fair value. 

 

Going concern 

Local authorities cannot be created or dissolved without statutory prescription. The provisions of the Code on going 

concern reflect the economic and statutory environment in which local authorities operate and hence these accounts 

are prepared on the basis that the functions of the authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. 

 

Grants 

Grant income is recorded in the accounts when we have reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and 

that we will comply with any conditions attached to them. They are only shown in the accounts if we are certain that 

we will receive them. General grants we receive are shown as Taxation and non-specific grant income in the CIES. 

Revenue grants we receive to pay for spending on specific service activities are shown as income for the relevant 

service area when we are confident that any grant conditions have been met. Where revenue grants have conditions 

outstanding the grant is held as a receipt in advance; if the conditions are met but the grant remains unspent it is held 

in an earmarked reserve. 
 

Capital grants are credited to the CIES when any relevant conditions governing their use have been met. This income 

is then reversed out and charged to the Capital Adjustment Account upon use, so the level of council tax is not affected. 

Unused non-conditional capital grants are held in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve. Before the conditions are 

met, capital grants are held on the Balance Sheet as a receipt in advance. 

 

Group accounts 

We have assessed a number of entities, including our wholly owned subsidiaries, in line with the Code and accounting 

standards. Having due regard to materiality of effects on the financial statements and other qualitative considerations 

that may affect the understanding by the readers of the accounts, we have not established a requirement to produce 

group accounts. Further details of all our associated companies, subsidiary company holdings and other related party 

details are outlined in note 40. In addition, we have accounted for schools’ income and expenditure, assets and 

liabilities in the single entity financial statements rather than produce group accounts, in accordance with the Code. 

 

Heritage assets 

Our heritage assets are held for their cultural, environmental or historic associations, making their preservation for 

future generations important. We value our museum collections and valuables at the Courts, Judges’ House and Shire 

Hall at their insurance valuations. The Golden Tower of Leaves and our Waller of Woodcote archive collection of family 

and estate letters and deeds at County Records are valued at cost. It would not be cost effective to undertake 

revaluations for all other County Record documents and any valuations would not have a material impact on the 

accounts. Operational heritage assets used in the provision of services or for other activities are accounted for under 

other asset classes elsewhere in the Balance Sheet. Heritage assets are valued at insurance cost unless our valuer 

believes conventional methods relevant to their classification are more appropriate. Any gains on reclassification are 

taken to the Revaluation Reserve. More detailed information on the heritage assets we hold is available on our website. 

 

 

Page 122

Page 54 of 111



 
Section B - Page 20 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Income from selling non-current assets 

We use the income from selling non-current assets (buildings, vehicles and land) to meet part of the cost of new capital 

spending or to repay borrowing. We show the gain or loss on the sale of assets in the CIES. This is the difference 

between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of an asset after allowing for costs relating to the sale of the asset. 

We take all costs of disposal incurred in a year to the CIES, regardless of whether all the proceeds of the related sale 

have been received. We use up to 4% of a capital receipt to meet these disposal costs. 
 

The carrying value of the asset (the net book value after depreciation) and the sale proceeds are also reversed in the 

Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) and transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and Capital Receipts 

Reserve respectively, so the level of council tax is not affected. 
 

Where we have the right to capital receipts but have not yet received the cash payment, the transactions in the CIES 

are unaffected.  However, instead of recognising the sales proceeds we instead recognise a Deferred Capital Receipt, 

which cannot be used to pay for our capital expenditure until the cash is received. 

 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are non-financial non-current assets that do not have physical substance and are controlled by the 

authority through custody or legal rights (such as software licences). We treat intangible assets in the same way as 

other non-current assets. We gradually reduce the value of intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their useful 

life (up to 10 years) to reflect the consumption of the economic or service benefit and charge this to the CIES. Intangible 

assets are valued at amortised historic cost. 

 

Inventories 

Inventories are materials or supplies that will be consumed in producing goods or providing services. The highways, 

roads and transport services stocks are valued at the cost of replacing them. Other stocks are valued at the cost we 

paid for them. These methods of valuing stocks are different from the methods set out by the Code. This does not 

have a material effect on the financial statements.  

 

Investment property 

Investment property assets are those held for rental purposes or capital value appreciation or both. They are not used 

for the delivery of services. Such assets are initially measured at cost. Investment property is not depreciated but is 

revalued at fair value every year. Gains and losses on revaluation, as well as disposal and/or rental income, are shown 

in the Financing and investment income and expenditure line in the CIES. Our valuation techniques in relation to 

investment properties are as outlined in note 26. 

 

Leases 

Leases can be designated as either finance leases or operating leases. Finance leases are those where substantially 

all the risks and rewards relating to the leased asset transfer to the lessee. All other leases are operating leases. 
 

Finance leases  

We deal with finance leases where we are the lessee in the same way as other capital spending. We include these as 

assets in the Balance Sheet and charge depreciation on them. Rentals are apportioned between a charge for the 

acquisition of the asset (recognised as a liability in the Balance Sheet at the start of the lease and written down annually 

as rent becomes payable) and a finance charge made each year to the CIES. 
 

We do not have material finance leases where we are the lessor. 
 

Operating leases 

The vast majority of our lease rental payments (as lessee) are assessed to be operating leases and are charged 

evenly to the CIES over the life of the lease. 
 

Page 123

Page 55 of 111



 
Section B - Page 21 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Where we grant an operating lease over a property or item of plant or equipment, the asset is retained on the Balance 

Sheet and the rental income is credited to the CIES as it is due. 
 

We do not disclose contingent rents as they are not material to the financial statements. 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision  

We are required to make an annual contribution from revenue for the repayment of our debt as approved in our 

Treasury Management Strategy. This is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). We calculate MRP on a 

weighted average straight-line basis using the average remaining useful life of our asset portfolio over the two asset 

categories of: 
 

• land, buildings and infrastructure; and 

• vehicles, plant and equipment. 

 

Overheads and support service costs 

All support service costs are held within the directorate within which they are managed.  

 

Pooled budgets 

We are the host authority to a number of pooled budget arrangements. These are joint arrangements solely for the 

purposes of working together with other public sector bodies and which do not create separate entities. We have 

reported on those arrangements showing the total pooled resources and expenditure including the nature of those 

arrangements in the notes to the accounts. We have accounted for in our income, expenditure, assets and liabilities 

in our financial statements, only that where we are the commissioning body. This will include amounts owed to or 

owed by the other parties in the pooled budget arrangement to the authority where it is the commissioning body. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

Assets that have a physical substance, are held for use in the production or supply of services and that are expected 

to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment (PPE). The accounting 

policies specific to Infrastructure assets are set out separately below. 
 

Recognition 

Our spending on buying, creating or improving PPE is classed as capital spending provided that it is probable that the 

future economic benefits or service associated with the item will flow to us and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. Spending that does not provide a significant benefit in terms of value, asset life, or service performance or 

which falls below our de minimis level of £6,000 is charged to our revenue account in full in the year it occurs. 
 

Measurement 

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to bringing the asset to 

the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended. Assets are valued on 

the basis set out by CIPFA and in line with the Statements of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes issued by 

the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. Our valuation process is led by the Council’s Strategic Finance team in 

collaboration with the Strategic Assets Management team. External valuers are commissioned on a multi-year contract 

basis. 
 

The closing balances on 31 March 2023 were determined in the following ways: 
 

• Operational land and buildings are included in the Balance Sheet at their current value based on their existing 

use less an annual charge for depreciation. However, where there is insufficient market valuation evidence, for 

example schools, assets are included in the Balance Sheet at a depreciated replacement cost; 

• Surplus assets are those which we do not use in our day-to-day work and which are not likely to be disposed 

of in the next twelve months. We include these assets in the Balance Sheet at fair value, based on highest and 

best use.  These assets are revalued every year. 

Page 124

Page 56 of 111



 
Section B - Page 22 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

• We include infrastructure assets, such as roads and bridges and community assets (such as country parks and 

open spaces), vehicles and equipment in the Balance Sheet at the amount they cost when brought into use 

less an annual charge for depreciation. These assets are valued in this way because there is no meaningful 

market data available to calculate an existing use value; and 

• Assets under construction are held in the Balance Sheet at the cost incurred on their production to date. When 

the asset is deemed operationally complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate asset class shown 

above and depreciation begins. 
 

We revalue operational PPE assets held at a value other than depreciated historic cost annually to ensure their 

carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at year end. 
 

When asset values rise above the amount we paid for them we add the difference to the Revaluation Reserve.  When 

asset values go down, the reduction is charged to any available Revaluation Reserve balance held for that asset, with 

the remainder being charged to the relevant service line in the CIES. This charge is then reversed out in the MIRS so 

that there is no impact on council tax. 
 

Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year-end to identify whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where 

indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the 

shortfall. The accounting treatment of impairment losses is the same as that for revaluation losses shown above. 
 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is an accounting estimate used to spread the cost of an asset over its useful economic life. We charge 

depreciation on buildings over our valuer’s estimate of their useful economic life (between 5 and 65 years), on roads 

and bridges over 30 years, and on vehicles and equipment over their own useful lives (between 3 and 20 years for 

vehicles and between 3 and 30 years for equipment). 
 

The cost of depreciation is calculated by the following methodology: 
 

• Our new assets are depreciated from the start of the financial year after they become operationally complete; 

• Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis meaning that an asset’s value falls equally each year 

throughout its life. If the gross value or remaining life of the asset changes due to expenditure, impairment or 

revaluation, the depreciation charge will change in the following year; and 

• We generally charge depreciation on buildings as a single asset. However, if we determine that the value of 

major components within an asset are material with respect to the overall value of that asset, and that the 

lifetime of these components is significantly shorter than the remaining useful economic life of the asset, the 

major component is depreciated separately. 
 

We do not charge depreciation on land we own, as it does not have a limited useful life, nor on investment properties 

or assets held for sale. Similarly, heritage assets are generally assessed to have infinite lives and so are not 

depreciated. 
 

The estimated useful economic lives of our land and buildings are assessed by our valuers as part of the revaluation 

of these assets. 
 

Derecognition 

Assets are derecognised when they are replaced, sold or no longer owned. The amount of the asset written out is the 

carrying value (including any revaluations and accumulated depreciation). This leaves no residual value relating to the 

asset. Assets that have been fully depreciated for 5 years are derecognised unless there is evidence that they are still 

in existence.  When derecognition occurs, the carrying value derecognised and the proceeds received are added to 

the calculation of the gain/loss on disposal. This is charged to the CIES and subsequently reversed out in the MIRS 

so that there is no impact on the General Fund. 

 

Page 125

Page 57 of 111



 
Section B - Page 23 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 

Property, plant and equipment – Infrastructure Assets 

Infrastructure assets include carriageways, footways and cycle tracks, structures (e.g. bridges), street lighting, street 

furniture (e.g. illuminated traffic signals, bollards), traffic management systems and land which together form a single 

integrated network.  
 

Recognition  

Expenditure on the acquisition or replacement of components of the network is capitalised on an accrual basis, 

provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the authority and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
 

Measurement  

Infrastructure assets are generally measured at depreciated historical cost. However, this is a modified form of 

historical cost – opening balances for infrastructure assets were originally recorded in balance sheets at amounts of 

capital undischarged for sums borrowed as at 1 April 1994, which was deemed at that time to be historical cost.  

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by the carrying amount of the asset being written down 

to the recoverable amount.  
 

Depreciation  
 

Depreciation is provided on the parts of the highways network infrastructure assets that are subject to deterioration or 
depletion and by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. Depreciation is charged 
on a straight-line basis.  
 

Annual depreciation is the depreciation amount allocated each year. The authority uses a useful economic life of 30 
years for infrastructure assets.  
 

Disposals and derecognition  
 

When a component of the network is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the component in the 

Balance Sheet is written off to the ‘Other operating expenditure’ line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against 

the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  
 

The written-off amounts of disposals are not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully 

provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are transferred to the capital adjustment 

account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

The authority has determined in accordance with Regulation 30M of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 

Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2022 that the carrying amounts to be derecognised for infrastructure 

assets when there is replacement expenditure is nil. 

 

Provisions 

We recognise provisions at the balance sheet date where a past event gives rise to a probable future outflow of 

resources (payment)”. For provisions to be recognised they need to meet three tests: 
 

• they must be the result of a past event; 

• a reliable estimate can be made; and 

• there must be a clear responsibility for the Council to make a future payment because of the past event. 
 

Provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the CIES when we become aware that it is probable a payment 

will be required. The provision is based on the best estimate of the likely settlement. When payments are made, they 

are charged to the provision already set up in the Balance Sheet. 

 

 

Page 126

Page 58 of 111



 
Section B - Page 24 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 

Reserves 

We keep reserves to pay for spending on projects we will carry out in future years, to protect us against unexpected 

events and to manage the financial risk of the uncertainty we face. Reserves include ‘earmarked reserves’ which are 

set aside for certain policy purposes and other ‘general reserves’ which represent resources set aside for purposes 

such as general events and managing our cash flow and financial risks. By law, schools are entitled to keep any of 

their budgets they have not spent. These amounts are shown separately from other reserves. 
 

Reserves are created by appropriating amounts from the Council’s General Fund in the MIRS. When expenditure is 

financed from a reserve, the expenditure itself is charged to the appropriate service line in the CIES. The reserve is 

then appropriated back via the MIRS so that there is no net charge against council tax. Some reserves hold unspent 

funding which can only be applied in specific ways, such as the Capital Grants Unapplied and Capital Receipts 

Reserve. 
 

Other ‘unusable reserves’ are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, 

and retirement and employee benefits: 
 

• the capital accounting system requires us to maintain a Revaluation Reserve to reflect unrealised gains on 

non-current assets, and a Capital Adjustment Account to manage timing differences between their usage and 

financing; 

• we maintain a Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve to recognise proceeds from the sale of assets where we 

have a right to the capital receipts but have not received cash payment; 

• we maintain a Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve to hold qualifying gains and losses on FVPL assets; 

• we maintain an Accumulated Absences Reserve to hold the amount we have to accrue for post-employment 

benefits such as annual leave earned but untaken at the year-end so as not to affect the level of Council Tax;  

• we maintain a Collection Fund Adjustment Account which holds the difference between the amounts required 

to be shown in the CIES for council tax and business rates and that required by legislation to be taken against 

the General Fund; 

• we maintain a Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Adjustment Account to hold deficits on DSG as these cannot 

be offset against General Fund Reserves and must be carried forward and met from future DSG funding in line 

with current legislation and statutory requirements; and 

• we maintain a Pensions Reserve to hold the difference between any increase in the accounting cost of pensions 

in the year and the statutory figure chargeable in any year, which is the contribution made by the authority. 

 

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 

We undertake some capital spending during the year that does not result in the creation of an asset we own. Any 

money we spend this way must be charged to the CIES but be funded from capital resources, and so, we make an 

adjustment in the MIRS equal to the expenditure to reverse this to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

Schools and schools’ assets 

The balance of control for local authority maintained schools, foundation, voluntary aided and voluntary controlled 

schools are all deemed to lie with the local authority. We therefore recognise schools’ assets, liabilities, reserves and 

cash flows in our financial statements as if they were transactions, cash flow and balances of the authority. Any asset 

provided by a third party and consumed in the provision of an education service with schools or donated to the school 

will be treated as a donated asset. School assets are derecognised in full on the date that a school transfers to 

academy status. These are disposals for nil consideration. These losses on disposal/transfer are shown in the Other 

operating income and expenditure line in the CIES. 

 

VAT 

Page 127

Page 59 of 111



 
Section B - Page 25 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from HMRC. VAT receivable is 

excluded from income. We are subject to Partial Exemption: as long as the VAT we claim on purchases used to 

generate exempt income is less than 5% of all VAT claimed on purchases in the year, we can claim all our VAT back 

in full. 

 
Note on Roundings 
Individual tables presented within disclosures may not sum due to roundings. This does not reflect any inaccuracy or 
error. 

Page 128

Page 60 of 111



 
Section B - Page 26 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

Note 1: Expenditure and Funding Analysis and associated notes  
 
The purpose of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate to council tax payers how the funding available 
to the authority (i.e. grants, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in 
comparison with those resources consumed and earned by the authority in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is 
presented more fully in the CIES. 
 

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to the 

General Fund 

£m

 Adjustments 

Between the 

Funding and 

Accounting Basis                                       

£m 

Net expenditure in 

the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement 

£m

Summary of revenue spending

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to the 

General Fund 

£m

 Adjustments Between 

the Funding and 

Accounting Basis                                       

£m 

Net expenditure in the 

Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure 

Statement 

£m

Money spent on services

75.7 22.4 98.1 ~ Communities Directorate 104.6 35.1 139.7

411.3 21.4 432.7 ~ People Directorate 432.8 44.6 477.4

70.0 7.2 77.2 ~ Resources Directorate 62.7 17.9 80.6

-93.1 6.7 -86.5 ~ Schools -99.0 6.7 -92.3

-141.8 37.3 -104.5 ~ Corporate Services and Resourcing -133.6 85.8 -47.8

0.0 -2.2 -2.2 ~ Non-distributed costs 0.0 -2.3 -2.3

322.0 92.8 414.8 Net cost of services 367.5 187.8 555.3

-322.2 -174.1 -496.3 ~ Other income and expenditure -346.0 -129.3 -475.3

-0.2 -81.3 -81.5 Surplus (-) or deficit on the provision of services 21.5 58.5 80.0

-2.8 2.8

DSG Deficit in Year Transferred to DSG Adjustment 

Account - adjustment between funding and accounting 

basis

-5.0 5.0

-3.0 -78.5 Transferred (to) / from General Fund Balances 16.5 63.5

252.6 Opening General Fund Balances 255.6

3.0   
Less/Plus Surplus or (Deficit) on General Fund Balance 

in Year
-16.5

255.6  Closing General Fund Balance 239.1

2021/22 (Restated) 2022/23

 
 
The General Fund balances above include a significant proportion of earmarked reserves including those held by 
schools. For more details and information see the MIRS and note 2 to the accounts. 
 
The analysis of the money spent on services used in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis are those reported to the 
Cabinet as part of quarterly budget monitoring and year end reporting.  
  

Page 129

Page 61 of 111



 
Section B - Page 27 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Notes to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of the main adjustments to the net expenditure chargeable to the General 
Fund Balances to arrive at amounts in the CIES. The relevant transfers between reserves are explained in the MIRS. 
 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at  the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Amounts

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(a)          

£m

Net change for 

Pensions 

Adjustments 

(b)          

 £m

Other Statutory 

Differences (c)          

 £m

Total Adjustments 

£m

~ Communities Directorate 27.7 7.2 0.3 35.1

~ People Directorate 27.6 14.3 2.6 44.6

~ Resources Directorate 6.1 10.2 1.6 17.9

~ Schools -1.4 7.3 0.8 6.7

~ Corporate Services and Resourcing -22.7 2.1 106.4 85.8

~ Non-distributed costs 0.0 -2.3 0.0 -2.3

Net cost of services 37.4 38.8 111.7 187.9

~  Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure 

and Funding Analysis
-41.4 20.2 -108.1 -129.3

Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

surplus or deficit on the Provision of Services
-4.0 58.9 3.6 58.5

DSG Deficit in Year Transferred to DSG Adjustment Account - 

adjustment between funding and accounting basis
5.0 5.0

Total for MIRS -4.0 58.9 8.6 63.5

2022/23

 
 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at  the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Amounts

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(a)          

£m

Net change for 

Pensions 

Adjustments 

(b)          

 £m

Other Statutory 

Differences (c)          

 £m

Total Adjustments 

£m

~ Communities Directorate 13.9 7.8 0.7 22.4

~ People Directorate 4.9 15.4 1.2 21.4

~ Resources Directorate -5.0 11.6 0.6 7.2

~ Schools -0.4 8.3 -1.2 6.7

~ Corporate Services and Resourcing -70.9 2.4 105.8 37.3

~ Non-distributed costs 0.0 -2.2 0.0 -2.2

Net cost of services -57.6 43.3 107.1 92.8

~  Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure 

and Funding Analysis
-67.9 17.0 -123.3 -174.1

Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

surplus or deficit on the Provision of Services
-125.5 60.3 -16.2 -81.3

DSG Deficit in Year Transferred to DSG Adjustment Account - 

adjustment between funding and accounting basis
2.8 2.8

Total for MIRS -125.5 60.3 -13.4 -78.5

2021/22 (Restated)

 
 
a) Adjustments for capital purposes – this column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and 

losses as well as revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute and capital grants used to fund that 
expenditure to the service lines within the CIES. It also includes: 

 

• Other operating expenditure – income received on disposal of assets and the amounts written off on 
those assets are added; 

• Financing and investment income and expenditure – statutory charges for capital financing i.e. 
Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are deducted; and 

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – credits for capital grants receivable in the 
year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year are added. 

 

Page 130

Page 62 of 111



 
Section B - Page 28 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

b) Net change for the Pensions adjustments – this column adds the net change for the removal of pensions 
contributions and the addition of employee pension-related expenditure and income. 

 

• For services – this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the authority 
as allowed by statute and the replacement of current service costs and past service costs as a result of 
employee service; and 

• For financing and investment income and expenditure – the net interest on the defined benefit liability 
is added as a cost. 

 
c) Other differences – this column adds other differences between the amounts debited/credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under 
statute.  These include: 

 

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – the difference between what is chargeable 
under statutory regulations for Council Tax and Business Rates and the income recognised under 
generally accepted accounting practices. This is a timing difference as any difference will be brought 
forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund. Revenue grants that are receivable without 
conditions or service-specific stipulation are required to be shown within this line rather than within the 
Net Cost of Services. 

• Transfer of DSG Deficits – the amount by which we are required to transfer the deficit on schools’ budgets 
to an unusable reserve in line with statutory requirements. 

  

Page 131

Page 63 of 111



 
Section B - Page 29 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 
 

2021/22

 £m Expenditure/Income

2022/23

 £m

Expenditure:

404.4 ~ Employee expenses 421.1

576.4 ~ Other services expenses 625.7

41.3 ~ Depreciation and amortisation 54.2

1.6 ~ Impairment and revaluation losses (including reductions in fair value of investment property) 5.0

16.0 ~ Interest payments 16.0

0.3 ~ Precepts and Levies 0.3

20.9 ~ Loss on the disposal of assets 45.1

1,060.9 Total Expenditure 1,167.4

Income:

-91.5 ~ Fees, charges and other service income from contracts with customers -101.7

-42.6 ~ Other contributions, reimbursements and statutory income -42.7

-86.8 ~ Revaluation gains (Restatement of prior PPE revaluation and impairment losses) -13.1

-5.5 ~ Interest and investment income (including increases in fair value of investment property) -13.3

-326.1 ~ Income from council tax -345.1

-2.2 ~ Pensions Gain on settlements and curtailments -2.3

-587.7 ~ Grants & non domestic rates income -569.2

-1,142.4 Total Income -1,087.4

-81.5 Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 80.0  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 132

Page 64 of 111



 
Section B - Page 30 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 2: Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 
 
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 

2022/23

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Fund

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves 

net spending

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account

~ Charges for depreciation of non-current assets 53.3 -53.3

~ Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment assets -13.1 13.1

~ Movements in the market value of investment properties -4.5 4.5

~ Amortisation of intangible assets 0.9 -0.9

~ Capital grants and contributions applied -106.4 106.4

~ Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 26.7 -26.7

~ Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal to the CIES 46.2 -46.2

 Insertion of items not debited or credited to the CIES  

~ Minimum Revenue Provision -10.5 10.5

~ Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund Balance -2.3 2.3

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account

~ Capital Grants and contributions unapplied credited to the CIES 6.8 -6.8 0.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve & the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

~ Cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES -1.1 1.1 0.0

~ Deferred capital receipts realised in year 0.0 4.1 -4.1

~ Deferred capital receipts credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES 0.0 0.0

~ Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0.0 -8.7 8.7

~ Contribution from Capital Receipts Reserve to fund administrative costs 

   of non-current asset disposals
-0.2 0.2 0.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve  

~ Unrealised gains and losses of financial instruments which are shown in the CIES 

but are not charged/credited to the General Fund Balance in accordance with statutory 

requirements
2.0 -2.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve  

~ Grant funding of fire fighters' pension liabilities -5.5 5.5

~ Reversal of net charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS19 108.2 -108.2

~ Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners  -44.0 44.0

Adjustments primarily involving the DSG Adjustment Account

~ Amount of DSG deficit for the year required to be removed from the CIES in 

accordance with statutory requirements
5.0 -5.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account  

~ Amount by which council tax income credited to the CIES is different from council

   tax income calculated in accordance with statutory requirements
0.8 -0.8

~ Amount by which business rates income credited to the CIES is different from 

    business rates income calculated in accordance with statutory requirements
0.6 -0.6

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account  

~ Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is     

   different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 

   requirements

0.1 -0.1

Total adjustments 63.3 0.2 -3.5 -6.8 -53.2

 Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES):

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133

Page 65 of 111



 
Section B - Page 31 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
 
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 

2021/22 (Restated)

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Fund

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Movement in 

Unusable 

Reserves 

net spending

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account

~ Charges for depreciation of non-current assets 40.3 -40.3

~ Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment assets -86.8 86.8

~ Movements in the market value of investment properties -0.8 0.8

~ Amortisation of intangible assets 1.0 -1.0

~ Capital grants and contributions applied -82.5 82.5

~ Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 22.1 -22.1

~ Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal to the CIES 25.6 -25.6

 Insertion of items not debited or credited to the CIES  

~ Minimum Revenue Provision -10.9 10.9

~ Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund Balance -2.5 2.5

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account

~ Application of Capital Grants to the Capital Adjustment Account -26.1 26.1 0.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve & the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

~ Cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES -4.9 4.9 0.0

~ Deferred capital receipts realised in year 0.0 5.0 -5.0

~ Deferred capital receipts credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES 0.0 0.0

~ Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0.0 -23.8 23.8

~ Contribution from Capital Receipts Reserve to fund administrative costs 

   of non-current asset disposals
0.0 0.3 -0.3 0.0

Adjustments primarily involving the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve  

~ Unrealised gains and losses of financial instruments which are shown in the CIES 

but are not charged/credited to the General Fund Balance in accordance with statutory 

requirements
-1.9 1.9

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve  

~ Grant funding of fire fighters' pension liabilities -6.3 6.3

~ Reversal of net charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS19 106.2 -106.2

~ Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners  -39.7 39.7

Adjustments primarily involving the DSG Adjustment Account

~ Amount of DSG deficit for the year required to be removed from the CIES in 

accordance with statutory requirements
2.8 -2.8

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account  

~ Amount by which council tax income credited to the CIES is different from council

   tax income calculated in accordance with statutory requirements
-3.8 3.8

~ Amount by which business rates income credited to the CIES is different from 

    business rates income calculated in accordance with statutory requirements
-8.5 8.5

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account  

~ Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is     

   different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 

   requirements

-2.0 2.0

Total adjustments -78.8 0.3 -14.2 26.1 66.6

 Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES):

 
 
 
  

Page 134

Page 66 of 111



 
Section B - Page 32 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 3: Significant items of income and expenditure and restatements of prior year figures 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) and related notes have been restated for 2021/22 for 
comparative purposes to reflect changes in the organisation’s structure on 1 April 2022. The change in structure is the 
transfer of Education Services from Communities directorate to People directorate. The gross income, gross 
expenditure and net expenditure for both the Communities and People directorate have been restated for 2021/22 to 
report the position as if Education Services was part of People directorate in 2021/22 as well as in 2022/23. 
 
The effect of the restatement is that within the CIES £165.3m gross expenditure, £16m gross income and therefore 
£149.4m net expenditure, has been classified within People directorate as opposed to Communities directorate for 
2021/22. Note 1 - The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) and the note to the EFA are also restated to reflect 
this change in structure. This does not change the overall reported position on the statement or the notes. 
 
In 2022/23 there was a significant decrease in the organisation’s net pension liability. This decreased by £645.2 million 
from £901.1 million at 31 March 2022 to £255.9 million at 31 March 2023. This is due to movement in the LGPS net 
pension position which has moved from a £533.2 million net liability position to a £12 million net asset position. The 
main cause of the movement is due to changes in assumptions which cause remeasurements of the liability. The 
impact of remeasurements is shown within Other Comprehensive Income in the CIES (-£703.8 million). The amount 
shown includes the impact of the remeasurements of pension liability (-£638.4 million), and the remeasurements on 
pension assets (-£37.5 million) in the period for the LGPS scheme. The remaining -£102.9 million is due to similar 
smaller movements in the Firefighters’ Pension Fund (-£97.8 million) and Teachers’ Pension (-£5.1 million) net liability 
remeasurement. 
 
 

Note 4: Other operating expenditure 
 

2021/22 Other operating expenditure 2022/23

£ m £ m

0.3 Environment Agency Levy 0.3

20.9 Losses on disposal/transfer of non-current assets 45.1

21.2 45.4  
 
The loss on the disposal/transfer of non-current assets in 2022/23 primarily relates to the transfer of 9 schools to 
academy status. 
 
 

Note 5: Financing and investment income and expenditure 
 

2021/22 Financing and investment income and expenditure 2022/23

£ m £ m

16.0 Interest payable and similar charges 16.0

21.6 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 24.8

-1.8 Interest receivable and similar income -7.6

1.6
Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss 

transferred to usable reserves
2.5

-1.8
Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss 

transferred to unusable reserves
2.0

0.0 Impairments of financial assets 0.5

-15.1 Trading account income -13.4

17.4 Trading account expenditure 12.8

-0.8 Income and expenditure on investment properties and changes in their fair value -4.5

0.3 Other investment expenditure 0.3

-1.1 Other investment income -1.1

36.3 32.2  

Page 135

Page 67 of 111



 
Section B - Page 33 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 6: Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure 
 

2021/22    Taxation and non specific grant income and expenditure 2022/23

£ m £ m

-326.1  Council tax income -345.1

 Business rates income and expenditure

-26.6    ~ Retained business rates -20.9

-41.0    ~ Business rates top up -40.5

0.7  Business rates pool growth (WCC share) 0.2

-1.9  Business rates pool surplus -2.6

  Other non-ringfenced Government grants  

-6.3    ~ Fire Pensions Fund Grant -5.7

-64.7    ~ Revenue grants -56.4

-88.0    ~ Capital grants and contributions -82.0

-553.9 -552.9  
 

 
Note 7: Transfers to/from earmarked reserves 
 

Balance at 31 

March 

Balance at 

31 March 

Balance 

at 31 

March 

2021 Out In 2022 Out In 2023

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Schools Balances 21.3 0.0 1.7 23.0 -2.6 0.0 20.4

External Commitments Reserves 10.7 -1.4 5.0 14.3 -2.1 0.6 12.9

Redundancy Fund 7.0 -1.2 0.0 5.8 -0.8 0.0 5.0

Insurance Fund 8.6 -0.6 0.0 8.0 -0.4 1.2 8.8

DSG Offset Fund 12.3 0.0 1.4 13.7 0.0 8.0 21.7

Investment Funds 40.5 -16.2 7.2 31.5 -11.4 6.1 26.2

Projects and Policies Reserves 10.6 -4.8 2.3 8.1 -1.2 1.5 8.4

Volatility Reserves 34.2 -8.3 14.7 40.6 -0.9 7.5 47.2

Management of Directorate Risk 18.8 -6.4 3.3 15.6 -11.6 4.8 8.8

Covid Grants Reserves 24.5 -19.0 13.8 19.3 -17.3 0.0 2.0

Medium Term Financial Strategy 42.0 0.0 6.6 48.6 -18.6 20.5 50.5

Total 230.5 -57.9 56.0 228.6 -66.9 50.2 211.9

Movement in earmarked reserves Transfers Transfers

 
 
Earmarked Reserves are the money that we set aside to meet future known budget commitments or so we have the 
resources to respond to unforeseen events. A full list of reserves can be found in the 2022/23 Financial Outturn Report, 
available at https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk. 
 
The categories of Earmarked Reserves we held are: 

• School balances: accumulated underspends of schools held under a scheme of delegation; 

• External Commitments Reserves: unused funding received from third parties with conditions on its use is 
carried forward until the conditions are met; 

• Redundancy Fund: resources set aside to meet the costs of redundancies that arise as a result of changes 
to our services and the way they are delivered; 

• Insurance Fund: resources set aside to meet the costs of self-insurance and any excesses on our insurance 
policies; 

• DSG Offset Fund: we are holding £21.7 million in a DSG Offset Fund. This is part of our Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet a future deficit when either we have 
approval to fund deficits from general reserves or the current regulations change; 

• Investment Funds: funding to deliver a future programme of activity to deliver the outcomes and priorities in 
the Council Plan; 

• Projects and Policies Reserves: funding to deliver projects and policies approved by the Council that extend 
over more than one financial year; 

Page 136

Page 68 of 111

https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/


 
Section B - Page 34 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

• Volatility Reserves: a number of the Council’s activities and costs are volatile over time. Rather than 
managing this volatility on an annual basis the volatility reserves, such as the Commercial Risk Reserve and 
the Tax Base Volatility Reserve, are used to smooth the financial impact across financial years; 

• Management of Directorate Risk Reserves: as part of our Reserves Strategy up to a maximum of 3% of a 
Directorate’s net revenue budget (2% for Resources Directorate) is held to manage in-year variations 
between planned and actual spend;  

• Covid Grants Reserves: funding received from Government to support the covid response and recovery that 
had not been used by the end of the financial year; and 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS): funding available to support the delivery of the Council’s MTFS. Of 
the £50.5 million in this reserve at 31 March 2023, £33.7 million is planned to be used as part of the resourcing 
delivery of our 2023-28 MTFS. 

 
 

Note 8: Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment

L
an

d
 a

n
d

 b
u

il
d

in
g

s

S
u

rp
lu

s 
as

se
ts

V
eh

ic
le

s,
 

m
ac

h
in

er
y,

 f
u

rn
it

u
re

 

an
d

 e
q

u
ip

m
en

t

R
o

ad
s 

an
d

 b
ri

d
g

es
*

C
o

u
n

tr
y 

p
ar

ks
 a

n
d

 

o
p

en
 s

p
ac

es
 

A
ss

et
s 

u
n

d
er

 

co
n

st
ru

ct
io

n

T
o

ta
l

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Gross book value at 1 April 2022 745.8 4.6 59.6 5.3 79.2 894.5

Depreciation balance at 1 April 2022 -5.2 0.0 -46.5 0.0 0.0 -51.7

Net book value (modified historical cost)* 0.0 0.0 0.0 490.4 0.0 0.0 490.4

Net book value at 1 April 2022 740.6 4.6 13.1 490.4 5.3 79.2 1,333.2

Changes in the year

~ reclassifications -9.4 7.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.3

~ spending on assets 10.3 0.9 3.1 29.8 0.2 44.0 88.3

~ transfer of assets under construction to 

   operational assets on project completion
14.6 3.5 0.1 16.3 0.2 -34.6 0.0

~ value of assets we have sold/transferred -47.4 0.0 -25.2 0.0 0.0 -0.2 -72.7

~ revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the 

revaluation reserve
42.9 -1.5 0.0 0.0 -0.7 0.0 40.7

~ revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the 

surplus/deficit on the provision of services
15.4 -1.3 0.0 0.0 -1.1 0.0 13.0

Depreciation

~ depreciation written out to the revaluation reserve 19.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 19.1

~ depreciation written off on disposal 1.4 0.0 25.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 26.5

~ depreciation -25.2 0.0 -2.7 -25.4 -0.1 0.0 -53.3

Net book value at 31 March 2023 762.3 13.3 13.5 511.1 3.9 88.4 1,392.5

Gross book value at 31 March 2023 772.2 13.3 37.6 3.9 88.4 915.4

Depreciation balance at 31 March 2023 -9.9 0.0 -24.1 0.0 0.0 -34.0

Net book value (modified historical cost)* 0.0 0.0 0.0 511.1 0.0 0.0 511.1

Net book value at 31 March 2023 762.3 13.3 13.5 511.1 3.9 88.4 1,392.5  
 
* In accordance with the Temporary Relief offered by the Update to the Code on infrastructure assets (Roads and 
Bridges) this note does not include disclosure of gross cost and accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets 
because historical reporting practices and resultant information deficits mean that this would not faithfully represent 
the asset position to the users of the financial statements.  
 
The authority has chosen not to disclosure this information as the previously reported practices and resultant 
information deficits mean that gross cost and accumulated depreciation are not measured accurately and would not 
provide the basis for the users of the financial statements to take economic or other decisions relating to infrastructure 
assets. 

Page 137

Page 69 of 111



 
Section B - Page 35 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The authority has determined in accordance with Regulation 30M of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2022 that the carrying amounts to be derecognised for infrastructure 
assets when there is replacement expenditure is nil. 
 
Property, plant and equipment

L
an

d
 a

n
d

 b
u

il
d

in
g

s

S
u

rp
lu

s 
as

se
ts

V
eh

ic
le

s,
 m

ac
h

in
er

y,
 

fu
rn

it
u

re
 a

n
d

 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t

R
o

ad
s 

an
d

 b
ri

d
g

es
*

C
o

u
n

tr
y 

p
ar

ks
 a

n
d

 

o
p

en
 s

p
ac

es
 

A
ss

et
s 

u
n

d
er

 

co
n

st
ru

ct
io

n

T
o

ta
l

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Gross book value at 1 April 2021 572.8 5.1 58.3 2.2 56.9 695.3

Depreciation balance at 1 April 2021 0.0 0.0 -47.4 0.0 0.0 -47.4

Net book value (modified historical cost)* 0.0 0.0 0.0 474.9 0.0 0.0 474.9

Net book value at 1 April 2021 572.8 5.1 10.9 474.9 2.2 56.9 1,122.8

Changes in the year

~ spending on assets 16.3 0.0 4.6 24.4 0.2 41.0 86.5

~ transfer of assets under construction to 

   operational assets on project completion
3.5 0.0 0.0 15.2 0.0 -18.7 0.0

~ value of assets we have sold/transferred -25.1 -1.0 -3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 -29.4

~ revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the 

revaluation reserve
92.7 1.1 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 94.9

~ revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the 

surplus/deficit on the provision of services
85.6 -0.6 0.0 0.0 1.8 0.0 86.8

Depreciation  

~ depreciation written out to the revaluation reserve 8.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.1

~ depreciation written off on disposal 0.5 0.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.7

~ depreciation -13.8 0.0 -2.3 -24.1 0.0 0.0 -40.2

Net book value at 31 March 2022 740.6 4.6 13.1 490.4 5.3 79.2 1,333.2

Gross book value at 31 March 2022 745.8 4.6 59.6 5.3 79.2 894.5

Depreciation balance at 31 March 2022 -5.2 0.0 -46.5 0.0 0.0 -51.7

Net book value (modified historical cost)* 0.0 0.0 0.0 490.4 0.0 0.0 490.4

Net book value at 31 March 2022 740.6 4.6 13.1 490.4 5.3 79.2 1,333.2  
 
Our land and building assets include schools, fire stations, libraries, waste disposal sites and other buildings. Assets 
we have disposed of mainly relate to 9 schools that have transferred to Academy status during the year. 
 
Depreciation 
We charge depreciation on buildings over our valuer’s estimate of their useful economic life (between 5 and 65 years), 
on roads and bridges over 30 years, and on vehicles and equipment over their own useful lives (between 3 and 20 
years for vehicles and between 3 and 30 years for equipment). 
 
Capital commitments 
At 31 March 2023, the authority had entered into a number of contracts for the construction or enhancement of 
property, plant and equipment in 2023/24 and future years. The total of those payments we were still due to make on 
capital schemes that were not yet finished, or which we had not finished paying for, is £10.7 million. Similar 
commitments at 31 March 2022 were £21.6 million. 
 

The largest outstanding commitments are as follows: 
1. Highways maintenance contract - £7.9 million; and 
2. BDUK Broadband contract no 3 - £2.5 million 
 
Effects of changes in estimates 
There have been no material changes to our accounting estimates for property, plant and equipment in 2022/23. 
Revaluations 

Page 138

Page 70 of 111



 
Section B - Page 36 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

We carry out a programme of revaluations that ensures all property, plant and equipment required to be measured at 
fair value for the asset type is revalued annually. The following table shows the date at which our property, plant and 
equipment assets were last valued. 
 
Revaluations

L
an

d
 a

n
d

 b
u

il
d

in
g

s

S
u

rp
lu

s 
A

ss
et

s

V
eh

ic
le

s,
 

m
ac

h
in

er
y,

  

fu
rn

it
u

re
 a

n
d

 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t

R
o

ad
s 

an
d

 b
ri

d
g

es

C
o

u
n

tr
y 

p
ar

ks
 a

n
d

 

o
p

en
 s

p
ac

es

A
ss

et
s 

u
n

d
er

 

co
n

st
ru

ct
io

n

T
o

ta
l

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Carried at Historical Cost 54.4 0.0 13.5 511.1 3.9 88.4 671.3

Valued at current value as at:

31st March 2023 707.9 13.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 721.2

Total cost or valuation 762.3 13.3 13.5 511.1 3.9 88.4 1,392.5  
 
All our assets carried at current value were valued in 2022/23. Valuation of land and buildings were carried out in 
accordance with the methodologies and basis for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors. 
 
All our Surplus Assets fall within the Level 2 - Fair value category, valued using observable inputs. There has been no 
change in categorisation during the year. 
 
 

Note 9: School property, plant and equipment 
 
The value of our school property, plant and equipment is £535 million (2021/22 - £524.9 million). The value of school 
property, plant and equipment reported in this note is included within the numbers for total Property, plant and 
equipment reported in Note 8: Property, plant and equipment.  
 
The table below shows a breakdown across the various types of school. 
 

School property, plant and equipment Land Buildings Other Assets Total

At 31 March 2023 £ m £ m £ m £ m

Community Schools 122.9 206.8 2.0 331.7 66

Voluntary Aided Schools 29.9 36.9 0.0 66.8 17

Voluntary Controlled Schools 36.3 63.6 0.0 99.9 28

Foundation Schools 8.0 28.6 0.0 36.6 5

Net book value at 31 March 2023 197.1 335.9 2.0 535.0 116

Number of 

Schools

 

 

School property, plant and equipment Land Buildings Other Assets Total

At 31 March 2022 £ m £ m £ m £ m

Community Schools 123.5 178.3 1.8 303.6 66

Voluntary Aided Schools 39.7 48.1 0.0 87.8 24

Voluntary Controlled Schools 38.1 60.0 0.0 98.1 29

Foundation Schools 9.1 26.3 0.0 35.4 6

Net book value at 31 March 2022 210.4 312.7 1.8 524.9 125

Number of 

Schools

 

 
The number of schools has reduced by 9 which chose to take up academy status in 2022/23. Whilst we recognise the 
assets of voluntary aided, voluntary controlled and foundation schools in our accounts we do not have the right to 
access or dispose of these assets to settle any liabilities. We have no donated school assets. 

 
 
 
 

Page 139

Page 71 of 111



 
Section B - Page 37 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 10: Heritage assets 
 
The net book value of the heritage assets we hold is £5.2 million (£5.0 million in 2021/22). There have been no material 
acquisitions during 2022/23 and there have not been any significant disposals of heritage assets. More detailed 
information about the specific heritage assets we hold is on our website. 
 
 

Note 11: Investment properties 
 
We classify a number of properties as investment properties, most of which are leased out to third parties under 
operating leases. 
 
The table below summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year. 
 

31 March 2022                  

£ m

Investment properties 31 March 2023   

 £ m

4.9 Balance at the start of the year 5.7

0.0 Reclassifications 2.3

0.0 Additions 0.9

0.8 Net gains from fair value adjustments 4.5

5.7 Balance at the end of the year 13.4
 

 
The table below shows the fair value of these assets. 
 

Investment Properties - Fair value Quoted Market 

Price - Level 1

Using Observable 

Inputs - Level 2

Unobservable 

Inputs - Level 3 Total

£ m £ m £ m £ m

31st March 2023 0.0 13.4 0.0 13.4

31st March 2022 0.0 5.7 0.0 5.7  
 
There have no changes in the year between levels. 
 

 
Note 12: Intangible Assets 
 
We account for our software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not an integral part of a particular 
IT system accounted for as a hardware item of property, plant and equipment. Our intangible assets include both 
purchased licences and internally generated software. All software is valued at historic cost. We own a number of 
software licences across the authority which are written off to revenue over their expected useful lives. 
 
The carrying amount of intangible assets at 31 March 2023 is £0.3 million (£1.1 million at 31 March 2022). The carrying 
amount is amortised on a straight-line basis. The amortisation of £0.9 million (£1.1 million in 2021/22) was charged to 
revenue in 2022/23. 
 
 

  

Page 140

Page 72 of 111



 
Section B - Page 38 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 13: Financial instruments 
 
The borrowings and investments disclosed in the Balance Sheet are made up of the following categories of financial 
instruments: 
 
Financial Assets

Current Long-term Total Current Long-term Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Investments:

 ~ Fair Value through Profit and Loss 31.9 12.0 43.9 29.4 10.0 39.4

 ~ Amortised cost 280.3 0.0 280.3 252.0 12.0 264.0

 ~ Fair value through other comprehensive 

       income - designated equity instruments 0.0 2.2 2.2 0.0 2.6 2.6

Total investments 312.2 14.2 326.4 281.4 24.6 306.0

Debtors - at amortised cost:
 ~ Amortised cost 0.4 3.3 3.7 0.3 4.6 4.9

 ~ Financial assets carried at contract amounts 84.5 0.0 84.5 77.9 0.0 77.9

Total Debtors 84.9 3.3 88.2 78.2 4.6 82.8

Cash:

 ~ Cash and cash equivalents 161.5 0.0 161.5 185.3 0.0 185.3

Total Cash 161.5 0.0 161.5 185.3 0.0 185.3

Total Financial assets 558.6 17.5 576.1 544.9 29.3 574.2

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

 
 
Financial Liabilities

Current Long-term Total Current Long-term Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Borrowings:

 ~ Financial liabilities at amortised cost 0.0 321.4 321.4 0.0 321.4 321.4

Total Borrowings 0.0 321.4 321.4 0.0 321.4 321.4

Creditors - amortised cost

 ~ Financial liabilities at contractual amounts 80.2 0.0 80.2 84.5 0.0 84.5

Total Creditors 80.2 0.0 80.2 84.5 0.0 84.5

Total Financial Liabilities 80.2 321.4 401.6 84.5 321.4 405.9

31 March 2022 (Restated) 31 March 2023

 
 
Reconciliation to Balance Sheet carrying amounts 2021/22 (Restated) 2022/23

£m £m

Short Term Debtors that are financial instruments 84.9 78.2

Short Term Debtors that are not financial instruments 29.0 33.6

Total Debtors 113.9 111.8

Short Term Creditors that are financial instruments 80.2 84.5

Short Term Creditors that are not financial instruments 79.1 84.6

Total Creditors 159.3 169.1  
 
The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into the three levels of fair value hierarchy required in the 
Code according to the quality and reliability of the information and techniques used to value them at fair value. 
 
The values of financial liabilities and financial assets carried in the balance sheet at contractual amounts are held at 
cost as this is a fair approximation of their value. 
 
The difference between the long-term borrowing nominal amounts carried in the Balance Sheet and their fair value is 
based on a calculation that uses new loan rates to estimate what it would cost to borrow a similar portfolio of loans at 
the Balance Sheet date. These loans are with the Public Works Loan Board with interest rates fixed on the date of the 
initial lending. For more details see note 14. 

Page 141

Page 73 of 111



 
Section B - Page 39 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
We use an external expert to provide the fair values for our borrowings, which along with our other financial assets 
held in the amortised cost and fair value through profit and loss categories, are Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Equity instruments assets are valued internally using the earnings multiple valuation method based on the latest 
available accounts for the companies in which we hold shares. Details are shown in note 40. (Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy). 
 
Investments held at amortised cost of £264 million (£280.3 million in 2021/22) consist of bank, building society and 
local authority investments which are held solely for payment of principal and interest and a business model to collect 
contractual cash flows. The carrying amount and fair value consist of the principal amount and accrued interest to 31 
March. 
 
Assets held at fair value through profit and loss of £39.4 million (£43.9 million in 2021/22) are made up of two funds: 
Threadneedle Social Bond Fund and CCLA Property Fund. At 31 March 2020 the CCLA Property Fund was gated 
(meaning no investors could withdraw from the fund) by the Fund manager, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
its effects on the accurate valuation of the property portfolios it held. This meant we were unable to request for these 
funds to be cashed in and we re-categorised the CCLA as a long-term investment. Whilst the fund is no longer gated 
the cost of requesting the funds in the short-term means that we have determined that this investment should remain 
as a long-term investment. The carrying amount and fair value are based on unit prices provided through fund manager 
statements. 
 
In assessing fair value, we have made the following assumptions: 

• no early repayment or impairment is recognised; 

• where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, carrying amount is assumed to approximate to fair 
value; and 

• the fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount. 
 
There have been no transfers between input levels in 2022/23 and no changes in the valuation techniques for financial 
instruments during the year. 
 
The fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities is shown in the table on the following page. 
 
 
  

Page 142

Page 74 of 111



 
Section B - Page 40 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Financial Instruments - Fair value 31 March 2023

Valued at Cost
Quoted Market 

Price - Level 1

Using Observable 

Inputs - Level 2

Unobservable 

Inputs - 

Level 3

Total

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Financial Assets:-     

Investments:

     - Amortised Cost 264.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 264.0

     - Fair Value through Profit and Loss 0.0 39.4 0.0 0.0 39.4

     - Fair value through other comprehensive 

       income - designated equity instruments
0.0 0.0 0.0 2.6 2.6

Debtors:  

  - Amortised cost 0.0 0.0 4.9 0.0 4.9

  - Financial assets carried at contractual amounts 

     (deemed to be fair value)
77.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 77.9

Cash:    

  - Cash and Cash Equivalents - deemed to be fair value 185.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 185.3

Total Financial Assets 527.2 39.4 4.9 2.6 574.2

Financial Liabilities:-

Borrowings:-

  - Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 0.0 0.0 339.5 0.0 339.5

Creditors:-  

  - Financial liabilities carried at contractual amounts 

    (deemed to be fair value)
84.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 84.5

Total Financial Liabilities 84.5 0.0 339.5 0.0 424.0  
 

Financial Instruments - Fair value 31 March 2022

(Restated)
Valued at Cost

Quoted Market 

Price - Level 1

Using Observable 

Inputs - Level 2

Unobservable 

Inputs - 

Level 3

Total

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

Financial Assets:-     

Investments:

     - Amortised Cost 280.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 280.3

     - Fair Value through Profit and Loss 0.0 43.9 0.0 0.0 43.9

     - Fair value through other comprehensive 

       income - designated equity instruments 
0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 2.2

Debtors:  

  - Amortised cost 0.0 0.0 3.7 0.0 3.7

  - Financial assets carried at contractual amounts 

     (deemed to be fair value)
84.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 84.5

Cash:    

  - Cash and Cash Equivalents - deemed to be fair value 161.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 161.5

Total Financial Assets 526.3 43.9 3.7 2.2 576.1

Financial Liabilities:-

Borrowings:-

  - Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 0.0 0.0 477.0 0.0 477.0

Creditors:-  

  - Financial liabilities carried at contractual amounts 

    (deemed to be fair value)
80.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 80.2

Total Financial Liabilities 80.2 0.0 477.0 0.0 557.2  

 
 
 

Page 143

Page 75 of 111



 
Section B - Page 41 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Interest paid and investment income received

2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23

£m £m £m £m

Net (gains) and losses

 ~ Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss -0.1 4.5 0.0 0.0

 ~ Investment in equity instrument designated at fair value through other 

    comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.5

Total net gains -0.1 4.5 0.0 -0.5

Interest Revenue

 ~ Financial assets measured at amortised cost -1.8 -7.6 0.0 0.0

Total Interest Revenue -1.8 -7.6 0.0 0.0

Interest Expense 

 ~ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 16.0 16.0 0.0 0.0

Total Interest Expense 16.0 16.0 0.0 0.0

(Surplus)/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

 Other Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure

 
 

Financial Assets

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value

£ m £ m £ m £ m

Financial assets held at amortised cost 280.3 280.3 264.0 264.0

Financial assets at fair value through profit 

and loss
43.9 43.9 39.4 39.4

Cash and cash equivalents 161.5 161.5 185.3 185.3

Fair value through other comprehensive 

income - designated equity instruments
2.2 2.2 2.6 2.6

Debtors carried at amortised cost 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3

Debtors carried at contractual amounts 84.5 84.5 77.9 77.9

Long term debtors - amortised cost 3.3 3.3 4.6 4.6

Total 576.1 576.1 574.2 574.2

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

 
 

Financial Liabilities

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value

£ m £ m £ m £ m

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost 321.4 477.0 321.4 339.5

Financial liabilities at contractual amounts 80.2 80.3 84.5 84.5

Total 401.6 557.2 405.9 424.0

31 March 202331 March 2022 (Restated)

 
 
Note 14: Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments 
 
Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks: 

• credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to us; 

• liquidity risk – the possibility that we might not have funds available to meet our commitments to make 
payments; and 

• market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as interest 
rates and stock market movements. 

 
Our overall financial risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Financial risk management is carried 
out by a central treasury management team, under policies approved by the Council annually in the Treasury 
Management Strategy, available on our website. We have written policies covering specific areas, such as interest 
rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash. 
 
  

Page 144

Page 76 of 111



 
Section B - Page 42 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to our customers. Our 
Accounting Policies note describes our overall approach to evaluating impairments to be reflected in the carrying value 
of our financial assets. 
 
Many of the invoices we raise are the result of statutory obligations. However, where we are providing non-statutory 
goods or services to customers, we consider their ability to pay. A number of checks are available to managers as 
outlined in our Corporate Debt Recovery Policy. Our current debtors, including trade debtors, are assessed at each 
year end for impairment. This is assessed using aged debt analysis and past experience of bad debt profiles. The 
change in the bad debt provision during the year and any amounts found to be irrecoverable are charged against 
services in the Net Cost of Services in the CIES. The amount of our bad debt provision is shown in note 15. 
 
We have assessed our potential maximum exposure to credit risk, based on experience of default and collectability 
over the last five financial years. This has been adjusted to reflect current market conditions. However, there is no 
effect as there is no instance of institutions that meet our credit ratings defaulting in the last five years. Deposits are 
not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated independently with a minimum score as laid out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
Liquidity risk 
As we have ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loan Board, there is no significant risk that we will be 
unable to raise finance to meet our future commitments under financial instruments. Instead the risk is that we will be 
bound to replenish a significant proportion of our borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates. To mitigate this, 
our strategy is to ensure that when taking out new borrowing we spread maturity dates to match future cash flows. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

2021/22 Loans we have not yet repaid 2022/23

£ m £ m

 We owe money to:  

321.4  ~ Public Works Loans Board 321.4

321.4 Total 321.4

When we will pay the money back: 

18.0     Between 5 and 10 years 22.0

303.4     More than 10 years 299.4

321.4 Total 321.4  
 
Our level of borrowing is due to paying for capital spending in previous years. We have not borrowed any money from 
external sources in 2022/23 to pay for new capital spending. 
 
We use cash reserves which we have set aside to support future years’ revenue budgets to invest in the short term.  
 
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market risk 
Interest Rate Risk 
We are exposed to significant risk in terms of our exposure to interest rate movements on our borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact. For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the 
following effects: 

• borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the CIES will rise; 

• borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the borrowings will fall; 

• investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the CIES will rise; and 

• investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall. 
 
As part of our strategy for managing interest rate risk we aim to keep a maximum of 25% of our borrowing in variable 
rate loans.  

Page 145

Page 77 of 111



 
Section B - Page 43 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
We have an active strategy for assessing interest rates exposure that forecasts any adverse changes on a quarterly 
basis and assesses the impact to be incorporated into the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. According to this 
assessment strategy, at 31 March 2023, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, 
the financial effect would be: 

• no change in the fair value of fixed rate investment assets; and 

• a decrease in fair value of fixed borrowing of £44.9 million (£75.1 million in 2021/22). 
 
Changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the CIES 
and affect the General Fund. Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the CIES. 
 
Price risk 
We have some shareholdings in specific interests, and we are not in a position to diversify our portfolio. The current 
value of the shareholding is £2.6 million. For these equity instrument holdings, we have irrevocably elected to 
recognise any movements in price as gains and losses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income in the CIES. In 
2022/23 this amounted to a gain of £0.5 million (2021/22 – no gain or loss). Any gain or loss is not credited or charged 
to the General Fund until such times as shareholdings are either impaired, sold or derecognised. We also have some 
investments held as Fair Value through Profit and Loss. All profits and losses on sales and impairments as well as in-
year valuation movements on these assets are recognised immediately in the CIES. We have not disposed of any of 
these holdings this year. At 31 March 2023 we recognised a total loss of £4.5 million in the CIES (gain of £0.1 million 
in 2021/22). One of these investments has been classified as a pooled investment vehicle which allows us to apply a 
statutory override which means that any changes in fair value do not hit the General Fund but are reversed in the 
MIRS and placed in the unusable Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve until the investment is either sold or de-
recognised (£2 million loss). The other is not classed as a pooled investment vehicle, so the statutory override does 
not apply and changes in fair value are reflected in the General Fund in the year (£2.5 million loss). 
 
Treasury management 
We comply with CIPFA’s Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government guidance on local government investments issued in March 2004. An updated 
version of the latter was released in February 2018 and applies to the accounting periods from 1 April 2018. A further 
update was released in December 2021 to apply to accounting periods from 1 April 2023 onwards. 
 
We aim to achieve the optimum return on our investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. 
The borrowing of monies purely to invest and make a return is unlawful and we do not engage in such activity. Our 
external fund managers comply with the Annual Investment Strategy, approved by Elected Members on an annual 
basis. The agreement between us and the fund managers additionally stipulates additional guidelines and limits in 
order to manage risk. 
 
 

  

Page 146

Page 78 of 111



 
Section B - Page 44 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 15: Debtors 
 

31 March 2022 Short-term debtors 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

26.6    Trade Receivables 26.3

4.6    VAT 8.8

25.2    Other Public Sector Debtors 15.2

19.7    Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates - Taxpayers 25.0

3.9    Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates - Local authorities 3.0

-4.3    Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates - Bad Debts -6.8

0.0    Prepayments in relation to capital contracts 0.4

5.0    Prepayments to External Organisations and Individuals 3.2

21.4    Social Care Debtors 26.5

8.8    Capital debtors from External Organisations and Individuals 6.7

7.5    Other debtors 9.1

-4.5    Bad Debts -5.6

113.9    Balance at the end of the year 111.8  
 
 

Note 16: Cash and cash equivalents 
 

31 March 2022 Cash and cash equivalents 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

27.0 Cash held by the authority (including schools and imprest accounts) 28.1

134.5 Bank current accounts (call accounts and instant access deposit accounts) 147.2

0.0 Short-term deposits with building societies and other institutions 3 months or less maturity 10.0

161.5        Balance at the end of the year 185.3         
 
 

Note 17: Creditors 
 

31 March 2022 Short-term Creditors 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

14.1    Trade Payables 15.0

6.8    Social Security Costs 5.8

10.5    Other Public Sector accruals 8.0

4.0    Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates - Taxpayers 5.6

10.7    Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates - Local authorities 12.7

9.6    Accumulated Absences 9.7

45.3    Receipts in Advance 50.8

13.1    Other accruals in relation to capital contracts 10.8

45.3    Other accruals to External Organisations and Individuals 50.7

159.4    Balance at the end of the year 169.1  
 
 
Note 18: Provisions 
 
Our provisions total £7.6 million (£7.5 million 2021/22). 
 
Our former liability insurers, Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) went into run-off (ceased to write new business) on 30 
September 1992, following which a contingent Scheme of Arrangement became effective on January 1994 to ensure 
a smooth run-off should MMI subsequently be declared insolvent. In the event of the Scheme being triggered, claims 
paid by MMI after 30 September 1992 will be liable to claw back at a percentage to be determined by the 
administrators, with subsequent claims to be paid in part at the same percentage. A Supreme Court judgement relating 
to establishment of liability arising from mesothelioma claims under employers' liability policies has resulted in the 

Page 147

Page 79 of 111



 
Section B - Page 45 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

increased possibility of the Scheme being triggered. We have set aside £2.0 million to cover the claw back and the 
outstanding claims. 
 
We have to account for our share of non-domestic rating appeals that are still to be resolved by the Valuation Office 
Agency for the District and Borough Councils in Warwickshire. We cannot predict when these appeals may be raised 
or settled, so we have assumed that these settlements will be made within 1 year for the purposes of these accounts. 
The amount we have provided is £4.2 million. 
 
We have reassessed the balance of liabilities between the County Council and the Firefighters’ Pension Fund. Some 
of the final costs are still uncertain and so a provision of £0.6 million has been included.  
 
All other provisions, totalling £0.8 million, are individually insignificant. 
 
 

Note 19: Usable Reserves 
 
Movements in our usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement and in notes 1 and 2. A 
summary of revenue and capital usable reserves is shown below: 
 

31 March 2022 Usable reserves 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

26.0 General Fund 26.0

228.6 Earmarked Reserves 211.9

1.0 Capital Fund 1.2

3.5 Capital Receipts Reserve 0.0

29.9 Capital Grants Unapplied 23.1

289.0 Total usable reserves 262.2  
 
 

Note 20: Unusable Reserves 
 

31 March 2022 Unusable reserves 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

269.9 Revaluation Reserve 307.9

808.2 Capital Adjustment Account 848.4

4.1 Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 0.0

4.0 Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 2.4

-9.6 Accumulated Absences Reserve -9.7

0.2 Collection Fund Adjustment Account -1.2

-11.1 Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account -16.1

-901.1 Pensions Reserve -255.9

164.6 Total unusable reserves 875.7  
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains we have made arising from increases in the value of our property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 
 

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost; 

• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; or 

• Disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date the Reserve was created. 
Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 

Page 148

Page 80 of 111



 
Section B - Page 46 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

31 March 2022 Revaluation Reserve 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

188.6 Balance on 1 April 269.9

141.2 Revaluation increases 66.4

-37.7 Revaluation decreases -6.4

-5.9 Depreciation adjustment to Capital Adjustment Account -11.0

-16.3 Revaluation written off on disposal -10.9

269.9 Balance on 31 March 307.9  
 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting 
for the consumption of non-current assets and for the financing of the acquisition, construction or enhancement of 
those assets under statutory provisions: 
 

• The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction and enhancement as depreciation, impairment 
and revaluation losses and amortisations are charged to the CIES (with reconciling postings from the 
Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The Account is credited with the 
amounts we set aside as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement; 

• The Account contains the accumulated gains and losses on investment properties; and 

• The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant and equipment before 1 April 
2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 2 provides details of the 
source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 

 
31 March 2022 Capital Adjustment Account 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

667.6 Balance on 1 April 808.2

0.8 Revaluation increase - Investment Properties 4.6

-42.2 Revaluation decrease -6.2

129.0 Reversal of previous impairments 19.2

5.9 Depreciation adjustment to Revaluation Reserve 11.0

16.3 Revaluation written off on disposal 10.9

-25.6 Value of asset disposals -46.2

-22.1 Transfer of spending on assets we do not own -26.7

-41.3 Depreciation charge to revenue -54.2

10.9 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) 10.5

108.9 Money used to buy assets 117.4

808.2 Balance on 31 March 848.4  
 

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-current assets but for which 
cash settlement has yet to take place. Under statutory arrangements, the authority does not treat these gains as 
useable for financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash 
settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 

9.1 Balance on 1 April 4.1

-5.0 Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash -4.1

4.1 Balance on 31 March 0.0

31 March 2022            

£ m

Deferred Capital Receipts reserve 31 March 2023              

£ m

 
 
Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 
The Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve contains the gains/losses made by the authority arising from 
increases/decreases in the value of its equity investments that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income plus those financial assets valued at fair value through profit and loss for which a statutory override exists, 
because they meet the conditions of being classified as a pooled investment vehicle. This means that changes in their 
fair value do not hit the General Fund. 

Page 149

Page 81 of 111



 
Section B - Page 47 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
The balance is reduced when investments with accumulated gains are: 

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost; or 

• Disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 

 31 March 2022 Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve  31 March 2023

£ m £ m

2.1 Opening Balance 4.0

1.9 Upward revaluation of investments 0.5

0.0 Downward revaluation of investments -2.0

4.0 Balance at 31 March 2.4  
 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the amounts that would otherwise affect the General Fund from accruing 
for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. 
Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 
 

Movement in Accumulated Absences Account

-11.6 Balance on 1 April -9.6

11.6 Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding year 9.6

-9.6 Amounts accrued at the end of the current year -9.7

2.0

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different from 

remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 

requirements

-0.1

-9.6 Balance on 31 March -9.7

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax and 
business rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due compared with the 
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts due to the General Fund. 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

-12.1 Balance on 1 April 0.2

3.8

Amount by which council tax income credited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement is different from council tax income calculated for the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

-0.8

8.5

Amount by which non domestic rates income credited to the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement is different from non domestic rate income calculated for 

the year in accordance with statutory requirements

-0.6

0.2 Balance on 31 March -1.2

Movement in Collection Fund Adjustment Account

 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account 
The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Adjustment Account is required to hold the deficits on DSG as these cannot be 
offset against General Fund Reserves and must be carried forward and met from future DSG funding in line with 
current legislation and statutory requirements.  The deficit is removed from the CIES and reversed through the MIRS 
into this account.  
 

 31 March 2022 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Adjustment Account  31 March 2023

£ m £ m

-8.3 Balance on 1 April -11.1

-2.8 Deficit on Schools Budget for the year -5.0

-11.1 Balance on 31 March -16.1  
 

Page 150

Page 82 of 111



 
Section B - Page 48 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-
employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. We account for post-
employment benefits in the CIES as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the 
liabilities to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet costs. 
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed, as we make employer’s contributions to 
pension funds or eventually pay any pensions for which we are directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions 
Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the 
resources we have set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set 
aside by the time that the benefits come to be paid. 
 

 On 31 March 2022 Pensions Reserve - All Schemes  On 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

-1,062.8 Balance as 1 April -901.1

231.8 Remeasurements of net defined (liability)/asset 703.8

-10.0 Effect of business combinations and disposals 0.0

-106.2 Reversal of net charges made for retirement benefits -108.2

39.7 Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year 44.0

6.3 Grant funding of firefighters' pensions liabilities 5.5

-901.1 Balance at 31 March -255.9  
 

 
Note 21: Cash Flow Statement – operating activities 
 
The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements: 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£m £m

40.3 Depreciation 53.3

-87.6 Impairment and downward valuations -17.6

1.1 Amortisation 0.9

0.0 Increase/(decrease) in provision for expected credit loss 0.5

-1.4 Acquisition of donated assets 0.0

11.4 Increase/(decrease) in creditors 24.1

-15.2 (Increase)/decrease in debtors including bad debts -9.4

-0.2 (Increase)/decrease in inventories -0.1

60.1 Movement in pension liability 58.9

25.6
Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold or 

derecognised
46.2

-0.5 Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 4.6

33.6 Total 161.4  
 
 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£m £m

1.7 Interest received 6.3

-16.0 Interest paid -16.0

1.1 Dividends received 1.1  
 
  

Page 151

Page 83 of 111



 
Section B - Page 49 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and 
financing activities: 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£m £m

-4.7
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 

intangible assets
-1.1

-107.2 Any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows -99.7

-111.9 Total -100.8  
 
 

Note 22: Cash Flow Statement – investing activities 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

-83.7 Purchase of property,plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets -91.5

-260.0 Purchase (-) of short-term and long-term investments -241.6

158.0 Proceeds of short-term and long-term investments 260.0

-0.4 Other receipts or payments (-) for investing activities -2.0

9.7
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible 

assets
5.2

136.2 Other receipts from investing activities - capital grants 113.2

-40.2 Net cash flows from investing activities 43.3

Cash flows from investing activities

 
 
 

Note 23: Cash Flow Statement – financing activities 
 
There were no financing activities in 2022/23 or 2021/22.  
 

  

Page 152

Page 84 of 111



 
Section B - Page 50 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 24: Grant Income 
 
We credited the following grants to the CIES in 2022/23: 
 

2021/22 Grant income 2022/23

£ m £ m

 Revenue grants credited to Services:  

239.9    Dedicated Schools Grant 246.7

9.6    Pupil Premium Grant 10.2

3.5    Other Schools Grants 7.0

6.6    Asylum Seekers Grant 7.7

23.9    Public Health Grant 24.3

4.0    Universal Infant Free School Meals 3.7

1.8    Adult & Community Learning 0.9

2.8    Contain Outbreak Management Covid Grant 0.0

3.1    Hospital Discharge Grant 1.9

1.9    Covid Test and Trace, Community Testing & ASC Rapid Testing Grants 0.0

10.0    Covid Infection Control Grant 0.6

14.5    Better Care Fund 15.3

1.6    Community Renewal Fund 0.2

3.5    Household Support Grant 7.0

3.9    Workforce Recruitment & Retention Grant 0.4

1.1    Covid 19- Catch up Grant 0.0

1.7    Bus Service Operators Grant 1.0

0.0    School PE Grant 2.2

1.2    Holiday Activities and Food Programme 1.3

0.0    Homes for Ukraine 3.0

0.0    Domestic Abuse Support Grant 1.0

4.7    Other revenue grants  9.5

339.3 Total revenue grants 343.6

Capital grants and contributions credited to services:

5.1   Disabled Facilities Grant 5.1

0.1   Environment Agency 0.0

5.2   Building Digital UK (BDUK) 0.3

0.0   Contribution from other local authorities 0.6

8.3   Private developer funding 10.0

1.9   Other grants/contributions 1.6

20.6 Total capital grants and contributions 17.7

359.9    Total 361.3  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153

Page 85 of 111



 
Section B - Page 51 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

2021/22 Grant income 2022/23

£ m £ m

 Revenue grants credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income:  

10.7   Business Rates Retention/Compensation Scheme 9.9

4.9   Council Tax Support Scheme 0.0

27.0   Adult Social Care & Better Care Fund 32.6

1.0   Domestic Abuse Support Grant 0.0

10.8   Covid 19 Support Grants 0.0

2.7   New Homes Bonus 2.4

1.8   Independent Living Fund Grant 1.8

1.1   Tackling Troubled Families 1.4

1.0   Childrens Social Innovation Programme 0.3

1.3   Fire Service Pensions Grant 1.2

6.3   Fire Pension Fund Grant 5.7

2.4   Other Grants 6.8

71.0 Total revenue grants 62.1

Capital grants and contributions credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 

Income:

1.3   Devolved Formula Capital 1.3

32.3   Schools Maintenance and Basic Need 19.5

0.0   Network Rail 2.9

0.0   BDUK 1.0

0.0   Environment Agency 0.2

20.3   Local Transport Plan and other transport grants 19.6

5.6   Contribution from other local authorities 11.0

21.4   Private developer funding 26.4

1.4   Donated assets received 0.0

5.7   Other grants/contributions 0.0

88.0 Total capital grants and contributions 82.0

159.0    Total 144.1  
 
We have received a number of grants, contributions and donations that have yet to be recognised as income as they 
have conditions attached to them that will require the monies or property to be returned to the giver. 
 
The balances at year end are as follows: 
 

Page 154

Page 86 of 111



 
Section B - Page 52 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£ m £ m

Short-term grant receipts in advance - revenue

0.0 Refugees Re-settle in Warwickshire 1.2

0.0 Homes for Ukraine 10.3

1.0 Rural Mobility Fund 1.0

1.1 Syrian Settlement Grant 0.8

3.0 Other grants 3.9

5.1 Total revenue grants 17.2

Long-term grant receipts in advance - capital

0.8 Devolved Formula Capital 2.0

9.3 Grant from Other Local Authorities 2.4

0.5 Additional School Capital Funding 0.4

87.9 Private developer funding and capital receipt deposits 93.5

4.1 Other grants/contributions 12.4

102.6 Total capital grants 110.7

107.7 Total 127.9  
 

 
Note 25: Accounting standards issued that have not yet been adopted 
 
The following accounting standards have been issued but not yet adopted: 

• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) issued in February 2021. 

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) issued in February 
2021.  

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) 
issued in May 2021. 

• Updating a Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) issued in May 2020. 
 

These standards all apply to local authority accounts in 2023/24 but are not expected to have a material effect on the 
authority’s financial statements. 
 
 

Note 26: Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions we have made about the future 
or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other 
relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates. The items in our Balance Sheet at 31 March 2023 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that 
are dependent on assumptions about the level 
of repairs and maintenance in relation to 
individual assets. In the current economic 
climate, the authority cannot be certain about 
its ability to sustain the current level of 
spending on repairs and maintenance bringing 
into doubt the useful lives of the assets. 

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying value of 
Property Plant and Equipment is £1,392.5 
million. The depreciation charge in 2022/23 was 
£53.3 million.  
 
If a reduction of asset life occurs, the 
depreciation increases and the carrying amount 
of the asset falls. 

Page 155

Page 87 of 111



 
Section B - Page 53 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 

It is estimated that the annual depreciation 
charge for property, plant and equipment would 
increase by £4.9 million for every year that 
useful lives are reduced. 

Inflation We continue to face material inflationary 
increases for the first time in decades. The key 
elements that could be negatively impacted 
include: 

• The fair value of our assets and investments 
– through the impact in the value of our 
investments and the increased cost of 
delivering new investments/assets 
impacting on the amount of investment we 
can undertake; 

• The level of reserves we use compared to 
our plans to meet any increased costs 
and/or demand for our services compared to 
our plans; and 

The net pensions liability through the impact 
on both the estimation of liabilities and the 
expected return on pension fund assets. A firm 
of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide 
the authority with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied. 

We have £239.1m of general fund revenue 
reserves and £466.6m of cash and short-term 
investments at 31 March 2023. A significant 
proportion of these could be used/redirected to 
meet any immediate funding shortfall. Any 
material use would require a review of our 
medium-term spending and investment plans. 
 

Our long-term investments and investment 
property equate to 2.6% of our total long-term 
assets at 31 March 2023. A decrease in value of 
these assets will not affect the underlying 
strength of our asset base. 
 

£139.7m of our operational land and buildings 
assets are valued on the basis of their existing 
use. A 11%+ variation in the value of these 
assets would have a material impact on our 
accounts. 
 

The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in individual assumptions can be 
measured. See note 37 for further examples. A 
1% variation in the fair value of our share of the 
Pension Fund’s assets is £14.0m. 
 

Pensions 
liability 

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate at which salaries 
are projected to increase, changes in 
retirement ages, mortality rates and expected 
returns on pension fund assets. A firm of 
consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the 
authority with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied. 

As at 31 March 2023, the total LGPS pension 
liability is £1,386.2 million.  
 
The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in individual assumptions can be 
measured. For instance, a 0.1% decrease in the 
discount rate applied to the LGPS, in isolation, 
would result in an increase in the pension liability 
of £24.8 million. See note 37 for further 
examples. 
 

During 2022/23, our actuaries advised that the 
net pensions' liability has decreased by £645.2 
million mainly as a result of an actuarial gain due 
to revaluation of fund liabilities. 

McCloud and 
Sargeant 
Judgements 

The McCloud and Sargeant judgements 
upheld the claimants’ cases that the method of 
implementation of the new public sector 
pension schemes discriminated against 
younger members. Our consulting actuaries 
have included an estimate of the impact in the 
calculation of our pension liability. However, 
the remedy to resolve the age discrimination 
has yet to be agreed and the financial impact 
remains uncertain. 

At 31 March 2023, the total pension liability (all 
schemes) is £1,654.2 million. 
 
A 1% change in the employer’s liability as a 
result of the final remedy would change our 
pension liabilities by £16.5m. 

Page 156

Page 88 of 111



 
Section B - Page 54 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Fair Value It is not always possible for the fair values of 
investment properties, surplus assets, assets 
held for sale and financial assets to be 
measured based on quoted prices in active 
markets (i.e. Level 1 inputs). 
 

For Level 2 inputs we use quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets at 
the balance sheet date. 
 

Where possible the inputs to these valuation 
techniques are based on observable data, but 
where this is not possible, judgement is 
required in establishing fair values. 
 

Where Level 1 inputs are not available for 
investment properties, surplus assets and 
assets held for sale, we use valuers to identify 
the most appropriate valuation techniques to 
determine fair value. 

At 31 March 2023, the carrying value of 
Investment Properties is £13.4 million. The 
value of level 2 financial liabilities is £339.5 
million and the value of level 2 and level 3 
financial assets are £4.9 million and £2.6 million 
respectively. 
 
We use a combination of indexation techniques, 
beacon valuations and discounted cash flow 
models to measure the value of our investment 
properties, surplus assets and assets held for 
sale. 

 
 
Note 27: Capital expenditure and capital financing 
 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the resources 
that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed from borrowing (resulting in future 
revenue charges), the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of 
the capital expenditure incurred historically yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note. 
 

2021/22 Capital financing requirement 2022/23

£ m £ m

278.3 Opening requirement 267.4

Capital investment:

86.4   - Property, plant & equipment 88.3

0.1   - Heritage assets 0.0

0.0   - Investment property 0.9

0.4   - Long term debtors relating to capital transactions 1.4

22.1   - Revenue spending from capital under statute 26.8

109.0 Total capital investment 117.4

Sources of finance:

-23.9   - Capital receipts -8.7

-82.6   - Government grants and other contributions -106.4

  - Sums set aside from revenue:

-2.5          - Direct revenue contributions -2.3

-10.9          - MRP -10.5

-119.9 Total sources of income -127.9

267.4 Closing capital financing requirement 256.8  
 

2021/22 Explanation of movements in the year 2022/23

£ m £ m

-10.9 Change in underlying need to borrow -10.6

-10.9  Increase/decrease(-) in Capital Financing Requirement -10.6  
 

Page 157

Page 89 of 111



 
Section B - Page 55 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 

Note 28: Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
 
In applying our accounting policies as set out at the start of this document, we have had to make certain judgements 
about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in the 
Statement of Accounts are: 
 

• There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government. However, we have 
determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that our assets might be impaired 
as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. 

 

• We consider voluntary controlled, voluntary aided and foundation schools contribute alongside maintained 
schools, to meeting our service objectives both now and in the future and that therefore their expenditure, 
income and the assets they use in the provision of services should form part of our accounts. In accordance 
with the Code we include them in our single entity accounts, and we do not have to prepare separate group 
accounts. Details of the value and number of each type of school included in our accounts are shown at note 
9. 

 

• When a school that is held on our Balance Sheet transfers to academy status we account for this as a disposal 
for nil consideration on the date that the school converts to academy status rather than as an impairment on 
the date that approval to transfer to Academy status is agreed. See Notes 4 and 30. 

 

• Details of our relationships with other companies and investments in companies are detailed in note 40. These 
are not material and we have not prepared group accounts on this basis. 

 
 

Note 29: Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
Our spending on schools is funded primarily by a grant provided by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is ring fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included 
in the Schools Budget as defined in the School Finance and Early Years (England) Regulations 2017. The Schools 
Budget includes elements for a range of educational services provided on an authority-wide basis and for the Individual 
Schools Budget, which is divided into a budget share for each maintained school. 
 
Central spending includes other funding allocated as school specific contingencies and nominally held funds and 
allocations by the School Forum. The DSG figure is as confirmed by the Department for Education in March 2023. 
 
We confirm that the DSG receivable in 2022/23 was £248.8 million (made under section 14 of the Education Act 2002). 
This amount includes £2.1 million in relation to NNDR which passes directly to billing authorities. It has been fully 
distributed to support schools' budgets, as set out in the regulations made under sections 45A, 45AA, 47, 47ZA, 47A, 
48, 49 and 138(7) of, and paragraph 2(B) of schedule 14 to, the Schools Standards and Framework Act 1998 and 
section 24(3) of the Education Act 2002. 
 
New provisions, which came into force on 1 April 2020, under the Schools and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations 2020, mean that local authorities are required to carry forward overspends of DSG to their schools’ 
budgets either in the year immediately following or the year after. Under Regulation 8, paragraphs (7) and (8) this also 
applies to a deficit from the previous year i.e. 2021/22, thus creating a comparable position to the statutory funding 
basis for the 2022/23 financial year. Any future funding to make good any deficit from our General Reserves can only 
be made upon approval from the Secretary of State. This reflects the statutory requirement that a deficit must be 
carried forward to be funded from future DSG income, unless the Secretary of State authorise the local authority not 
to do so. Furthermore, the DSG deficit has to be allocated between service categories so that a deficit from one service 
category cannot be offset against a surplus from another. 
 
The early years DSG is based on data from earlier years. The final allocation will be determined and received during 
2023/24 and will be shown in the table as an in-year adjustment. The £0.4m in-year adjustment shown in the table is 

Page 158

Page 90 of 111



 
Section B - Page 56 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

£0.36m additional DSG income relating to the final in-year adjustment for 2021/22 and £0.08m NNDR adjustments 
relating to 2022/23. 
 
The deficit on the high needs DSG is £20.4m at the end of the 2022/23 financial year. This will be recovered through 
future funding growth and our recovery plan aimed at influencing the increasing level of demand in the high needs 
system and the push towards specialist placements. In line with new regulations which came into force on 29 
November 2020, any deficit, as calculated under those regulations, must not be charged to the revenue account. That 
deficit should be recorded in a separate account solely for the purposes of recording deficits relating to its schools’ 
budget. This is an unusable reserve which we have called the Dedicated School Grant Adjustment Account. These 
regulations apply at the moment for a period of three years. This adjustment is included as a statutory adjustment in 
Note 2 to ensure it does not affect the Net Cost of Services or the Total General Reserves available. 
 
 

Page 159

Page 91 of 111



 
Section B - Page 57 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2022/23 across the different DSG blocks are shown below. 
 
 

 2021/22 

Total   
 

Schools 

Block

Early 

Years 

Block

High 

Needs 

Block

Central 

Block
TOTAL

Schools 

Block

Early 

Years 

Block

High 

Needs 

Block

Central 

Block
TOTAL Total

 £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m  £ m 

495.5   
Final DSG for the year before Academy 

recoupment
3.9   1.5   64.0   4.1   73.5   393.9   34.2   22.0   0.0   450.1   523.6   

-255.5    Less Academy recouped for the year 0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   -259.3    0.0   -15.5    0.0   -274.8    -274.8    

240.0   

Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 

the year and agreed initial budget 

distribution in the year.

3.9   1.5   64.0   4.1   73.5   134.6   34.2   6.5   0.0   175.3   248.8   

-8.3    
Plus DSG brought forward from the previous 

year
0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   

231.7   
Agreed initial budgeted distribution in the 

year 
3.9   1.5   64.0   4.1   73.5   134.6   34.2   6.5   0.0   175.3   248.8   

0.5   In year Adjustments 0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.1   0.4   0.0   0.0   0.5   0.5   

232.2   
Final budgeted DSG distribution for the 

year 3.9   1.5   64.0   4.1   73.5   134.7   34.6   6.5   0.0   175.8   249.3   

-67.3    Actual central spending for the year -4.9    -1.4    -68.4    -4.1    -78.8    0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   -78.8    

-176.0    Actual ISB deployed to schools 0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   0.0   -134.7    -34.3    -6.5    0.0   -175.5    -175.5    

-11.1    
Under/Over(-) spend for the year (carried 

forward)
-1.0    0.1   -4.4    -0.0    -5.3    -0.0    0.3   -0.0    0.0   0.3   -5.0    

Individual schools budget (ISB)

 2022/23 

Central Spending

P
age 160

P
age 92 of 111



 
Section B - Page 58 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 30: Events after the Balance Sheet date 
 
Academisation of Schools 
As a result of the Government’s White Paper ‘The Importance of Teaching’, which allows Schools to opt out of local 
government control by becoming academies, 9 Warwickshire schools chose to take up the new academy status in 
2022/23 and a further 5 Warwickshire schools are anticipated to also convert to academy status in 2023/24 and 
beyond. The significance of the conversion of these schools to academy is that the value of the land, buildings and 
any vehicles, plant and equipment will be removed from our Balance Sheet at the date of conversion. The value of the 
derecognition of the current schools looking to convert to academy status after 31 March 2023 will be in the region of 
£20.7 million. 
 
 

Note 31: External audit costs 
 
We expect to incur costs of £0.130 million (£0.129 million in 2021/22) in relation to the audit of the 2022/23 Statement 
of Accounts and £0.010 million (£0.008 million in 2021/22) in respect of certification of grant claims and other services 
provided by our external auditors. In addition, we acquired non-audit services from the external auditors of £0.008 
million in 2022/23 (£0.008 million in 2021/22). 

 
 
Note 32: Leases 
 
Authority as lessee 

• Finance leases 
We have acquired some equipment under finance leases. The assets acquired under these leases are carried 
as property, plant and equipment in the Balance Sheet. These amounts are not material to the financial 
statements. 

• Operating leases 
We have acquired a number of buildings, vehicles and items of equipment by entering into operating leases. 
These amounts are not material to the financial statements.  

 
Authority as lessor 

• Finance leases 
We do not have any finance leases as lessor. 

• Operating leases 
We lease out property under operating leases for the following purposes: 

• For the provision of community services, such as community centres, homes for the elderly and disabled 
nurseries; 

• For economic development purposes to provide accommodation for local businesses; 

• For the support of rural businesses to support smallholdings and farming; and 

• To individuals for personal and business use. 
 
The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

31 March 2022      

£ m

Operating lease period 31 March 2023     

£ m

1.8 Not later than 1 year 1.7 

4.8 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4.3 

11.0 Later than 5 years 10.7 

17.6 Total 16.7  
 
The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the 
lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews. The contingent rent is not material to the financial 
statements. 

 

Page 161

Page 93 of 111



 
Section B - Page 59 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Note 33: Contingent assets 
 
We currently have no contingent assets. 
 

 
Note 34: Contingent liabilities 
 
A further legal ruling relating to Firefighter Additional Duties received in April 2019 charges Fire Authorities to ensure 
all allowances related to any regular additional duty are treated as pensionable. The appropriate changes have been 
made to the payroll system but backpay will be due once further advice is received concerning how far back we are 
required to consider recompense for. Until this advice is available, we are unable to calculate an appropriate provision 
amount, but our view is that for Warwickshire FRS this only relates to Training Allowance which is only paid to a small 
number of individuals and therefore should not be a material amount. 
 
 

Note 35: Members’ allowances 
 
Elected members were paid a total of £0.863 million (£0.775 million in 2021/22) in allowances and expenses. In 
addition, we paid independent and co-opted members allowances and expenses of £0.013 million (£0.013 million in 
2021/22). No single member was paid more than £50,000 during the year. Details of allowances and expenses 
payments made to Elected Members in 2022/23 are available on our website. Payments to Elected Members include 
expenses for the Police and Crime Panel which are reimbursed by the Home Office. 
 

 
Note 36: Officers’ remuneration and termination benefits 
 

We are required to show the number of our staff who are paid more than £50,000 a year. This is shown in the table 
below. Pay includes salary, redundancy, taxable travel and other taxable costs. These figures do not include 
employer’s pension contribution and exclude remuneration for senior staff who are shown separately. 
 

Remuneration Band

Number Number Left Number Number Left

 of Staff in the Year  of Staff in the Year

170 7 £50,000 - £54,999 174 9

113 5 £55,000 - £59,999 144 1

83 1 £60,000 - £64,999 98 5

64 2 £65,000 - £69,999 72 1

42 4 £70,000 - £74,999 40 1

29 0 £75,000 - £79,999 28 0

21 2 £80,000 - £84,999 30 1

11 0 £85,000 - £89,999 16 0

5 0 £90,000 - £94,999 6 0

6 0 £95,000 - £99,999 10 0

5 0 £100,000 - £104,999 6 0

1 0 £105,000 - £109,999 7 1

0 0 £110,000 - £114,999 4 0

2 0 £115,000 - £119,999 3 0

1 1 £120,000 - £124,999 3 0

0 0 £125,000 - £129,999 1 1

1 0 £130,000 - £134,999 2 0

0 0 £135,000 - £139,999 0 1

0 0 £140,000 - £144,999 1 0

0 0 £145,000 - £149,999 1 0

554 22 646 21

2021/22 2022/23

 
 

Page 162

Page 94 of 111



 
Section B - Page 60 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

We are required to disclose the remuneration of senior employees, as defined by regulation, by post for salaries under 
£150,000 and by name for those whose salary is over £150,000. Remuneration for senior staff includes the employer’s 
contribution to the appropriate pension fund. 
 
                  

Post holder information

S
al

ar
ie

s 
(i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 

fe
es

 a
n

d
 

A
ll

o
w

an
ce

s)
  

C
o

m
p

en
sa

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

lo
ss

 o
f 

o
ff

ic
e

T
o

ta
l 

ex
cl

u
d

in
g

 

p
en

si
o

n
 

co
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 

E
m

p
lo

ye
r'

s 
P

en
si

o
n

 

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

T
o

ta
l 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 

p
en

si
o

n
 

co
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 

 £ £ £ £ £

2021/22 198,948 0 198,948 39,193 238,141

2022/23 200,525 0 200,525 39,503 240,028

2021/22 153,767 0 153,767 30,292 184,059

2022/23 155,531 0 155,531 30,640 186,171

Strategic Director for People - Nigel Minns 2021/22 153,767 0 153,767 30,292 184,059

Note 1 2022/23 155,531 0 155,531 30,640 186,171

2021/22 146,193 0 146,193 28,800 174,993

2022/23 151,760 0 151,760 29,897 181,657

Chief Fire Officer 2021/22 69,699 0 69,699 15,973 85,672

Note 2 2021/22 88,953 0 88,953 25,618 114,571

2022/23 135,564 0 135,564 39,042 174,606

2021/22 115,553 0 115,553 22,764 138,317

2022/23 115,603 0 115,603 22,774 138,377

2021/22 119,743 0 119,743 23,589 143,332

2022/23 69,681 70,000 139,681 12,030 151,711

Note 3, Note 4 2022/23 9,303 0 9,303 1,833 11,136

2021/22 122,380 0 122,380 24,109 146,489

2022/23 124,262 0 124,262 24,480 148,742

Total 2021/22 1,169,003 0 1,169,003 240,630 1,409,633

Total 2022/23 1,117,760 70,000 1,187,760 230,839 1,418,599

Chief Executive - Monica Fogarty

(Head of Paid Service)

Strategic Director for Resources - Rob Powell 

(Section 151 Officer)

Director - Public Health (Director of Public Health)

Assistant Director Education Services (Chief 

Education Officer) 

Strategic Director for Communities - Mark Ryder

Assistant Director Governance and Policy 

(Monitoring Officer)

 
 
Note 1 The Strategic Director for People holds the posts of Director of Children’s Services and Director of Adult 

Social Services. 
 
Note 2 The role of the Chief Fire Officer was undertaken by two individuals during 2021/22. Initially from 1 April 

2021 to 1 September 2021 on an annualised salary of £132,228.  A new Chief Fire Officer started on 26 
July 2021 on an annualised salary of £130,000. The new Chief Fire Officer was previously in the role of 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer. 

 
Note 3 The role of Assistant Director for Education Services was undertaken by two individuals during 2022/23. 

Initially from 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022 on an annualised salary of £121,167. A new Assistant 
Director for Education Services started on 01 March 2023 on an annualised salary of £111,630. 

 
Note 4 An interim Assistant Director for Education was also in post from April 2022 to March 2023, receiving 

payment of £154,743. (Prior year: November 2021 to March 2022 receiving payment of £68,255). 
 
There were no payments for taxable expense allowances or benefits in kind. 
 
A number of employees left during 2022/23. Exit packages agreed within 2022/23 totalled £0.6 million (£1.8 million in 
2021/22). One of the exit packages relates to a senior employee. This cost includes officers who have left as part of 
ongoing savings and efficiency plans. The table below provides details of total exit costs, which also includes the 
pensions costs funded by the authority. 
 

Page 163

Page 95 of 111



 
Section B - Page 61 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Exit Package Cost Band 

(including Special 

Payments)

2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23

    £0 - £20,000 26 22 32 0 58 22 0.284 0.134

    £20,001 - £40,000 10 1 1 0 11 1 0.307 0.021

    £40,001 - £60,000 5 3 2 0 7 3 0.338 0.157

    £60,001 - £80,000 4 1 0 0 4 1 0.260 0.070

    £80,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.000 0.000

    £100,001 - £150,000 5 0 0 0 5 0 0.617 0.000

    £150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.000 0.000

    £200,001 - £250,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 0.000 0.227

50 27 35 1 85 28 1.806 0.609

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 

departures agreed

Total Number of 

packages by cost 

band

Total cost of packages in 

each band 

£ m

 
 
This is staff that have left the authority in the year. In addition, we are required to account for the termination costs for 
staff that have signed an agreement to leave the authority which cannot be cancelled but who do not leave until after 
the 31 March, as a provision charged in the CIES. 
 
 

Note 37: Pension schemes 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment, we offer retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not 
actually be payable until employees retire, the authority has a commitment to make payments that need to be disclosed 
at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
Pension Schemes operated by the Council 
 
Teachers 
We operate a pension scheme for our teaching staff, under the Superannuation Act 1972. The scheme provides 
teachers with a defined benefit when they retire. The Teachers' Pensions Agency manages the scheme under the 
Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 1997, as amended. The Government sets teachers' and employers' contribution rates 
on the basis of an assumed fund. The scheme has a large number of participating employers and so we are not able 
to identify our share of the underlying financial position and performance of the scheme with sufficient reliability for 
accounting purposes. For the purposes of our Statement of Accounts, the scheme is therefore accounted for on the 
same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 
 
We may be required to make two kinds of contributions to the scheme – ‘normal’ and ‘supplementary’. The normal 
contribution is the percentage of a newly recruited teacher's salary that is needed to meet the cost of the pension 
liability. We would pay a supplementary contribution if the Government found that future liabilities would not be met by 
the normal contributions.  A supplementary contribution is not needed at present. Our total employer’s contribution 
cost was £16.4 million in 2022/23 (£16.4 million in 2021/22). 
 
We are also responsible for paying any extra added years of benefits and early retirement costs to pensioners. These 
extra costs are classed as defined benefits. As a result, in our accounts we show the extra cost of pensions decisions 
we made in the current year, no matter when we will actually pay these financial costs.  There is no fund for these 
discretionary benefits and so there are no assets.  In 2022/23 the payments relating to added pensionable years came 
to £3.1 million (£3.1 million in 2021/22). 
 
Firefighters 
There is a defined benefit pension scheme for our firefighters, under the Superannuation Act 1972.   The Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme in England is an unfunded scheme where we promise to provide employees with benefits under the 
scheme but make no advance funding in the scheme for those benefits. Benefits are paid directly when they become 
due. 
 

Page 164

Page 96 of 111



 
Section B - Page 62 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

We pay an employer’s pension contribution, based on a percentage of pay, into the pension fund.  The pension fund 
will be balanced to nil at the end of the year by either paying over to the government any excess, or by receiving cash 
in the form of pension top-up grant. This grant is paid to the Firefighters’ Pension Fund and not the County Council.  
The Government sets the employees’ and employer’s contribution rates by regulation. 
 
In 2022/23, pension payments totalled £7.9 million (£7.3 million in 2021/22). Costs relating to early retirement totalled 
£1.9 million in 2022/23 (£3.2 million in 2021/22). 
 
The estimated employer's contributions for Fire Fighters pension for the period to 31st March 2024 is approximately 
£2.9 million. 
 
Firefighters’ Injury Awards Scheme 
Firefighters’ injury awards are financed from our revenue account. An ongoing liability to pay injury awards is included 
in our Balance Sheet.  This liability is subject to the same actuarial assumptions as the main firefighters' scheme, 
though it is not a separate pension scheme as there is a benefit paid whether the recipient of the injury award is a 
member of the scheme or not. However, the liability forms part of our overall pensions' liability. 
 
National Health Service  
During 2013/14 some NHS staff transferred to us. These staff have maintained their membership in the NHS Pension 
Scheme. The scheme provides these staff with specified benefits upon their retirement and we contribute towards the 
costs by making contributions based on a percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. 
 
The scheme is an unfunded defined benefit scheme. However, we are not able to identify our share of the underlying 
financial position and performance of the Scheme with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. For the purposes 
of this Statement of Accounts it is therefore accounted for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 
 
In 2022/23 we paid £0.055 million (£0.065 million in 2021/22) to the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of former NHS 
staff retirement benefits, including employees’ contributions.   
 
Local Government Pension Scheme – all other Council employees 
We operate a funded, defined benefit pension scheme for staff, under the Local Government Pensions Scheme 
Regulations 2013. We manage the scheme for ourselves, the five district councils and a number of other organisations. 
We prepare the accounts, but they are separate from our financial statements. The Council and employees pay 
contributions into the fund calculated at a level intended to balance pension liabilities with investment assets.  
 
An actuarial valuation is carried out every three years to assess the difference between the fund’s projected assets 
and liabilities and the amount employers will have to contribute for the next three years. The valuation on 31 March 
2022 set the rates for 2023/24, 2024/25 and 2025/26. 
 
In the valuation carried out as at 31 March 2022 the funding level increased from 92% to 104%. As a result, the 
employer’s rate is expected to remain unchanged until 2025/26.  In 2022/23, we made normal employer’s contributions 
totalling £36.3 million (£32.3 million in 2021/22).  
 
We are also responsible for all pension payments relating to benefits we have awarded for added years, together with 
related increases. In 2022/23, these came to £1.0 million (£1.1 million in 2021/22). The estimated employer's 
contribution for the period to 31st March 2024 is £35.9 million. 
 
In 2021/22 we agreed to take on the full pension assets and liabilities of Educaterers Ltd (our wholly owned Local 
Authority Trading Company), adopting an approach to achieve a stable and appropriate contributions rate under a 
risk sharing agreement. This is identified within the below tables with the narrative “Effect of business combinations 
and disposals”. The net impact was an increased pension liability of £10 million. This comprised of an increase in 
LGPS assets of £19.2 million and an increase in LGPS liabilities of £29.1m. The liability was previously transferred 
from us in 2017 on the incorporation of Educaterers.  
 

Page 165

Page 97 of 111



 
Section B - Page 63 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The impact of the transfer is included within Other Comprehensive Income in the CIES included within the line for 
“Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability”. There is no impact to our general fund reserves, with the 
increase in pension liability offset by an increase in the pension reserve.  
 
The value of our LGPS assets at 31 March 2023 is based on the market value at 31 March 2023. The movement in 
our LGPS assets in the year is as shown below: 
 

31 March 2022

£ m Change in Fair Value of WCC Share of LGPS Assets

31 March 2023

£ m

1,278.1 Fair value of assets at the beginning of the year 1,397.2

-2.7 Effect of settlements -2.3

25.5 Interest Income on plan assets 37.7

77.9 Remeasurements on assets -37.5

32.4 Employers' contributions (including receipts covering early retirements) 37.3

10.1 Member contributions 11.3

-43.3 Benefits/transfers paid -45.4

19.2 Effect of business combinations and disposals 0.0

1,397.2 Fair value of assets at the end of the year 1,398.2  
 
 
A breakdown of the nature of those assets is as follows: 
 

Quoted prices in 

Quoted prices not 

in Quoted prices in 

Quoted prices not 

in 

active markets active markets active markets active markets

£ m £ m £ m £ m

0.0 0.6 Equity securities: 0.0 0.6

180.5 41.6 Debt Securities: 172.0 51.7

0.0 99.3 Private equity: 0.0 103.5

  Real estate:   

137.1 0.0   UK property 128.6 0.0

0.5 0.0   Overseas property 0.0 0.0

  Investment funds and unit trusts:   

711.3 0.0   Equities 701.3 0.0

126.2 0.0   Bonds 125.8 0.0

0.0 70.7   Infrastructure 0.0 97.9

0.0 0.0   Other 0.0 0.0

29.3 0.0 Cash and cash equivalents 16.8 0.0

1,185.0 212.2 Totals 1,144.6 253.7

LGPS Assets

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

 
 
The expected return on scheme assets does not affect the Balance Sheet position as at 31 March 2023 but will affect 
the reported pension cost for the following year. It is based on market expectations at the beginning of the financial 
period for returns over the life of the obligation. This requires the consideration of the composition of the Scheme’s 
assets and the potential returns of different asset classes.  The assumption used is the average of the assumptions 
appropriate to the individual asset classes weighted by the proportion of the assets in the particular asset class. 
 
The Impact of Pensions in our Accounts 
 
We show the cost of retirements benefits in ‘Money spent on services’ in the CIES when employees earn them. We 
have made adjustments in the MIRS so that the charge made against the council tax reflects the actual cash we have 
paid relating to the year. 

Page 166

Page 98 of 111



 
Section B - Page 64 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Pension scheme accounting

LGPS Teachers

Fire 

fighters

Fire fighter 

Injury 

Award Total LGPS Teachers

Fire 

fighters

Fire fighter 

Injury 

Award Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Spending:

81.3 0.0 5.0 0.6 86.9 Current service cost 80.4 0.0 4.7 0.6 85.7

0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 Past service cost and curtailments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

-2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.6 Effects of Settlement -2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.3

39.3 0.9 6.2 0.6 47.0 Interest cost 52.6 1.1 8.0 0.7 62.5

-25.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 -25.5 Interest income on plan assets -37.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 -37.7

92.9 0.9 11.2 1.2 106.2 Net charge to CIES 93.0 1.1 12.7 1.3 108.2

Contribution from Pensions Reserve:

137.7 4.3 18.3 1.5 161.8 Movement on the Pensions Reserve 545.2 7.1 85.8 7.0 645.1

-207.2 -2.1 -20.4 -2.2 -231.8 Re-measurements recognised in CIES -601.0 -5.1 -90.1 -7.7 -703.8

10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.0 Effect of business combinations and disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

n/a n/a -6.1 n/a -6.1 Funded by Government top up grant n/a n/a -5.5 n/a -5.5

-59.5 2.2 -8.2 -0.7 -66.3 Contribution (from) Pensions Reserve -55.7 2.0 -9.8 -0.7 -64.2

Actual amount charged against council tax:

33.4 n/a 3.0 n/a 36.3 Employer's contributions & ill-health contributions 37.3 n/a 2.9 n/a 40.3

0.0 3.1 0.0 0.5 3.6

Retirement benefits paid or due to be paid to pensioners 

and transfers out 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.6 3.7

33.4 3.1 3.0 0.5 39.9 Amount charged against council tax 37.3 3.1 2.9 0.6 44.0

Amount funded by government top up grant 

n/a n/a 10.3 n/a 10.3

Retirement benefits paid and due to be paid to pensioners 

and transfers out n/a n/a 9.8 n/a 9.8

n/a n/a 0.0 n/a 0.0

Retirement Benefits paid directly by Government Top Up 

Grant n/a n/a 0.0 n/a 0.0

n/a n/a -1.2 n/a -1.2 Employee contributions n/a n/a -1.4 n/a -1.4

n/a n/a -3.0 n/a -3.0 Employer's contributions & ill-health contributions n/a n/a -3.0 n/a -3.0

0.0 0.0 6.1 0.0 6.1 Government top up grant receivable 0.0 0.0 5.4 0.0 5.4

Movement in Reserves Statement

-92.9 -0.9 -11.2 -1.2 -106.2 Reversal of net charges made for retirement benefits -93.0 -1.1 -12.7 -1.3 -108.2

33.4 n/a 3.0 n/a 36.3 Employer's contributions & ill-health contributions 37.3 n/a 2.9 n/a 40.3

n/a 3.1 n/a 0.5 3.6

Retirement benefits paid or due to be paid to pensioners 

and transfers out n/a 3.1 n/a 0.6 3.7

-59.5 2.2 -8.2 -0.7 -66.3 Movement in Reserves Statement -55.7 2.0 -9.8 -0.7 -64.2

31 March 2022 (Restated) 31 March 2023

 

P
age 167

P
age 99 of 111



 
Section B - Page 65 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
The key assumptions used by our actuary to determine valuations are as laid out in the table below: 
 

Pension scheme assumptions

LGPS Teachers Firefighters 

Firefighter 

Injury Award LGPS Teachers

New 

Firefighters

Firefighter and 

Injury Award

Financial assumptions:

3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% Rate of Inflation CPI 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

4.0% 4.0% 3.7% 3.7% Salary increase 4.0% 4.0% 3.2% 3.2%

3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% Pensions increases 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

2.7% 2.7% 2.7% 2.0% Rate of discount 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8%

   Life expectancy assumptions:    

21.6 (24.1) 21.6 (24.1) 26.3 (28.7) 26.3 (28.7) A male (female) current pensioner aged 65 21.7 (24.2) 21.7 (24.2) 25.9 (28.5) 25.9 (28.5)

22.7 (25.9) 22.7 (25.9) 27.7 (30.1) 27.7 (30.1) A male (female) future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years time 22.5 (25.8) 22.5 (25.8) 27.3 (29.8) 27.3 (29.8)

    Commutation of pension for lump sum at retirement:     

75.0% n/a 90.0% 90.0%    ~ Taking maximum cash 75.0% n/a 90.0% 90.0%

50.0% n/a n/a n/a    ~ Taking 3/80th cash 50.0% n/a n/a n/a

31 March 202331 March 2022

 
 
The sensitivity regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the LGPS scheme liabilities are set out below. 
 
Change in assumptions as at 31 March 2023 Approximate increase to Employer Liability Approximate monetary amount

% £ m

0.1% decrease in real discount rate 2% 24.8

1 year increase in member life expectancy 4% 55.4

0.1% increase in the salary increase rate 0% 2.3

0.1% increase in the pension increase rate 2% 22.8  
 
  

P
age 168

P
age 100 of 111



 
Section B - Page 66 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The liabilities associated with each scheme are as shown in the table below: 
 

LGPS Teachers Firefighters

Firefighter 

Injury Award All Schemes LGPS Teachers Firefighters

Firefighter 

Injury Award

All 

Schemes

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

1,949.1 47.8 316.3 27.7 2,340.9 Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 1,930.4 43.6 298.0 26.2 2,298.2

81.3 0.0 5.0 0.6 86.9 Current service costs 80.4 0.0 4.7 0.6 85.7

-5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 -5.3 Effect of Settlements -4.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 -4.7

39.3 0.9 6.2 0.6 47.0 Interest on pensions liabilities 52.6 1.1 8.0 0.7 62.5

10.1 0.0 1.2 0.0 11.3 Member contributions 11.3 0.0 1.4 0.0 12.7

0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 Past service costs 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

-44.3 -3.1 -10.3 -0.5 -58.2 Benefits/transfers paid -45.4 -3.1 -9.8 -0.6 -59.0

29.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 29.1 Effect of business combinations and disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

-129.2 -2.1 -20.4 -2.2 -153.9 Remeasurements on liabilities -638.4 -5.1 -90.1 -7.7 -741.3

1,930.4 43.6 298.0 26.2 2,298.2 Present value of liabilities at the end of the year 1,386.2 36.6 212.2 19.2 1,654.2

Change in present value of pension scheme 

liabilities during the year

31 March 202331 March 2022

 
 
This leaves each scheme with a net liability as shown below:  
 

LGPS Teachers

Fire 

fighters

Firefighter 

Injury 

Award Total

Pension assets and liabilities recognised in the 

Balance Sheet

LGPS Teachers

Fire 

fighters

Firefighter 

Injury 

Award Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

1,930.4 43.6 298.0 26.2 2,298.2 Present value of the defined benefit obligation 1,386.2 36.6 212.2 19.2 1,654.2

1,397.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,397.2 Less:  Fair value of plan assets 1,398.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,398.2

533.2 43.6 298.0 26.2 901.1 Net Liability arising from defined benefit obligation -12.0 36.6 212.2 19.2 255.9

-137.7 -4.2 -18.3 -1.5 -161.8
Increase/decrease (-) in net liability from previous 

year
-545.2 -7.1 -85.8 -7.0 -645.2

31 March 202331 March 2022

 
 
 
 

P
age 169

P
age 101 of 111



 
Section B - Page 67 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that we have in the long run to pay retirement benefits.  However, 
statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that our financial position remains healthy: 
 

• LGPS – no deficit as at 31 March 2023; 

• Firefighters Pension Scheme  - the deficit is paid by Central Government; 

• Teachers’ Pension Scheme - finance is provided by the Teachers Pensions Agency; and 

• Firefighters' Injury Awards – these are financed through revenue budgets. 
 
 

Note 38: Pooled budgets with health  
 
Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 allowed joint-working arrangements between NHS 
organisations and local authorities. Pooled funds allow these health organisations and local authorities to work 
together to tackle specific health issues. An important feature of the pool is that the way resources are used will 
depend on the needs of the clients who meet the conditions set for the pooled budget, rather than the contributions 
of the partners. 
 
The tables below summarise the financial transactions of the pooled budgets. 
 
Better Care Fund – Section 75: 
 
Warwickshire County Council is the host authority for the Section 75 Pooled budget arrangement via the Better 
Care Fund. The strategic aims of the programme are: 
 

• People are helped to remain healthy and independent; 

• People are empowered to play an active role in managing their own care and the care they receive; and 

• People get the right service at the right time and in the right place – which means services will envelop 
individuals close to their home. 

 
Agreements for the financial years since 1 April 2015 have been agreed by us and the NHS Coventry and 
Warwickshire Integrated Care Board (ICB). Annual contributions are agreed by the Better Together Programme 
Board before the commencement of each financial year thereafter. The agreement sets out the basis of the 
governance arrangements and reporting requirements to both the Better Together Programme Board and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Better Care Fund 2021/22 2022/23

£m £m

Funding provided to the pooled budget:

~ Warwickshire County Council 19.8                          22.1                       

~ NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB 43.4                          46.9                       

63.2                          69.0                       

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:

~ Warwickshire County Council 34.3                          39.0                       

~ NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB 26.0                          29.2                       

60.3                          68.2                       

Net Surplus arising on the pooled budget during the year: 2.9                            0.8                          
 
Total pooled budget arrangement for 2022/23 is £69 million (£63.2 million in 2021/22) of which: 
 
£5.1 million (£5.1 million in 2021/22) is capital funding for Disabled Facilities. Warwickshire County Council pays 
the Disabled Facilities Grant monies to it's District and Boroughs which then incur the spend on local facilities. 
 
Of the remaining funds, £29.2 million (£26.0 million in 2021/22) was spent by the ICB for it to commission services.  
 

Page 170

Page 102 of 111



 
Section B - Page 68 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

In addition, £4.3 million (£4.1 million in 2021/22) has been passed back to the Council as part of a separate S75 
Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES) agreement. The Council contributed a further £1.8 million (£1.7 
million in 2021/22) and incurred total spend of £6.1 million in relation to ICES in 2022/23 (£5.5 million in 2021/22).  
 
A total of £27.7 million (£23.6 million in 2021/22) revenue funding was allocated by the Council for commissioning 
services in accordance with the agreement. 
 
In 2022/23, the surplus on the Better Care Fund totalled £0.8m. This related to the Adult Social Care Discharge 
Fund and was held by the Council as at 31/03/23. The surplus is held within earmarked reserves by the Council 
on behalf of the pool, with the related expenditure due to be incurred in future years. 
 
In 2021/22, the surplus on the Better Care Fund totalled £2.9m. This related to the Development Fund contributed 
by the ICB. This was held by the Council as at 31/03/22. The surplus was held within earmarked reserves by the 
Council on behalf of the pool, with the related expenditure due to be incurred in future years. 
 
The surplus at the end of the year on Disabled Facilities belongs to the Districts and Borough Councils of 
Warwickshire. The Districts and Boroughs hold these funds and then incur the related spend in future years. 
 
 
Commissioning of Mental Health Services for Children and Young People (CAMHS) 
 
The authority has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB for the 
commissioning of mental health services for children and young people. The s75 agreement for Commissioning 
of Mental Health Services was agreed in 2018/19. 
 
Warwickshire County Council acts as the lead commissioning partner within the pooled arrangement. The pooled 
resources totalled 4.4 million in 2022/23 (£4.5 million in 2021/22). Any surplus or deficits remaining within the 
pool, are allocated in agreement with the Partnership Board. 
 
CAMHS 2021/22 2022/23

£m £m

Funding provided to the pooled budget:

~ Warwickshire County Council 0.9 0.8

~ NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB 3.6 3.7

4.5 4.4

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:

~ Warwickshire County Council 4.5 4.4

~ NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB 0.0 0.0

4.5 4.4

Net Surplus arising on the pooled budget during the year: 0.0 0.0  
 
Note 39: Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool 
 
The Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool was created on 1 April 2013 with seven member authorities: 
Warwickshire County Council, the five District and Borough Councils within Warwickshire and Coventry City 
Council. Warwickshire County Council is the lead authority for the pool and there is an agreed memorandum of 
understanding in place that determines how the Pool’s resources are allocated. As lead authority for the pool, 
Warwickshire County Council undertakes a number of responsibilities, including completing all formal returns to 
Central Government on behalf of the pool members, manage the resources of the pool in accordance with the 
MoU, administer the schedule of payments between Pool members in respect of all financial transactions that form 
part of the Pool’s resource. 
 
Under the agreement any surplus generated by the pool, will be shared between pool members. We have 
accounted for our share of the current surplus in the CIES and the pool surplus is held in our reserves until such 

Page 171

Page 103 of 111



 
Section B - Page 69 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

times as it is distributed. At 31st March 2023, the pool surplus held was £2.8 million (£2.2 million at 31st March 
2022). This is held in Note 7 within the line “External Commitments Reserves”. 
 

 
Note 40: Related parties and associated parties 
 
Central Government 
Central Government has effective control over our general duties – it is responsible for providing the legal 
framework within which we work, provides funding in the form of grants and sets the terms of many of the 
relationships that we have with other organisations. Details of the grants we receive from government departments 
are set out in note 24. Details of the balances with central government departments are shown in notes 15 and 17. 
Pooled budget arrangements with the Department of Health via the NHS Coventry and Warwickshire Integrated 
Care Board are disclosed in note 38. 
 
Elected Members 
Elected Members of the council have direct control over our financial and operating policies. The total of Elected 
Members’ allowances paid in 2022/23 is shown in note 35.  
 
During 2022/23 £14.6 million (£14.5 million in 2021/22) was paid to entities in which elected members had an 
interest (this includes £13.3 million (£13.5 million in 2021/22) paid to District and Borough Councils in Warwickshire 
where they are also elected members).  
 
During 2022/23 £5.7 million (£7.0 million in 2021/22) was received from entities in which elected members had an 
interest (this includes £3.8 million (£5.4 million in 2021/22) paid by District and Borough Councils in Warwickshire 
where they are also elected members. 
 
Amounts owed to or by these councils are included in within the other public bodies figures disclosed elsewhere 
in this note. At 31 March 2023, no material amounts were owed to or by other entities in which elected members 
had an interest. Contracts were entered into in full compliance with our contract standing orders. The above figure 
includes any grants paid to voluntary groups in which elected members had positions on the governing body, 
including any made to organisations whose senior management included close members of the families of elected 
members. In all instances, grants were made with proper consideration of declarations of interest. The relevant 
members did not take part in any discussions or decisions relating to the grants. Details of all these transactions 
are recorded in the Register of Members’ Interests, open to public inspection at Shire Hall. Details of the Members 
and the Committees and organisations for which they represent the authority are also available on the authority’s 
website. 
 
Senior Officers 
During 2022/23 payments of £10.3 million (2021/22 – £0.7 million) were made to organisations in which senior 
officers or members of their families had declared an interest. During 2022/23 payments of £1.5 million (2021/22 - 
£1.6 million) were received from organisations in which senior officers or members of their families had declared 
an interest. At 31 March 2023, no material amounts were owed to or by other entities in which senior officers or 
members of their families had declared an interest. 
 
A number of senior officers and elected members represent us on the board of related companies (such as Warwick 
Technology Park Management Limited, Warwick Technology Park Management No 2 Limited, SCAPE Group 
Limited, and University of Warwick Science Park Innovation Centre Limited). In addition, a number of officers within 
the authority are directors of our three wholly owned Local Authority Trading Companies. You can see registers of 
members’ and officers’ interests at Shire Hall, Warwick or at the registered office of the company in question if this 
is not Shire Hall, Warwick. 
 
Other Public Bodies 
At the end of the year we owed £30.0 million (£32.4 million in 2021/22) to other local authorities, central government 
and public bodies including £5.8 million (£6.8 million in 2021/22) to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs, and they 

Page 172

Page 104 of 111



 
Section B - Page 70 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

owed us £36.5 million (£46.8 million in 2021/22), including £8.8 million (£4.6 million in 2021/22) from Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs.  
 
Warwickshire County Council is the administering body for the Warwickshire Pension Fund. In 2022/23 we charged 
the Warwickshire County Council Pension Fund £1.3 million (£1.7 million in 2021/22) for carrying out the 
administration work for the fund (not including payroll-processing costs). In addition we paid pension contributions 
to the pension fund as part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are shown in Note 37. 
 
Group Entities 
The following companies fall within the WCC group boundary as at 31st March 2023. 
 

Company WCC Share Holding

Warwickshire Legal Services Trading Ltd 100% owned LATC (WCC)

Educaterers Ltd 100% owned LATC (WCC)

Warwickshire Property and Development Group Ltd (WPDG) 100% owned LATC (WCC)

Warwickshire Property Development Limited 100% owned subsidiary of WPDG

Warwickshire Property Management Limited 100% owned subsidiary of WPDG

Develop Warwickshire LLP (DW LLP) 30% owned Joint Venture (WCC)

20% owned Joint Venture (WPDG)

BrookMill Meadows LLP 100% owned subsidiary of DW LLP  
 
Warwickshire County Council have three wholly owned local authority trading companies. Two which started 
trading in 2017/18 and one that was incorporated in March 2021. 
 

• Warwickshire Legal Services Trading Ltd: 
 

Warwickshire Legal Services Trading Ltd started trading on 1 October 2017. It provides legal services to other 
entities outside the Council and pays the authority for the services of our staff to carry out that work. This company 
has negligible assets.  
 
In 2022/23 the Council received payments of £216k (£70k in 2021/22) from Warwickshire Legal Services Trading 
Ltd, and made no payments (Nil in 2021/22) to the entity. As at 31 March 2023, the Council was owed £47k (31 
March 2022: £82k) by the entity and didn’t owe anything to it (31 March 2022: nil). 
 

• Educaterers Ltd: 
 

Educaterers Ltd, providing meals services to schools, started trading on 1 September 2017. Most of the company’s 
trading is with maintained schools in Warwickshire so that expenditure is already included in our CIES. Its accounts 
for the year to 30 August 2022 showed net liabilities of £0.6 million (£8.7 million for the year to 30 August 2021). 
This improved position is mainly as a result of the transfer of the pension liability back to the Council.  In 2021/22 
we agreed to take on the full pension assets and liabilities of Educaterers Ltd (our wholly owned Local Authority 
Trading Company), adopting an approach to achieve a stable and appropriate contributions rate under a risk 
sharing agreement. 
 
We provided the company with a working capital loan of up to £1.8 million as required up to 31 August 2022, later 
extended to 31 March 2023 with further scope of extension to 31 March 2024. Interest is charged at a market rate 
of 5.75% plus the Bank of England Base Rate per annum. At 31 March 2023 the balance on the loan was £1.8 
million (31 March 2022: £1.6 million). No dividends or profit distributions have yet been agreed for the trading 
periods up to 31 March 2023. 
 
In 2022/23, aside from items relating to the loan amounts mentioned above, the Council (including Warwickshire's 
maintained schools) made payments of £7.2 million to Educaterers Ltd (£6.3 million in 2021/22) and received 
payments of £0.4 million (£0.3 million in 2021/22). As at 31/03/2023, the County Council was owed £13k (31 March 
2022: £125k) by Educaterers Ltd and the Council owed Educaterers £1.0 million (31 March 2022: £1.1 million). 
 
 

Page 173

Page 105 of 111



 
Section B - Page 71 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

• Warwickshire Property and Development Group Ltd (WPDG): 
 

A wholly owned local authority trading company was incorporated on 26 March 2021 called the Warwickshire 
Property and Development Group Ltd (WPDG). The reason for creating WPDG is to deliver our policy objective of 
creating jobs and more homes across Warwickshire. WPDG has two wholly owned subsidiary companies; 
Warwickshire Property Management Ltd and Warwickshire Property Development Ltd. At 31 March 2023 one site 
had been transferred to the company. Its accounts for the period ended 31 December 2022 showed a net liability 
position of £0.7 million. 
 
As at 31 March 2023 we had provided a working capital loan of £1.2 million (31 March 2022: £0.2 million. Interest 
is charged at a market rate of 3.44% above the UK 3-year gilt rate (and 0.25% above UK 3-year gilt rate for the 
undrawn remainder of the £1.85 million total facility). In addition to the working capital loan there is a development 
loan. The balance was £1.4 million at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: Nil). The development loan has interest 
charged at 5.91%. 
 
In 2022/23, aside from items relating to the loan amounts mentioned above, the Council made payments of £395k 
to WPDG (£148k in 2021/22) and received payments of £588k (£8k in 2021/22). As at 31/03/2023, the Council 
was owed £5k (31 March 2022: £49k) by WPDG and owed WPDG £34k (31 March 2022: £5k). 
 

• Warwickshire Property Development Limited (WPD Ltd): 
 

Warwickshire Property Development Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Warwickshire Property and 
Development Group Ltd. The entity was established to positively contribute to the delivery of the Council's 
objectives through using our surplus land to deliver new affordable and market priced homes together with a range 
of commercial and mixed-use opportunities to deliver economic growth across the County. 
 
In 2022/23, the Council made no payments to WPD Ltd and received no payments from WPD Ltd. As at 
31/03/2023, the Council owed nothing to WPD Ltd and WPD Ltd owed nothing to the Council. No payments to/from 
WPD Ltd or amounts owed to/from WPD Ltd were present in 2021/22. 
 

• Warwickshire Property Management Limited (WPM Ltd): 
 

Warwickshire Property Management Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Warwickshire Property and 
Development Group Ltd. The entity was established to transfer the property management function from the Council 
to WPDG to regularise leasing arrangements and look for opportunities to ensure the effective use of our property 
assets. 
 
In 2022/23, the Council made payments of £229k to WPM Ltd and received no payments from WPM Ltd. As at 
31/03/2023, the Council owed WPM Ltd £53k and WPM Ltd owed nothing to the Council. No payments to/from 
WPM Ltd or amounts owed to/from WPM Ltd were present in 2021/22. 
 

• Develop Warwickshire LLP: 
 

To further deliver on our policy objectives, in 2022/23 we along with WPDG entered into a joint venture partnership 
called Develop Warwickshire. The split of ownership in the joint venture is WCC (30%), WPDG (20%) and 
Countryside Partnerships PLC (50%).  
 
No transactions took place between the Council and Develop Warwickshire LLP in 2022/23. 
 

• BrookMill Meadows LLP: 
 

BrookMill Meadows LLP is an entity, stablished in 2022/23. Develop Warwickshire LLP is owned by Develop 
Warwickshire LLP. The entity is setup to handle the initial project undertaken by Develop Warwickshire LLP. 
 
No transactions took place between the Council and Develop Warwickshire LLP in 2022/23. 

Page 174

Page 106 of 111



 
Section B - Page 72 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

The Firefighters’ Pension Fund 
 

2021/22 Fund account 2022/23

£m £m

Income to the fund

Contributions receivable (funds due to us during the year):

 - from employer: Warwickshire County Council

-2.9      - normal contributions in relation to pensionable pay -2.8

-0.1      - early retirements -0.1

-1.2  - from members (firefighters' contributions) -1.3

 Transfers in:  

-4.2 Income to the fund -4.2

Spending by the fund

Benefits payable:

7.3      - Pension payments 7.9

3.2  - Commutation of pensions and lump-sum retirement benefits 1.9

 Payments to and on account of leavers  

0.0      - Individual transfers out of the scheme to other authorities 0.1

10.5 Spending by the fund 9.9

6.3 Net amount payable for the year (before top-up grant receivable from Government) 5.7

-6.3 Top-up grant payable by the Government -5.7

0.0 Net amount payable or receivable (-) for the year 0.0  
 

31 March 2022 Firefighters' Pension Fund net assets statement 31 March 2022

£m  £m

Current assets:

2.3   - Top-up grant receivable from Government 2.9

 Current liabilities:  

-2.3   - other current liabilities (other than liabilities in the future) -2.9

0.0 Net assets or liabilities (-) at the end of the year 0.0  
 
 
Notes to the Firefighters’ Pension Fund statements 
 
Note 1: Fund operations 
The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme in England is an unfunded scheme. The employer promises to provide 
employees with benefits under the scheme but makes no advance funding in the scheme for those benefits. 
Benefits are paid directly by the employer when they become due. We are required to pay an employer’s pension 
contribution based on a percentage of pay into the pension fund. Each Fire and Rescue authority must run a 
pension fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the pension fund are set by regulation. The 
legislation that controls its operation is the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (Amendment) (England) Order 2006. The 
benefits payable are pensions to retired firefighters and/or widows/widowers of retired firefighters. The benefits 
paid and employee and employers contributions are administered through our human resources management 
system. The scheme has no investment assets. 
 
The pension fund is balanced to nil at the end of the year by either paying over to the sponsoring government 
department the amount by which the amount receivable by (due to) the fund is more than the amount payable, or 
by receiving cash in the form of pension top-up grant from the sponsoring department equal to the amount by 
which the amount payable from (owed by) the pension fund for the year is more than the amount receivable. An 
amount of 80% of the estimated grant needed each year is paid to the fund by the Government during the year. 
The balance is only paid once the Pensions statement has been audited by our external auditors and a claim, 
certified by the authority’s S151 officer, is submitted to the Government. 
 

Page 175

Page 107 of 111



 
Section B - Page 73 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

 
 
Note 2: Accounting policies 
The financial statements are accounted for on an accruals basis. We did not use any estimation techniques in 
preparing the statements. 
 
For assets and liabilities in the net asset statement the fair value is deemed to be the carrying value as they are 
both due within one year.  
 
Note 3: Liabilities 
The statements do not take account of any liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end i.e. 31 
March 2023. Details of the long-term pension obligations, employees and employer’s contribution rates and 
actuarial assumptions used in the required disclosures in accounts for the Firefighters’ Pension Fund are found in 
note 37 to the accounts. 
 
Note 4: Contribution levels 
Employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set nationally by the 
Home Office (previously dealt with by the Department for Communities and Local Government) and are subject to 
triennial revaluation by the Actuary. 
 
Note 5: AVCs and added years 
Additional voluntary contributions are excluded from the accounts of the Pension Fund. However, where members 
of the scheme have brought added years within the scheme, these will be included in the Fund contributions. 
 
Note 6: Debtors and creditors 
The debtors and creditors for both years are amounts due to/from central government (balance of grant due to 
balance the account to nil). Other debtors and creditors for both years are the amounts due to or from Warwickshire 
County Council, the administering authority or tax not yet paid to HMRC. This year we have had less grant from 
the Home Office than we have needed, so they owe us more money. As the Firefighters’ Pension Fund does not 
have its own separate bank account this means that this year, more money has been received by the County fund 
than paid out and is therefore owed by Warwickshire County Council to the Pension Fund. All amounts are due 
within 1 year. 
 
  

Page 176

Page 108 of 111



 
Section B - Page 74 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Glossary 
 

This section explains some of the more complicated terms that have been used in this document. 

 
Accruals 
Cost of goods and services received in the year but not yet paid for, or income earned but not yet received. 
 
Actuarial gain (loss) 
For pension assets, actuarial gains or losses happen when the actual return on investments in the pension fund is 
different from the expected return. For pension liabilities, actuarial gains and losses happen when the actual liability 
is different from the expected liability. For assumptions, actuarial gains or losses happen as a result of changes to 
the population or financial assumptions the actuary uses to work out the liability.  Liabilities are valued in terms of 
‘today’s money’. 
 
Amortisation 
The drop in value of intangible assets as they are used or become out of date. 
 
Asset 
An item which is purchased or created to be used by the Council. 
 
Benefits we have awarded for added years 
When a member of staff retires early because they are made redundant, we can give added years of scheme 
membership. We meet the costs of giving these added years, usually from the savings that will be made. 
 
Budget 
A statement of our spending plans for a financial year, which starts on 1 April and ends on 31 March. 
 
Business rates (National Non-Domestic Rates) 
Businesses pay these rates, set annually by government, to billing authorities instead of council tax. Business rates 
are shared between local authorities partly on the basis of need and partly on the basis of increased business rates 
generated locally. The amount each business is charged is based on multiplying the rateable value of each 
business property by the national rate in the pound. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account 
This account includes the value of capital charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement that 
do not directly affect the level of council tax. 
 
Capital programme 
Our plan of capital projects and future spending on buying land, buildings, vehicles and equipment. 
 
Capital receipts 
Income from selling assets that we would consider capital expenditure if we were the purchaser. 
 
Capital spending 
Spending on assets that have a lasting value, for example, land, buildings and large items of equipment such as 
computers or vehicles.  
 
CIPFA 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
 
Contingent asset 
A possible asset which may arise pending decisions that are not under our control. 
 
 

Page 177

Page 109 of 111



 
Section B - Page 75 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Contingent liability 
A possible liability which may arise when we know the outcome of outstanding claims made against us. 
 
Council tax 
A tax based on property which is retained by local authorities to fund their expenditure. In Warwickshire, the district 
or borough councils issue council tax bills and collect the council tax. 
 
Creditors 
People or organisations we owe money to for work, goods or services which have not been paid for by the end of 
the financial year. 
 
Current assets 
Short-term assets which constantly change in value such as stocks, debtors and bank balances. 
 
Current liabilities 
Short-term liabilities which are due to be paid in less than one year such as bank overdrafts and money owed to 
suppliers. 
 
Current service cost 
Officers employed during the year will have earned a year of pensionable service. The current service cost is the 
increase in the value of the pension scheme's liabilities arising from the employee service during the period. 
 
Debtors 
People who owe us money that is not paid by the end of the financial year. 
 
Depreciation 
The drop in the value of assets, for example, through wear and tear, age and becoming out of date. 
 
Disclosure 
Information we must show in the accounts under the Code. 
 
Earmarked reserves 
Money set aside for a specific purpose. 
 
Fair value 
The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 
 
General reserves 
Money set aside to be used in the future. 
 
Historic cost 
The cost of initial acquisition of an asset. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
Standards on the way we need to treat certain items in our accounts. 
 
Liabilities 
Money we will have to pay to people or organisations in the future. 
 
Material related-party transactions 
Two or more organisations are 'related parties' if, during the year, one of them has some form of control over the 
other. By ‘material’ we mean of ‘significant value’. 
 
 

Page 178

Page 110 of 111



 
Section B - Page 76 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL  

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
The amount we must set aside to repay loans. 
 
Net book value 
The value of an asset after depreciation. 
 
Non-current asset 
An asset which is expected to be used for more than 12 months. 
 
Non-distributed costs 
Costs which are not allocated to specific services, according to the Service Expenditure Reporting Code of 
Practice. 
 
Past service costs 
The past service cost is the extra liability that arises when we grant extra retirement benefits that did not exist 
before, such as when we agree early retirement or extra years of service.   
 
Pensions interest cost and expected return on assets 
The pensions interest cost is the increase in the value of the liabilities that arise because those liabilities are one 
year closer to being paid. The return on assets is the value of the return expected to be achieved on the fund’s 
investments in the long term. 
 
Provisions 
Money set aside to meet specific service liabilities and to meet spending. 
 
Reserves 
Savings we have built up from surpluses or by not spending income which has conditions on its use. 
 
Return on assets 
The return on assets is the value of the return we expect to achieve on the Pension Fund’s investments in the long 
term. 
 

Revaluation Reserve  
This account contains the difference between the amount paid for assets and the amount that they are currently 
worth. 
 

Revenue spending 
Spending on the day-to-day running of services - mainly wages, running expenses of buildings and equipment, 
and debt charges. These costs are met from council tax, business rates, government grants and fees and charges. 
 
Revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute (REFCUS) 
Spending on assets that have a lasting value, for example land and buildings, but which we do not own. 
 
Settlement costs 

Settlement costs arise when we make a lump-sum payment to a scheme member in exchange for their rights to 
receive certain pension benefits.   
 
Specific grants 
Payments from external bodies to cover local authority spending on a particular service or project.  
 

TUPE - Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations to protect employees if the business in which they are employed changes hands. Its effect is to move 
employees and any liabilities associated with them from the old employer to the new employer by operation of law. 
 
Unrealised 
A change in the market value which does not actually take place until an asset is sold. 

Page 179

Page 111 of 111



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

Warwickshire Pension Fund Accounts 2022/23 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 
That Council approves the Warwickshire Pension Fund Statement of Accounts for 
2022/23. 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Warwickshire Pension Fund Statement of Accounts for the financial year 

2022/23 is presented at Appendix 1. This covering report explains the primary 
documents that make up the Warwickshire Pension Fund 2022/23 Statement 
of Accounts and asks Council to approve the Warwickshire Pension Fund 
Statement of Accounts for 2022/23 as appended. 
 

1.2 The Statement of Accounts comprises the following: 

• Warwickshire Pension Fund Account (page 11). This statement sets out 
all of the revenue income and expenditure relating to the financial year 
2022/23. 

• Net Assets Statement (page 12). This statement sets out the total assets 
and liabilities of the fund as at the 31 March 2023 (by its nature this 
statements provides a snapshot at a moment in time). 

• Notes to the Accounts (pages 13-58). These statements provide further 
detail and explanation of the figures in the accounts. They detail how the 
Fund is administered and overseen, including the provision of 
independent financial advice to the Pension Fund Investment Sub 
Committee and the role of the Local Pension Board, and the membership, 
funding and benefits of the Fund. The notes further provide members with 
a summary of how the Statement of Accounts has been prepared and the 
key policies and relevant assumptions made.  
 

1.3 The Pension Scheme is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 
(the 2013 Act)  and the fund is administered in accordance with the 2013 Act 
and relevant secondary legislation.  
 

1.4 As at the 31 March 2023 the scheme had net assets of £2,751m and 
membership of 56,945 people. 
 

1.5 The draft Statement of Accounts was previously considered by the Audit and 
Standards Committee at their meeting on 30 November 2023. There were no 

Page 181

Page 1 of 3 Agenda Item 4



amendments arising and the Warwickshire Pension Fund Statement of 
Accounts for 2022/23 is presented to Council for approval. 
 
 
 

2. Financial Implications 
 

2.1 None arising directly from this report. Relevant financial matters relating to the 
Pension Fund accounts are covered in the Statement of Accounts appended 
at Appendix 1. 
 

 
3. Environmental Implications 
 
3.1 None arising directly from the report. 
 
 
4. Supporting Information 

 
4.1 External auditors are appointed to consider the Statement of Accounts, and 

are required to report to those charged with governance on issues arising 
from the audit of the financial statements of the Pension Fund before issuing 
their final opinion. The report of the external auditors Grant Thornton was 
presented to the Audit and Standards Committee on the 30 November 2023. 

 
4.2 As part of the audit process the external auditors require written confirmation 

about the fairness of various elements of the financial statements. This is 
known as the Letter of Representation and a draft was presented to the Audit 
and Standards Committee on the 30 November 2023. 

 
4.3 As noted above, the Audit and Standards Committee considered both the 

Accounts and the Letter of Representation at their meeting on 30 November 
2023 and recommended the Accounts to Council for approval. The wording of 
the draft Letter of Representation was also approved subject to any changes 
which may be necessary to the final draft following the usual quality 
assurance processes being undertaken within finance and legal services. 

 
 
5. Timescales associated with the decision and next steps 
 
5.1 The approved Statement of Accounts will be published alongside the 

Council’s Annual Governance Statement and Accounts (elsewhere on the 
Agenda) together with the signed audit opinions once approved by Council. 
 

5.2 The Statement of Accounts is also included in the published Pension Fund 
Annual Report. A draft version of the Annual Report containing the draft 
Statement of Accounts has already been published due to the expectation that 
it is published by the 1 December in the relevant year. This will be replaced 

Page 182

Page 2 of 3



with an updated version containing the final accounts when approved  by 
Council. 

 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Warwickshire Pension Fund Statement Of Accounts. 
 
Background Papers 
None. 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Chris Norton chrisnorton@warwickshire.gov.uk  

 
Director Andrew Felton 

Director of Finance 
andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Executive Director Rob Powell 
Executive Director for 
Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder Peter Butlin 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Property 

peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
The report was circulated to the following members prior to publication: 
 
Local Member(s): not applicable Other members: Cllr John Cooke, Cllr Sarah 
Feeney, Cllr Bill Gifford, Cllr Brian Hammersley, Cllr Christopher Kettle, Cllr 
Bhagwant Singh Pandher 

Page 183

Page 3 of 3

mailto:peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Warwickshire Pension Fund 

Statement of Accounts 

2022/23 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 185

Page 1 of 59Page 1 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 1  

   
 

We would welcome any comments or suggestions you have about this publication. Please 
send any comments or suggestions to wpfinvestments@warwickshire.gov.uk 

 

 

If this information is difficult to understand, we can provide it in another format, for example, in 
Braille, in large print, on audiotape, in another language or by talking with you.  

 

 

 

  

  

Page 186

Page 2 of 59

mailto:wpfinvestments@warwickshire.gov.uk


 
  Section D - Page 2  

   
 

Contents 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report ..............................................................................page 5 

Statement of responsibilities for the statement of accounts ..............................page 11 

Warwickshire Pension Fund Account ................................................................page 12 

Net Assets Statement ........................................................................................page 13 

 

Notes to the Accounts: 

Note 1: Description of Fund ...............................................................................page 14 

Note 2: Basis of preparation ..............................................................................page 17 

Note 3: Summary of significant accounting policies ..........................................page 17 

Note 4: Critical judgements in applying accounting policies ..............................page 22 

Note 5: Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty .........................................................................................................page 24 

Note 6: Events after the reporting date ..............................................................page 26 

Note 7: Contributions receivable .......................................................................page 26 

Note 8: Transfers in from other pension funds ..................................................page 27 

Note 9: Benefits payable ...................................................................................page 27 

Note 10: Payments to and on account of leavers ..............................................page 27 

Note 11: Management expenses .......................................................................page 28 

Note 12: Investment management expenses ....................................................page 28 

Note 13: Investment income ..............................................................................page 29 

Note 14: Other fund account disclosures: external audit costs .........................page 29 

Note 15: Investments .........................................................................................page 30 

Note 16: Reconciliation of movements in investments ......................................page 31 

Note 17: Derivatives ..........................................................................................page 32 

Page 187

Page 3 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 3  

   
 

Note 18: Investments analysed by fund manager .............................................page 32 

Note 19: Investments representing more than 5% net assets of the scheme ...page 33 

Note 20: Stock lending ......................................................................................page 33 

Note 21: Property holdings ................................................................................page 33 

Note 22: Classification of financial instruments .................................................page 33 

Note 23: Net gains and losses on financial instruments ....................................page 35 

Note 24: Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value ........................page 35 

Note 25: Reconciliation of fair value measurements within Level 3 ..................page 40 

Note 26: Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments .............page 40 

Note 27: Funding arrangements ........................................................................page 46 

Note 28: Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits .....................page 49 

Note 29: Current assets .....................................................................................page 53 

Note 30: Current liabilities .................................................................................page 53 

Note 31: Additional voluntary contributions .......................................................page 53 

Note 32: Related party transactions ..................................................................page 54 

Note 33: Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments .........................page 55 

Note 34: Going Concern ....................................................................................page 56 

Glossary ............................................................................................................page 57 

 

Note on rounding’s: individual tables presented within disclosures may not sum exactly due to rounding’s. This 
does not reflect any inaccuracy or error.  

Page 188

Page 4 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 4  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 189

Page 5 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 5  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 190

Page 6 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 6  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 191

Page 7 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 7  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 192

Page 8 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 8  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 193

Page 9 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 9  

   
 

Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)  

Page 194

Page 10 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 10  

   
 

Statement of responsibilities for the statement of accounts 
This section explains our responsibilities for our financial affairs and how we ensure we carry out these 
responsibilities properly in line with the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2022 and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 
 
Responsibilities of the Pension Fund 
 
We do the following: 

• make sure that one of our officers is responsible for managing our financial affairs. For the 
Pension Fund, Warwickshire County Council’s Executive Director for Resources (Section 151 
Officer) is responsible for this; 

• manage our affairs to use our resources efficiently and effectively and to protect our assets; 
and 

• approve the statement of accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of the Executive Director for Resources 
 
As the Executive Director for Resources, I am responsible for preparing our statement of accounts. 
These accounts must present a true and fair view of our financial position, including our income and 
spending for the year. 
 
In preparing the Pension Fund accounts, I have: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; 
• made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; and 
• followed the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s/Local Authority 

(Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (the Code). 

 
I have also: 

• kept proper accounting records which are up to date; and 
• taken steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position as at the 
31 March 2023 and the income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2023. The unaudited 
draft accounts were authorised for issue on 25 July 2023.  These will then be audited and presented at 
a meeting of the Council, expected to be in December 2023.   
 
 

 
 
 
Rob Powell  
Executive Director for Resources    Date: 25th July 2023 
 
 
 
 

Page 195

Page 11 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 11  

   
 

 
 
Warwickshire Pension Fund Account 

2021/2022   2022/2023 

£m  Notes £m 

 Dealings with members, employers and 
others directly involved in the fund 

  

(86.7) Contributions 7 (93.1) 
(16.9) Transfers in from other schemes 8 (12.4) 

(103.6)   (105.5) 

88.9  Benefits payable 9 91.4  
8.4  Payments to and on account of leavers 10 9.5  

97.3   100.9 

(6.3) Net (additions)/withdrawals from 
dealing with members 

 (4.7) 

16.1 Management expenses 11 21.1 

9.7 
Net (additions)/withdrawals including 
fund management expenses 

 
16.4  

 
Returns on investments 

  

(21.5) Investment income 13 (22.4) 

    

(81.6) Profit and losses on disposal of 
investments 23 (79.9) 

(113.9) Changes in the market value of 
investments 23 117.8 

(217.1) Net return on investments 
 

15.5  
    

(207.4) 
Net (increase)/decrease in the net 
assets available for benefits during the 
year 

 31.0 

(2,574.1) Opening net assets of the scheme 
 

(2,781.5) 

(2,781.5) Closing net assets of the scheme 
 

(2,750.5) 
 

 

Page 196

Page 12 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 12  

   
 

Net Assets Statement 
 

2021/2022   2022/2023 

£ m  Notes £m 

    

1.2 Long-term Assets 15 1.2 
2,722.1 Investment assets 15 / 16 / 17 2,662.6 

    
35.1 Cash deposits 15 / 16 / 17 65.2 

    

2,758.4 Total net investments 
 

2,729.0 
    

27.0 Current assets 29 26.5 
(3.9) Current liabilities 30 (5.1) 

    

2,781.5 
Net assets of the fund available to 
fund benefits at the period end 

 
2,750.5 

 
 
The Fund’s financial statements do not take into account liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits after the period end. The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is 
disclosed in the Actuary’s Statement (Note 28). 
  

Page 197

Page 13 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 13  

   
 

Notes to the Warwickshire Pension Fund Accounts for the year ended  
31 March 2023 
 
Note 1: Description of Fund 

The Warwickshire Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) is part of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme and is administered by Warwickshire County Council.  Warwickshire County Council 
is the reporting entity for this pension fund. 

 
The following description of the Fund is a summary only.  For more detail, reference should 
be made to the Warwickshire Pension Fund Annual Report and the underlying statutory 
powers underpinning the scheme, namely the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and The 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations. 
 
a) General  

The scheme is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.  The Fund is 
administered in accordance with the following secondary legislation: 

 
• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended); 
• The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended); and 
• The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016 (as amended). 
 

The Warwickshire Pension Fund is a defined benefit scheme administered by the 
Executive Director for Resources on behalf of Warwickshire County Council (the scheme 
administrator), five district councils and other scheduled and admitted public service 
organisations and their contractors. Teachers, police officers and firefighters are not 
included as they come within the remit of other national pension schemes. 
 
The administration of the Fund is carried out through Warwickshire County Council’s 
Staff and Pensions Committee, the Pension Fund Investment Sub-Committee and the 
Local Pension Board. The committees are comprised of elected County Council 
members whilst the Local Pension Board comprises an equal mix of representatives of 
scheme employers and scheme members with an independent chair. The Pension Fund 
Investment Sub-Committee receives advice and guidance from two independent financial 
advisors, its investment consultant (Hymans Robertson) and its Scheme Actuary 
(Hymans Robertson). 
 
The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 included a requirement to establish a Local 
Pension Board, with responsibility to assist the administering authority to: 

 
• secure compliance with:  
➢ the LGPS regulations;  
➢ other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS; and 
➢ the requirements imposed by The Pensions Regulator in relation to the LGPS;  

 

Page 198

Page 14 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 14  

   
 

• perform an oversight role to ensure the effective and efficient governance and 
administration of the LGPS. 

 
A Local Pension Board has been in place since February 2015. 

 
b) Membership 

Membership of the LGPS is automatic for entitled employees, but employees are free to 
choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the scheme or make their own personal 
arrangements outside the scheme. 
 
Organisations participating in the Warwickshire Pension Fund include: 

 
• scheduled bodies, which are local authorities and similar bodies whose staff are 

automatically entitled to be members of the Fund; and 
• admitted bodies, which are other organisations that participate in the Fund under an 

admission agreement between the Fund and the relevant organisation.  Admitted 
bodies include voluntary, charitable and similar bodies or private contractors 
undertaking a local authority function following outsourcing to the private sector. 

 
There are 223 employer organisations with active members within Warwickshire Pension 
Fund including the County Council itself, as detailed below.   

 
Warwickshire Pension Fund 31 March 2022 31 March 2023 
Number of employers with active members 206 223 

Number of employees in scheme 
  

County Council 8,290 8,494 
Other employers 9,592 10,156 
Total 17,882 18,650 

Number of pensioners 
  

County Council 8,888 9,255 
Other employers 7,189 7,666 
Total 16,077 16,921 

Deferred pensioners 
  

County Council 11,676 11,956 
Other employers 8,694 9,418 
Total 20,370 21,374 
Total 54,329 56,945 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 199

Page 15 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 15  

   
 

c) Funding 
Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings.  Contributions are made 
by active members of the Fund in accordance with The LGPS Regulations 2013 and 
range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for the financial year ending 31 March 
2023.  Contributions are also made by employers which are set based on triennial 
actuarial funding valuations.  The valuation relevant to the 2022/23 financial year was as 
at the 31 March 2019 and a revised schedule of employer contribution rates became 
effective for the three years from 1 April 2020.  Employer contribution rates ranged from 
0% to 58% of pensionable pay. 

 

d) Benefits 
Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable 
pay and length of pensionable service, summarised in the following table. 

 
  Service pre-1 April 2008 Service post 31 March 2008 
Pension Each year worked is worth 1/80 x 

final pensionable salary 
Each year worked is worth 1/60 x 
final pensionable salary 

Lump Sum Automatic lump sum of 3 x 
pension  

No automatic lump sum 

  

In addition, part of the annual 
pension can be exchanged for a 
one-off tax-free cash payment.  A 
lump sum of £12 is paid for each 
£1 of pension given up. 

Part of the annual pension can be 
exchanged for a one-off tax-free 
cash payment.  A lump sum of 
£12 is paid for each £1 of pension 
given up. 

 
From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a career average scheme, whereby members 
accrue benefits based on their pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th.  
Accrued pension is updated annually in line with the Consumer Prices Index.  The 
changes also brought in a 50/50 option allowing members the opportunity to contribute 
50% for 50% of the benefit entitlement. 
 
Contributions to the LGPS prior to 1 April 2014 were assessed on full-time equivalent pay 
and excluded non-contractual elements of pay such as overtime and bonus.  However, 
contributions since 1 April 2014 are assessed on all pensionable pay received including 
non-contractual elements. In addition, the contribution bandings were extended with 
many of the higher paid seeing an increase in contributions.   
 
There are a range of other benefits provided under the scheme including early 
retirement, ill health entitlements and life assurance. 

  

Page 200

Page 16 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 16  

   
 

Note 2: Basis of preparation 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fund’s transactions for the 2022/23 financial 
year and its position at year-end as at 31 March 2023.  The accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2022/23 which is based upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
amended for the UK public sector.  They have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with IAS1.  

 
The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and report on the net assets available 
to pay pension benefits.  The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay pensions 
and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year.  This is addressed by the 
Scheme Actuary’s triennial valuation. 

 
Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted 
The code requires disclosure of any accounting standards issued but not yet adopted   and 
their potential impact on the Fund.  The new standards issued but not adopted for 2022/23 
are: 

• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) issued in February 2021.  

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 
issued in February 2021.  

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
(Amendments to IAS 12) issued in May 2021.  

• Updating a Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) issued in 
May 2020. 

 
It is too early to say with any degree of certainty what the likely impact of the above issued 
accounting standards would be, but it is assumed they would not materially impact on the 
2022/23 financial statements. 
 
Note 3: Summary of significant accounting policies 

a) Contribution income 
Normal contributions, both from members and employers, are accounted for on an 
accruals basis at the percentage rate recommended by the Scheme Actuary in the period 
to which they relate. 
 
Employer deficit, augmentation and pension strain contributions are accounted for in the 
period in which the liabilities arise.  Any amount due in year but unpaid will be classed as 
a current financial asset. 

  

Page 201

Page 17 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 17  

   
 

b) Transfers to and from other schemes 
Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid during the year for members 
who have either joined or left the Fund during the financial year and are calculated in 
accordance with The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations (see notes 8 and 
10).  This is normally when the member liability is accepted or discharged. 

 
c) Investment income 

i) Interest Income 
Interest income is recognised in the fund account as it accrues, using the effective 
interest rate of the financial instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination.    
Income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs 
(where material) or other differences between the initial carrying amount of the 
instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis. 

ii) Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised on the date the shares are quoted ex-dividend.  Any 
amount not received by the end of the reporting period is reflected within investment 
assets in the Net Assets Statement. Investment income arising from the underlying 
investments of the Pooled Investment Vehicles is either reinvested within the Pooled 
Investment Vehicles and reflected in the unit price or taken as dividends. 

iii) Distributions from managed funds   
Distributions from managed funds are recognised at the date of issue.  Any          
amount not received by the end of the reporting period is reflected within investment 
assets in the Net Assets Statement.  

iv) Profit and losses on disposal of investments   
Profit and losses on the disposal of investments are recognised as income and 
comprise all realised profits/losses during the year. 

v) Movement in the market value of investments 
Changes in the market value of investments are recognised as income and comprise 
all unrealised profits/losses during the year. 

 
d) Benefits payable 

Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at the 
end of the financial year.  Amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the Net Assets 
Statement as current liabilities. 

 
  

Page 202

Page 18 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 18  

   
 

e) Taxation 
The Fund is a registered public service scheme under section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the 
Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and 
from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments sold.  Income from overseas 
investments suffers withholding tax in the country of origin, unless an exemption is 
permitted.  Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund expense as it arises. 
 

f) Management expenses 
The Code does not require a breakdown of pension fund administration expenses.  
However, in the interests of greater transparency, the Council discloses its pension fund 
management expenses in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for Local 
Government Pension Scheme Management Costs.   

i) Administrative expenses 
All administrative expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All staff costs of 
the pensions administration team and associated accounting, management, 
accommodation and other overheads are apportioned and charged as expenses to 
the Fund. 

ii) Oversight and governance costs 
All oversight and governance expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All 
costs associated with governance and oversight are charged direct to the Fund.  
Associated management, accommodation and other overheads are apportioned to 
this activity and charged as expenses to the Fund. 

iii) Investment management expenses 
All investment management expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. Fees 
of the external investment managers and custodian are agreed in the respective 
mandates governing their appointments.  Broadly, these are based on the market 
value of the investments under their management and therefore increase or reduce 
as the value of these investments change.   Where these are deducted at source (as 
opposed to being charged via an invoice) the fee is identified and a journal posted to 
record the investment management fee and increase the investment income. 

 
g) Investment assets 

Shareholder investment in Warwickshire’s LGPS asset pool, Border to Coast Pensions 
Partnership (the “pool”), is valued at transaction price i.e. cost. The pool’s main trading 
company, Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited, became licensed to trade in 
July 2018. 
 
The Pension Fund’s view is that the market value of investments in the Border to 
Coast Pensions Partnership at 31 March 2023 cannot be reasonably assessed and 
that cost is therefore an appropriate estimate of fair value. 
 
All other investment assets are included in the Net Assets Statement on a fair value 
basis as at the reporting date. An investment asset is recognised in the net asset 
statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of the 
asset. From this date, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
asset are recognised in the Fund. 

Page 203

Page 19 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 19  

   
 

 
The values of investments as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been 
determined at fair value in accordance with the requirements of the Code and IFRS13 
(see Pension Fund Note 24). For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value 
hierarchy, the Fund has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in 
Practical Guidance on Investment Disclosures (PRAG/Investment Association, 2016). 
 
The values of investments as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been determined 
as follows: 

i) Market-quoted investments 
The value of an investment for which there is a readily available market price is   
determined by the bid market price on the final day of the accounting period. 

ii) Fixed interest securities 
Are recorded at net market value based on their current yields. 

iii) Unquoted investments 
The fair value of investments for which market quotations are not readily available is 
determined as follows: 
• directly held investments include investments in limited partnerships, shares in 

unlisted companies, trusts and bonds. Other unquoted securities typically 
include pooled investments in property, infrastructure, debt securities and 
private equity. The valuation of these is undertaken by the investment manager 
or responsible entity and advised as a unit or security price. The valuation 
standards followed in these valuations adhere to industry guidelines or to 
standards set by the constituent documents of the pool or to the management 
agreement; 

• investments in unquoted property and infrastructure pooled funds are valued at 
the net asset value or a single price advised by the fund manager; and 

• investments in private equity funds and unquoted listed partnerships are valued 
based on the Fund’s share of the net assets in the private equity fund or limited 
partnership using the latest financial statements published by the respective 
fund managers in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines 2018. 

iv) Limited partnerships 
Fair value is based on the net asset value ascertained from periodic valuations 
provided by those controlling the partnership. 

v) Pooled investment vehicles 
Pooled investment vehicles are valued at closing bid price if both bid and offer prices 
are published; if single priced, at the closing single price. 
In the case of pooled investment vehicles that are accumulation funds, change in 
market value also includes income, which is reinvested in the Fund net of applicable 
withholding tax. 

 
  

Page 204

Page 20 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 20  

   
 

h) Foreign currency transactions 
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of investments in foreign currencies have 
been accounted for at the spot market rates at the date of transaction.  End-of-year spot 
market exchange rates are used to value cash balances held in foreign currency bank 
accounts, market values of overseas investments and purchases and sales outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period. 

i) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash in hand and on demand deposits and includes amounts held by 
the Fund’s external managers. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value. 

j) Investment liabilities 
The Fund recognises investment liabilities at fair value as at the reporting date.  An 
investment liability is recognised on the date the Fund becomes party to the liability and 
these are summarised in Note 15.  From this date any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised by the Fund.  
 
Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities arise where an event prior to the year-end has created a possible 
financial obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by future events.  These are 
not recognised in the net asset statement but are disclosed by way of narrative in the 
notes as summarised in note 33. 

 
k) Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial 
basis by the Scheme Actuary in accordance with the requirements of IAS19 and relevant 
actuarial standards.  The last triennial valuation was carried out as at 31st March 2022. 
However, the 31 March 2019 triennial valuation was the one that applied to the 31 March 
2023 accounting year end. 
 
As permitted under the Code, the Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present value 
of promised retirement benefits by way of a note to the Net Assets Statement (Note 28). 
 

l) Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) 
Warwickshire Pension Fund provides an additional voluntary contributions (AVCs) 
scheme for its members, the assets of which are invested separately from those of the 
pension fund.  The Fund has appointed Utmost Life and Pensions, and Standard Life as 
its AVC providers.  AVCs are paid to the AVC provider by employers and are specifically 
for providing additional benefits for individual contributors.  Each AVC contributor 
receives an annual statement showing the amount held in their account and movements 
in the year. 
 
AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance with section 4(1)(b) of The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 
but are disclosed as a note only (Note 31). 

Page 205

Page 21 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 21  

   
 

 
j) Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another. The term, 'financial instrument' covers 
both financial assets and financial liabilities and includes financial assets and liabilities 
such as trade receivables and trade payables.  
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - The standard provides a consistent definition of fair 
value and enhanced disclosure requirements. It is designed to apply to assets and 
liabilities covered by those IFRS standards that currently permit or require measurement 
at fair value (with some exceptions). The Fund currently complies with this standard. 

 
 
Note 4: Critical judgements in applying accounting policies  
 
Pension fund liability 
On 10 March 2022, the Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Act 2022 received Royal 
Assent. The main purpose of the Act is to support implementation of the McCloud remedy in 
the public service pension schemes. 

 
The McCloud remedy will be implemented in two phases. 

 
Phase one involves moving all remaining active members of legacy schemes (members with 
protection) into the new schemes on 1 April 2022 so that, going forward, all accruals will be in 
the new schemes (and so all active members will be treated equally). 

 
Phase two is implementation of the deferred choice underpin. That is, giving eligible members 
a choice between legacy scheme and new scheme benefits for service between 1 April 2015 
and 31 March 2022. 

 
The regulations to implement phase one of the remedy have been made and will come into 
force on 1 April 2022. Consultations on draft regulations to implement phase two of the 
remedy will follow, with the aim that they will come into force by 1 October 2023 at the latest.  
No allowance had been made within the accounts, however the fund actuary has included an 
allowance for the impact of McCloud in Note 28 within the fund liabilities. 
 
Further legal judgements in force include Goodwin, Walker and O’Brien.  Current analysis 
estimates this to be very small for a typical fund.  
     
Investment in Border to Coast Pensions Partnership  (BCPP) 
The Fund’s shareholding in the asset pool Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Ltd. has 
been valued at cost, as an appropriate estimate of fair value. The Class A share is valued at 
£1 and reflects the ownership stake in the company carrying full voting rights, dividend and 
capital distribution rights, whilst the Class B shares are valued at £1.2m and represent the 
Fund’s contribution to the company’s regulatory capital requirement.  

 
Fair value cannot be otherwise established for these assets as there is currently no market 
for the shares and no identical or similar market to compare to. 

Page 206

Page 22 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 22  

   
 

 
After two of the pool’s partner funds merged in 2020, the obligation to meet the company’s 
capital requirement were re-allocated between the remaining eleven partner funds. This 
serves as a precedent that in the event of a future exit from the partnership, the Fund’s 
shares could be disposed of at cost back to the pool and re-issued to the remaining partners. 
 
Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Ltd is intending to trade at a breakeven position 
(nominal profit or loss) with any values offset against partner funds’ future costs. The 
company’s own audited accounts show its shareholder funds to be equal to the regulatory 
capital invested. 

  
The cost of these shares has therefore been determined as a reasonable and appropriate 
estimate of their fair value 

 
War in Ukraine 
We previously instructed our fund managers, including the local government pension pool, 
Border to Coast, of which we are one member, to cease investment into Russia and 
Warwickshire Pension Fund’s wish to dissociate itself from all Russian-owned and Russian-
controlled investments. Due to the nature of the Russian regime, the Fund does not make a 
distinction between state and non-state-owned assets. 

 
The Warwickshire Pension Fund’s current assessment of Russian/Belarussian holdings is 
that they make up approximately £380k or 0.01% of the total fund value.  No special 
amendment or adjustment is necessary for the valuation of assets due to the ongoing conflict.  
Valuations are correctly catered for naturally with all assets valued as at the 31 March 2023 
position. 

 
  

Page 207

Page 23 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 23  

   
 

Note 5: Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of 
estimation uncertainty  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities at the Balance 
Sheet date and the amounts reported for the revenues and expenses during the year.  
Estimates and assumptions are made considering historical experience, current trends and 
other relevant factors.  However, the nature of estimation means that the actual outcomes 
could differ from the assumptions and estimates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208

Page 24 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 24  

   
 

 
 
 
The items in the accounts as at 31 March 2023 for which there is a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 

 Uncertainties  Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions 

Actuarial present 
value of promised 
retirement 
benefits 

Estimation of the net liability to 
pay pensions depends on 
several complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate 
used, the rate at which salaries 
are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, 
mortality rates and expected 
returns on pension fund assets.  
A firm of consulting actuaries is 
engaged to provide the Fund 
with expert advice about the 
assumptions to be applied. 

 The effects on the net pension 
liability of changes in individual 
assumptions can be measured.  
For instance: a 0.1% decrease in 
the discount rate assumption would 
result in an increase in the pension 
liability of £50m, a 0.1% increase in 
assumed earnings inflation would 
increase the value of liabilities by 
approximately £6m, and a one-year 
increase in assumed life 
expectancy would increase the 
liability by approximately £103m. 

Private equity, 
Infrastructure, 
Private Debt and 
Property 

Private equity investments are 
valued at fair value in 
accordance with International 
Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines 
2012.  These investments are 
not publicly listed and as such 
there is a degree of estimation 
involved in the valuation.  Other 
private markets (unlisted) assets 
are treated similarly. 
 
All underlying property 
valuations are carried out by 
independent valuation providers 
on a “Fair Value” basis as 
defined in the RICS Appraisal 
and Valuation Manual (Red 
Book).  As buildings are 
inherently illiquid and the 
transactional evidence can be 
scarce there is the potential for a 
mismatch between the valuation 
and actual transaction pricing.  
  

 The total value of Level 3 
investments stands at £611.4m.  
There is a risk that these 
investments have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial 
year.  The custodian reports a 
tolerance of +/- 2% around the net 
asset values on which the valuation 
is based.  This equates to a 
tolerance of +/- £12.2m. 

 

Page 209

Page 25 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 25  

   
 

 
 
 
 
Note 6: Events after the reporting date 
 
Events from the balance sheet date to the date of authorisation for issue would be 
reflected as an adjustment to the Statement of Accounts whether favourable or 
adverse.  This would occur where there was provision of evidence that these 
conditions were in place by the end of the reporting period and that these events were 
significant to the fair value of the Fund’s net assets.  Those events taking place after 
the balance sheet date to the external audit opinion issuance date will be reflected in 
the statement of accounts.  There are no significant events to report. 
 
However, there was a first payment into a new Private Debt Fund (managed by 
Barings) made on 3rd April 2023 for £30m, which does not affect the figures at the 
balance sheet date. 
 
Note 7: Contributions receivable 
 
By category 

2021/2022  2022/2023 

£m 
 

£m 
20.0 Employees' contributions 21.9 

 
Employer's contributions: 

 

61.1 Normal contributions 65.5 
5.6 Deficit Recovery contributions 5.7 

66.7 Total employer's contributions 71.2 
86.7 Total 93.1 

 
By authority 

2021/2022  2022/2023 

£m 
 

£m 
43.8 Administering authority 47.9 
41.4 Scheduled bodies 43.7 

1.5 Admitted bodies 1.6 
0.0 Bodies no longer contributing 0.0 

86.7 Total 93.1 
 
  

Page 210

Page 26 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 26  

   
 

Note 8: Transfers in from other pension funds 
 

2021/2022 
 

2022/2023 
£m  £m 
0.0 Group transfers 0.0 

16.9 Individual transfers 12.4 
16.9  12.4 

 
 
Note 9: Benefits payable 
 
By category 

2021/2022 
 

2022/2023 
£m  £m 

70.5 Pensions  74.3 
16.0 Commutation and lump sum retirement benefits 14.6 

2.4 Lump sum death benefits 2.5 
88.9  91.4 

 
By authority 

2021/2022 
 

2022/2023 
£m  £m 

46.8 Administering authority 49.0 
36.7 Scheduled bodies 38.1 

4.4 Admitted bodies 4.3 
0.9 Bodies no longer contributing 0.0 

88.9  91.4 
 
 
Note 10: Payments to and on account of leavers 
 

2021/2022 
 

2022/2023 
£m  £m 
0.4 Refunds 0.3 
0.0 Group transfers 0.0 
8.0 Individual transfers 9.2 
8.4  9.5 

  

Page 211

Page 27 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 27  

   
 

Note 11: Management expenses 
 

2021/2022  2022/2023 

£m 
 

£m 
1.9 Administration costs 2.4 

12.9 Investment management expenses 16.8 
1.3 Oversight and governance costs 1.8 

16.1 Total 21.0 
 
This analysis of the costs of managing the Warwickshire Pension Fund during the period has 
been prepared in accordance with CIPFA guidance. 

Indirect costs are incurred through the bid-offer spread on investment sales and purchases.  
These are reflected in the cost of investment acquisitions and in the proceeds from the sale of 
investments (Note 16 and Note 25). 
 
 
Note 12: Investment management expenses  
 

21/22 Total  Management 
Fees 

Performance 
Fees 

22/23 
Total 

£m  £m £m £m 

3.2 Pooled Investments 3.1 0.0 3.1 
1.9 Pooled Property 1.7 0.0 1.7 
3.3 Private Equity 4.4 0.3 4.8 
3.2 Infrastructure 3.4 1.5 4.9 
1.3 Private Debt 1.8 0.4 2.2 
0.1 Custody Fees 0.1 0.0 0.1 

12.9 Total 14.6 2.2 16.8 
 
 
  

Page 212

Page 28 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 28  

   
 

Note 13: Investment income  

2021/2022  2022/2023 

£m  £m 

0.1 Equity dividends 0.1 
5.2 Pooled Property 5.1 
3.0 Infrastructure 4.6 
1.9 Pooled Equity 1.9 
0.9 Private Debt 1.5 
9.4 Pooled Fixed Income 6.4 
1.2 Private Equity 2.4 

21.6 Managed funds 21.9 
0.0 Interest on cash deposits 0.7 
0.0 Stock lending 0.0 

21.6 
 

22.6 
 

Note 14: Other fund account disclosures: external audit costs 

The external audit fee for 2022/23 was £32,810 excluding VAT. The fee for 2021/22 
was £31,060. Non-audit fees in respect of IAS19 assurance for 2022/23 are £14,800 
(2021/22: £8,000). 
 

  

Page 213

Page 29 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 29  

   
 

Note 15: Investments 

2021/2022  2022/2023 

£m  £m 

 
Long-term investments 

 

1.2 Equities 1.2 
 Total Long-term investments 1.2 
 

Investment Assets 
 

2,716.8 Pooled Funds*** 2,657.2 
971.0 Pooled Global Equity 931.4 
442.4 Pooled UK Equity 416.2 
140.4 Infrastructure 189.8 

83.0 Private Debt 104.2 
197.3 Private Equity 203.7 
273.4 Pooled Property 239.6 
609.2 Pooled Fixed Income 572.3 

35.1 Cash 65.2 
5.4 Investment Current Assets 5.3 

2,757.2 Total Investment Assets 2,727.8 
 

Investment Liabilities 
 

0.0 Investment current liabilities 0.0 
0.0 Total Investment Liabilities 0.0 

   

2,758.4 Total net investments 2,729.0 
*** This refers to the management structure of the Funds, where the Warwickshire Pension Fund does not 

directly own the underlying assets. 

 

  

Page 214

Page 30 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 30  

   
 

Note 16: Reconciliation of movements in investments 

 Market 
value 

 31 March 
2022 

Purchases 
during the 

year 

Sales 
during 

the year 

Change in 
market 

value during 
the year 

Market 
value 

 31 March 
2023 

 
£m £m £m £m £m 

Investment Assets 
     

Equities 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 
Pooled Investments 2,716.8 255.3 -271.0 -43.8 2,657.3 
• Private Equity 197.3 40.9 -42.6 8.1 203.7 
• Pooled Property 273.4 7.7 -5.9 -35.5 239.6 
• Pooled funds, Unit Trusts 

& Other Managed Funds 
2,022.6 40.1 -103.3 -39.7 1,919.7 

• Infrastructure 140.4 113.4 -87.0 23.0 189.8 
• Private Debt 83.0 53.2 -32.1 0.4 104.4 

Other Investment Balances 
     

Cash 35.1 136.2 -106.1 0.0 65.2 
Net investment current assets 5.4 0.0 0.0 -0.1 5.3 

Total Net Investments 2,758.4 
 

391.5 
 

-377.1 -43.8 2,729.0 
 

  
Market 
value             

31 March 
2021 

Purchases 
during the 

year 

Sales 
during 

the year 

Change in 
market 

value during 
the year 

Market 
value             

31 March 
2022 

  £m £m £m £m £m 
Investment Assets           
Equities 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 
Pooled Investments 2,496.3 702.4 -672.3 190.3 2,716.8 
• Private Equity 175.0 25.3 -47.1 44.1 197.3 
• Pooled Property 221.5 19.3 -13.6 46.1 273.4 
• Pooled funds, Unit Trusts 

& Other Managed Funds 1,943.0 572.5 -578.1 85.2 2,022.6 

• Infrastructure 72.3 65.0 -8.7 11.9 140.4 
• Private Debt 84.5 20.3 -24.8 3.0 83.0 
Other Investment Balances           
Cash 48.3 89.3 -102.6 0.0 35.1 
Net investment current 
assets 6.2 0.0 -0.7 -0.1 5.4 

Net Investment Assets 2,552.1 791.8 -775.6 190.1 2,758.4 

Page 215

Page 31 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 31  

   
 

  

Page 216

Page 32 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 32  

   
 

Note 17: Derivatives 

The Fund does not engage in any direct derivative activity however fund managers 
may make use of these to achieve investment objectives. 
 

Note 18: Investments analysed by fund manager 

Market value 
 31 March 2022 

 Market value 
 31 March 2023 

£m % 
 

£m % 

Investments managed by BCPP asset pool 
  

14.8 0.5 Private Equity 25.1 0.9 
61.1 2.2 Infrastructure 102.4 3.8 
17.8 0.6 Private Debt 40.3 1.5 

378.0 13.7 Global Equity Alpha Fund 392.1 14.4 
295.7 10.7 UK Equity Alpha Fund 295.4 10.8 
171.7 6.2 Investment Grade Credit 186.0 6.8 
250.8 9.1 Multi-Asset Credit 240.9 8.8 

0.0 0.0 
Legal and General Investment Management (Index 
Tracker - Global Equities)* 665.2 24.4 

0.0 0.0 Legal and General Investment Management (Index 
Tracker - Fixed Income)* 

145.4 5.3 

1,189.8  43.1 Total BCPP 2,092.9  76.7 

Investments managed outside of BCPP asset pool 
  

0.6 0.0 MFS Investment Management (Global Equities) 0.2 0.0 

740.0 26.8 Legal and General Investment Management (Index 
Tracker - Global Equities)* 0.0 0.0 

186.9 6.8 Legal and General Investment Management (Index 
Tracker - Fixed Income)* 0.0 0.0 

145.8 5.3 Columbia Threadneedle Investments (Property) 127.0 4.7 
132.3 4.8 Schroder Investment Management (Property) 120.0 4.4 
182.5 6.6 HarbourVest (Private Equity) 178.5 6.5 

23.8 0.9 Standard Life Capital (Infrastructure) 27.4 1.0 
55.6 2.0 Partners Group (Infrastructure) 59.9 2.2 
39.1 1.4 Alcentra (Private Debt) 42.1 1.5 
25.9 0.9 Partners (Private Debt) 21.8 0.8 
35.0 1.3 BlackRock (Cash) 57.9 2.1 

1.2 0.0 BCPP Shareholding 1.2 0.0 

1,568.6 56.9 Total Outside BCPP 636.1  23.3 

2,758.4 100.0  2,729.0 100.0 
* LGIM assets have been reclassified as under pooled management due to the LGPS contract and BCPP oversight of funds 

Page 217

Page 33 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 33  

   
 

 

Note 19: Investments representing more than 5% net assets of the scheme 

Security Market value 
31 March 2023 

% of total fund 
as at 31.03.23 

 
£m % 

LGIM Equity funds 664.8 24.2 
Border to Coast Global Equity Alpha Fund 386.9 14.1 
Border to Coast UK Equity Alpha Fund 295.4 10.8 
Border to Coast Multi-Asset Credit 240.9 8.8 
HarbourVest (Private Equity funds) 178.5 6.5 
Border to Coast Investment Grade Credit 186.0 6.8 
LGIM Bond funds 145.3 5.3 

 

Security Market value 
31 March 2022 

% of total fund 
as at 31.03.22 

  £m %  
Border to Coast Global Alpha Equity 
Fund 378.0 13.7 

L&G Fundamental Indexation 302.8 11.0 
Border to Coast Alpha Equity Fund 295.7 10.8 
Border to Coast Multi-Asset Credit 250.8 9.1 
HarbourVest (Private Equity) 182.5 6.6 
Border to Coast Investment Grade Credit 171.7 6.2 
L&G UK Equity Index 146.7 5.3 

 
Note 20: Stock lending 

The Fund does not currently engage in any direct stock lending. 
 
Note 21: Property holdings 

The Fund does not hold property directly.  Property is held in the form of pooled 
funds. 
 
Note 22: Classification of financial instruments 
 

Accounting policies describe how different asset classes of financial instruments are 
measured, and how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are 
recognised.  The following table analyses the carrying amounts of financial assets 

Page 218

Page 34 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 34  

   
 

and liabilities (excluding cash) by category and Net Assets Statement heading.  No 
financial assets were reclassified during the accounting period.  

Fair value 
through 

profit and 
loss 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 

 Fair value 
through 

profit and 
loss 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 

31 March 2022 (£m)  31 March 2023 (£m) 

   Investment Assets    

0.0   Index linked bonds 0.0   

1.2   Equities 1.2   

2,716.8   Pooled Investments 2,657.2   

971.0   Global Equity 931.4   

442.4   UK Equity 416.2   

140.4   Infrastructure 189.8   

83.0   Private Debt 104.2   

197.3   Private Equity 203.7   

273.4   Pooled Property 239.6   

609.2   Fixed Income 572.3   

 35.1  Cash deposits  65.2  

 5.4  
Investment Current 
Assets  5.3  

 9.2  Debtors  7.9  

 17.8  Cash balances  18.5  

2,717.9 67.5 0.0  2,658.4 97.0 0.0 

   Liabilities    

  0.0 Investment current 
liabilities   0.0 

  
 

-3.9 Creditors   -5.1 

0.0 0.0 -3.9  0.0 0.0 -5.1 

2,717.9 67.5 -3.9 Net Assets 2,658.4 97.0 -5.1 
 

 

Page 219

Page 35 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 35  

   
 

Note 23: Net gains and losses on financial instruments 

31 March 
2022 

 31 March 
2023 

£m 
 

£m 
 

Financial Assets 
 

195.6 Fair value through profit and loss 0.0 
   

 
Financial liabilities 

 

0.0 Fair value through profit and loss -37.9 
   

195.6 Total -37.9 

The authority has not entered into any financial guarantees that are required to be 
accounted for as financial instruments. 

 
Note 24: Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value 

The unquoted equities holding in Border to Coast Pensions Partnership is valued at 
cost (i.e. transaction price), as an appropriate estimate of fair value. A fair value 
cannot be otherwise established for these assets as at 31 March 2023 because the 
main trading vehicle of Border to Coast Pensions Partnership only became licenced 
to trade in July 2018, no comparable market exists, its shares are not openly traded, 
and it is not for profit. Therefore, the reliability of any observable or unobservable 
inputs used to calculate fair value cannot be assessed with certainty. 

All other investments are held at fair value in accordance with the requirements of the 
Code and IFRS13. The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set 
out below. There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the 
year.  

All assets have been valued using fair value techniques based on the characteristics 
of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based 
information. 

The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels, according 
to the quality and reliability of information used to determine fair values. 

  

Page 220

Page 36 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 36  

   
 

Level 1 
Financial instruments at level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Products 
classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed securities, quoted index 
linked securities. 

Listed investments are shown at bid prices.  The bid value of the investment is based 
on the bid market quotation of the relevant stock exchange.  

Level 2 
Financial instruments at level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not 
available; for example, where an instrument is traded in a market that is not 
considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to determine fair 
value, these inputs are observable.  Products classified as level 2 include unquoted 
bonds, pooled funds, and unit trusts. 

Level 3 
Financial instruments at level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a 
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not based on observable market 
data.   

Such instruments would include unquoted equity and debt investments, which are 
valued using various valuation techniques that require significant judgement in 
determining appropriate assumptions.   

The values of the investments in private equity, infrastructure and private debt are 
based on valuations provided by the general partners to the funds in which 
Warwickshire Pension Fund has invested.   All underlying property valuations are 
carried out by independent valuation providers on a “Fair Value” basis as defined in 
the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual (Red Book).  As buildings are inherently 
illiquid and the transactional evidence can be scarce there is the potential for a 
mismatch between the valuation and actual transaction pricing.  
The Fund has reviewed the classification of Property and has taken the decision to 
reclassify property as Level 3. This is more consistent with the classification used by 
other Funds and will make the accounts more comparable. 

These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which follow the valuation principles of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and US Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP).  Valuations are undertaken quarterly, and an 
adjustment is made to roll forward the latest available valuation to 31 March as 
appropriate. 

  

Page 221

Page 37 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 37  

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Description of 
asset Basis of valuation 

Observable and 
unobservable 

inputs 

Key sensitivities 
affecting the 

valuations provided 
Market quoted 
investments       
Level 1 

Published bid 
market price ruling 
on the final day of 
the accounting 
period 

Not required Not required 

Pooled 
investments – 
fixed income and 
equity unit trusts             
Level 2 

Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are 
published.  Closing 
single price where 
single price is 
published. 

Net Asset Value 
(NAV) - based 
pricing set on a 
forward pricing 
basis 

Not required 

Other unquoted 
and private funds 
(including indirect 
property, 
infrastructure, 
private debt, and 
private equity). 
Level 3 

These investments 
are valued at fair 
value in accordance 
with International 
Private Equity and 
Venture Capital 
Valuation 
Guidelines 2018 
special rules 2020 
and US GAAP. 

Earnings before 
interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and 
amortization 
(EBITDA) multiple; 
Revenue multiple; 
Discount for lack 
of marketability; 
Control premium 

Valuations could be 
affected by material 
events occurring 
between the date of the 
financial statements 
provided and the 
pension fund’s own 
reporting date, by 
changes to expected 
cashflows, and by any 
differences between 
audited and unaudited 
accounts. 

Shares in Border 
to Coast 
Pensions 
Partnership 

At cost N/A N/A 
 

Page 222

Page 38 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 38  

   
 

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the 
pension fund grouped into Levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which the fair value is 
observable. 

 
Quoted 

market price 

Using 
observable 

inputs 

With 
significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

 

Valuation at 31 March 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

Equities* 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.2 

Pooled Investments 0.0 1,919.7 0.0 1,919.7 

Infrastructure 0.0 0.0 189.8 189.8 

Private Debt 0.0 0.0 104.2 104.2 

Private Equity 0.0 0.0 203.7 203.7 

Pooled Property (Note 1) 0.0 127.0 112.6 239.6 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss 

0.0 2046.7 611.4 2,658.2 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Net financial assets 0.0 2046.7 611.4 2,658.2 
*Equities which represent Border to Coast 
Pensions Partnership shareholding 

    

Note 1: The nature of property valuations means that although the property funds are pooled vehicles, the values of the 
underlying assets are Level 3, and therefore we think that the pooled property assets are Level 3. This varies from them 
previously being labelled as Level 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 223

Page 39 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 39  

   
 

  
Quoted 
market 
price 

Using 
observable 

inputs 

With 
significant 

unobservable 
inputs   

Valuation at 31 March 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  £m £m £m £m 
Equities* 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.2 
Pooled Investments  0.0 2,022.6 0.0 2,022.6 
Infrastructure 0.0  0.0 140.4 140.4 
Private Debt 0.0  0.0 83.0 83.0 
Private Equity 0.0  0.0 197.3 197.3 
Pooled Property 0.0 145.8 127.6 273.4 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss 0.0 2,168.4 548.3 2,717.9 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Net financial assets 0.0 2,168.4 548.3 2,717.9 

     
The following assets have been carried at cost: 

   

Quoted 
market price 

Using 
observable 

inputs 

With 
significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

 

Valuation at 31 March 2023 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  
Investment in:             
Border to Coast Pensions 
Partnership  0.0   0.0 1.2 1.2 

Investments held at cost  0.0   0.0  1.2  1.2 
 

  

Page 224

Page 40 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 40  

   
 

Note 25: Reconciliation of fair value measurements within Level 3 

 Market 
value             

31 March 
2022 

Purchase
s during 
the year 

Sales 
during the 

year 

Change in 
market 
value 

during the 
year 

Realised 
profit or 
loss (-) 

during the 
year 

Market 
value             

31 March 
2023 

 
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Private Debt 83.0 53.2 -32.1 0.5  -0.1 104.5 
Private Equity 197.3 40.9 -42.6 -16.8  24.9 203.7 
Infrastructure 140.5 113.4 -87.0 13.5 9.4 189.8 
Pooled Property* 273.4 7.7 -5.9 -17.8 1.0 112.6 

Total 548.4 215.1 -167.7 -20.5 35.2 610.5 

*Reclassified Pooled Property to Fair Value Level 3 
 

Note 26: Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

Risk and risk management 
The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that the Fund’s assets will fall short of its 
liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable to members).  Therefore, the aim of 
investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the 
value of the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole Fund 
portfolio.  The Fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce exposure to 
market risk (price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk to an 
acceptable level.  In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is 
sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s forecast cash flows.  The Council manages 
these investment risks as part of its overall pension fund risk management 
programme. 

Responsibility for the Fund’s risk management strategy rests with the Pension Fund 
Investment Sub-Committee.  Risk management policies are established to identify 
and analyse the risks faced by the Council’s pensions operations.  Policies are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in activity and in market conditions. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss from fluctuations in equity and commodity prices, 
interest and foreign exchange rates and credit spreads.  The Fund is exposed to 
market risk from its investment activities, particularly through its equity holdings.  The 
level of risk exposure depends on market conditions, expectations of future price and 
yield movements and the asset mix. 

Page 225

Page 41 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 41  

   
 

The objective of the Fund’s risk management strategy is to identify, manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, whilst optimising the 
return on risk. 

In general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the diversification of 
the portfolio in terms of geographical and industry sectors and individual securities.  
To mitigate market risk, the Council and its investment advisors undertake 
appropriate monitoring of market conditions and benchmark analysis. 

The Fund manages these risks in two ways: 

• the exposure of the Fund to market risk is monitored through a factor risk 
analysis, to ensure that risk remains within tolerable levels; and 

• specific risk exposure is limited by applying risk-weighted maximum exposures to 
individual investments. 

It is possible for over-the-counter equity derivative contracts to be used in exceptional 
circumstances to manage specific aspects of market risk. 

Other price risk  

Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual instrument, or its issuer, or factors affecting all such 
instruments in the market. 

The Fund is exposed to share price risk.  This arises from investments held by the 
Fund for which the future price is uncertain.  All securities investments present a risk 
of loss of capital. 

The Fund’s investment managers mitigate this price risk through diversification. The 
selection of securities and other financial instruments is monitored to ensure price risk 
is within limits specified in the Fund’s investment strategy. 

Following analysis of historical data and expected investment return movement, the 
Fund has determined that the following movements in market price risk were 
reasonably possible for the 2022/23 reporting period.  This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, 
remain the same. 

  

Page 226

Page 42 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 42  

   
 

 

2022/23 Potential 
market movement Asset Type 

% 
UK Pooled Funds 18 
Overseas Pooled Funds 19 
Bonds 7 
Cash 0 
Property 15 
Alternatives 9 

The potential price changes disclosed above are broadly consistent with a one-year 
dispersion in the value of the assets and are based on observed historical volatility of 
the returns of the asset class.   

Asset Type Value as at 31 
March 2023 

Potential 
market 

movement 

Value on 
increase 

Value on 
decrease 

 
£m £m £m £m 

UK Pooled Funds 417.4 75.1 492.5 342.3 
Overseas Pooled Funds 931.4 177.0 1,108.4 754.4 
Total Bonds 572.3 40.1 612.4 532.3 
Cash 70.5 0.0 70.5 70.5 
Infrastructure, Private Debt and 
Private Equity 497.7 44.8 542.5 452.9 
Property 239.6 35.9 275.6 203.7 

Total 2,729.0 372.9 3,101.9 2,356.1 

Had the market price of the Fund investments increased/decreased in line with the 
above, the change in the net assets available to pay benefits would have been as 
follows (the prior year comparator is shown in the following table: 

 

 

Page 227

Page 43 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 43  

   
 

Asset Type Value as at 31 
March 2022 

Potential 
market 

movement 

Value on 
increase 

Value on 
decrease 

 
£m £m £m £m 

UK Pooled Funds 443.6 88.7 532.3 354.8 
Overseas Pooled Funds 971.0 182.6 1,153.6 788.5 
Total Bonds 609.2 48.7 658.0 560.5 
Cash 40.5 0.0 40.5 40.5 
Infrastructure, Private Debt and 
Private Equity 420.7 33.7 454.4 387.1 
Property 273.4 41.0 314.4 232.4 

Total 2,758.4 394.7 3,153.1 2,363.7 
 

Interest rate risk 
The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on 
investments.  These investments are subject to interest rate risks, which represent 
the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  The Fund’s interest rate risk is 
monitored as part of asset allocation decisions.  Changes in interest rates do not 
impact on the value of cash and cash equivalent balances but they will affect the 
interest income received on those balances.  Changes to both the fair value of assets 
and the income received from investments impact on the net assets available to pay 
benefits. 

The analysis that follows assumes that all other variables, in particular exchange 
rates, remain constant, and shows the effect in the year on the net assets available to 
pay benefits of a +/- 1% change in interest rates. 

Asset Type Duration Value as at 31 
March 2023 

Value on 1% 
increase 

Value on 1% 
decrease 

 
Years £m £m £m 

LGIM UK Corporate Bonds 5.8 50.0 47.1 52.9 
LGIM UK Index Linked 16.8 95.3 79.3 111.3 
BCPP Multi-Asset Credit 3.7 240.9 232.0 249.9 
BCPP Investment Grade Credit  6.5 186.0 173.9 198.1 
Cash balances 0.0 83.7 83.7 83.7 

Total 
 

656.0 616.1 695.9 
  

Page 228

Page 44 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 44  

   
 

 

Asset Type Duration 
Value as at 
31 March 

2022 
Value on 1% 

increase 
Value on 1% 

decrease 

  Years £m £m £m 
LGIM UK Corporate Bonds 7.2 56.4 52.4 60.5 
LGIM UK Index Linked 20.3 130.4 103.9 156.8 
BCPP Multi-Asset Credit 4.36 250.8 239.8 261.7 
BCPP Investment Grade Credit 7.7 171.7 158.4 184.9 
Cash balances 0.0 52.8 52.8 52.8 

Total  662.1 607.3 716.8 
 

Currency risk  
Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Fund is 
exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are denominated in any 
currency other than the functional currency of the Fund (£UK).  The Fund holds both 
monetary and non-monetary assets denominated in currencies other than £UK. 

A strengthening/weakening of the pound against the various currencies in which the 
Fund holds investments would increase/decrease the net assets available to pay 
benefits as follows.  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. The prior year comparator is shown below and based 
on the Fund’s segregated overseas mandate which has now transitioned to the 
Border to Coast Pension Partnership (BCPP) pool: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 229

Page 45 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 45  

   
 

 Value as at 31 
March 2023 Volatility Value on 

increase 
Value on 
decrease 

  
£ m  £ m £ m 

Overseas Pooled Funds     

LGIM Fundamental Indexation 245.34 10.0%                      
269.87  

                                      
220.80  

LGIM Europe (ex-UK) 163.18 10.0%                      
179.50  

                                      
146.86  

LGIM Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) 44.51 10.0%                        
48.96  

                                        
40.06  

LGIM Emerging Markets 37.38 10.0%                        
41.12  

                                        
33.64  

LGIM Japan 35.42 10.0%                        
38.96  

                                        
31.87  

LGIM North America 18.72 10.0%                        
20.59  

                                        
16.85  

BCPP Global Equity 386.86 10.0%                      
425.55  

                                      
348.18  

Total 931.4 10.0%                   
1,024.55  

                                      
838.27  

 

  
Value as at 

31 March 
2022 

Volatility Value on 
increase 

Value on 
decrease 

  £ m  £ m £ m 
Overseas Pooled Funds     
LGIM Fundamental Indexation 

                         
150.89  20% 

                     
181.07  

                                      
120.71  

LGIM Europe (ex-UK) 
                          

46.28  20% 
                       

55.54  
                                        

37.03  

LGIM Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) 
                          

39.05  20% 
                       

46.86  
                                        

31.24  

LGIM Emerging Markets 
                         

302.83  20% 
                     

363.40  
                                      

242.27  

LGIM Japan 
                          

34.73  20% 
                       

41.67  
                                        

27.78  

LGIM North America 
                          

19.20  20% 
                       

23.04  
                                        

15.36  

BCPP Global Equity 
                         

378.03  20% 
                     

453.64  
                                      

302.43  

Total 
971.0 20% 

                         
1,165.2  776.8 

Page 230

Page 46 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 46  

   
 

 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction will fail to 
discharge an obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss.  The market 
values of investments generally reflect an assessment of credit in their pricing and 
consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value of the 
Fund’s financial assets and liabilities. 

The Pension Fund closely monitors employer contributions each month. Most 
contributions from employers due to the Fund for March 2023 were received by the 
Fund in April 2023.  The Fund's current policy for all new employers into the scheme 
is to obtain a guarantee that will ensure all pension obligations are covered in the 
event of that employer facing financial difficulties. 

The Pension Fund's bank account is held at Lloyds, which holds an 'A+' long term 
credit rating (Fitch Credit Rating Agency) and it maintains its status as a well-
capitalised and strong financial organisation.  In addition, Lloyds has a 0% historic 
risk of default.  As at 31st March 2023 the balance at Lloyds stood at £18.5m. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.  The Pension Fund therefore takes steps to ensure that it 
has adequate cash resources to meet its commitments, particularly cash to meet 
pensioner payroll and other benefit costs, and cash to meet investment commitments.   

The Pension Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings and has had a long-
term positive cash flow.  Cash flow surpluses are invested with fund managers.  The 
Pension Fund is authorised to borrow on a short-term basis to fund cash flow deficits. 

The actuary to the Pension Fund produces regular cash flow forecasts which are 
presented to the Investment Sub-Committee.   

All financial liabilities as at 31 March 2023 are due within one year. 

 

Note 27: Funding arrangements 

In line with The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Fund’s 
actuary undertakes a funding valuation every three years for the purpose of setting 
employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period.  The last such 
valuation took place as at 31 March 2022 and sets contribution rates for the three 
years commencing 1 April 2023.  However, the contribution rates for the accounting 
year 2022/23 relied on the results of the Actuarial Valuation as of 31 March 2019. 

The key elements of the funding policy are: 

Page 231

Page 47 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 47  

   
 

• to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, i.e. that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all pension liabilities as they fall due for payment; 

• to ensure that employer contribution rates are as stable as possible; 
• to minimise the long-term cost of the scheme by recognising the link between 

assets and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy that balances risk and 
return; 

• to reflect the different characteristics of employing bodies in determining 
contribution rates where the administering authority considers it reasonable to do 
so; and 

• to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately 
to the council taxpayer from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

The aim is to achieve 100% solvency over a period of 19 years and to provide 
stability in contribution rates by spreading any increases in rates over a period of 
time.  Normally this is three years but, in some cases, an extended period can be 
granted.  Solvency is achieved when the funds held, plus future expected investment 
returns and future contributions are sufficient to meet expected future pension 
benefits payable. When an employer’s funding level falls significantly short of the 
100% funding target, then a deficit recovery plan will be put in place requiring 
additional contributions from the employer to meet the shortfall.  

At the 2019 actuarial valuation, the Fund was assessed as 92% funded.  This 
corresponded to a deficit of £180m. At the 2022 actuarial valuation, the Fund was 
assessed as 104% funded. This corresponds to a surplus of £98m. 

Contribution increases arising from the 2019 actuarial valuation were phased in over 
the three-year period ending 31 March 2023.  The common contribution rate (i.e. the 
rate which all employers in the Fund pay) is as follows. 

 

Valuation Date 31-Mar-19 
Total contribution rate   
Primary Rate (% of pay) 20.1% 
2020/21 Secondary Rate £000 6,071 
2021/22 Secondary Rate £000 6,251 
2022/23 Secondary Rate £000 6,436 

 
Following the 2022 actuarial valuation, contribution rate changes (primary and 
secondary) will be phased in from 1 April 2023. 

 

 

 

Page 232

Page 48 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 48  

   
 

Valuation Date 31-Mar-22 
Total contribution rate   
Primary Rate (% of pay) 20.7% 
2023/24 Secondary Rate £000 4,865 
2024/25 Secondary Rate £000 4,688 
2025/26 Secondary Rate £000 4,495 

Individual employer rates will vary from the common contribution rate depending on 
the demographic and actuarial factors particular to each employer.  Full details of the 
contribution rates payable can be found in the 2019 and 2022 actuarial valuation 
reports and the Funding Strategy Statement on the Fund’s website.  

The valuation of the Fund has been undertaken using the projected unit method 
under which the salary increase for each member is assumed to increase until they 
leave active service by death, retirement or withdrawal from service.  The principal 
assumptions are as follows: 

Financial assumptions 

Financial assumptions  31 March 2019 31 March 2022 
   % % 
Discount Rate  3.7 4.0 
Salary Increases  3.1 3.7 
Price Inflation/Pension Increases  2.3 2.7 

 
Demographic assumptions 
Assumed life expectancy from age 65 is as follows. 

Demographic assumptions  31 March 2019 31 March 2022 
Assumed life expectancy at age 65  Male Female Male Female 
Pensioners  21.6 23.8 21.8 24.4 
Non-pensioners  22.5 25.4 22.6 26.0 

 
Commutation assumptions 
At the 2019 valuation, it was assumed that future retirees will take 50% of the 
maximum additional tax-free lump sum up to HMRC limits for pre-April 2008 service 
and 75% of the maximum for post-April 2008 service. The equivalent assumption at 
the 2022 valuation was 65% for all service. 
 
50:50 Option 
The assumption in the 2019 and 2022 Actuarial Valuations was that 1.0% of 
members (uniformly distributed across the age, service and salary range) will choose 
the 50:50 option.  
 
 
 

Page 233

Page 49 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 49  

   
 

Note 28: Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 
 
In addition to the triennial funding valuation, the Fund’s actuary also undertakes a 
valuation of the pension fund liabilities, on an IAS19 basis, every year using the same 
base data as the funding valuation rolled forward to the current financial year, taking 
account of changes in membership numbers and updating assumptions to the current 
year.  This valuation is not carried out on the same basis as that used for setting Fund 
contribution rates and the Fund accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay 
pensions and other benefits in the future (see Note 27).   
 
In order to assess the value of the benefits on this basis, the actuary has updated the 
actuarial assumptions (set out below) from those used for funding purposes (see Note 
27).  The following is the full Pension Fund Accounts Reporting Requirement provided 
by the Scheme Actuary. 
 
Introduction 
CIPFA's Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2022/23 requires 
Administering Authorities of LGPS funds that prepare pension fund accounts to 
disclose what IAS26 refers to as the actuarial present value of promised retirement 
benefits. I have been instructed by the Administering Authority to provide the 
necessary information for the Warwickshire Pension Fund (“the Fund”). 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is to be calculated 
similarly to the Defined Benefit Obligation under IAS19. There are three options for its 
disclosure in the pension fund accounts: 

• showing the figure in the Net Assets Statement, in which case it requires the 
statement to disclose the resulting surplus or deficit; 

• as a note to the accounts; or 

• by reference to this information in an accompanying actuarial report. 

If an actuarial valuation has not been prepared at the date of the financial statements, 
IAS26 requires the most recent valuation to be used as a base and the date of the 
valuation disclosed. The valuation should be carried out using assumptions in line 
with IAS19 and not the Fund’s funding assumptions. 

Present value of promised retirement benefits 

Year ended 31 March 
2022 

31 March 
2023 

Active members (£m) 1,790 1,157 
Deferred members (£m) 840 514 
Pensioners (£m) 1,095 903 
Total present value of promised retirement 
benefits (£m) 

3,725 2,574 

Fair value of scheme assets (bid value) (£m) 2,776 2,728 

Page 234

Page 50 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 50  

   
 

Net Asset / (Liability) (£m) (949) 154 

The promised retirement benefits at 31 March 2023 have been projected using a roll 
forward approximation from the latest formal funding valuation as at 31 March 2022.  
The approximation involved in the roll forward model means that the split of benefits 
between the three classes of member may not be reliable.  However, I am satisfied 
that the total figure is a reasonable estimate of the actuarial present value of benefit 
promises.  

The figures include both vested and non-vested benefits, although the latter is 
assumed to have a negligible value.  Further, I have not made any allowance for 
unfunded benefits.  

It should be noted the above figures are appropriate for the Administering Authority 
only for preparation of the pension fund accounts. They should not be used for any 
other purpose (i.e. comparing against liability measures on a funding basis or a 
cessation basis). 

Assumptions 
The assumptions used are those adopted for the Administering Authority’s IAS19 
report and are different as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.  I estimate that the 
impact of the change in financial assumptions to 31 March 2023 is to decrease the 
actuarial present value by £1,504m.  I estimate that the impact of the change in 
demographic assumptions is to decrease the actuarial present value by £45m. 

 
  

Page 235

Page 51 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 51  

   
 

Financial assumptions 

Year ended 31 March 2022 31 March 2023 
 % p.a. % p.a. 
Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 3.20 2.95 
Salary Increase Rate 4.00 3.95 
Discount Rate 2.70 4.75 

Demographic assumptions 
The longevity assumptions have changed since the previous IAS26 disclosure for the 
Fund. 
Life expectancy is based on the Fund's VitaCurves with improvements in line with the 
CMI 2021 model, with a 10% weighting of 2021 (and 2020) data, standard smoothing 
(Sk7), initial adjustment of 0.25% and a long term rate of improvement of 1.5% p.a.. 
Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are 
summarised below: 

 Males Females 
Current pensioners 21.5 years 24.2 years 
Future pensioners (assumed to be aged 
45 at the latest valuation date) 

22.2 years 25.8 years 

All other demographic assumptions have been updated since last year and as per the 
latest funding valuation of the Fund.  

Sensitivity Analysis 
CIPFA guidance requires the disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods 
and assumptions used. The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to 
measure the obligations are set out below: 

Change in assumption at 31 March 
2023 

Approximate % 
increase to 
promised 
retirement 
benefits 

Approximate 
monetary 

amount (£m) 

0.1% p.a. decrease in the Discount Rate 2 50 
1 year increase in member life 
expectancy 4 103 

0.1% p.a. increase in the Salary Increase 
Rate 0 6 

0.1% p.a. increase in the Pension 
Increase Rate (CPI) 2 45 

 
Professional notes 
This paper accompanies the ‘Accounting Covering Report – 31 March 2023’ which 
identifies the appropriate reliance’s and limitations for the use of the figures in this 

Page 236

Page 52 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 52  

   
 

paper, together with further details regarding the professional requirements and 
assumptions. 

Prepared by: 

 

Robert Bilton FFA 

26 May 2023 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 237

Page 53 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 53  

   
 

Note 29: Current assets 
 

31 March 2022  31 March 2023 

£m  £m 
 Debtors:  

1.8 Contributions due: Employees 3.3 
6.1 Contributions due: Employers 4.0 
1.3 Invoiced debtors 0.6 
0.1 Sundry debtors 0.1 

17.8 Cash balances 18.5 

27.0 Total 26.4 
 
 
Note 30: Current liabilities 
 

31 March 2022  31 March 2023 

£m  £m 
1.8 Owed to administering authority 2.2 
1.3 Sundry Creditors 1.9 
0.7 Benefits Payable 1.0 

3.9 Total 5.1 
 
 
Note 31: Additional Voluntary Contributions 
 

Contributions 
Paid 2021/22 

Market Value 
31 March 2022  Contributions 

Paid 2022/23 
Market Value 

31 March 2023 

£000 £m 
 

£000 £m 
468.5 3.3 Standard Life 508.4 3.2 

1.2 0.2 Utmost Life and Pensions 1.6 0.2 

469.7 3.5 Total 510.0 3.4 
 
 
  

Page 238

Page 54 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 54  

   
 

Note 32: Related Party Transactions 

Warwickshire County Council 
The Warwickshire Pension Fund is administered by Warwickshire County Council.  
Consequently, there is a strong relationship between the Council and the Pension 
Fund. 

During the reporting period, the Council incurred costs of £2.4m (2021/22: £1.9m) in 
relation to the administration of the Fund and was subsequently reimbursed by the 
Fund for these expenses.  The Council is also the single largest employer of 
members of the Pension Fund.  Employee and employer contributions from the 
Council amounted to £48.6m (£43.8m in 2021/22). 

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership (BCPP) 
The Warwickshire Pension Fund, through Warwickshire County Council as the 
Administering Authority, is a shareholder in BCPP Limited. The Partnership is a 
wholly owned private limited company registered in England and Wales founded to 
carry out pension fund asset pooling obligations set out by the Government. The 
company provides the facility to pool the pension fund investments of 11 local 
authorities in order to gain the benefits of economies of scale, concentration of 
expertise and improved ability to reduce investment costs.  The company was 
incorporated in 2017/18 and the first transfers of investment assets into the pool 
occurred in 2018/19. As at the balance sheet date all 11 partners own an equal 1/11th 
share of the company. 

BCPP is a joint venture that brings risks as well as benefits. The partnership has 
grown significantly, for example in terms of the value of assets under management 
and the number of personnel employed.  At Fund level the pool manages 76.7% of 
total assets under management. Pooling and membership of the Border to Coast 
Pensions Partnership is a regular and high-profile feature of reporting to the Pension 
Fund Investment Sub-Committee and the Fund's risk register has regard to key 
pooling risks. 
 
Governance 
There was one member of the Pension Fund Investment Sub-Committee and the 
Staff and Pensions Committee who was in receipt of pension benefits from the 
Warwickshire Pension Fund. 

There are two members of the Local Pension Board who are active members of the 
Warwickshire Pension Fund and one active pensioner. 

Each member of the Pension Fund Investment Sub-Committee, Staff and Pensions 
Committee and Local Pension Board is required to declare their interests at each 
meeting.   

 
 

Page 239

Page 55 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 55  

   
 

Key management personnel  
Several employees of Warwickshire County Council hold key positions in the financial 
management of the Warwickshire Pension Fund, alongside responsibilities for 
Warwickshire County Council directly.  The following percentages represent the time 
each post has spent on pension fund activities during the financial year.  The posts of 
Executive Director for Resources (2%), Director of Finance (16%), Head of 
Investments, Audit and Risk (30%), Head of Finance Transformation & Transactions 
(30%), Technical Specialist Pensions (100%), Investment Analyst (100%), Lead 
Commissioner Pensions and Investment (100%), and Pensions Administration 
Delivery Lead (100%) are considered to be key management personnel. These 
employees and their financial relationship with the Fund are set out below. 

2021/22  2022/23 

£000 
 

£000 
 251.1 Short-term benefits  348.5 
-241.0 Post-employment benefits -200.5 

 

Note 33: Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments  

A contingent liability arises where an event prior to the year-end has created a 
possible financial obligation whose existence will only be confirmed or otherwise by 
future events. Contingent liabilities can also arise when it is not possible at the 
balance sheet date to measure the value of the financial obligation reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the net asset statement but are disclosed 
by way of narrative in the notes. 

Outstanding capital commitments at 31 March 2023 are as follows: 

31 March 2022  31 March 2023 

£m 
 

£m 
116.3 Private Equity 98.0 
151.3 Infrastructure 121.8 

91.8 Private Debt 79.7 
359.4 Total 299.5 

 

  

Page 240

Page 56 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 56  

   
 

Note 34: Going Concern 

Going concern is assessed by management using four key factors as follows: 

• Investment returns and Net Asset Values; 
• Cashflow forecast and liquidity; 
• Membership trends; and 
• Funding level and delivery of agreed recovery plans. 

Each is considered in turn below: 

• The number of employing bodies has increased over time and currently stands at 
the highest number it has ever been (223) and current membership increased 
from 54,329 to 56,945, also an all time high. 

• Investment returns were volatile in 2022/23 however the diversification of the 
Fund’s assets has provided protection. 

• The Fund has adequate liquidity in place to meet cashflow requirements. 
• The Fund was assessed as 92% funded as at 31 March 19, an improvement on 

the funding level of 82% at 31 March 2016, and the 2022 valuation assessed the 
Funding level to be 104%.  It is important to note that the Fund does not need to 
be 100% funded to be a going concern, it simply needs to be able to meet benefit 
obligations as they fall due. 

For the reason set out above, management are satisfied that the Warwickshire 
County Council Pension Fund is a going concern and the financial statements for 
2022/23 have been prepared on this basis accordingly. 

 

 

 

  

Page 241

Page 57 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 57  

   
 

Glossary 

Actuarial valuation 
A review of the assets and liabilities of a pension fund to determine the surplus or deficit, and 
the future rate of contributions required. 
 
Alternative investments 
Investments other than the mainstream asset classes of equities and bonds. Alternatives 
include hedge funds, private equity, private debt, infrastructure and commodities. Property is 
also sometimes described as an alternative. 
 
Asset allocation 
The apportionment of a fund’s assets between different asset classes. 
 
Benchmark 
A yardstick against which the investment policy or performance of a fund manager can be 
compared. 
 
Currency risk 
Investing in any securities not denominated in the investor’s own base currency introduces 
currency risk due to the volatility of foreign exchange rates. 
 
Defined benefit scheme 
A type of pension scheme where the pension that will ultimately be paid to the employee is 
fixed, usually as a percentage of final salary. It is the responsibility of the sponsoring 
organisation to ensure that sufficient assets are set aside to meet the pension promised. 
Compare with defined contribution scheme. 
 
Deferred Pensioners 
Members of the Pension Fund who are no longer active employees making contributions to 
the Fund but who are not yet receiving their pension (may also be referred to as Deferred 
Members). 
 
Diversification 
The spreading of investment funds among different types of assets, markets and 
geographical areas in order to reduce risk. 
 
Hedge Funds 
A hedge fund is a capital pool that has the ability to use leverage and to take both long and 
short positions with the aim of achieving an absolute return. A large variety of hedge fund 
strategies exist, and the level of risk taken will vary. Investors looking for a diversified 
exposure to hedge funds will normally opt for a fund of hedge funds – a fund with underlying 
investments in several hedge funds covering different strategies and geographical areas. 
 
IAS19 (International Accounting Standards) 
An accounting standard which requires organisations to incorporate their pension funds into 
their balance sheets and specifically that all pension fund liabilities should be valued 

Page 242

Page 58 of 59



 
  Section D - Page 58  

   
 

using an AA corporate bond yield. Any mismatch between assets and liabilities is effectively 
brought on to the organisation’s balance sheet. 
 
IAS1 
An accounting standard that sets out overall requirements for the presentation of financial 
statements, guidelines for their structure and minimum requirements for their content. 
 
Private equity 
Funds put up by investors to finance new and growing businesses. Also known as venture 
capital 
 
Pooled funds 
Pooled funds are where the Fund does not directly own underlying assets. 
 
Pool or LGPS Pool 
This term refers to where LGPS administrating authorities have grouped into pools 
specifically set up to enable investment in line with the Local Government Pension Scheme: 
investment reform criteria and guidance (November 2015). The Warwickshire Pension Fund 
is part of the Border to Coast Pensions Partnership pool, which currently has 11 LGPS 
partner funds. 
  
Private Debt 
Private debt comprises mezzanine and other forms of debt financing that comes mainly from 
institutional investors such as funds and insurance companies – but not from banks.   
 
Risk 
In its simplest sense, risk is the variability of returns. Investments with greater inherent risk 
must promise higher expected returns if investors are to invest in them. Risk management is 
an important aspect of portfolio management and involves the use of complex statistical 
models.       
 
Stock lending 
The lending of a security by the registered owner, to an authorised third party, for a fixed or 
open period of time, for an agreed consideration secured by collateral. The demand to borrow 
securities comes mainly from market makers to cover short positions or take arbitrage 
opportunities. 
 
Transaction costs 
Those costs associated with trading on a portfolio, notably stamp duty and commissions. 
 

Page 243

Page 59 of 59



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

Annual Governance Statement 2022/23 
 

 
 Recommendation 

 
          That Council approves the 2022/23 Annual Governance Statement. 
 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents the 2022/23 Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 

approval at Appendix 1. 
 

1.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the authority to conduct a 
review, at least once in a year, of the effectiveness of its system of internal 
control and to prepare an AGS. 
 

1.3 It has been assessed, as a result of the AGS evaluation and assurance 
gathering process, which includes consideration by the Audit and Standards 
Committee, external auditors, and public consultation, that there are no 
significant governance issues or governance failures to report. The Council’s 
key areas of strategic risk are presented as governance challenges in Section 
5, along with planned and proposed mitigations. 
 

2. Financial Implications 
 

2.1 None. 
 

 
3. Environmental Implications 
 
3.1 None. 
 
 
4. Supporting Information 

 
 

4.1 None. 
 
 
5. Timescales associated with the decision and next steps 
 
5.1 None. 

Page 245

Page 1 of 2 Agenda Item 5



 
 
Appendices 
 
1. Appendix 1 – 2022/23 Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Background Papers 
None. 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Chris Norton 

Head of Investments, 
Audit, Insurance, and 
Risk 

 chrisnorton@warwickshire.gov.uk  
 

Director Andrew Felton 
Director of Finance 

andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Executive Director Rob Powell 
Executive Director for 
Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder Peter Butlin 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Property 

peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk 

 
The report was circulated to the following members prior to publication: 
 
Local Member(s):  
Other members:   
 

Page 246

Page 2 of 2

mailto:andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
1 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 
Annual Governance Statement  
 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 247

P
age 1 of 29

P
age 1 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
2 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Annual Governance Statement 2022/23 
 

Contents 
 

  Page 
   

1 
 

Executive Summary 3 

2 
 

The Governance Framework 4 

3 
 

Review of Compliance  7 

4 
 

Review of Effectiveness and Improvements   19 

5 
 

Governance Issues and Challenges 20 

6 
 

Appendix 1 

Certification 
 
Governance Action Plan 

24 
 

25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

P
age 248

P
age 2 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
3 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

1 Executive Summary 
 
Warwickshire County Council’s ambition is to make Warwickshire the best it can be, sustainable now and for future generations. We want Warwickshire to 
be a brilliant County in which to grow up, work and prosper and grow older.  
 
To be successful the Council must have a solid foundation of good governance and sound financial management. Our Council Plan is available on the 
Council’s website: https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/councilplan and describes how the Council will meet the challenges ahead and make the most of 
opportunities.  
 
Warwickshire’s Code of Corporate Governance ensures that we are doing the right things, in the right way, in line with our values. A copy of the Council’s 
Code is available on our website at http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/corporategovernance. Each year the Council is required to produce an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) which describes how its corporate governance arrangements set out in the Code of Governance have been working. This 
Statement gives assurances on compliance for the year ending 31 March 2023.  The AGS reflects the position, role titles and content relevant to 
governance arrangements that were in place during 2022/23.  However, within the Governance Improvement Actions for 2023/24 the role titles have been 
updated to reflect the structural changes made in October 2023. 
 
The Leader of the Council and Chief Executive recognise the importance of having a solid foundation of good governance and sound financial 
management and commit to continue to further enhance our governance arrangements to enable delivery of our Council Plan. 
  

P
age 249

P
age 3 of 29

https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/councilplan
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/corporategovernance


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
4 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

2 The Governance Framework 
 
We are responsible for delivering public services for the benefit of the people of Warwickshire, operating in line with the law and proper accounting 
standards, and for using public money economically, efficiently and effectively.  We also have a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to continually 
review and improve the way we work, while at the same time offering value for money services. 
 
To meet our responsibility, we have put in place effective governance arrangements for overseeing what we do.  These arrangements are intended to 
make sure that we do the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, open and accountable manner.  These arrangements consist of all 
the systems, processes, culture and values which direct and control the way in which we work and through which we account to, engage with and lead our 
communities. 
 
We have approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which sets out the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government (2016)  
 

 
Figure 1: CIPFA's Principles of Good Governance 

P
age 250

P
age 4 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
5 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 
The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance was updated in 2021 and approved by Cabinet in April 2021, to present how our governance arrangements 
support each core governance principle and reflect organisational structures and processes.  The full details of our current code and how we meet the 
seven Principles of Good Governance can be found on our website here: http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/corporategovernance 
 
We continue to monitor external factors that may have an impact on the Council’s governance arrangements and will take appropriate action where 
necessary. International political and economic events continue to cause significant uncertainty, driving inflation and cost of living challenges. The legal 
and regulatory framework will continue to change and will present opportunities to update our governance arrangements over time.  
 
The Code of Corporate Governance will be reviewed at least every 4 years, and more frequently if needed. Consequently, governance arrangements in 
the Code are not repeated in the AGS, which will focus on compliance, effectiveness and improvements to the Framework.  

 

The aim of the governance framework 
 
Our Framework allows us to direct resources in accordance with our priorities, monitor how we are achieving our strategic aims and ambitions, and to 
consider whether they have helped us to deliver appropriate services. The Framework also aims to assure we deliver value for money by applying 
specifically governance processes aligned to: 
 

• Principle C:  defining outcomes that have impact.  
• Principle D:  optimising achievement of outcomes that are effective. 
• Principle E:  strong financial management that delivers economic and efficient solutions.  

 
The Annual Governance Statement provides assurances that these processes are working in practice and provide services in line with our priorities by 
delivering on our supporting priority of Making the Best Use of Resources. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 251

P
age 5 of 29

http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/corporategovernance


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
6 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 

 
 
Financial Management Code of Practice 
 
Our Code of Corporate Governance was enhanced by adopting CIPFA’s Financial Management Code of Practice in 2021/22 and compliance with the 
Code is reviewed on an annual basis as part of the AGS process. The annual refresh of the CIPFA FM Code self-assessment was reported to the Audit 
and Standards Committee in March 2023. This reiterated that the Council complies with the standards set out within the Code. The Committee also 
considered progress on the delivery of the Code’s improvement action plan and approved a new action plan for 2023/24. Given the Council is already 
compliant with the Code, the improvement action plan entails continuing to push for best practice in relevant areas, rather than simply settling for basic 
compliance. 
 
We are alert to ensuring our governance arrangements support the Council as a whole and individual services to deliver value for money across all our 
activity and at all levels of accountability, and we continue to seek to adapt and improve our governance arrangements in that regard.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2: The Council’s Three Strategic Priorities

P
age 252

P
age 6 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
7 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 
3 Review of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance  
 
We confirmed that arrangements under each of seven governance principles continue to be applied. The COVID pandemic made 2020/21 
a year of significant change which required the Council, wherever required, to adapt existing governance arrangements as part of our 
response to the pandemic and plans for recovery. Many of these changes have now become established as part of the Council’s governance 
arrangements as we adapted to a new way of working during 2022/23 and beyond.  
 
We have set out below, for each governance principle, our self-assessment of compliance in the year.  
 
Table1: Summary of Compliance against the Code of Corporate Governance 
 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 

The key policies, procedures and practices set out in the Code of Corporate Governance remained in place and were applied 
throughout the year. Our key behaviours and supporting values which underpin our governance arrangements are at the 
heart of all we do and continued to be central to how we appraise our performance. 

Compliance 
Overview  

We have continued to meet the Public Sector Duty, as set out in the Equality Act 2010 and do not consider that we have 
unlawfully discriminated in the provision of services whether delivered by us or commissioned externally. Equality impact 
assessments have also continued to be produced to inform all appropriate decisions during the financial year. 

 Integrity is embedded in our behaviours and the supporting values of being accountable and trustworthy. To ensure our 
behaviours are upheld we have codes of conduct for officers and members, registers of gifts and hospitality, registers of 
financial interests, and policies on anti-fraud and whistleblowing.  
 
We reviewed our Member Code of Conduct against the LGA Model Code, and a new updated Code of Conduct was 
agreed at Council in July 2021. We undertook several refresher training sessions for members on conduct and behaviours 
during 2021/22 and these have continued throughout 2022/23 as part of our refreshed approach to Member Development. 
As part of those sessions, we consider any developments in law or guidance in the area of member conduct and update 
members. If there are any significant developments, these will form the basis of a further formal review of the Code. 
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/s14878/Revised%20Member%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf 
 
We include ethical values in policies and procedures for all areas including procurement and partnership working. We have 
a Complaints Policy and a corporate complaints and feedback procedure to ensure that all complaints are investigated and 
are responded to as quickly as possible (http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/complaints). We appreciate the diversity of our 

P
age 253

P
age 7 of 29

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/s14878/Revised%20Member%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/complaints


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
8 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

customers, workforce and the wider Warwickshire community and are committed to Equality, Diversity and Inclusion and 
fulfilling our Public Sector Equality Duty. This is integral to everything we do including policy development, service delivery 
and partnership working to ensure that we do not unlawfully discriminate in the services we deliver or commission 
(http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/equality). 
 
Our Constitution, https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/constitution including Contract Standing Orders and Financial 
Regulations were reviewed during 2022/23, with only minor updates required during the financial year to ensure that they 
remained legislatively compliant and reflect the organisation’s operating arrangements. Changes were approved by 
Council in May and September 2022.  
 
The Constitution sets out the decision-making framework to ensure that all officers, key post holders and Members can fulfil 
their responsibilities in accordance with legislative requirements. All our reports to member bodies receive financial and legal 
checks prior to submission to ensure they comply with regulatory requirements. Our Monitoring Officer receives weekly 
reports to alert her to any legal issues which she shares with the Section 151 / Deputy Section 151 Officers and the Head of 
Paid Service. The Head of Paid Service, Section 151 / Deputy Section 151 Officers and Monitoring Officer meet regularly to 
ensure any regulatory requirements are addressed and any regulatory risks are discussed and visible. 
 
A formal induction programme for Members is undertaken following each quadrennial election which covers the legal 
principles governing decision making and the Code of Conduct. The induction programme incorporates commercial 
awareness to ensure that members understand their responsibilities in relation to governance of commercial activity. Member 
induction and training also covers a broader understanding of Council finances and the key Committee and Officer roles 
responsible for governing our finances as well as the wider responsibilities of the Council and the services it provides. This 
is supplemented annually by on-going Member refresher training for key areas like finance. 
 
All officers with budget responsibilities receive training on general financial management and specifics around financial 
policies, procedures, systems and propriety. 
 
Cabinet approved the Procurement and Contract Management Strategy in November 2022. The Strategy has been 
considered by a number of employees to seek feedback prior to formal promotion and training being carried out in 2023/24. 
Nationally, Procurement legislation is being refreshed and currently running through Parliamentary approvals processes with 
implementation likely to take place in autumn 2024. A report has been shared with Corporate Board on possible implications 
for further consideration. In addition, following a focused piece of work involving procurement and legal teams, areas where 
we can further strengthen procurement practice have been identified and will continue to be a focus during 2023/24. 
 
The Joint Consultative Committee meets on a quarterly basis providing the opportunity for elected employee representatives 
to meet with senior management and discuss issues affecting the whole workforce including Health & Safety. Teacher Trade 
Unions meet separately with the Assistant Director of Education to discuss Education and Schools specific items. We have 

P
age 254

P
age 8 of 29

http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/equality
https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/constitution


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
9 
 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

a positive working relationship with the Trade Unions, and they are proactively involved at a Directorate level in relation to 
change management and individual casework. 
 
We are registered as a data controller under the Data Protection Act as we collect, and process personal information and 
we have a named Data Protection Officer, a role shared by the Information Governance Team leads. We have General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) compliant procedures that explain how we use and share information and arrangements for 
members of the public to access information. We have adopted the model publication scheme produced by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO), in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/publicationschemeguide 
 
Trading companies, wholly or partly owned by the Council, are scrutinised and challenged through shareholder 
representatives and for wholly owned companies the Commercial team monitors performance through the Commercial 
Delivery Group on a quarterly basis. In some instances, Council officers are appointed as Directors, and where appropriate, 
we also support new Council appointed Directors with training on how to perform their role as Directors effectively. Annual 
General Meetings are held by all trading companies to allow the Council as shareholder to further review annual performance 
and influence company governance procedures. Directors of relevant companies have also received “conflict of interest” 
awareness training and we actively monitor the risk of potential conflicts. Investments are governed by appropriate 
documents, for example loan agreements. The Council operates an anti-money laundering policy, and the Assistant Director 
Finance (Deputy Section 151 Officer) is the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Responsible Officer (AMLRO). 
 

 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Compliance 
Overview 

The key policies, procedures and practices set out in the Code of Corporate Governance remained in place and were applied 
throughout the year. 

 Council and Committee meetings are available as webcasts (https://warwickshire.public-I.tv/core/portal/webcasts), and 
decisions are recorded and published. 
 
The Warwickshire Youth Council represents the voice of young people in Warwickshire. Each year, young people across 
Warwickshire vote for self-nominated young people to represent them. Those elected meet monthly at Shire Hall and have 
the responsibility of campaigning and ensuring that the voice of young people is heard across the Council.  Each area of 
Warwickshire also has a Youth Forum which represents young people at a more local level.  
 

P
age 255

P
age 9 of 29

https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/publicationschemeguide
https://warwickshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
10 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

We continue to be guided by the Children and Young People Strategy 2021 - 2030 which has the Child Friendly 
Warwickshire programme at its heart. Approved by Cabinet in October 2021, the Strategy outlines the Council’s 
commitment to ensuring children and young people have a voice and are supported to be the best they can be. The 
Strategy’s goals and ambitions were shaped by feedback from a survey completed by over a thousand young people 
across Warwickshire and will be the Council’s approach to working with partners, families and communities between now 
and 2030 to help youngsters reach their potential. 
 
We have an Employee Engagement Strategy to ensure employees have a voice, that managers and leaders hear and can 
act on staff feedback and that they continue to focus on coaching and developing their people, and there is clear 
communication about the direction of our Council. This is supported by employee forums and regular employee surveys, 
regular check in surveys which measure employee engagement and our direction of travel against Our People Strategy 
Delivery Plan which includes our people related measures. 
 
Regular Corporate Board and Strategic Director live broadcasts, supported by Assistant Director and Team briefings and 
broadcasts are now embedded as a way to engage with our people irrespective of working arrangements (remote, office 
based or hybrid). Feedback from employees that completed the ‘Your Say Survey’ in February 2023 highlights 79% agree 
or strongly agree that ‘Our internal communications keep me updated on what is happening’.  
  
Regular feedback is provided to the workforce through various mechanisms, for example through briefings, Working 4 
Warwickshire, intranet pages etc.  
 
Warwickshire County Council, as “Corporate Parents”, have high aspiration for our children in care and care experienced 
young people. We are committed to hearing the voice of children in care through engagement with the Children in Care 
Council who seek to improve services for children. https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/childrenincare  
 
The Warwickshire Pension Fund engages with its employers and members through the Warwickshire Local Pension Board 
which has representatives from employers and members, and through direct communications for example directly sharing 
new policies such as the Funding Strategy Statement for comment.  The Pension Fund is currently rolling out online member 
self-service, which is improving the accessibility of information for members. There is also a Warwickshire Fire and Rescue 
Local Pension Board of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme. 

 
 

  

P
age 256

P
age 10 of 29

https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/childrenincare


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
11 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits 

Compliance 
Overview 
 
 

We have a clear set of priority outcomes in our five-year Council Plan and associated deliverables in our two-year Integrated 
Delivery Plan. The Council Plan has three priorities as follows:  

• Priority 1, A county with a thriving economy and places with the right jobs, skills, and infrastructure (Economy & 
Places);  

• Priority 2, A place where people can live their best lives, where communities and individuals are supported to live 
safely, healthily, happily, and independently (People & Communities); and  

• Priority 3, A place with sustainable futures, which means adapting to and mitigating climate change and meeting 
net zero commitments (Sustainability). 

 
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) supports the delivery of the Council Plan and is based on clear assumptions. 
Resources are aligned to priorities and ensure a balanced budget to sustain services and the longer-term financial health 
of the Council. The MTFS process, which includes scenario planning, assists with forward planning and responding to 
variations in financial forecasts and changes to assumptions. All Committee decisions have to identify any environmental 
implications linked to the decisions in the reports. 

 The Council Plan was approved and became effective from 1 April 2022 and is supported by the Integrated Delivery Plan 
which was approved by Cabinet in May 2022 and has been refreshed and approved in May 2023. Our strategies are 
supported by Business Plans, key change projects and investments to develop the actions needed to deliver outcomes. 
Projects and investments are scrutinised to ensure they deliver required outcomes.  
 
The Council’s Capital Programme is directed by our Integrated Capital Strategy, aligned to the Council Plan and 
approved by Council in February each year as part of the MTFS. The Capital Review has delivered a range of improved 
processes and embedded new controls around capital programme management, with the final stage linked to upgrading 
our financial system for capital monitoring.  
 
Priorities and a programme of actions for addressing the climate emergency the Council declared in 2019 are included in 
the Council Plan and all Council reports identify financial and environmental implications. Warwickshire is committed to 
reducing emissions from areas that the Council has direct control over including its own transport, gas and bought 
electricity to net zero by 2030.  The Council has also committed to working with all partners and residents in Warwickshire 
to support the County to net zero by 2050.  
 
The draft Sustainable Futures Strategy with a trajectory for carbon emission reductions to be a net zero county by 2050 
was agreed at Cabinet in October 2022. A large-scale engagement campaign has been conducted with a range of 

P
age 257

P
age 11 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
12 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

stakeholders and further targeted sessions will follow through the period to August 2023 to co-produce the Strategy and 
an action plan. The final Strategy and action plan for Warwickshire is due to be taken to Cabinet for approval by the end 
of 2023. 
 
Warwickshire Pension Fund has completed the 2022 valuation with a positive data quality assessment, and the Funding 
Strategy Statement has been updated. The Pension Fund has a Climate Risk Investment Strategy in place, and the 
Council’s own Investment Strategy for non-treasury investments includes a dedicated ethical investing policy. 
 
Warwickshire Property & Development Group (WPDG) is now trading with the Joint Venture, Develop Warwickshire, 
having been successfully created. Both WPDG and Develop Warwickshire will play an important role in shaping 
Warwickshire as a place to invest, live and thrive. 
 
The Warwickshire Recovery and Investment Fund (WRIF) is now in full operation with the relevant capacity and contracts 
in place for the services and expertise required to manage the Fund. The Fund is managed by an Investment Panel. 
 
Both the WPDG and WRIF have dedicated oversight from a Member Oversight Group. 

 
Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes 

Compliance 
Overview 

The key arrangements for managing performance and delivery, to inform interventions, continued to operate throughout 
the year.    

 Arrangements are in place to report critical management information on the key aspects of delivery of the Council Plan, 
including finance (monthly), risk and performance (quarterly) to Corporate Board and quarterly to Cabinet and Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees. Staffing vacancies have impacted on the frequency of risk reporting to Corporate Board in recent 
months however, the Risk and Assurance Manager post has been in place since April 2023 and reporting is expected to 
be back to plan in 2023/24. At the end of the year Assistant Directors signed off statements providing assurance that they 
have been managing risks in their service areas.  
 
Our Performance Framework supports the delivery of the Council Plan, and includes mechanisms to assess progress, 
inform actions and interventions to achieve intended outcomes. The Programme Management Office, monitor and 
scrutinise project delivery against plans and highlight actions needed to manage escalated risks and deliver project 
objectives. Performance reporting flows through the executive structure and through Directorate Leadership Teams in the 
normal course of business.   
 

P
age 258

P
age 12 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
13 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

We have introduced an Integrated Delivery Plan to track delivery against the Council Plan on a quarterly basis alongside 
information on risk and performance. Increased emphasis is being placed on benefit identification and realisation. This is 
reported quarterly to Corporate Board, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and ultimately to Cabinet.  
 
Each Directorate has escalation arrangements in place to its Directorate Leadership Team. Our Service Business Continuity 
Plans and procedures set out mitigating actions and contingency plans in response to business interruption events. We 
work in partnership with Coventry and Solihull Councils as part of the Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire (CSW) Resilience 
Team, linking with the Warwickshire Local Resilience Forum to actively manage Civil Contingency requirements and 
responses. https://cswprepared.org.uk/ 
 
Delivery of Council Plan outcomes is achieved through business plans, strategies and programmes/projects. This is 
supported by business insight, commissioning, performance, and corporate policy functions. The appraisal system links 
Council objectives to individuals’ personal objectives and personal development plans. 
 

 
Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it 

Compliance 
Overview 

The key arrangements for building our capacity and capability continued to operate throughout the year. Leadership forums, 
including Senior Leadership Forum were maintained and enhanced with strategy & commissioning network meetings. 

 A member induction and development programme is delivered each year to ensure the core development needs of 
members, aligned to their respective roles, are met and to take account of new and emerging issues.  
 
Our People Strategy ensures our workforce can deliver the Council Plan and that they remain aligned with our vision and 
behaviours. Direction continued to be determined by Corporate Board with progress being overseen by the Assistant 
Directors with responsibility for HROD functions alongside Corporate Board and the Staff and Pensions Committee. The 
Staff and Pensions Committee provides overall oversight of the development of our people and approves the Our People 
Strategy and Annual Delivery Plan. Our Agile Working Principles set out how employees can work as efficiently and 
productively as possible, whilst maintaining a priority focus on service needs. 
 
The Our People Strategy recognises that the Council’s people are its primary asset to enable the delivery of exceptional 
services to Warwickshire’s communities. It is aimed at delivering our vision for the Council to be a great place to work 
where diverse and talented people are enabled to be their best. The Strategy is our mechanism to have an effective 
approach to workforce planning, reward and recognition, embedding our values, behaviours and a high-performance 
culture, leadership and talent development and supporting our organisational design.  

P
age 259

P
age 13 of 29

https://cswprepared.org.uk/


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
14 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 
We have a corporate process for annual appraisals and Personal Development Plans supported by regular 1:1 
conversations. This provides the necessary clarity of expectations and behaviour, direction, support and opportunities for 
growth and development and allows employees and managers to have constructive discussions on performance, 
progress against outcomes, wellbeing and development. The appraisal process is aligned to the Council’s Behaviours 
Framework and our recruitment process for senior managers applies a behavioural assessment process, which includes 
leadership capability and identifies personal development areas.  
 
We have a Senior Leadership Forum (SLF) of our top three management tiers primarily for leadership and strategic 
organisational matters The SLF has continued to meet regularly and effectively both in person and online as appropriate. 
We invest in the health and wellbeing of our employees with a Workplace Wellness Strategy and supporting processes 
including those to manage sickness absence and return to work. 
 
The health & wellbeing of our people remains a top priority and as well as ensuring we engage with employees as 
stakeholders, we have focused on building a resilient and high performing workforce: 
• maintaining wellbeing and HR policy information on dedicated intranet sites (Keeping You Well and Working, 

Working4Warwickshire) with links to active internal and external support networks, resources and employee well-
being check in surveys; and actions arising from those surveys; and 

• regular live broadcast to our people from Corporate Board and Strategic Directors, which help to communicate key 
well-being messages, updates and provision of Questions & Answers.  

 
We have continued our approach from last year to listening to the voice of our people, through our YourSay engagement 
survey. We have also achieved ‘silver’ in the ‘thrive at work’ accreditation. The priority focus has been on wellbeing and 
workload. A series of questions within the survey have given us an overall wellbeing score of 78% and has set a high 
benchmark for future years. In terms of workload, we have measured this throughout the year with an in-year increase 
from 62% to 64% of people feeling that their workload is manageable. Workload will remain a focus going forward. 
Sickness absence rates have remained relatively stable across the year however, we have seen a slight increase in our 
days per full time equivalent relating to stress and mental health absence and addressing this will form part of our 
wellbeing offer during 2023/2024. 
 
Our strategic Equality Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) agenda is guided by Corporate Board and the Council’s EDI Group 
will ensure this agenda is translated into practice. The Council EDI Group is chaired by the Strategy and Commissioning 
Manager for Human Resources and Organisational Development (HR&OD) and is comprised of diverse employees from 
across the Council, advised by the EDI team. 
 

P
age 260

P
age 14 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
15 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

The Council’s move to the Cloud-based Microsoft 365 environment has secured communication and data security and has 
also enhanced our ability to work remotely and collaboratively.  A portfolio of training materials is available to all employees 
via the Council’s intranet.  
 

 
Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 

Compliance 
Overview 

The regulations, policies and governance arrangements set out in the Code of Corporate Governance have been fully applied 
thought the year for the Council and for Warwickshire Pension Fund.   

 The Council adopted a new Strategic Risk Management Framework in April 2021 and continues to apply the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for Managing the Risk of fraud and corruption and this is reflected in our anti-fraud policy. 
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/antifraud 
 
Strong financial management is achieved through a robust Medium-Term Financial Strategy process which includes 
comprehensive involvement of Elected Members and Corporate Board to enable the delivery of the outcomes and objectives 
set out in the Council Plan and achieving a balance between robustness of financial management and achieving the Council’s 
ambitions.  
 
The Council’s budget is set as part of a five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is reviewed annually to ensure 
we remain prudent, robust and ambitious, whilst being flexible and responsive to emerging situations. The Council’s strong 
financial management includes a range of activities and controls including policies and procedures relating to financial 
management (financial planning, budgetary control and accounting), procurement, contracting and investment. 
 
Cabinet approved the Procurement and Contract Management Strategy in November 2022. The Strategy has been shared 
with relevant colleagues to seek feedback in advance of the roll out of training, which is planned for delivery in 2023/24. 
Nationally, new Procurement legislation is expected to come into force in autumn 2024. Corporate Board has considered a 
paper on the possible implications of the new Procurement legislation for the Council.  
 
Risk management is an integral part of good corporate governance and management and is therefore at the heart of what 
we do. Our approach to managing risk is explained in the Strategic Risk Management Framework. The Framework has been 
implemented through the development of a strategic risk register. Service level risks have also been identified and assessed 
resulting in the development of service level risk registers. Service areas have reviewed and updated risk throughout the 
year however, work is required to embed this consistently across the Council. 
 

P
age 261

P
age 15 of 29

http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/audit


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
16 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Our Performance Framework supports the delivery of the Council Plan, and includes the following mechanisms to assess 
progress, inform actions and interventions to achieve intended outcomes:  
• progress against the Council Plan and the MTFS is assessed through Key Business Measures (KBMs) to evaluate the 

delivery of outcomes for reporting to Overview & Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet on a quarterly basis; and 
• a suite of reports and dashboards provides HR, finance and performance data to Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors 

and third tier managers for their areas of responsibility. This enables managers to interrogate information quickly and 
efficiently and identify any interventions needed. 

 
For programmes and projects new governance arrangements have been agreed in 2022/23, these are being consolidated 
through 2023/24. These changes were in train before the Local Government Association Peer Review of March 2022 and 
reflect the recommendations of that review.  Programmes and projects owned within the Directorates will report and provide 
assurance through the Directorate Leadership Teams. Each Strategic Director is responsible for updating Corporate Board 
by exception on delivery, risks and issues. The Council has developed two key cross-cutting theme boards, Sustainable 
Futures and Levelling Up, which report directly to Corporate Board. The Programmes and Projects supported by officers 
from the Portfolio Management Office (PMO), are delivered using the PMO standards and processes with governance 
following the new arrangements i.e. into the respective Directorate Leadership Team and Strategic Director. 
 
We have an effective system of internal audit delivered in line with the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards and effective 
counter-fraud and corruption arrangements as well as whistleblowing policies and procedures. Internal Audit provide advice 
to service areas and change projects to help ensure the control environment remains strong. We have adopted the CIPFA 
Code of Practice for Managing the Risk of Fraud & Corruption, and this is reflected in our Anti-Fraud Policy. 
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/antifraud. There is regular reporting on audit assurance outcomes to Audit & Standards 
Committee.  
 
All public sector internal audit services are required to measure how well they are conforming to the standards. This can be 
achieved through undertaking periodic self-assessments, external quality assessments (EQA), or a combination of both 
methods. However, the standards state that an external reviewer must undertake a full assessment or validate the Internal 
Audit Service’s own self-assessment at least once in a five-year period.  
 
In February 2023, an independent review was performed by a representative of CIPFA to determine how Internal Audit has 
applied the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards PSIAS (revised 2016 and 2017) and CIPFA Local Government 
Application Note (LGAN) in practice. The review confirmed compliance with all requirements and there were no areas of 
partial or non-compliance. The audit opinion stated, “It is our opinion that the self-assessment for the Warwickshire County 
Council’s Internal Audit Service is accurate, and we therefore conclude that the Internal Audit Service generally conforms 
to the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.” 

P
age 262

P
age 16 of 29

http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/antifraud


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
17 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

 
We gain assurances on internal control from: 
• Assistant Director annual assurance statements;  
• social care quality assurance policy and procedures; 
• the Internal audit work programme reports;  
• risk management arrangements; and 
• external sources of assurance including external audit opinions, statutory inspections, third party reviews and whole 

council or service specific peer reviews. 
 
We actively promote safeguarding to prevent harm and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect, working with partners as 
Warwickshire Safeguarding https://www.safeguardingwarwickshire.co.uk/  
 

 

Principle G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

We endeavour always to be open and transparent. The regulations, policies and governance arrangements set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance have been applied throughout the year for the Council and for the Warwickshire Pension 
Fund and can be accessed here.  https://www.warwickshirepensionfund.org.uk  
 

Compliance 
Overview 
 
 
 

Each year we publish information on our website outlining how we spend Council Tax income.  
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/counciltaxspending 

 We have a forward plan which provides information about the key decisions that the Council has scheduled. Formal 
agendas, reports and minutes for all committee meetings are published on our website which ensures that people know 
what decisions the Council is planning to take, and the decisions taken. Live and recorded webcasts of formal public 
meetings are available. http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/democracy  
 
Corporate Board, supported by Directorate Leadership Teams, takes responsibility for providing overall leadership and 
setting the strategic direction and specifically, for ensuring that the Council meets its statutory obligations and exercises 
sound corporate governance and effective resource management, and that the performance of the Council is managed 
effectively, including the delivery of key aspects of our change programmes.  
 

P
age 263

P
age 17 of 29

https://www.safeguardingwarwickshire.co.uk/
https://warwickshirewebdav.moderngov.co.uk/6c9ef16c-1528-404c-aaf1-918c12f31771-071-40835f38-55656942-663d646a/ReportDbDocs/5/4/3/R00002345/
https://www.warwickshirepensionfund.org.uk/
https://warwickshirewebdav.moderngov.co.uk/6c9ef16c-1528-404c-aaf1-918c12f31771-071-40835f38-55656942-663d646a/ReportDbDocs/5/4/3/R00002345/
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/counciltaxspending
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/democracy


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
18 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees act as a critical friend and hold Cabinet to account for its decisions. The terms of 
reference for all Overview and Scrutiny Committees are defined in the Constitution. http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/scrutiny 
The Audit and Standards Committee has oversight of internal and external audit matters, the Council’s arrangements for 
corporate governance and risk management and any other arrangements for the maintenance of probity. In line with good 
practice, the Committee is chaired by an independent member and the Council has appointed a second independent 
member to sit on the Committee. 
 
All reports that go to Members through a formal Committee, or for Leader / Deputy Leader / Portfolio Holder decisions, are 
considered by legal and finance colleagues who sign-off as the final stage before being released by Democratic Services.  
 
The Internal Audit Manager is designated as the Head of Internal Audit. There is an Internal Audit Board, and the internal 
audit service is subject to Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) external quality assessments. Sufficient audits 
have been conducted to provide an annual audit opinion for the year.  
 
The Council has been subject to two Ofsted inspections in the year: 
Warwickshire Adult and Community Learning Service was subject to a Short Inspection in October 2022 and the outcome 
is ‘Warwickshire County Council continues to be a Good provider’. Ofsted set out two improvement areas:  
i. that all learners benefit from high-quality impartial careers advice and guidance; and ii. the timeliness of the information 
received on the progression and destinations of learners to determine effectiveness of the curriculum.   
 
Warwickshire County Council Children’s Services arrangements for care-experienced young people was subject to a 
Focused Visit in March 2023 with the report published in May 2023. Since the last inspection in November 2021, when 
Children’s Services were judged to be good overall, there has continued to be an effective focus on improving services for 
care-experienced young people by senior leaders, elected members, and partner agencies. Two improvement areas were 
noted: i. timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated; and ii. the effectiveness of management oversight of work 
with young people in custody and those living in unsuitable accommodation. 
 

P
age 264

P
age 18 of 29

http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/scrutiny


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
19 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

4 Review of effectiveness and improvements to governance arrangements 
 

We have approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which sets out the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government (2016)  
 
We have responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of our governance framework including the system of internal 
control.  The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of managers who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment and by the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report. 
 
The review of effectiveness was co-ordinated by an evaluation panel consisting of representatives from Legal, Finance and each Directorate 
(Resources, Communities and People) and Internal Audit.  In carrying out its review, the evaluation panel: 

● considered the approach of the Council to establishing its principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives; 
● considered the approach of the Council to identifying principal risks to the achievement of those obligations and objectives; 
● identified the key control frameworks that the Council has in place to manage its principal risks; 
● obtained assurance from managers on the operation of key control frameworks and on the results of relevant external or internal inspections; 
● reviewed progress against the Governance Action Plan (Appendix 1); and 
● evaluated the assurances provided and identified any gaps. 

 
In addition, Assistant Directors (AD) have confirmed that they have complied with the risk management framework throughout the year and each AD 
has provided an assurance statement at year end.  
 
Consideration was also given to the results of reviews carried out by external regulators and agencies during the year including the external audit of 
the accounts. The work of the evaluation panel was scrutinised by the Assistant Director Governance and Policy (Monitoring Officer), the Assistant 
Director Finance (Deputy Section 151 Officer), Strategic Director for Resources (Section 151 Officer) and Strategic Director for People before being 
submitted to the Audit and Standards Committee in May 2023 for further scrutiny. 
 
The results of Internal Audit work were reported to the Audit and Standards Committee throughout the year. The individual reviews feed into the overall 
Internal Audit Annual Report. This report concludes that the Council’s control environment provides substantial  assurance that the significant risks 
facing the Authority are addressed. The Audit and Standards Committee also considers in greater detail areas where limited assurance opinions have 
been provided. The internal audit findings, including those with a limited assurance opinion, were duly considered in the preparation of the annual 
assurance opinion and this statement. 
 
The Governance Improvement Action Plan (Appendix 1) presents, on an exception basis, additional actions that are already planned or being 
considered to inform future Council planning and strengthen governance. The process of review has also captured other governance improvements in 
each of the principles above.    

P
age 265

P
age 19 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
20 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

5 Governance issues and challenges 
 
We have not experienced any significant governance failures during the last year and our arrangements remain fit for purpose in accordance with the 
governance framework. A primary purpose of the governance framework is to manage strategic risks proactively and to ensure that risks that cannot 
be tolerated are appropriately mitigated. 
 
Warwickshire County Council has three strategic priorities to make Warwickshire the best it can be, sustainable now and for future generations. The 
most significant strategic risks that have existed during 2022/23 are presented against the three strategic priorities along with highlights of the action 
that is being taken to help reduce risk levels. It is worth noting that a number of global issues, including macro economic factors, inflationary pressures 
and international conflict, continue to influence the Council’s view of risk.  
 
The Council Plan 2022-2027 has been in place throughout the year along with the Integrated Delivery Plan, which sets out the ambitions and priorities 
of the Council and how those will be achieved. Monitoring of the delivery takes place on a consistent and quarterly basis and reports are prepared and 
presented to the respective leadership team, Corporate Board and relevant committees. Furthermore, towards the end of 2022/23 the Council has 
implemented a quarterly stocktake process to consider any the Council’s delivery across its portfolio, its performance and any emerging issues, risks 
or cross-cutting themes.  
 
The following table provides a summary of the activity relating to the strategic risks, which were live and high level during 2022-23. 
 

Strategic 
Risk Ref. 

Strategic Risk 
Description Activity 

Strategic Priority 1, A county with a thriving economy and places with the right jobs, skills, and infrastructure (Economy & Places) 

1 Risk of a slow or 
stalling economic 
growth 

Through the delivery of plans, the Council continues to support the economy of Warwickshire.  Building on the 
pandemic recovery work, the business support programme continues to assist in addressing specific barriers 
to business growth and this includes support for tech-based and other innovation-led businesses, pre and new 
business starts. Businesses are being supported to access loan funding via the Warwickshire Recovery & 
Investment Fund to facilitate growth.  Tourism is a key focus, and a Draft Sector Growth Plan has been 
developed for consultation with partners. 
 
 
 

P
age 266

P
age 20 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
21 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Strategic 
Risk Ref. 

Strategic Risk 
Description Activity 

5 Risk of Post 
Pandemic widening 
of social, health and 
economic 
inequalities and 
inability to catch up, 
resulting in 
worsening outcomes 
for our communities 

The Council has developed, commissioned and/or is delivering a range of skills-based programmes and 
initiatives to help maintain and build the talents of Warwickshire’s population.  Engagement with local 
businesses, partners and stakeholders has taken place to refresh the Council’s Careers Strategy to help 
address the post pandemic recruitment challenges.  Work has taken place to understand demographics, via 
the State of Warwickshire Report, and also the future skills need, to assist in planning for and to ensure 
sustainable employment.  Activity includes offering the Warwickshire Apprenticeship Support Programme to 
the County’s employers and the sharing of Apprenticeship Levy funding to increase take up and achievement.  
For the first time since the programme launched in 2018, the Small Business Apprenticeship Levy has utilised 
all available funding.  Exploration of wider sharing is taking place.  Introduction of the Apprenticeship 
Progression Programme has supported employers to progress their apprentices, increasing retention rates. 
 

14 Risk of continued 
uncertainty about key 
external influences 
on local government 
and factors such as 
Government policies 
and economic 
outlook that inform 
longer term plans. 

The Council, its officers and members, are engaged in a wider range of national networks.  These are based 
in professional and service boundaries for example Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning & Transport 
(ADEPT) and Association of Directors of Adult Social Care (ADASS). Engagement takes place with more 
general bodies such as the Local Government Association, County Council Network and Society of County 
Treasurers who will also have their own thematic groups.  These relationships are managed by senior officers 
and Elected Members, with key messages being shared with Cabinet and Corporate Board as required. 
 
The Council’s Corporate Policy Team also undertakes a regular external policy and foresight scan with regular 
updates and a fortnightly ‘Policy Bites’ newsletter. The foresight work also informs the newly established 
quarterly stocktake exercise for Corporate Board. 
 

17 Risk of sustained 
inflationary pressures 
and cost of living 
increases 

The Council has had to make difficult decisions and choices in developing its financial proposals and will 
continue to operate with a rolling five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy and this demonstrates that 
Council finances are allocated in accordance with the priorities of the organisation.  The underpinning finances 
remain robust and service delivery is sustainable for the benefit of the residents and businesses of 
Warwickshire.  We do, however, acknowledge that we are operating in an environment of increased 
uncertainty as the demand for services increases and inflationary pressures mount. 
 

P
age 267

P
age 21 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
22 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Strategic 
Risk Ref. 

Strategic Risk 
Description Activity 

The Council has not taken decisions to address the short-term challenges that undermine financial 
sustainability over the medium-term or leave financial ‘gaps’ to be closed in future years. Instead, the Council 
has acknowledged that plans, whilst remaining robust and ambitious also need to be flexible to handle the 
most plausible scenarios, whilst recognising it is impossible to guarantee this in such a complex and volatile 
environment. An example of this includes where cost confidence in education capital schemes is low 
appropriate contingency figures are included in the cost estimates to account for this. Inclusion of contingency 
figures are expected to mitigate most cost increases experienced as projects progress and costs become 
more certain. An internal process is currently being devised to strengthen governance regarding contingency 
funding to ensure appropriate use. This will include enhanced officer oversight and scrutiny of requests to 
utilise project contingency funding. Associated Council reporting has taken place.  Additionally, the capital 
programme is to be re-considered and re-scoped.  
 

Strategic Priority 2, A place where people can live their best lives, where communities and individuals are supported to live safely, healthily, 
happily, and independently (People & Communities) 

13 Risk of insufficient 
resources to match 
the increasing 
demand for SEND 
provision and 
support and to 
deliver the post 
Ofsted Written 
Statement of Action. 
 

The Council has made a commitment to deliver its Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Inclusion 
Change Programme and Written Statement of Action to address the recommendations of the Ofsted and Care 
Quality Commission inspection.  Public consultation has taken place along with the use of online surveys and 
face to face events to raise public awareness and seek views.  A review of the SEND information held online 
is also being considered to ensure it is accurate and fit for use. School employees are being offered free 
training and take up has been strong leading to training materials now being uploaded to the schools hub web 
page for ease of access.  Whilst the Council is taking steps to manage the risk, work continues to meet our 
targets and reduce risk levels. 

Strategic Priority 3, A place with sustainable futures, which means adapting to and mitigating climate change and meeting net zero 
commitments (Sustainability)  

18 Risk of not achieving 
net zero by 2050, 
biodiversity and 

A draft Sustainable Futures Strategy and Action Plan was endorsed by Cabinet in October 2022. That 
endorsement included proceeding with extensive public engagement carried out between November 2022 and 
February 2023 to inform further development of the plan. The plan is designed around six themes of climate 

P
age 268

P
age 22 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
23 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Strategic 
Risk Ref. 

Strategic Risk 
Description Activity 

climate adaptation 
targets. 

change action. For each theme there is a carbon reduction trajectory to achieve net zero targets, an analysis 
of carbon emissions, action already taken to reduce those emissions and future actions needed. Over the 
summer of 2023, the Strategy and Action Plan will undergo further engagement and review of future actions in 
partnership with other sectors and stakeholders before final versions are presented to Cabinet for approval in 
the autumn of 2023. 
 

 
 
Risks identified by the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse 
 
The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) published its final Report in October 2022. The report makes a number of powerful 
recommendations, based on separate investigations. We note the full findings and will not be complacent in our work and our awareness raising. We 
continue to work with partner agencies to embed the recommendations to continually improve our practices. Our ongoing campaign "Something's not 
Right" continues to highlight awareness and support, together with new interactive theatre programmes in education settings, to prevent and protect 
children and young people. 
 
Recruitment and Retention 
 
As with many organisations, we continue to experience some challenges in recruitment and retention, particularly in light of the volatile global and 
national landscape. Through the Our People Strategy, we continue to develop ways to address this, and throughout 2022/2023, we saw a stabilisation 
of our turnover rates, with an overall minimal decrease at year end bringing us below 13% and within target of 15%. We also saw a marginal upturn on 
our engagement rates, essentially maintaining already very high scores. 
 
We continue to review our approaches to ensure that we are able to recruit and retain the best talent. 
 
In-Year Schools Admissions 
 
Over the summer of 2022, there were problems with the in-year schools admissions process, which created challenges for pupils, parents, carers and 
schools at the start of the September term, which were quickly addressed. A review was commissioned by the Chief Executive to understand the 
causes of these issues.  The review report was presented to Resources and Fire Overview and Scrutiny Committee in February, and its 
recommendations have informed an ongoing improvement programme. 
 

P
age 269

P
age 23 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
24 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Financial Sustainability 
 
Towards the end of 2022-23, the longer-term effects of the inflationary pressures and the post pandemic economic position, coupled with significantly 
increasing demand for services, e.g. special educational needs, home to school transport and social care for children and older people started to 
impact on our financial position.  The MTFS refresh and in-year activity are establishing both short- and long-term mitigations that are being actively 
monitored and reported upon.  
 
School Place Provision 
 
Current housing growth trajectories across the County are expected to increase the long-term demand for school places as new families move into the 
County. This is the biggest challenge in ensuring sufficiency of school places faced by the Council. Developer contributions will continue to be sought 
to provide the new provision needed as a result of housing growth. However, the need to forward fund education infrastructure to meet increased 
demand together with competing demands to use Basic Need capital resources for education provision such as Early Years sufficiency, SEND 
provision, maintaining the condition of the school estate and the inflationary increase in the costs of construction will put significant pressure on the 
funding available to provide sufficient school places. Any funding gap which cannot be met by future developer contributions will require additional 
borrowing or less funding being available to investment in meeting the Council’s other investment priorities.  
 

P
age 270

P
age 24 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
25 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

6 Certification 
 
We will continue to manage the risks detailed above and further enhance our governance arrangements over the coming year as set out in the 
Governance Action Plan at Appendix 1. We are satisfied that the risks we have identified are addressed in our Council Plan, Integrated Delivery Plan, 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and other key strategies. We are satisfied that the actions identified will address the improvements that were 
highlighted in our review of effectiveness. These are monitored and reported to Members and Corporate Board as part of the corporate performance 
management framework. We will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 
 
 

  
Councillor Izzi Seccombe OBE 
Leader of the Council 
 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service 

  
 
 

P
age 271

P
age 25 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
26 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Appendix 1 – Governance Improvement Action Plans  
 

Table 1: Governance Improvement Actions 
2022/23 Action Owner By 

when? Review of Activity 
HMICFRS Action Plan – the actions from the Action 
Plan have been transferred into delivery and team 
plans following (His Majesty's Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services) HMICFRS 
inspection. A new WFRS Delivery Plan 2022-24 has 
been developed and will be used to monitor progress 
against the HMICFRS causes of concern to ensure 
that agreed actions are implemented. 
 

Chief Fire Officer 

 

March 
2023 

Warwickshire Fire and Rescue Service has responded 
positively to the HMICFRS Inspection findings.  An action plan 
was produced, and significant progress has been made in 
delivering improvements.  The Prevention Cause of Concern 
has been discharged by HMICFRS.  HMICFRS have also 
made comment that progress is being made across the areas 
for improvement.  A follow up HMICFRS inspection 
commenced in Spring 2023, and the report was published in 
September 2023 and reported to Cabinet in November 2023. 

Joint local area SEND inspection in Warwickshire - 
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Schools determined 
that a Written Statement of Action was required 
because of certain significant areas of weakness 
identified. Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector also 
determined that the local authority and the area’s 
Clinical Commissioning Group were responsible for 
submitting the Written Statement to Ofsted. Our 
response was submitted on 24th December 2021 on 
behalf of the Strategic Director (People).  

Strategic 
Executive 
Director People 

December 
2022 

The Council has made a commitment to deliver its Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities Inclusion Change 
Programme and Written Statement of Action to address the 
recommendations of the Ofsted and Care Quality Commission 
inspection.  Activity is ongoing into 2023/24 to take forward 
actions. 

Review of the Code of Corporate Governance against 
the new Council Plan 
 

Strategy and 
Commissioning 
Manager  Legal 
and Democratic 
Services /  

Assistant Director 
Governance and 
Policy 
 

December 
2022 

We continue to keep our Code of Governance under review as 
against the Council Plan and Integrated Delivery Plan to 
ensure that the approaches reflect the needs of the updated 
projects and activities within the Plan. This is an iterative 
process as the actions and requirements of the Plans evolve. 
 

P
age 272

P
age 26 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
27 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Table 1: Governance Improvement Actions 
2022/23 Action Owner By 

when? Review of Activity 
Undertake a governance health check using the 
Centre for Governance & Scrutiny Governance, Risk 
and Resilience Framework (the Framework). 
 

Strategy and 
Commissioning 
Manager Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 

Team Lead 
Senior Solicitor 

December 
2022 
 

This work was completed throughout autumn and winter 2022, 
including delivery of a series of workshops utilising the 
Framework published by the Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny (CfGS). The results have been reported to Corporate 
Board in February 2023 and actions are being implemented.   

Undertake a review of our officer delegations to 
ensure they are up to date following organisational 
changes 

Strategy and 
Commissioning 
Manager Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 

December 
2022 

Delegations have been reviewed and have been approved by 
Council in September 2022. We continue to keep constitutional 
governance arrangements, including delegations, under review 
and will recommend amendments where necessary. 

Undertake a wide-ranging commissioning / 
governance review to refine our Target Operating 
Model. This will include a review of the governance of 
projects and programmes to align it with 
commissioning activity, and will include additional 
reviews, led by Governance and Policy for 
organisational-level governance, and Finance for 
monitoring of capital programmes. In line with the 
Council’s new Delivery and Performance Plans, the 
review will continue throughout 2022/23 and will 
provide recommendations on governance to 
Corporate Board in Q2. 
 
 

Assistant Director 
Enabling Services   
Assistant Director 
Governance and 
Policy 
Assistant Director 
Finance (Deputy 
Section 151 
Officer) 

September 
2022 
 

The Capital Financial Management Project has undertaken a 
comprehensive review of how capital projects are managed in 
Warwickshire. Several changes designed to provide greater 
rigour to the capital process improved ownership and 
increased visibility were identified for implementation.  
We have refreshed our governance arrangements supporting 
our Target Operating Model which puts the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives at the core of all we deliver, approved by Corporate 
Board. As part of this we have created a new governance 
forum, the Capital Strategy Group, which has responsibility for 
ensuring this new model is embedded across the organisation. 
The project will deliver a revamped capital training offer and 
will relaunch the Intranet pages with updated information and 
easy to access guides. 
We have also as part of the refresh introduced a quarterly 
stocktake process for Corporate Board to consider wider 

P
age 273

P
age 27 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
28 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Table 1: Governance Improvement Actions 
2022/23 Action Owner By 

when? Review of Activity 
strategic issues, including emerging national issues and policy 
developments.  
We have completed the governance health check (referred to 
above) using the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny 
Governance, Risk and Resilience Framework 

Develop an action plan to address issues arising from 
the Local Government Corporate Peer Challenge 
which took place in March 2022. The report will be 
published in June 2022. 

Assistant Director 
Governance and 
Policy  

March 
2023 

The outcome of the peer review, including emerging themes 
for inclusion in the action plan, was considered by Cabinet in 
June 2022. An action plan was subsequently developed with 
progress against the action plan being presented to the peer 
assessors on their revisit in November 2022. 

Producing, with public sector, business and voluntary 
sector partners and Government, a costed plan and 
trajectory for the County to be net zero no later than 
2050, that is clear with Government about resources 
and support necessary to deliver national and local 
aspirations on net zero. 

Assistant Director 
Commissioning 
Support Unit   

September 
2022 

A draft strategy with a trajectory for carbon emission 
reductions to be net zero across Warwickshire was agreed at 
Cabinet in October 2022. A large scale engagement campaign 
has been conducted with a range of stakeholders and further 
targeted sessions will follow through the period to August 2023 
to facilitate co-creation of the strategy and action plan.  The 
final strategy and action plan for Warwickshire are expected to 
go to Cabinet by the end of 2023. 

  

P
age 274

P
age 28 of 29



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
29 

 OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive OFFICIAL - Sensitive 

Table 2: Governance Improvement Actions for 2023/24 Action Owner By when? 
Governance Team (Legal Services), to collaboratively work with colleagues across the Council 
to consider and implement actions, endorsed by Corporate Board, arising from the governance 
stocktake against the Framework. 

 
Director of Strategy, 
Planning & Governance 

January/ March 2024 

The Pension Fund will respond to the Scheme Advisory Board’s Good Governance Review and 
the Pension Regulator’s Single Code of Practice as the requirements are issued.  
 

 
Head of Investments, 
Audit, Insurance & Risk  

March 2024 

Targeted consideration of aspects of the Constitution and the Codes of Conduct is being 
undertaken and we anticipate recommendations will be presented to Council by the end of 2023. 
 

 
Head of Legal and 
Governance 

December 2023 

Response to the new Procurement legislation (expected autumn  2024) to be implemented across 
the Council including strengthening of procurement practice as appropriate. 
 

 
Director of Strategy, 
Planning & Governance 
 
Director of Finance 

Autumn 2024 

An improvement plan for School Admissions processes and practices is being produced by 
Education Services for delivery by April 2024. 
 

 Head of Access to 
Education 

April 2024 

Review and refresh the Strategic Risk Management Framework. Head of Investments, 
Audit, Insurance & Risk 

December 2023 

Reviewing the end to end approach to education capital programme procurement 
 

Head of Property Services Autumn 2024 

 
 

P
age 275

P
age 29 of 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

County Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

Education Capital Programme 2023/24 
 

 
 Recommendations 

 
That Council:  
 
1. Approves the addition of £2.868m to the capital programme to deliver the 

scheme at Warton Nethersole CofE Primary School, to be funded by 
developer contributions and the Department for Education (DfE) Basic Need 
Grant. 
 

2. Approves the addition of £6.335m to the capital programme to deliver the 
scheme at St John’s Primary School subject to Cabinet’s approval to increase 
the capacity of the school and establish specialist resourced provision. 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report recommends proposals for allocating resources from within the 

Education (Schools) Capital Programme to the specific projects set out in 
Section 3 and requests that the projects be added to the capital programme.  
 

1.2 The Council’s constitution requires that Council approves the addition to the 
Capital Programme of projects with a value in excess of £2,000,000. 
 
 

2. Financial Implications 
 

2.1 The Basic Need capital grant allocation for 2023/24 is £40.850 million, of 
which £8.511 million remains unallocated following December Cabinet.  The 
Department for Education has confirmed the Council will receive £21.366 
million in 2024/25 and zero in 2025/26. 
 

2.2 The project costs outlined within this report total £9.203 million of which 
£8.632 million is from the Basic Need Fund and £0.571 million is from 
developer contributions. These allocations will result in a zero 2023/24 Basic 
Need balance and use £0.121 million of the allocation for 2024/25. 
 

2.3 The Service holds resources for school investment which are not currently 
included in the approved Capital Programme, this is largely from the following: 

• confirmed yet unallocated Basic Need grant to be received up to 
2025/26, 

Page 277

Page 1 of 6 Agenda Item 6



 

• other grants/contributions held for specific purposes, 
• developer contributions currently held but unallocated; and 
• one historically earmarked capital receipt 

 
 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total Available Resources 
(unallocated) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Basic Need Grant 8,511 21,366 0 29,877 
Basic Need Funding Swaps 2023/24 4,095 0 0 4,095 
High Needs Grant 269 0 0 269 
Schools Condition Allocation 2022/23 2,197 0 0 2,197 
Schools Condition Allocation 2023/24 2,082 0 0 2,082 
Special Provision Fund 64 0 0 64 
s.106* 18,419 0 0 18,419 
Earmarked Capital Receipts 2,113 0 0 2,113 
  37,750 21,366 0 59,116 

2.4 The larger scale capital projects at Warton Nethersole CofE Primary School 
and St John’s Primary School are at a stage which allows further design and 
development and surveys to be undertaken to increase the level of cost 
certainty.  Contingency and risk allowance are included in the project budgets 
to provide some mitigation against further cost increases. 
 

2.5 Pupil places in the specialist resourced provisions are funded at a higher rate 
so that pupils additional learning needs can be met. The level of funding will 
be broadly in line with how pupils are funded in the County’s special schools. 
A service level agreement between WCC and the school will confirm the exact 
arrangements and expectations.  
 

2.6 The establishment of specialist resourced provision is part of the strategy to 
mitigate the overspend on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allowing 
learners to be placed in more cost-effective provision, and ensuring that, 
where possible, more learners with an EHCP can be taught alongside, and 
within, a mainstream school environment.  
 
 

3. Proposals for addition to the 2023/24 Education Capital 
Programme 

 
Warton Nethersole CofE Primary School 
 
3.1 Warton Nethersole CofE Primary School has an Ofsted rating of ‘Good’ with 

157 places for children aged 4-11 years. 
 

3.2 In the last few years, housing development in Warton has increased the 
number of pupils on roll at the school. Over 200 homes across three sites 
have been approved in Warton and whilst some of the development has been 

Page 278

Page 2 of 6



 

completed the majority is due be completed over the next couple of years.  
This development could yield circa 7 additional pupils per year group. 
 

3.3 In-year applications for children moving into Warton where the local primary 
school is full in certain year groups will be offered a place at the next nearest 
school which would likely have home to school transport implications. 
 

3.4 To ensure sufficient school places in the village of Warton as the housing 
development builds out it is proposed to increase the capacity of Warton 
Nethersole CofE Primary to enable the school to increase their PAN from 22 
to 30 (8 per year group). 
 

3.5 In order to facilitate the expansion, it is proposed to provide a new modular 
building containing two additional classrooms with ancillary space.  Further 
internal alterations to the main school building are proposed to create 
additional hall space, library and intervention space.  Feasibility work has 
been undertaken in collaboration with the school and Birmingham Diocesan 
Multi-academy Trust and estimated the cost of the capital works at £2.868 
million. 

 
3.6 Subject to recommendation by Cabinet, Council is asked to agree the 

proposal to allocate £2.868 million funded as follows and agree to its addition 
to the Capital Programme:  
 
Basic Need Funding  £2.794 million 
 
Developer Funding   £0.074 million  

 
St Johns Primary School, Kenilworth 
 
3.7 St Johns Primary School is a 1FE school with an Ofsted rating of ‘Good’, with 

210 places for children aged 4-11 years. 
 

3.8 In 2021, two large strategic sites were approved in Kenilworth Town totalling 
1400 homes.  These are due to start completions from 2023.  Some smaller 
scale development is currently building out/being occupied which is starting to 
have pressure on places.  Forecasts for the Kenilworth area indicate reduced 
capacity from 2024.  Therefore, additional permanent capacity is needed to 
ensure future reception cohorts and children moving into Kenilworth can be 
accommodated at a primary school in the Town. 

 
3.9 In recent years, St John’s Primary School have accommodated several 

additional temporary reception and in-year classes within their existing 
accommodation at the request of the County Council to alleviate the pressure 
on school places in the local area.  It is proposed to build on this existing 
capacity and increase the number of permanent places at the school by 210 
pupils. This would mean St John’s Primary School would move from a one 
form entry (1FE) primary school (210 pupils) to a two-form entry (2FE) primary 
school (420 pupils).  
 

Page 279

Page 3 of 6



 

3.10 It is also proposed to establish educational provision for children with special 
educational needs in the form of specialist resourced provision for up to 
14 primary aged pupils with Social, Emotional & Mental Health (SEMH) 
needs. The location of a specialist resourced provision within Kenilworth will 
meet the need for more localised resourced provision for SEMH pupils within 
a growing area of Warwick District and is in line with the Council’s plans to 
expand resourced provision across Warwickshire’s state funded primary and 
secondary schools.  

 
3.11 The capital works to create the required accommodation would involve three 

separate extensions to different parts of the existing school building to create 
4 additional classrooms and the teaching space for the specialist resourced 
provision.  Further internal refurbishment and remodelling will create two 
further classrooms, intervention/group space and ancillary space.  
 

3.12 Cabinet at its meeting on 14th December considered a report recommending 
an increase in capacity at St John’s Primary School, from 1FE to 2FE, and the 
establishment of specialist resourced provision, following a statutory 
consultation process.  Details of this can be found in the Cabinet report. 
 

3.13 Subject to Cabinet approving the statutory proposal to increase the capacity 
of St John’s Primary School and to establish specialist resourced provision, 
Council is asked to agree the proposal to allocate £6.335 million funded as 
follows and agree its addition to the Capital Programme: 
 
Basic Need Funding  £5.838 million 
 
Developer Funding   £0.497 million 

 
 
4. Environmental Implications 
 
4.1. The County Council will look to use modern methods of construction to 

achieve efficiencies and benefits particularly in terms of time, cost, and the 
environment. 
 

4.2. Environmental risk assessments, together with mitigation statements to 
reduce any potential environmental impacts, are required for any capital 
project. 

 
4.3. All future school capital projects will be developed in accordance with 

statutory regulations which include the revised Building Regulations 2021. 
These new building regulations include significant changes to the regulations 
around ventilation, energy efficiency and overheating, electric vehicle charging 
and a number of smaller supporting elements of the regulations. Schools will 
therefore be built to new standards that are expected to produce lower carbon 
dioxide omissions compared to previous standards. 

 
4.4. As part of the feasibility work on capital projects, where feasible net zero 

options and associated costs have been explored and considered.  

Page 280

Page 4 of 6



 

 
4.5. Extensions to existing buildings, such as at the schemes at Warton 

Nethersole CofE Primary and St John’s Primary School, make environmental 
improvements a challenge. However, where possible new build elements will 
be fossil fuel free and will be net zero carbon enabled.  
 

4.6. Proposed schemes aim to ensure the sufficiency of, and accessibility to, 
provision in local settings avoiding the need to travel further afield to access 
education or childcare provision.  The provision and access to local education 
provision supports the promotion of active travel and the health and well-
being, economic and environmental benefits this can bring. 

 
 
5. Supporting Information 

 
5.1. The Education Capital Programme is driven by the long-term strategic 

planning outlined in the Education Sufficiency Strategy and the annual 
sufficiency update to ensure Warwickshire can meet its statutory duty to 
provide school places. 
 

5.2. Forecasts of expected future pupil numbers are produced and published 
annually and consider current and expected future population growth. This 
includes growth from approved housing development. Where these forecasts 
predict a shortfall of school places, and local schools do not have enough 
physical space to admit the expected numbers of additional children, 
education capital projects are developed to provide those additional places. 
 

5.3. Projects are prioritised and brought forward according to the date the 
additional places will be required, as evidenced in the pupil forecast data, 
combined with the expected time required to design and deliver each scheme. 
 

5.4. With the number of EHCPs in Warwickshire increasing annually, there is 
forecast to be insufficient capacity in Warwickshire state-maintained specialist 
provision to accommodate demand.  Alongside proposals to increase state- 
maintained special school places in Nuneaton and Warwick, the Council also 
plans to expand specialist resourced provision within state funded primary 
and secondary schools across the County.  Therefore, as part of proposals to 
deliver new schools or school expansions, the inclusion of resourced 
provision will also be considered where feasible. 
 

5.5. The expected education capital requirements associated with proposed 
strategic housing development across the county are identified as part of the 
District and Borough Local Plan process. As strategic housing developments 
progress across the county, and planning permission is granted, the pupil 
forecast data is updated and the prioritisation of education capital projects 
amended as needed to ensure sufficient school places exist to meet the 
expected demand. Availability of education capital resources limits the ability 
to deliver additional school places in advance of the requirement for those 
places being evidenced in the pupil forecast data. 
 

Page 281

Page 5 of 6

https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-1023-333
https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-1023-333


 

5.6. All proposed education capital projects are considered against independently 
published third-party data to benchmark the cost to the Council of providing 
school places and ensuring effective allocation of resources. 

 
 
Appendices 
None 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Emma Basden-

Smith - Education 
Capital and 
Sufficiency Lead 
Commissioner 

emmabasdensmith@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 

Director Johnny Kyriacou -
Director of Education 

johnnykyriacou@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 

Executive Director Nigel Minns - 
Executive Director 
for People 

nigelminns@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 

Portfolio Holder Kam Kaur - Portfolio 
Holder for 
Education, Peter 
Butlin - Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 
and Property 

kamkaur@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 
peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk 
 

 
The report was circulated to the following members prior to publication: 
 
Local Member(s): Councillors Rik Spencer, Andrew Wright, Jenny Fradgley, Jerry 
Roodhouse, Martin Watson, Wallace Redford 
Other members:  Councillors Marian Humphreys, Jerry Roodhouse, Barbara Brown, 
Adrian Warwick, Parminder Singh Birdi, Sarah Boad, Sarah Feeney, and Will 
Roberts 

Page 282

Page 6 of 6

mailto:johnnykyriacou@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:nigelminns@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:kamkaur@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:peterbutlin@warwickshire.gov.uk


 

Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

Petitions Scheme 
 
 
 Recommendation 

 
That Council approves the proposed changes to the Council’s Petitions 
Scheme as set out at Appendices 1 and 2 and delegates the consequent 
amendment of the Constitution to the Monitoring Officer  

 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1. At Council in March 2023, it was resolved that the Council would review its 

Petitions Scheme and develop a protocol surrounding how the Council 
responds to petitions. The Council’s current Petitions Scheme can be found at 
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/s4403/PetitionsScheme.pdf 
and is attached with proposed amendments marked up at Appendix 1. 
 

1.2. A review of the Scheme was undertaken and on 9th November 2023, Cabinet 
endorsed the proposed changes set out and recommended them to Council 
for adoption. 

 
1.3. Warwickshire County Council’s Standing Orders currently provide for a 

Petition Scheme under Standing Order 35. The Standing Order sets out the 
right to petition and the operational arrangements when a petition is received 
and after it has been presented. As written, it does not fully reflect the 
application of the Scheme and therefore minor amendments are proposed to 
the Standing Order to aid clarity and consistency with the practical operation 
of the Scheme (including those needed to reflect changes to terminology and 
titles within the Council). These are set out in Appendix 2 to this Report. 
 

1.4. The main provisions of the current Petition Scheme are: 
 
1.4.1. Petitions may be submitted by anyone who lives, works or studies 

within Warwickshire. 
1.4.2. The petition must relate to the provision of local services for which the 

Council has responsibility, or where the Council might be able to 
exercise influence over the decision makers. 

1.4.3. There are certain petitions which will not be considered under the 
scheme, including petitions related to planning or other consultations, 
repeat petitions and those related to matters over which the Council 
has no responsibility or is unlikely to be able to influence a decision, 
amongst others. 

Page 283

Page 1 of 8 Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/s4403/PetitionsScheme.pdf


 

 
1.5. If a Petition is valid, is not excluded under the Scheme and contains a 

minimum of 1,000 signatures it may be presented at a meeting of the Council 
and the Democratic Services Team will make arrangements for the 
presentation of the petition to the next appropriate meeting. 

 
1.6. Petitions with more than 50 but less than 1,000 signatures are referred to the 

Monitoring Officer to determine whether the petition should be referred to a 
Cabinet member, officer or other member body. 
 

1.7. Democratic Services liaise with petitioners in respect of their petition, 
explaining any decisions taken on validity and setting out next steps and when 
they should expect to hear from the Council again. 

 
1.8. Whilst the detailed response to a petition will depend on what the petition asks 

for, there are a number of options open to the Council under the current 
Scheme. These include: 
 

• taking the action requested in the petition; 
• writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request 

in the petition; 
• holding a meeting with petitioner(s); 
• holding a consultation; 
• undertaking research into the matter; 
• referring the petition for consideration at a councillor, Cabinet or local 

community forum meeting; 
• referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s relevant 

overview and scrutiny body; 
• referring the petition to another local public service organisation for 

consideration; 
• holding an inquiry into the matter; 
• holding a public meeting; or 
• calling a referendum. 

 
1.9. Following presentation of a petition to a meeting, it is acknowledged by the 

Portfolio Holder and referred to the relevant Executive Director for 
consideration and detailed response. The Executive Director will normally 
advise the Petitioner within 10 working days of the meeting of the proposed 
action in response to the petition. It is also open to the Portfolio Holder to 
respond on the day verbally to the Petitioner. 

 
1.10. In reviewing the Scheme, officers have considered examples of practice 

nationally alongside the views expressed by members at the Council meeting 
in March 2023 (around ensuring an engaging and responsive experience for 
those presenting petitions) in order to inform the proposals attached at 
Appendix 1 (and the consequent amendments proposed to Standing Orders 

Page 284

Page 2 of 8



 

at Appendix 2). A summary of approaches taken in other schemes is attached 
at Appendix 3. 
 

 
1.11. The proposed alterations are intended to ensure that the Scheme is 

proportionate whilst providing an experience that petitioners would consider 
valuable. The Scheme language has also been considered in order to ensure 
that the Scheme is user friendly and clear for those wishing to raise a petition. 
 

 
2. Review and Considerations 
 
2.1. Warwickshire County Council, like many other Councils, maintains a petitions 

scheme to promote and enhance public engagement with the democratic 
process. 

 
2.2. The key consideration within the Council debate in March 2023 related to a 

consistent view of the importance of those bringing petitions feeling heard and 
receiving a timely response that addresses the matters they have raised with 
clarity and completeness. That formed the base principle for the review. 
 

2.3. In reviewing the Scheme, officers also considered the approach taken by 
other authorities across England. How authorities approach petitions varies 
and there are significantly different thresholds amongst authorities for the 
presentation of a petition to a formal meeting. These are in many cases higher 
than the threshold within Warwickshire’s current petition scheme even in 
authorities with similar populations. A summary of the provisions of other 
schemes is provided at Appendix 3 by way of comparison of approach. 

 
2.4. An analysis was also undertaken of the number of petitions received by the 

Council across recent years, and the subject matter of those petitions to 
ensure that any proposals were proportionate and effective for the types of 
issue raised. It is important that the Scheme is proportionate to the number 
and type of valid petitions received and provides a simple, effective means of 
the public raising issues that are of concern and in respect of which the 
Council has powers to effect change. 

 
2.5. A summary of the petitions received between 2020 and 2023 is included at 

Appendix 4. The table shows that the majority relate to traffic and parking 
issues. Of the total 42 petitions, 20 had less than 50 signatures, 13 had 
between 50 and 1,000 signatures and 7 had more than 1,000 signatures. Two 
petitions were still live at the date of writing this report. Analysis of the 
petitions reveals that the subject matter is quite often related to local issues in 
discrete areas of the county which would not always be suitable for debate at 
full Council but would benefit from a stronger emphasis on local member 
involvement within the Scheme. 

 
2.6. The review identified two possible approaches to our scheme: 

 

Page 285

Page 3 of 8



 

(I) that the Council could choose to move to a rules-based approach to 
the treatment of petitions that might include prescriptive wording 
around issues such as when a debate would be scheduled or who 
would respond to a petition; or 

(II) that the Council could choose to retain a more “menu-based” 
approach that is proportionate to the number and nature of petitions 
received and allows flexibility in how the Council responds depending 
on the nature of the issues the petition raises. 

 
2.7. It is recommended that the latter approach is taken combined with a 

commitment to greater rigour in the application of the scheme and to the 
consideration and choice of response. Approaching the scheme in this way 
allows for an enhanced and customer focussed approach to petitions that will 
drive an engaging and responsive experience, and the renewed focus on 
choice of response and proactive engagement through Democratic Services 
will lead to a greater emphasis on ensuring a response to petitioners. The 
proposed amendments to the Petition Scheme attached to the draft Cabinet 
Report at Appendix 1 follow this approach. 

 
2.8. Particular consideration was given to the question of holding debates following 

presentation of a petition. It is not proposed that the scheme is altered in this 
regard as the scheme already allows for a debate to be scheduled (“referring 
the petition for consideration at a councillor, Cabinet or local community forum 
meeting”). Whilst the reference to local community forum meetings will need 
to be updated (and we propose “or other suitable meeting” to enable a broad 
range of options to be considered) the wording currently within the scheme is 
fit for the stated purpose of enabling consideration at a member meeting. 
 

2.9. In order for a debate to be held there are a number of legal procedural steps 
that need to be taken. The issues need to have been scheduled and included 
within the meeting agenda (as published) with appropriate evidence provided 
in the form of a report to that meeting. Therefore, it will not always be possible 
to hold the discussion at the closest meeting to receipt of a petition, or for the 
debate to be held at the meeting a petition is presented at. 

 
2.10. This raises a number of issues: 

 
2.10.1. petitions are often time-sensitive, and the timescales required for 

formal publication of agendas will not always allow for preparation of 
a robust report with sufficient information to enable members to take 
a decision that is not at risk of challenge on the date the petition is 
presented, or within a timeframe that means the decision would be 
helpful or effective; 

2.10.2. the majority of Warwickshire petitions have related to transport and 
highways matters which involve issues of statutory compliance and 
capital spend that are not conducive to decision making without the 
full context of other projects, schemes and financial programmes 
being provided in a report alongside appropriate legal advice; and 

2.10.3. petitions often seek actions/decisions that do not fall within the remit 
of full Council to decide (i.e. executive decision-making powers are 

Page 286

Page 4 of 8



 

needed and/or decisions have been otherwise delegated 
constitutionally). Therefore, a debate would not result in a decision 
capable of implementation in many cases. 

 
2.11. The review considered whether there were innovative or alternative 

approaches within other schemes that could be adopted in order to enhance 
the experience for petitioners. It was found that the Council’s general 
approach to petitions is in step with that of other comparable authorities and 
there were no specific approaches over and above our current practice that 
were considered appropriate to include given the desire to ensure our scheme 
remains proportionate to the number and nature of petitions received.  

 
2.12. Notwithstanding this, the review has highlighted the opportunity to refine our 

scheme with a view to improving clarity, focussing on the response to 
petitioners and strengthening the experience for petitioners, whilst at the same 
time taking the opportunity to undertake administrative updates to take 
account of changes within the Council since the Scheme was last reviewed. 
 

 
3. Proposals 
 
3.1. In order to respond to the issues raised and in light of the findings of the 

review, it is proposed to make greater use of the facilities already provided for 
within the Scheme to consider other responses to a petition than presentation 
at Council, and to enhance and clarify those options which already exist. The 
presentational alterations are intended to make the scheme more user friendly 
and promote engagement. The enhanced role of Democratic Services is also 
intended to anchor a more bespoke approach to petition response and 
enhance personal contact with petitioners, supporting engagement as a 
positive experience for the public. 
 

3.2. These include allowing the relevant local member to speak in support of a 
petition should they wish to (where it relates to a specific division), enabling a 
meeting between an appropriate Portfolio Holder and/or Local Member and 
the petitioner to discuss the issues raised, or providing for consideration at an 
appropriately prepared overview and scrutiny committee or other formal 
meeting. Minor enhancements to the scheme are needed to provide greater 
clarity on these options and promote their use. This flexible, customer-centric 
approach would enable petitioners to feel heard and allow a fuller discussion 
about the issues arising than the allotted time that presentation to Council 
permits. 
 

3.3. The Proposals are set out in detail in Appendix 1. The key areas of change 
are: 
 

  

Page 287

Page 5 of 8



 

 
Proposal Reason for proposal 
Clarifying the scheme 
wording around excluded 
petitions to be clear that 
petitions must relate to 
the provision of local 
services for which the 
Council has 
responsibility 

The current wording allows for petitions in respect of 
services “over which the Council might be able to 
exercise influence over the decision-makers.” This 
wording is uncertain, difficult to apply and can lead to 
inconsistency. 
In addition, some petitions relate to matters subject to a 
legal or regulatory framework (such as planning 
applications, consultations or referendum requests). 
These need to be dealt with in a way that is consistent 
with relevant legislation and guidance. 
If petitions relate to other matters for which the Council 
has no responsibility, the petitioner can currently be (and 
will continue to be) referred to the relevant Cabinet or 
Local Member to assist petitioners with advice on where 
to direct their concerns. 
However, recognising that there can be some areas of 
uncertainty over “ownership” of particular issues, we 
have included the ability to consider accepting a petition 
that relates to matters of wider relevance or interest to 
Warwickshire such as improvements in the economic, 
social, or environmental wellbeing of the county, to be 
decided upon by referral to the Monitoring Officer. This 
creates a clear point of decision making and provides 
consistency of approach. 

Enhancing the option of 
a meeting with 
petitioners to be clear 
that such a meeting 
could include the 
Portfolio Holder and/or 
the local member where 
appropriate for it to do 
so. 

The possibility of a meeting with the Petitioner already 
exists in the current scheme. The proposed 
enhancement is intended to support the desire 
expressed to improve connection with petitioners and 
provide an engaging and responsive experience, whilst 
recognising that a meeting with a Cabinet Member 
and/or Local Member may not always be appropriate. 
We also propose to introduce a more robust mechanism 
for local members to speak on a petition when 
presented at a meeting in line with the scheme. 
 

Clarifying that a petition 
will not usually be the 
subject of debate at the 
meeting at which it is 
presented unless the 
issues are already on the 
agenda of that meeting.  

This reflects the provisions of Standing Order 35 and 
provides clarity that any debate must be appropriately 
scheduled with necessary procedural requirements met. 
Ensuring that the Scheme and the Standing Order are 
aligned provides clarity. This does not preclude a debate 
happening when appropriate processes have been 
followed. 
 

Changes to titles of 
Officers and general 
updating of language 
used and names of other 
organisations  

Amendments are proposed to reflect changes to 
referenced partner organisations and to the Council’s 
constitution and officer structures that have changed 
since the last update of the scheme. 
Updates to the language have been made in some 
places to enable easier reading of the Scheme without 
altering meaning. 
 

 

Page 288

Page 6 of 8



 

3.4. The opportunity has been taken to improve clarity for petition organisers on 
the range of responses that they might receive. It is not proposed to make the 
response options within the Scheme binary requirements, rather to retain the 
current approach of ensuring there is a range of available response options, 
recognising that each petition and each set of circumstances is naturally 
different. 

 
3.5. Clarity has been added to the process that takes place when petitions are 

received, and Democratic Services will ensure engagement with Members 
(both Cabinet Members and, where appropriate, Local Members) and senior 
officers takes place in a timely fashion to enable a timely response to be 
produced.  This oversight through Democratic Services will support and 
facilitate timely response to petitioners. 
 

3.6. Upon receipt of notice of a petition, Democratic Services will circulate the 
petition as provided for in the Scheme. A proactive approach will be taken to 
ensure that Members who have an interest in the petition are able to speak 
with officers from Strategy, Planning and Governance and the relevant service 
area to discuss the type of response they would like to see, considering the 
range of responses covered in the Petition Scheme. Engagement directly with 
petition organisers can also be facilitated in this way with Democratic Services 
acting as a bridge between Members, those producing the response, and 
where relevant the petition organiser. 

 
3.7. The review concludes that the Petition Scheme within Warwickshire is robust 

and with some minor changes can provide a breadth of response 
opportunities for petition organisers that meet the desire to ensure an 
engaging and customer focussed response to petitioners. The proposed 
amendments at Appendices 1 and 2 are recommended to the Council in order 
to achieve this aim. 
 

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  
 
 
5. Environmental Implications 
 
5.1. There are no environmental implications arising directly from this report. 
 
 
6. Timescales associated with the decision and next steps 
 
6.1. If endorsed by Council the amendments will take immediate effect and the 

Constitution will be amended to reflect the changes. 
 
 
  

Page 289

Page 7 of 8



 

Appendices 
1. Appendix 1- Proposed Amendments to the Petition Scheme 
2. Appendix 2 – Standing Order 35 and proposed changes 
3. Appendix 3- Summary of Schemes in other Authorities 
4. Appendix 4 – Summary of petitions received by WCC between 2020 - 2023 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Nichola Vine 

Head of Legal and Governance 
nicholavine@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Director Sarah Duxbury 
Director for Strategy, Planning 
and Governance 

sarahduxbury@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Executive Director Rob Powell 
Executive Director for Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder Councillor Yousef Dahmash 
Portfolio Holder for Customer & 
Transformation 

yousefdahmash@warwikshire.gov.uk 

 
The report was circulated to the following members prior to publication: 
 
Local Member(s): not applicable 
Other members: Group Leaders, Chair and Spokes of the Resources and Fire and 
Rescue Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet  

Page 290

Page 8 of 8

mailto:sarahduxbury@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:yousefdahmash@warwikshire.gov.uk


 

1 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 

Proposed Amendments to the Warwickshire County Council Petition Scheme  

 

Petitions Scheme 

 

1. Introduction 
 

The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in which people can let 
us know their concerns. Anyone who lives, works or studies in Warwickshire, including those under 
18 years old, can sign or organise a petition for submission to the Council. 

 

We will treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition by the person sending it to 
us, or if it seems to us that it is intended to be a petition. 
 
In this Scheme, ‘You’ means the organiser of the petition, or someone nominated by the petition 
organiser to liaise with the Council.. 

 

To be accepted by the Council, aThe petition must relate to the provision of local services for which 
the County Council has responsibility. Democratic Services can provide advice and support if you 
are unsure what these services are. If your petition relates to matters which the County Council 
does not have responsibility for, it will be shared with your local County Councillor who may be able 
to provide advice and support about where to direct your concerns. 
 
Democratic Services are contactable in the following ways: 
 

Email: democraticservices@warwickshire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01926 418196 

Post: Democratic Services Team Lead, Resources Directorate, Warwickshire County 
Council, Shire Hall, Warwick, CV34 4RL 

 
 , e.g. local libraries, services for young people or road safety or other local services where the 
Council might be able to exercise influence over the decision-makers. 

 
The Council already has arrangements to allow members of the public to speak at some of its 
meetings. This is set out in the Council’s constitution and on our website - here. There are special 
rules for Regulatory Committee and Democratic Services can help you with any queries you may 
have. 
 
 This scheme gives a petitioner with a minimum of 1000 signatories in support an additional right 
(provided the requirements are met) to present and speak in support of their petition at a meeting 
of the Council. For other petitions with 50  or more but less than 1000 signatories in support, the 
Monitoring Officer will determine whether the petition should be referred to a Cabinet member, 
Officer, or other member body. 

 
We will publish the details of the petitions we accept under this scheme on our website and 
summarise the response made to the petition. 

 

Page 291

Page 1 of 10Page 1 of 10

mailto:democraticservices@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@warwickshire.gov.uk
https://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/democracy/committee-agendas-meetings-papers/5


 

2 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

If you wish to present your petition to a particular meeting of the Council, you should must ensure 
your petition is submitted to Democratic Services at least 10 working days before the meeting you 
wish to speak at. This is to ensure that there is time to check that the petition meets our the 
requirements of the Scheme and if appropriate to arrange for the petition to be included on the 
agenda of the meeting in line with legal requirements. 

 
‘You’ means the organiser of the petition or someone nominated by the petition organiser. If you 

If you wish to exercise the rights under this scheme you should either: 

1. Use our e-petition facility, which enables petitions to be created, signed and submitted 
online (for a period up to three months) OR  

1.2. send the petition direct to the Democratic Services ManagerTeam Leader who can be 
contacted in the following ways. 

 
Email: democraticservices@warwickshire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01926 418196 

AddressPost: Democratic Services Manager,Team Leader,  Resources Directorate, 
Warwickshire County Council, Shire Hall, Warwick, CV34 4RL 

 
You will receive an acknowledgement from the Council within 5 working days of receipt of the your 
petition. This acknowledgement will set out the proposed next steps and when you will hear from 
us again. 

 

If you simply turn up to a meeting expecting to present a petition without sending it to the 
Democratic Services ManagerTeam Leader, the meeting need will not consider your petition , and 
the petition will normally be forwardedbe sent to the Democratic Services Manager Team Leader 
for consideration under this scheme. Where a petition has not been accepted under this scheme 
rights to speak (if any) at a meeting will be governed by the Council’s normal arrangements for 
allowing members of the public to speak at meetings noted above. 

 

Dates for future meetings of the council are on our website: 
www.warwickshire.gov.uk/council 

 

Please contact the Democratic Services Manager Team Leader if you require any help or advice in 
relation to the Scheme. 

 
2. How will the council respond to petitions? 

 
Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many people have signed 
it, but it may include one or more of the following: 

 

• taking the action requested in the petition 
• writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in the petition 
• holding a meeting with petitioners including with the Portfolio Holder and/or the Local 

Member where relevant 
• holding a consultation 
• undertaking research into the matter 
• referring the petition for consideration at a councillor, cabinet or local community forum 

meeting or, where the criteria are met, inviting the petition organiser to speak at a formal 
Page 292

Page 2 of 10

mailto:democraticservices@warwickshire.gov.uk
https://democratic.warwickshire.gov.uk/cmis5/CurrentCommittees/tabid/122/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/600/id/457/Default.aspx


 

3 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

meeting  

• referring the petition for consideration by the council’s relevant overview and scrutiny body 
• referring the petition to another local public service organisation for consideration 
• holding an inquiry into the matter 
• holding a public meeting 
• calling a referendum 

 

If a petition does not follow the guidelines set out within this Scheme, the council may decide not 
to do anything further with it. In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 
If your petition meets the criteria for presentation to a formal council meeting it will not usually be 
subject to a debate unless the topic of the petition is already on the published agenda for the 
relevant meeting as Councillors cannot take a decision about what you have raised in your petition 
without all relevant information (including legal and financial advice).  
 
You will receive a response to your petition. This may be either, but it may not be given  verbally at 
the meeting or following the meeting. In both cases you will receive a  written response from the 
Council to your petition which we will aim to provide as it is important that a response to you is 
accurate and reflects all relevant information. If the response is not given verbally at the meeting, 
you will receive a response from the relevant Executive Director. We will aim to respond within ten 
working days of the meeting.  
 
 

  

3. What should the petition contain? 
 

Contact Details 

Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the petition organiser. 
This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the petition. The contact details 
of the petition organiser will not be placed on the website. Everyone who signs a petition must 
provide an address and post code so that we are able to check the validity of signatures. 

 
If the petition does not identify a petition organiser, we will contact the people who signed the 
petition to agree who should act as the petition organiser. 

 
It must rRelate to the provision of Details of the local services which the Council is responsible for 

The Petition must relate to the provision of local services for which the Council is responsible. We may 
consider accepting a petition that relates to matters  for or overof wider relevance  or 
interestimportance to Warwickshire  which it might have some influence, for example if it relates 
to improvements in the economic, social or environmental well-being of Warwickshire to which any 
of our Partner Authorities could contribute. A list of Partner Authorities (which is not exhaustive) is 
included in the annex. The decision as to whether or not a petition meets the criteria in this section 
will be taken by the Monitoring Officer or their nominated representative. 

 
Where a petition relates to a matter which is within the responsibility of another public 
authority, we will ask you as the petition organiser if s/hethey you would like us to redirect the 

petition to the other public authority. 
 
Where a petition relates to a matter over which the Council has no responsibility or influence we 
will return the petition to youthe petition organiser with an explanation for that decision 

Page 293

Page 3 of 10



 

4 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

 

Purpose of Petition 

Petitions must include a clear and concise statement explaining what the petition is about. It 
should state: 

 

• what action you wish the council to take; and 
 

• the name and address and signature of any person supporting the petition. 
 

Signatories 
A petition must have at least [50 signatories in support – see section 4 below. 

 

Exclusions 
It should not be an inappropriate or excluded petition – see section 7 below. 

 
4. How many people must support the petition? 

 
Your rights to formally present a petition to a meeting of the Council depends on the number of 
people who have signed the petition – a minimum of   1000 signatories are required for a petition to 
be presented to a formal meeting of the Council. Where the number of signatories is below 1000 
the Monitoring Officer will decide whether the petition should be referred to a Cabinet member , 
Local Forum or Officer for response. 
 
Your rights to any other response from the Council will depend upon your petition achieving at least 
50 signatures 
 

5. Rights to present 
 

A petition may only be presented once under this scheme.  
If the petition meets the requirements tcriteria for it o presentto be presented to a formal meeting 
of the Council, you may: 

 
➢ formally present the petition to an appropriate Council meeting in person and 

 

➢ speak in support of your petition for up 5 minutes at that meeting. 
 

Formal meetings of the Council are held in public, and you will need to attend Shire Hall for the 
meeting.  
 
A petition may only be presented once under this scheme. The petitioner organiserYou may 
nominate another person to speak on behalf of the petition if you prefer, or if required we can make 
arrangements for an officer of the Council to read the petition on your behalf. 

 
Duplicate Petitions – whereWhere more than one petition is received in time for a particular 
meeting of the Council, supporting the same outcome on a particular matter, each petition 
organiser will be treated as an independent petition organiser, but only the petition organiser of the 
first petition to be received will be invited to address the relevant meeting. 

 
6. What Petitions will not be considered? 

 
Page 294

Page 4 of 10



 

5 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

6.1 Inappropriate Petitions 
 

Petitions which the Democratic Services ManagerMonitoring Officer considers vexatious, rude, 
offensive, defamatory, abusive, time wasting or are otherwise inappropriate will not be accepted, 
for example: 

 
(i) Petitions should relate to the provision of local services not: 

 
(a) the private lives, personal circumstances, behaviour or personality of individuals 

whether officers or members of the Council or other public service organisations. 
 

(b) national policy or the policies of political parties. 
 

(ii) Repeat petitions – a petition will not normally be considered where they are received within 
six months of another petition being considered on the same matter. 

 

(iii) Petitions relating to matters over which the council has no responsibility and which the 
Monitoring Officer does not consider are of wider relevance to Warwickshireor is unlikely to 
be able to exercise any influence. 

 
In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may need to deal with your petition 
differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons and discuss the revised timescale which 
will apply. 

 
6.2 Consultation petitions  

– theseThese are petitions which are received in response to an invitation by the Council on 
particular proposals and are not dealt with under this scheme. Consultation petitions received by 
the consultation deadline will be dealt with in accordance with the consultation arrangements and 
will be reported to the public meeting of the person or body which is taking the decision on the 
proposals. They will not be dealt with under this scheme. 

 
If a petition does not follow the guidelines set out above, the council may decide not to do anything further 
with it. In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 
6.26.3 Excluded Petitions 

 
A petition is also excluded from this scheme if the petition relates to a planning or licensing 
application, is a statutory petition (for example requesting a referendum on having an elected 
mayor), or concerns any matter where there is already an existing right of appeal under other 
processes. 

 
Further information about how you can express your views in relation to these types of matters is 
set out below: 

 
Planning and Licensing applications 
Where the petition relates to a planning or licensing application to be decided by the County 
Council it will be presented to our Regulatory Committee at the meeting which is considering 
the application concerned. The Petition will be open to inspection at the meeting. The 
Petitioner may speak for up to 3 minutes in accordance with public speaking scheme for that 
Committee. 

Page 295

Page 5 of 10



 

6 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

 
Petitions relating to planning or licensing applications should be sent to the address given 
on the notice advertising that a planning application has been made or to  the Strategic 
Executive Director forof  Communities, PO Box 43, Barrack Street, Warwick, CV34 4SX. 

 
Planning applications 
Please note the County Council mainly deals with applications relating to minerals and waste 
management. Therefore, most planning applications are dealt with by the relevant District 
or Borough Councils in Warwickshire. The notice publishing that an application has been 
made will include an address for people who wish to make comments on the proposal. This 
will usually identify whether it is the County or a District or /Borough Council whicho is taking 
the decision. 

 
Licensing applications 
Please note that the County Council does not deal with applications relating to club or 
premises licences, sex establishments or applications under the Gambling Act, which are 
dealt with by the relevant District or Borough Councils in Warwickshire. Any petitions about 
these matters should be directed to the relevant District or Borough Council in accordance 
with their arrangements. 

 
Referendum for Elected Mayor, etc. 

There are particular statutory requirements relating to petitions which request a 
referendum on whether or not the Council should adopt different political management 
arrangements i.e. involving a directly elected mayor. The minimum number of signatories is 
5% of the local government electorate in Warwickshire. This figure is, updated each February 
(it was 21,151 at February 2013) and can be found at [      INSERT LINK        ]. In order to be 
counted and all the signatories on the petition must be eligible to votelive, work or study 
with in Warwickshire. 

 
7. E-petitions 

View, submit or sign an e-petition 

 

The Council welcomes e-petitions which are created and submitted through our website. E- petitions must 

follow the same guidelines as paper petitions. You can view, submit or sign an e-petition at the following link 

View, submit or sign an e-petition 

 
In order to commence an e-petition, tThe petition organiser will need to provide us with their name, 
postal address and email address. You will also need to decide how long you would like you’re your 
petition to be open for signatures. Most petitions run for 3 months. T and this is the maximum 
period you can choose, but you can choose a shorter period. 

 
When you create an e-petition, it may take five working days before it is published online. This is 
because we have to check that the content of your petition is suitable and meets the requirements 
of this Scheme before it is made available for signature and it must meet the requirements of our 
scheme. If we feelit is decided that we cannot publish your petition for some reason, we will contact 
you , within this time to explain why. You will be able to change and re-submit your petition if you 
wish. If you do not do this within 14 days, the petition will be rejected. 

 
When an e-petition has closed for signature, it will automatically be submitted to Democratic 
Services. In the same way as a paper petition you will receive an acknowledgement within 5 days. If 

Page 296

Page 6 of 10

https://democratic.warwickshire.gov.uk/cmis5/Petitions.aspx


 

7 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

you would like to present your e-petition to a meeting of the council, please contact the Democratic 
Services Manager within 5 working days of the petition closing. See Section 4 above for requirements 
for presenting a petition. If you wish to present your petition to a particular meeting of the Council 
you should ensure your petition closes at least 10 working days before the meeting. 

 
A petition acknowledgement and response will be emailed to everyone who has signed the e-
petition and elected to receive information. The acknowledgement and response will be published 
on the website. 

 
How do I sign an e-petition? View, 

submit or sign an e-petition 

When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, postcode and a valid email 
address. When you have submitted this information, you will be sent an email to the email address 
provided. This email will include a link which you must click on in order to confirm the email address 
is valid. Once this step is complete your ‘signature’ will be added to the petition. People visiting the 
e-petition will be able to see your name in the list of those who have signed but your contact details 
will not be visible. 

 

8. The petitions website 
 

The Council maintains a petitions website at www.warwickshire.gov.uk/petitions 

When a petition which meets the requirements of this scheme is received by the Democraticthe 
Democratic Services Manager s/he weTeam Leader, they will arrange for the petition to be 
published on the website. The information will include the subject matter of the petition, the date 
of receipt and the number of signatories. In relation to e-petitions this will also include the names 
of signatories. 

 
If the petition is to be or has been reported to a Council meeting that information will be included 
on the website. 

 
Once decided, the response of the council to the petition will also be included on the website. 
Confidential information will not be included. This should enable petitioners to keep track of the 
progress of their petition. 

 
Petitions will be kept on the website for a period of 1 year from the date of receipt. 

 
8.9. Informing councillors and officers 

 
When a petition is received the relevant Cabinet member, party spokespersons and Strategic the 
relevant Executive Director or Chief senior Officer will be sent a copy of the petition. 

 
If a petition relates to a local matter in a particular electoral division the relevant local Ccounty 
Ccouncillor will also be sent a copy of the petition.  
 
If a petition relating to a local matter in a particular electoral division is to be reported presented to 
a Council meeting the local county councillor will be invited to address the meeting for no more 
than 3 minutes immediately after the petition organiser. 

 

Page 297

Page 7 of 10

https://democratic.warwickshire.gov.uk/cmis5/Petitions.aspx
https://democratic.warwickshire.gov.uk/cmis5/Petitions.aspx
http://www.warwickshire.gov.uk/petitions


 

8 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 
 

9.10. Scheme review 
 

The Council may review these arrangements from time to time and make alternative arrangements. 

Page 298

Page 8 of 10



 

9 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 

 

Annex List of Partner 

Authorities 

 

 
1. Any of the following covering the whole or part of Warwickshire: 

 

a) any district council or borough council; 

b) a police authority; 

b) a chief officer of policeWarwickshire Police; 

c) the Police and Crime Commissioner for Warwickshire; 

d) a joint waste authority; 

e) a waste disposal authority; 

f) an Integrated Transport Authority;West Midlands Combined Authority; 

g) an economic prosperity board; 

h) a combined authority; 

i)f) a Primary Care Trust; 

j) a development agency; 

k)g) a local probation board; or 

h) a youth offending team; or . 

l)i) ICB? an Integrated Care Board 

 

2. Any of the following who provide services at or from a hospital or 

other establishment or facility located in Warwickshire: 

a) a National Health Service trust; or 

b) an NHS foundation trust. 

b)  

 

3. Any of the following: 
 

a) the Arts Council of England; 

b) the English Sports Council; 

c) the Environment Agency; 

Page 299

Page 9 of 10



 

10 WCC Petitions Scheme December 23_November 2013 July  

2023 

 

 

 

d) the Health and Safety Executive; 

e) the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission; 

f) the Homes and Communities AgencyHomes England; 

g) the Museums, Libraries and Archives Council; or 

h) Natural England. 
 

Page 300

Page 10 of 10



Appendix 2 
 

Proposed Amendments to the Warwickshire County Council 

Standing Order 35 

35. PETITIONS - Public Rights under the Petition Scheme  
  
35.1 Members of the public have a right to petition the council in accordance 
with the petitions scheme approved by the full council.  
  
35.2 On receipt of a petition which meets the requirements of the scheme the 
democratic services manager will notify the appropriate portfolio holder, 
strategic Executive Ddirector and, if appropriate, the local member of the 
receipt of the petition and its subject matter.  
  
35.3 The democratic services manager will, where the relevant threshold 
within the scheme is met, make arrangements for the petition to be included 
on the agenda of the next available meeting of the body concerned. The 
petition organiser or a person they nominate will have a right to speak for up 
to five minutes in support of the petition at that meeting. A petition may only 
be presented once.  
  
35.4 Following presentation of the petition to the meeting next steps will be 
confirmed to the petititon organiser in line with the provisions of the petitions 
scheme and the petition will normally be referred to the  a relevant strategic 
Executive dDirector or chief  other senior officer for consideration and 
response. The strategic  Executive Ddirector will normally advise the petitions 
organiser within 10 working days of the meeting of the action proposed to be 
taken in response to the petition.  
  
35.5 Where more than one petition is received in time for a particular meeting, 
supporting the same outcome on a particular matter (duplicate petitions), each 
petition organiser will be treated as an independent petition organiser, but 
only the petition organiser of the first petition to be received will be invited to 
address the relevant meeting. 

 
 

Page 301

Page 1 of 1Page 1 of 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

Summary of other local authority petition schemes (anonymised) 

 

Population 
(approx. 
based on 
2020/21) 
rounded 
to nearest 
1000 

Number of 
signatures to 
enable 
presentation 
at full Council 

Threshold requirements Other aspects of scheme to note Review  Recommendations 

584,000 1,000  WCC Scheme n/a  
725,300 n/a Scheme is not clear on 

thresholds 
Must be presented four 
working days before 
meeting wish to address 

Must relate to something 
committee has responsibility for 
(and council as a whole) 
Will not be debated unless relates 
to an item already on agenda. 

Approach re debate mirrors that 
taken by Warwickshire. 
 

No changes 

598,000 3,500 Petitions presented at 
full council only 

Received by Chair without response 
on day but responded to in writing 
subsequently as soon as practicable  

This reflects Warwickshire’s 
current approach in practice.  

No changes 

570,000 5,000 Only accepts petitions 
over 250 signatures. 
Over 250 will be referred 
to Cabinet Member, OSC 
or Director 
Must be over 18 to 
submit petition 

Will consider a debate if petition 
relates to county wide issue and 
signed by at least 5000 people. In 
order to be scheduled for debate a 
report will be prepared outlining 
the issues which the petition relates 
and containing recommendations 
for Councillors to consider. Max 
debate length of 15 mins. 
Below 5,000 dealt with as an 
ordinary petition which means 

Again, this recognises the need for 
a report and appropriate 
information to be available to 
Members before a decision can be 
taken. Formal report required and 
thus affects timing of debate and 
meeting to which it can be directed 
to meet publication requirements 
at law.  
 

No changes 

P
age 303

P
age 1 of 3

P
age 1 of 3



Council will reasonably determine 
how it will be dealt with 

345,000 15,000 10,000 to require a 
senior officer to attend a 
scrutiny board to give 
evidence about 
something within their 
role remit (applies to 
Chief Exec, Executive 
Director equivalents, 
Director of Public 
Health, and MO) 
Between 5 signatures 
and 15,000 signatures 
petition officers decide 
destination of petition 
(i.e. council, cabinet or 
Portfolio Holder) 
Petitions that don’t 
meet the thresholds may 
go to a relevant cabinet 
member of committee 
instead. 
 

If supported by 15,000 or more 
people will be debated by a full 
council meeting when all councillors 
can attend and allowing for time to 
prepare.  
Petitions can be presented to 
Council by a Councillor but not 
debated and are referred to 
Cabinet, Portfolio Holder or 
Committee 
Scrutiny Co-ordination committee 
will consider any complaint that 
petition not dealt with in 
accordance with scheme 

Thresholds are high related to 
population number but do not 
recommend raising to that level 
given the numbers and size of 
petitions generally received in 
Warwickshire. 
Timing of debate and need for 
preparation/scheduling 
acknowledged. 
Warwickshire does not have a 
Scrutiny co-ordination committee 
and it remains appropriate for 
matters to be dealt with by 
Monitoring Officer where 
difference of opinion or complaint. 
 

No changes 

216,000 2,000 2,000 signatures triggers 
a debate at Council  
Less than 2,000 may go 
to full council but will 
not be debated, may go 
to other committee 

Debate scheduled for next available 
meeting subject to ability to 
prepare. 
Time limit of 15 minutes for debate 
and decision taken is whether to (a) 
take the action requested by 
petition (b) not to take action or (c) 
to refer for investigation by scrutiny 
board 

Nature of council means a wider 
remit of areas of control/decision 
making and hence the scheme 
justifies more complex rules 
around petitions. 
 
Debate is scheduled and thus 
requires Agenda item which 

No Changes 

P
age 304

P
age 2 of 3



If is an executive decision, then 
recommendations may be made to 
inform that decision. 
1,000 signatures needed to ask 
Senior Officer to give evidence at a 
meeting of Scrutiny Board 

recognises issues caused in relation 
to timing. 
 
 

876,000 5,000 5,000 to trigger a debate 
2,500 signatures for 
senior officer to attend 
public meeting. 

5,000 signatures triggers a debate. 
2,500 triggers a senior officer giving 
evidence at a committee. 
 

Thresholds are higher than 
Warwickshire but relative to 
population size which is also 
greater. 
References the matter being 
referred for debate.  
“Referred” for debate is presumed 
to mean that the matter is 
scheduled to an appropriate 
agenda. This supports the need for 
appropriate information to be 
available to Members before a 
decision can be taken  
 

No changes 

 

P
age 305

P
age 3 of 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 

 

Summary of Petition Topics and volumes received 

2020-August 2023 

 

 

Year Topic of Petition Total 
Number by 

Year 

Topics for 
“Other” 
petitions 

  Traffic/Parking 
(including speed 

limits, parking, road 
maintenance and 

active travel) 

Other     

2020 8 3 11 Flooding, 
Flowerbeds, 
Household 
Waste 
Recycling 
Centres 

2021 9 6 15 Marle Hall, 
questions at 
meetings, 
streetlights, 
Sand Court, 
Roadside 
Memorials, 
Fire Stations 

2022 6 0 6   
2023 
(to 
August) 

9 4 13 Pavements, 
Paperless 
Permits, a 
Residential 
Care Plan, 
and WFRS 
Resourcing to 
Risk 

Total 
Numbe
r by 
type  

32 13     

Grand 
Total 

    45  

 

Page 307

Page 1 of 1Page 1 of 1



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council 
 

19 December 2023 
 

Appointment to Local Pension Board 
 

 
 Recommendation 

 
That Council approves the appointment of Mrs Beverley Farmery as a 
Scheme Member representative on the Local Pension Board.  

 
 
1. Executive Summary  
 
1.1 Following a call for expressions of interest to members within the Fund and a 

robust selection and interview process involving officers and the Chair of the 
Local Pension Board, Mrs Farmery has been identified as the new Scheme 
member representative on the LGPS Local Pension Board. 

 
1.2 This appointment requires ratification by Council in accordance with the terms 

of reference of the Local Pension Board 
 
 
2. Financial Implications 
 
2.1 None. 
 
 
3. Environmental Implications 
 
3.1 None. 
 
 
4. Supporting Information 
 
4.1 The Public Services Pensions Act 2013 (the ‘2013 Act’) requires the 

establishment of a Pension Board with responsibility for assisting the Scheme 
Manager in securing compliance with all relevant pensions laws, regulations 
and directions, and the Pension Regulator’s codes of practice. 
 

4.2 The Local Pension Board was set up in 2015 to assist the Warwickshire 
Pension Fund in ensuring that it is complying with relevant laws and 
regulations in the governance and operation of the Fund. The operations of 
the Local Pension Board are guided by a Terms of Reference which are 
approved by Council. 
 

Page 309

Page 1 of 3 Agenda Item 8



4.3 Pursuant to those Terms of Reference, the membership of the Local Pension 
Board is to consist of seven (7) members to include – 
 
(a) Scheme Member Representatives x 3 
(b) Employer Representatives x 3 
(c) Independent Representative x 1 

 
4.4 The role of Independent Representative is held by the Chair, Mr Keith Bray. 

The three employers’ representatives are Councillor Ian Shenton 
(representing the Council), Jeff Carruthers (Warwickshire Police, a precepting 
employer) and Keith Francis (employer representative). The existing scheme 
member representatives are Sean McGovern (Senior Coroner for 
Warwickshire) and Mike Snow (member representative).  The third Scheme 
Member representative, Alan Kidner, resigned his position earlier in 2023.   
 

4.5 The vacancy was widely advertised among Scheme Members and steps were 
taken to attract a diverse range of candidates.   
 

4.6 The appointment of Mrs Farmery as a Scheme Member representative arises 
from a robust process of assessment that considered suitability for the role 
followed by an interview panel led by the Chair of the Local Pension Board. 
Mrs Farmery’s appointment will mean that the Board is fully constituted. 
 

4.7 By way of background, Mrs Farmery works for Our Lady of the Magnificat 
Multi Academy Trust (formerly Holy Family Multi Academy). She successfully 
set up the payroll and pension software for the Holy Family Multi Academy 
and administered both these services on behalf of six different schools. While 
in this post she has attended a wide range of training sessions and workshops 
run by the Warwickshire Pension Fund, building up her knowledge on the 
Regulations and processes involved in administering the scheme from an 
employer’s and member perspective. Her current role has provided her with 
an opportunity to gain an understanding of the role of the Pensions Regulator, 
the organisation that is responsible for protecting people's savings in 
workplace pensions and improving the way that workplace pension schemes 
are run. This combined experience puts her in an ideal position to challenge 
officers about the way in which they administer the Local Government 
Pension Scheme. 
 
 

5. Timescales associated with the decision and next steps 
 
5.1 If agreed, the decision will have immediate effect. 
 
 
Appendices 
None 
 
Background Papers 
None 

Page 310

Page 2 of 3



 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Deborah Moseley 

Democratic Services 
Team Leader 

deborahmoseley@warwickshire.gov.uk  

Assistant Director Andy Felton 
Director of Finance 

andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Executive Director Rob Powell  
Executive Director for 
Resources 

robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Yousef Dahmash 
Portfolio Holder for 
Customer & 
Transformation 

cllrdahmash@warwickshire.gov.uk  

 
The report was circulated to the following members prior to publication: 
 
Local Member(s): N/A – This is a countywide matter.  
Other members:  Chair and Party Spokespersons of the Resources and Fire and 
Rescue Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Page 311

Page 3 of 3

mailto:deborahmoseley@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:andrewfelton@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:cllrdahmash@warwickshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1(3) Minutes of the previous meeting
	2 External Auditors' Annual Audit Report 2022/23
	Appendix to External Auditors Annual Audit Report
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Executive summary
	Slide 4: Executive summary (continued)
	Slide 5: Use of auditor's powers
	Slide 6: Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council’s use of resources
	Slide 7: The current Local Government landscape
	Slide 8: Financial sustainability
	Slide 9: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 10: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 11: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 12: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 13: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 14: Governance
	Slide 15: Governance (continued)
	Slide 16: Governance (continued)
	Slide 17: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 18: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 19: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 20: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 21: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 22: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 23: Improvement recommendations
	Slide 24: Warwickshire Pension Fund
	Slide 25: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 26: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 27: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 28: Other reporting requirements
	Slide 29
	Slide 30: Appendix A: Responsibilities of the Council
	Slide 31: Appendix B: An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 32


	3 Warwickshire County Council Statement of Accounts 2022/23
	Appendix to WCC 2022/23 Statement and Accounts
	Narrative Statement - For Publication (V3)
	WCC Accounts 2022-23 Plain English - Amended (V2)


	4 Warwickshire Pension Fund Accounts 2022/23
	Appendix 1 for Warwickshire Pension Fund Accounts 2022/23
	Place holder (Independent auditor’s report)
	Introduction
	Present value of promised retirement benefits
	Assumptions
	Financial assumptions
	Demographic assumptions
	Sensitivity Analysis
	Professional notes


	5 Annual Governance Statement 2022/23
	Appendix 1 for Annual Governance Statement 2022/23

	6 Education Capital Programme 2023/24
	7 Petitions Scheme
	Appendix 1- Petition Scheme Proposed Amendments
	Appendix 2 SO 35 Amends
	Appendix 3 Other Petition Schemes
	Appendix 4 for Petitions Scheme

	8 Appointment to Local Pension Board

